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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 

SEC FORM 20-IS 
 

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20 
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 

 
1. Check the appropriate box: 
 

[  ] Preliminary Information Statement   
[x] Definitive Information Statement 

 
2. Name of Registrant as specified in its charter  
 
 PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
 
3. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization:  Philippines 
 
4. SEC Identification Number:  160968 
 
5. BIR Tax Identification Code: 000-168-541 
 
6. Address of principal office:      Postal Code: 1781 
  
 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, 

Alabang, Muntinlupa City  
 

7. Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (632) 8888-73774 
 
8. Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders:  28 June 2024, 9:00 a.m., via remote 

communications 
 
9. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security 

holders: 07 June 2024 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA 

(information on number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporate 
registrants): 

 
Title of Each Class Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding 

Common Shares of Stock 3,693,772,279 
 
11. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed in a Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes ___    No _X_ 
 
 If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of securities listed therein:  
             
 Not Applicable 
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EXPLANATION ON THE AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1. Call to Order. The Chairman of the meeting will call the meeting to order. 
 

2. Certification of Notice and of Quorum. The Corporate Secretary will certify that the Notice of 
the meeting was duly published and made available to the Company’s stockholders and confirm 
whether a quorum exists for the transaction of business. The rules of conduct and voting 
procedures will also be briefly outlined. 
 

3. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 2023. The 
minutes are available on the Company’s website and attached as Annex C to this Information 
Statement made available to the stockholders. A resolution approving the minutes will be 
presented to the stockholders for approval. 
 

4. Report of the President and Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman will deliver his message 
to the stockholders, then the President and Chief Executive Officer will report on the Company’s 
performance for 2023. 
 

5. Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2023. 
The Annual Report, containing the Audited Financial Statements as of 31 December 2023, is 
attached as Annex D to this Information Statement. A resolution for the approval of the Audited 
Financial Statements as of 31 December 2023 will be presented to the stockholders. 
 

6. Ratification of Acts of the Board of Directors and Management for 2023. A resolution 
ratifying all the acts of the Company’s Board, Board committees, and officers, since the Annual 
Stockholders’ meeting on 15 June 2023 until the 2024 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, will be 
presented to the stockholders for their approval. 
 

7. Election of Directors for 2024 to 2025. The nominees for election to the Company’s Board of 
Directors for the year 2024 to 2025 will be presented to the stockholders, and the Nomination 
and Governance Committee will confirm that it has ascertained their qualification for election to 
the Board of Directors. The nominees are as follows:  

 
1  Phyo Phyu Noe 
2  Yang Soo Lee 
3  Yun Gie Park 
4  Parinya Kitjatanapan 
5  Jin Pyo Ahn 
6  Hyo Jin Song 
7  Vishal Malik 
8  Rafael M. Alunan III (Independent Director) 
9  Oscar S. Reyes (Independent Director) 

 
A resolution for the election of the members of the Board of Directors will be presented to the 
stockholders for approval. 

 
8. Appointment of External Auditor for 2024 to 2025. The re-appointment of R.G. Manabat & 

Co. (KPMG Philippines) as the external auditor for the year 2024 to 2025 will be endorsed to 
the stockholders for ratification. A resolution for the appointment of the external auditor will be 
presented to the stockholders for approval.  
 

9. Other Matters. Questions received from stockholders will be read and addressed by 
Management. 

 
10. Adjournment. After all agenda items have been considered and resolved, and other matters 

(if any) have been discussed, the Chairman shall declare the meeting adjourned. 
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A.  GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 
Item 1. Date, time and place of meeting of security holders. 
 
 Date: June 28, 2024 
 Time: 9:00 a.m. 
  
The Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc. (the “Company”) shall be 
conducted via remote communications, and shall be accessible through https://bit.ly/pcppiasm2024 by 
stockholders who will register to participate in the meeting following the procedures set out in Annex A 
of this Information Statement. Duly registered stockholders may likewise access the Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting by scanning the QR Code below. 

 
Notices of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting were published in newspapers of general circulation on 
23 May 2024 and 24 May 2024.  Notices of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting and copies of this 
Information Statement may be accessed by the stockholders beginning 07 June 2024 at the Company’s 
website, https://pepsiphilippines.com/investor-relations-disclosures. 
 
 

WE ARE NOT ASKING FOR A PROXY 
AND THE STOCKHOLDERS ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY. 

 
 

Nevertheless, should a stockholder be unable to attend the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting but would 
like to be represented thereat, the stockholders’ proxies should be submitted to the Corporate 
Secretary, at Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc., 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, 
Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City, or by email to 
corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph. A proxy form is attached to the Notice and Agenda attached to this 
Information Statement.  For stockholders that are partnerships, corporations or associations, the proxy 
should be submitted with a sworn certification of the resolutions evidencing authority of the designated 
proxy and signatories. The deadline for submission of proxies and certifications is on 21 June 2024, 
5:00 p.m.   
 
 
Item 2. Dissenters' Right of Appraisal 
 
None of the matters to be acted upon at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting are matters with respect to 
which a dissenting stockholder may exercise his appraisal right under Section 80 of the Revised 
Corporation Code. 
 
Under Section 80 of the Revised Corporation Code, the following are the instances when a stockholder 
may exercise his appraisal right: 
 

1. In case an amendment to the articles of incorporation has the effect of changing or restricting 
the rights of any stockholder or class of shares, or of authorizing preferences in any respect 
superior to those of outstanding shares of any class, or of extending or shortening the term of 
corporate existence; 

 
2. In case of sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or 

substantially all of the corporate property and assets of the Company; 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/bit.ly/pcppiasm2024___.YzJ1OnJhamFoYW5kdGFubjpjOm86YjAxMWUzYWRlMDIxOWI0ZWNlYjlmNmI5YmZmMTBmOGE6NjozMjE1OjA1NTAwNzc2NWUwNzYyZjIyZGU4MGVhZTg1OWI5NDE4MWExNGIyYmZkMjdlYjc3ZDNhNGI2YjEwZTEyNWIwYTM6aDpU
https://pepsiphilippines.com/investor-relations-disclosures
mailto:corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph
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3. In case of merger or consolidation; and 
 
4. In case of investment of funds by the Company in any other corporation or business or for any 

purpose other than the primary purpose for which the Company was organized. 
 
 
Item 3. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon 
 
No director or officer of the Company, or candidate for election as director of the Company, or associate 
of any of the foregoing persons, has any substantial interest, direct or indirect, in any of the matters to 
be acted upon in the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting other than election to office.  
 
No director has informed the Company of his opposition to any matter to be acted upon during the 
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 
 
B.  CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

 
 

Item 4. Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof 
 
The total number of shares of the Company outstanding and entitled to vote in the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting is Three Billion Six Hundred Ninety-Three Million Seven Hundred Seventy-Two Thousand Two 
Hundred Seventy-Nine (3,693,772,279) common shares.1 As of 20 May 2024, the total number of 
common shares of the Company owned by foreign stockholders is Three Billion Six Hundred Seventy-
Seven Million Five Hundred Two Thousand Three Hundred Sixty-Five (3,677,502,365) common shares, 
or approximately 99.56% of the Company’s total outstanding capital stock. 
 
The record date for purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the 
Company’s Annual Stockholders’ Meeting is 9:00 a.m. on 07 June 2024. Each stockholder shall be 
entitled to one (1) vote for each common share of stock held as of the record date.2 
 
Holders of the common shares of stock of the Company are entitled to vote on all matters to be voted 
upon by the stockholders. Stockholders entitled to vote are also entitled to cumulative voting in the 
election of directors. Section 23 of the Revised Corporation Code states: “…In stock corporations, 
stockholders entitled to vote shall have the right to vote the number of shares of stock standing in their 
own names in the stock books of the corporation at the time fixed in the bylaws or where the bylaws 
are silent, at the time of the election. The said stockholder may: (a) vote such number of shares for as 
many persons as there are directors to be elected; (b) cumulate said shares and give one (1) candidate 
as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of the shares owned; 
or (c) distribute them on the same principle among as many candidates as may be seen fit…”3 
 
In accordance with Article II, Section 1 of the Company’s By-Laws, the stockholders may vote by way 
of remote communication or in absentia at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting in accordance with 
Sections 23 and 57 of the Revised Corporation Code. Stockholders participating via remote 
communication or those who intend to vote in absentia may vote electronically following the procedures 
set out in Part C, Items 17 and 18, and Annex A of this Information Statement. A stockholder voting 
electronically in absentia shall be deemed present for purposes of quorum.4 
 
 
 

 
1 This material information on the current stockholders is presented in compliance with Section 49 of the Revised Corporation 
Code. 
2 This material information on the current stockholders’ voting rights is presented in compliance with Section 49 of the Revised 
Corporation Code. 
3 This material information on the current stockholders’ voting rights is presented in compliance with Section 49 of the Revised 
Corporation Code. 
4 This material information on the current stockholders’ voting rights is presented in compliance with Section 49 of the Revised 
Corporation Code. 
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Security Ownership of Record and Beneficial Owners of at Least 5% of Securities as of 20 May 
2024  
 

Title of 
Class 

Name and Address of 
Record Owner and 

Relationship with Issuer 

Name of 
Beneficial 
Owner and 
relationship 
with record 

owner 

Citizenship Number of 
Shares Held Percentage 

Common 
shares 

Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. 
Ltd.5 
1332-1, Seocho-Dong, 
Seocho-Gu, Seoul, 
Republic of Korea  
Relationship – stockholder 

Lotte 
Corporation6 Korean 

2,715,868,514
7 

 

 
73.53%8 

 
 

Common 
shares 

Quaker Global Investments 
B.V.9 
Zonnebaan 35, 3542 EB 
Utrecht 
The Netherlands 
Relationship – stockholder 

PepsiCo, 
Inc.10 Dutch 923,443,072 25.00% 

 
Security Ownership of Management as of 20 May 2024 
 

Title of Class Name and Address of Owner 

Amount & 
Nature of 
Beneficial 
Ownership 

Citizenship 
Percent 

of 
Class 

Common 
shares 

Oscar S. Reyes 
Chairman of the Board and 
Independent Director 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

300,001* Filipino 0.01% 

Common 
shares 

Phyo Phyu Noe 
Director, President and Chief 
Executive Officer 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 

1* Burmese 0.00% 

 
5 Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd. (“Lotte Chilsung”) is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws 
of the Republic of Korea with principal office address at 1332-1, Seocho-Dong, Seocho-Gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea. 
 
6 Lotte Corporation is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the Republic of Korea with 
principal office address at Lotte World Tower, 300 Olympic-ro, Songpa-gu, Seoul, 05551, South Korea. Based on the beneficial 
ownership declaration attached to the Company’s General Information Sheet filed and received by the SEC on 23 February 2024, 
Lotte Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer, Dong Woo Lee, is named as the beneficial owner, under category I of the beneficial 
ownership declaration form (provided under SEC Memorandum Circular No. 15, Series of 2020) indirectly holding shares of the 
Company, through shares held in the name of Lotte Chilsung and through PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Filipino).  
 
7 This number is based on the list of top 20 stockholders as of 20 May 2024 issued and certified by the Company’s stock and 
transfer agent, Stock Transfer Service Inc.  
 
8 The transfer of shares tendered to Lotte Chilsung during the tender offer conducted by the latter in 2020 are yet to be recorded 
in the name of Lotte Chilsung in the books of the Company in their entirety pending the submission of the necessary documentary 
requirements. 
 
9 Quaker Global Investments B.V.  is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the Netherlands 
with principal office at Zonnebaan 35, 3542 EB Utrecht, The Netherlands.   
 
10 Based on the beneficial ownership declaration attached to the Company’s General Information Sheet filed and received by the 
SEC on 23 February 2024, PepsiCo, Inc.’s Chief Executive Officer, Ramon Laguarta, is named as the beneficial owner, under 
category I of the beneficial ownership declaration form (provided under SEC Memorandum Circular No. 15, Series of 2020) 
indirectly holding 25.00% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company (through Quaker Global Investments B.V.).  
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Title of Class Name and Address of Owner 

Amount & 
Nature of 
Beneficial 
Ownership 

Citizenship 
Percent 

of 
Class 

Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City   

Common 
shares 

Yang Soo Lee 
Director 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City   

1* Korean 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Yun Gie Park 
Director 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

1* Korean 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Jin Pyo Ahn 
Director and Chief Corporate 
Strategy Officer 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

1* Korean 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Hyo Jin Song 
Director 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City   

1* Korean 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Parinya Kitjatanapan 
Director 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City   

1* Thai 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Vishal Malik 
Director 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

1* Indian 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Rafael M. Alunan III 
Vice-Chairman and Independent 
Director 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

1* Filipino 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Elmer Joseph N. Yanga 
Chief Finance Officer and Chief Audit 
Executive 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

0 American 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Lyndon Ferdinand J. Cuadra 
Chief Commercial Officer 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 

30,000 
 Filipino 0.00% 
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Title of Class Name and Address of Owner 

Amount & 
Nature of 
Beneficial 
Ownership 

Citizenship 
Percent 

of 
Class 

Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

Common 
shares 

Youngho Kim 
Chief Manufacturing Officer 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

0 Korean 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Byoungoh Jang 
Chief Supply Chain Officer  
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

0 Korean 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Carina Lenore S. Bayon 
Chief Environmental, Social, and 
Governance Officer, Chief 
Compliance Officer, Extended 
Producers’ Responsibility Act 
Compliance Officer, Data Protection 
Officer, and Chief Audit Executive 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

0 Filipino 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Agustin Sarmiento 
Head, Finance Controlling and Chief 
Risk Officer 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 

0 Filipino 0.00% 

Common 
shares 

Kristine Ninotschka L. Evangelista 
Corporate Secretary 
c/o 30/F 88 Corporate Center 
Sedeño corner Valero Streets 
Salcedo Village, Makati City  

0 Filipino 0.00% 

 
Common 
shares 

Jethro C. Perez 
Assistant Corporate Secretary  
c/o 30/F 88 Corporate Center 
Sedeño corner Valero Streets 
Salcedo Village, Makati City  

0 Filipino 0.00% 

   * Each of the Directors is the registered owner of at least one qualifying share.  
 
The aggregate shareholdings of Directors and key officers as of 20 May 2024 are 330,009 shares which 
is approximately 0.0089% of the Company’s outstanding capital stock. 
 
Changes in Control 
 
The Company is not aware of any voting trust agreement or any other similar agreement which may 
result in a change in control of the Company. 
 
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

 
Please refer to Note 23 (Related Party Transactions) to the Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ending 31 December 2023 attached as Exhibit II of Annex D or the SEC Form 17-A (Annual Report) 
for details on related party transactions. 
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Except for the transactions discussed in Note 23 (Related Party Transactions) to the Audited Financial 
Statements for the year ending 31 December 2023, there were no other material related party 
transactions during the last three financial years, nor are there any material transactions currently 
proposed between the Company and its stockholders, directors, key management personnel, or other 
parties over which the Company has the ability to exercise control or significant influence in making 
financial and operating decisions. 

 
 
Item 5. Directors and Executive Officers 
 
Term of office 
 
Directors elected during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting will hold office for one (1) year until their 
successors are duly elected and qualified as set out in Article III, Section 1 of the Company’s By-Laws.  
 
Directors 
 
As of 20 May 2024, the following are the names, ages, and citizenship of the incumbent Directors, 
including Independent Directors, of the Company, as well as the year they were first elected: 
 

Name Age Citizenship Year First 
Elected 

Phyo Phyu Noe 41 Burmese 2023 
Yang Soo Lee 51 Korean 2024 
Yun Gie Park 54  Korean 2017 
Jin Pyo Ahn 51 Korean 2021 
Hyo Jin Song 47 Korean 2021 
Parinya Kitjatanapan 59 Thai 2020 
Vishal Malik 55 Indian 2022 
Rafael M. Alunan III (Independent Director) 76 Filipino 2007 
Oscar S. Reyes (Independent Director) 78 Filipino 2007 

 
Executive Officers 
 
As of 20 May 2024, the following are the names, ages, positions, and citizenship of the incumbent 
Executive Officers of the Company, as well as the year they assumed their respective positions: 
 

Name Age Citizenship Position Year Position was 
Assumed 

Phyo Phyu Noe 41 Burmese President and Chief 
Executive Officer 

2023 

Elmer N. Yanga 50 American Chief Financial Officer 2022 
Jin Pyo Ahn 51 Korean Chief Corporate Strategy 

Officer 
2021 

Youngho Kim 44 Korean Chief Manufacturing 
Officer 

2023 

Lyndon 
Ferdinand J. 

Cuadra 

56 Filipino Chief Commercial Officer 2022  
(as Chief Commercial 

Officer)  
Byoungoh Jang 48 Korean Chief Supply Chain Officer 2023 
Carina Lenore 

S. Bayon 
54 Filipino Chief Environmental, 

Social, and Governance 
Officer, Chief Compliance 

Officer, Extended 
Producers’ Responsibility 
Act Compliance Officer, 
Data Protection Officer 

and Chief Audit Executive 

2020 (as Chief Compliance 
Officer, Data Protection 
Officer), 2022 (as  Chief 

Environmental, Social, and 
Governance Officer, 
Extended Producers’ 

Responsibility Act 
Compliance Officer), 2023 
(as Chief Audit Executive) 
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Name Age Citizenship Position Year Position was 
Assumed 

Kristine 
Ninotschka L. 
Evangelista 

50 Filipino Corporate Secretary 2018 

Jethro C. Perez 32 Filipino Assistant Corporate 
Secretary 

2023 

  
Background Information and Business Experience 
 
The background information and business experience of the incumbent Directors and Executive 
Officers for the last five (5) years are as follows: 
 
Directors: 
 
PHYO PHYU NOE 
Mr. Noe joined PCPPI, the exclusive bottler of PepsiCo beverages in the Philippines, as its President 
and CEO in Nov-23 after successfully turning around Pepsi Myanmar (revenue growth: 6x, net profit 
growth: 23pts in 40 months) amid Myanmar’s political and economic turmoil. Before Pepsi Myanmar, 
he held two positions at Coca-Cola Myanmar: Director of Strategic Planning and Director of Commercial 
Operations. Previously, Mr, Noe was an Investment Director at Delta Capital Myanmar, a Myanmar-
focused PE fund. As part of the fund management team, he has experience sourcing, structuring/ 
closing investment deals, managing portfolio companies and bringing in strategic partners for portfolio 
companies in Myanmar's consumer, telecom and IT sectors. Before Delta Capital, Mr, Noe was a Senior 
Consultant at Bain & Company. At Bain, he worked on strategy consulting cases in Southeast Asia for 
private equity, financial services and telecom clients. Prior to Bain, Mr Noe. worked as a Senior Trader 
at Kellogg Capital Markets in New York City. As part of Kellogg, he has extensive front office trading 
experience: structuring and trading a wide range of fixed income- and commodity-based structured 
products. Mr. Noe earned his MBA from Duke University, graduating with the highest honors as a Fuqua 
Scholar. He received his Bachelor of Arts in Political Science and Economics from Williams College in 
MA, USA. Mr. Noe completed the SEC-accredited webinar Year-End Tax Updates & Compliance 
conducted by the Center for Global Best Practices held on 15 December 2023. 
 
YANG SOO LEE 
Mr. Lee is a non-Executive Director of the Company. He is also currently serving as the Senior Vice 
President of Lotte Chilsung, where he spearheads the Global Business Division.  He has more than 29 
years of domestic and international sales strategy and planning experience in the fast-moving consumer 
goods (FMCG) industry. He joined Lotte Chilsung in 1995, and thus has accumulated diverse 
experience in domestic and international sales. In 2022, he assumed leadership of the Global Business 
Division. 
 
YUN GIE PARK 
Mr. Park is a non-Executive Director of the Company. With over 30 years of experience in the beverage 
business, he currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer and President of Lotte Chilsung. As CEO 
of Lotte Chilsung, Mr. Park currently oversees all of the Lotte Group's alcoholic and non- alcoholic 
beverage businesses. Before assuming his current post in 2020, Mr. Park served Lotte Chilsung in 
various executive capacities including as the Chief Strategy Officer and Chief Marketing Officer. 
 
JIN PYO AHN 
Mr. Ahn is an Executive Director and serves as the Company’s Chief Corporate Strategy Officer. Prior 
to this appointment, Mr. Ahn also served as the Chief Strategy Officer of Lotte Akthar Beverage Co. 
Ltd. from 2018 to 2021; the General Manager for P-Project TF of Lotte Chilsung from 2016 to 2017; and 
the Team Leader of the Global Brand Team of Lotte Chilsung from 2015 to 2016, among others.  Mr. 
Ahn also previously served as the Company’s Chief Strategy Officer from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Ahn 
completed the SEC-accredited webinar Year-End Tax Updates & Compliance conducted by the Center 
for Global Best Practices held on 15 December 2023. 
 
HYO JIN SONG 
Ms. Song is a non-Executive Director of the Company. She is currently the Chief Financial Officer and 
Vice-President of Lotte Chilsung. She joined Lotte Chilsung in 2014 as Senior Director of Finance Team 
and was promoted as Vice-President in 2020. Prior to Lotte Chilsung, she was with Ernst and Young 
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Korea and Seonjin Accounting Corporation in Korea. She is a Chartered Public Accountant in Korea 
and the US. 
 
PARINYA KITJATANAPAN 
Mr. Kitjatanapan is a non-Executive Director of the Company. He has 30 years of financial and 
commercial management experience in the FMCG industry across Asia Pacific, Middle East, and North 
Africa. He joined PepsiCo, Inc. in 1998 as the Chief Financial Officer for PepsiCo's Thailand Beverage 
business and subsequently became General Manager for the country. In 2010, Mr. Kitjatanapan joined 
PepsiCo China's team as General Manager, South Cluster, based in Guangzhou. Then in 2012, he 
relocated to Shanghai to serve as Greater China Beverage Franchise Vice-President. He moved back 
to Thailand in 2014 to assume Vice-President and General Manager of the Thailand Power of One 
business. In 2019, Mr. Kitjatanapan was promoted to Senior Vice-President of Sales & Franchise COE 
for the AMENA (Asia Middle East North Africa) sector. In 2020, he became the Chief Commercial Officer 
for the Asia Pacific sector.  In 2023, he was appointed as Asia Beverages & GMD Business Unit General 
Manager. 
 
VISHAL MALIK 
Mr. Malik is a non-Executive Director of the Company. Prior to his election as Director in June 2022, 
Mr. Malik served as the Company’s Chief Finance Officer and Chief Audit Executive since his 
appointment in 2020. He is a Chartered Accountant from India and has been working with PepsiCo 
International since 1994. He spent six years with PepsiCo Beverages and Foods operations in India, 
following which he has been working as a Finance leader in Southeast Asia for the past 20+ years. In 
his previous roles, he served PepsiCo in the capacity of Chief Financial Officer for IndoChina, Thailand, 
Vietnam and other geographies including Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore. 
 
RAFAEL M. ALUNAN III 
Mr. Alunan is an Independent Director, and is the incumbent Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
and Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company. He has had extensive experience in the private 
and public sectors. Currently, he sits on the Boards of APC Group, Inc. and Senior Adviser to Kaltimex 
Energy Philippines. He is the President of the Rotary Club of Manila for RY 2023-2024 and President 
of the Philippine Taekwondo Association; past Chairman of the Harvard Kennedy School Alumni 
Association and the Philippine Council for Foreign Relations; and a Trustee of the Spirit of EDSA 
Foundation. Mr. Alunan is an Eminent Fellow of the Development Academy of the Philippines, and a 
Fellow of the Institute of Corporate Directors and Institute for Solidarity in Asia. He is a member of the 
Maritime League and the Fraternal Order of Eagles of the Philippines. He organized the One Philippines 
Party List; produced the documentary "Tagaligtas"; has a YouTube Channel "Thinking out loud with 
Raffy Alunan"; and co-authored the book "Silver Linings". He holds the rank of Colonel in the Armed 
Forces of the Philippines (PA Reserves). He commanded the 131st Infantry Division (Standby Reserve) 
and the 9th Infantry Division (Ready Reserve) of the Philippine Army. He is an adopted member of 
Philippine Military Academy Marangal Class of 1974, PC-Special Action Force, Special Forces 
Regiment (Airborne) and First Scout Ranger Regiment. Mr. Alunan completed the course Risk 
Management in the Post-Covid Age organized by the Institute of Corporate Directors held on 13 
December 2023. 
 
OSCAR S. REYES 
Mr. Reyes is an Independent Director and is the incumbent Chairman of the Board of Directors, as well 
as the Chairman of the Company's Board Committees for Nomination and Governance and 
Compensation and Remuneration. Among his other current positions are: Member of the Advisory 
Board of Basic Energy Corporation; Chairman, Link Edge, Inc.; Independent Director of  PXP Energy 
Corporation, Team Energy Corporation, D.M. Wenceslao and Associates, Sun Life Financial Plans, 
Inc., Sun Life Prosperity Funds, Eramen Minerals Inc., Petrolift Corporation, Philippine Dealing System 
Holdings Corp., Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corporation, Philippine Depository & Trust Corporation, 
Philippine Securities Settlement Corporation; Pioneer Life Insurance Group and Alviera Country Club. 
He served the Manila Electric Company in various capacities from 2010 until his retirement in 2019 as 
its President and Chief Executive Officer and Chairman/Director of its various subsidiaries and affiliates. 
Mr. Reyes also served the Shell Companies in the Philippines in various capacities from 1986 until his 
retirement in 2001 as Country Chairman and President of Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corporation, and 
Managing Director of Shell Philippines Exploration B.V. Mr. Reyes attended the 2023 Annual Corporate 
Governance Enhancement Session’s seminar on artificial intelligence held on 09 November 2023 
consisting of two sessions: (a) Governance Imperatives, Opportunities, and Challenges in the Age of 
AI conducted by. Dr. Max Tegmark; and (b) Global Developments in AI Standards and Regulations 
conducted by Atty. Edsel F. Tupaz.  
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Executive Officers: 
 
PHYO PHYU NOE 
Mr. Noe joined PCPPI, the exclusive bottler of PepsiCo beverages in the Philippines, as its President 
and CEO in Nov-23 after successfully turning around Pepsi Myanmar (revenue growth: 6x, net profit 
growth: 23pts in 40 months) amid Myanmar’s political and economic turmoil. Before Pepsi Myanmar, 
Mr. Noe held two positions at Coca-Cola Myanmar: Director of Strategic Planning and Director of 
Commercial Operations. Previously, Mr. Noe was an Investment Director at Delta Capital Myanmar, a 
Myanmar-focused PE fund. As part of the fund management team, he has experience sourcing, 
structuring/ closing investment deals, managing portfolio companies and bringing in strategic partners 
for portfolio companies in Myanmar's consumer, telecom and IT sectors. Before Delta Capital, Mr. Noe 
was a Senior Consultant at Bain & Company. At Bain, he worked on strategy consulting cases in 
Southeast Asia for private equity, financial services and telecom clients. Prior to Bain, Mr. Noe worked 
as a Senior Trader at Kellogg Capital Markets in New York City. As part of Kellogg, he has extensive 
front office trading experience: structuring and trading a wide range of fixed income- and commodity-
based structured products. Mr. Noe earned his MBA from Duke University, graduating with the highest 
honors as a Fuqua Scholar. He received his Bachelor of Arts in Political Science and Economics from 
Williams College in MA, USA. Mr. Noe completed the SEC-accredited webinar Year-End Tax Updates 
& Compliance conducted by the Center for Global Best Practices held on 15 December 2023. 
  
ELMER JOSEPH N. YANGA 
Mr. Yanga is the Company’s Chief Finance Officer and Chief Audit Executive. Prior to this appointment, 
Mr. Yanga was serving as the Vice President for Finance and Chief Finance Officer for the Asia Pacific 
of Ingredion Singapore from 2018 until 2022. He also served as the Executive Vice President and Chief 
Finance Officer for Asia of Suntory Beverage and Food Asia Singapore from 2016 to 2018; the Chief 
Finance Officer for North Asia, Philippines, Indonesia, Maps Commercial Unit (NAPI) and APAC Sales 
from 2015 to 2016 and the Chief Finance Officer for North Asia (Japan, Korea) and Philippines Business 
Unit and Asia Pacific Region Sales from 2014 to 2015 of PepsiCo Hongkong; and Director and Vice 
President of the Planning Department of PepsiCo Vietnam from 2012 to 2014. Prior to that, Mr. Yanga 
held various roles in PepsiCo Asia Pacific Region and North America from 2008 to 2012. Mr. Yanga 
completed the SEC-accredited webinar Year-End Tax Updates & Compliance conducted by the Center 
for Global Best Practices held on 15 December 2023. 
 
JIN PYO AHN 
Mr. Ahn is an Executive Director and serves as the Company’s Chief Corporate Strategy Officer. Prior 
to this appointment, Mr. Ahn also served as the Chief Strategy Officer of Lotte Akthar Beverage Co. 
Ltd. from 2018 to 2021; the General Manager for P-Project TF of Lotte Chilsung from 2016 to 2017; and 
the Team Leader of the Global Brand Team of Lotte Chilsung from 2015 to 2016, among others.  Mr. 
Ahn also previously served as the Company’s Chief Strategy Officer from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Ahn 
completed the SEC-accredited webinar Year-End Tax Updates & Compliance conducted by the Center 
for Global Best Practices held on 15 December 2023. 
 
YOUNGHO KIM 
Mr. Kim is the Company’s Chief Manufacturing Officer. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Kim served 
as Senior Manager, Production Support Team at Lotte Chilsung since 2020. He has been with Lotte 
Chilsung since 2006, having been assigned to several managerial roles in quality assurance and 
production at the Ansung, Opo, and Daejeon factories, as well as at the production headquarters. Mr. 
Kim completed the SEC-accredited webinar Year-End Tax Updates & Compliance conducted by the 
Center for Global Best Practices held on 15 December 2023. 
 
LYNDON FERDINAND J. CUADRA 
Mr. Cuadra is the Company’s Chief Commercial Officer. Prior to his appointment, Mr. Cuadra served 
as the Company's Area Commercial Head for Visayas. Mr. Cuadra has been with the Company for over 
25 years serving in various capacities including as manager for Sales, Finance, Supply and Services; 
and Credit and Collection. Mr. Cuadra completed the SEC-accredited webinar Year-End Tax Updates 
& Compliance conducted by the Center for Global Best Practices held on 15 December 2023. 
 
BYOUNGOH JANG 
Mr. Jang is the Company’s Chief Supply Chain Officer. Prior to his appointment, he was Senior 
Manager/Supply-chain Management Team since 2020 at Lotte Chilsung. He has been with Lotte 
Chilsung for over 15 years, having served in different roles in supply chain management, new product 
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development and quality assurance. Mr. Kim completed the SEC-accredited webinar Year-End Tax 
Updates & Compliance conducted by the Center for Global Best Practices held on 15 December 2023. 
 
CARINA LENORE S. BAYON 
Atty. Bayon is the Company’s Chief Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Officer. Atty. Bayon 
also serves as the Company’s Compliance Officer, Data Protection Officer, Chief Audit Executive, and 
Extended Producers’ Responsibility Act (EPR) Compliance Officer. Prior to the creation of the Chief 
ESG Officer position, Atty. Bayon served as the Company’s Chief Legal and Government Affairs, as 
well as Compliance Officer and Data Protection Officer. She was previously the Vice-President for 
Corporate Affairs of Nestle Philippines Inc. from 2018 to 2019. She also served as the Director for Policy 
Compliance, Promotion and Labeling for Nestle USA (Wyeth Infant Nutrition) from 2015 to 2018, 
Regional Compliance Lead of Nestle - Wyeth Infant Nutrition for Asia & Pacific from 2013 to 2014, and 
Regional Counsel for Asia for Wyeth Philippines, Inc. from 2010 to 2013.  Atty. Bayon was also a 
professor of Labor Relations Law at the Lyceum of the Philippines from 2009 to 2013. Atty. Bayon 
attended the SEC-accredited webinar The Next Level in ESG & Sustainability: Going Beyond 
Compliance and Reporting conducted by the Center for Global Best Practices held on 5 December 
2023. 
 
KRISTINE NINOTSCHKA L. EVANGELISTA 
Ms. Evangelista is the Corporate Secretary of the Company. A partner at Gatmaytan Yap Patacsil 
Gutierrez & Protacio, also known as C&G Law, she was elected as Corporate Secretary of the Company 
in August 2018. She started her legal career in 1999 as an associate at SyCip Salazar Hernandez & 
Gatmaitan. In 2008, she joined Holcim Philippines as Senior Legal Counsel, and served as its General 
Counsel and Corporate Secretary from 2014 until 2017. Ms. Evangelista attended the SEC-accredited 
webinar The Next Level in ESG & Sustainability: Going Beyond Compliance and Reporting conducted 
by the Center for Global Best Practices held on 5 December 2023. 
 
JETHRO C. PEREZ 
Mr. Perez was elected as the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company in November 2023. He is 
currently a Senior Associate at C&G Law. Mr. Perez attended the SEC-accredited webinar The Next 
Level in ESG & Sustainability: Going Beyond Compliance and Reporting conducted by the Center for 
Global Best Practices held on 5 December 2023. 
 
Resignation of Directors 
 
No Director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the Board of Directors since the date of 
the last Annual Stockholders’ Meeting due to any disagreement with the Company on any matter 
relating to the Company’s operations, policies, or practices. 
 
Significant Employees and Family Relationships 
 
No single person is expected to make an indispensable contribution to the business since the Company 
considers the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to the overall success of the 
Company’s business. The Company is not aware of any family relationship between or among the 
aforementioned Directors, Executive Officers, or nominees for election to the Board of Directors up to 
the fourth civil degree. 
 
Except for the payment of annual fees and per diem allowances to directors and compensation to 
officers as set out in Item 6, the Company has not had any transaction during the last two (2) years in 
which any Director or Executive Officer had a direct or indirect interest. 
 
Except for the transactions discussed in Note 23 (Related Party Transactions) to the Audited Financial 
Statements (attached as Exhibit II of Annex D or the SEC Form 17-A (Annual Report)), there were no 
other material related party transactions during the last three (3) financial years, nor are there any 
material transactions currently proposed between the Company and its stockholders, directors, key 
management personnel, or other parties over which the Company has the ability to exercise control or 
significant influence in making financial and operating decisions.11 
 
 

 
11 This information on disclosures on self-dealing and related party transactions is presented in compliance with Section 49 of the 
Revised Corporation Code. 
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
None of the aforementioned Directors or Executive Officers is or has been involved in any criminal or 
bankruptcy proceeding, or is or has been subject to any judgment of a competent court barring or 
otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, or has been found to have violated any 
securities laws during the past five (5) years and up to the latest date, except as disclosed in Item 3 of 
the Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A) for the year 2023 (attached as Annex D) on Legal Proceedings.  
 
Nomination for Election as Members of the Board of Directors 
 
The following have been nominated for election as members of the Board of Directors for the ensuing 
year (2024 to 2025): 
 

Phyo Phyu Noe 
Yang Soo Lee 
Yun Gie Park 

Parinya Kitjatanapan 
Jin Pyo Ahn 

Hyo Jin Song 
Vishal Malik 

Rafael M. Alunan III (Independent Director) 
Oscar S. Reyes (Independent Director) 

 
The names, ages and citizenship of the persons nominated are as follows: 
 

Name Age Citizenship Year First 
Elected 

Phyo Phyu Noe 41 Burmese 2023 
Yang Soo Lee 51 Korean 2024 
Yun Gie Park 54  Korean 2017* 
Parinya Kitjatanapan 59 Thai 2020 
Jin Pyo Ahn 51 Korean 2021** 
Hyo Jin Song 47 Korean 2021** 
Vishal Malik 55 Indian 2022 
Rafael M. Alunan III (Independent 
Director) 76 Filipino 2007 

Oscar S. Reyes (Independent 
Director) 78 Filipino 2007 

* Mr. Park previously served as a member of the Company’s board of directors from 2017 
to 2018. 
** Mr. Ahn and Ms. Song previously served as members of the Company’s board of 
directors from 2021 to 2022. 

 
All are incumbent members of the Board of Directors. The background information and business 
experience of the incumbent members of the Board of Directors are set out in pages 9 through 10 of 
this Information Statement. 
 
Lyn Udarbe and Ivy Valdez nominated Messrs. Reyes and Alunan as Independent Directors. Lyn 
Udarbe and Ivy Valdez are not related to Messrs. Reyes or Alunan. The background information and 
business experience of Messrs. Reyes and Alunan are set out in pages 9 and 10 of this Information 
Statement. 
 
The directorships held in reporting companies of the nominees are as follows: 
 

Oscar S. Reyes (Independent 
Director) 

Basic Energy Corporation 
Link Edge, Inc. 
PXP Energy Corporation  
Team Energy Corporation  
D.M. Wenceslao and Associates  
Sun Life Financial Plans, Inc. 
Sun Life Prosperity Funds 
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Eramen Minerals Inc. 
Petrolift Corporation 
Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp.  
Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corporation  
Philippine Depository & Trust Corporation 
Philippine Securities Settlement Corporation  
Pioneer Life Insurance Group 
Alviera Country Club 
 

Rafael M. Alunan III 
(Independent Director) 

APC Group Inc. 
 

 
Mr. Alunan is the incumbent Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company. The incumbent 
members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Reyes and Malik and Ms. Song.  
 
Mr. Reyes is the incumbent Chairman of the Nomination and Governance Committee of the Company. 
The incumbent members of the Nomination and Governance Committee are Messrs. Ahn and Malik. 
 
Mr. Reyes is the incumbent Chairman of the Compensation and Remuneration Committee of the 
Company. The incumbent members of the Compensation and Remuneration Committee are Messrs. 
Alunan, Ahn, and Kitjatanapan.  
 
Both Messrs. Reyes and Alunan have served on the Company’s Board of Directors since 2007 and 
have been consistently re-elected by the stockholders until present. Under Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) Memorandum Circular (“MC”) No. 4, Series of 2017 (“SEC MC 4-2017"), a 
company’s independent director shall serve for a maximum cumulative term of nine years, which 
cumulative term is reckoned from 2012, after which the independent director shall be perpetually 
barred from re-election as such in the company. Should Messrs. Reyes and Alunan be re-elected at 
the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, they will have served on the Company’s Board of Directors for more 
than 9 years from 2012 and should ordinarily be barred from re-election. 
 
However, SEC MC 4-2017 provides that “[i]n the instance that a company wants to retain an 
independent director who has served for nine (9) years, the Board should provide meritorious 
justification/s and seek shareholders’ approval during the annual shareholders’ meeting.”  The 
Company hopes to retain Messrs. Reyes and Alunan as its independent directors, if they are re-elected 
at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.  In this regard, the Company presents the following justifications 
for the re-election of Messrs. Reyes and Alunan as independent directors to the Company’s Board of 
Directors: 
 

(a) Messrs. Reyes and Alunan possess the necessary qualifications and stature which enable 
them to competently and actively participate in the deliberations of the Company’s Board of 
Directors; 

 
(b) Messrs. Reyes and Alunan’s service on the Company’s Board of Directors since 2008 has not 

impaired their ability to act independently and objectively, as they are able to actively lead 
discussions and weigh differing perspectives on the Company’s operations and organization 
during meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees; 

 
(c) Messrs. Reyes and Alunan also serve on the boards of directors of publicly-listed companies, 

public companies, non-profit organizations, and other entities, which provides them a broad 
view of the Philippine economy and the business sector, including the latest developments 
thereon, thus ensuring that their perspectives on issues are not limited to the industry within 
which the Company operates; In this respect, and on the other hand, the other regular non-
executive members of the Company’s Board of Directors are based abroad, and provide an 
in depth commercial and technical but global view of the industry; 

 
(d) Messrs. Reyes and Alunan’s extensive knowledge and understanding of the Company’s 

business, operations and organization allow them to make insightful, constructive and 
practicable comments on Management’s plans and reports while at the same time mindful of 
the Company’s past experiences, and to ask the necessary questions and clarifications before 
approval or disapproval of proposed corporate acts; and 
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(e) The other regular non-executive members of the Company’s Board of Directors have had 

relatively shorter terms and do not serve on the Board of Directors for long durations, which 
ensures that different perspectives and an appropriate balance of skills and experience are 
always present in the composition of the Company’s Board of Directors. 

 
The By-Laws provide that the Nomination and Governance Committee shall pre-screen and shortlist 
all candidates nominated to become a member of the Board of Directors in accordance with the 
qualifications and disqualifications provided for in the Amended Articles of Incorporation, the Amended 
By-Laws, the Company’s 2024 Manual on Corporate Governance (“2024 Manual on Corporate 
Governance”), applicable laws, regulations including Rule 38 of the Securities Regulation Code, and 
resolutions and rules passed or adopted by said committee, the stockholders and the Board of 
Directors. On 03 June 2024, the Nomination and Governance Committee approved the final list of 
nominees for the Board of Directors which included all of the abovenamed individuals. 
 
Appraisals and performance report for the Board of Directors and the criteria and procedure for 
assessment12 
 
Under the 2024 Manual on Corporate Governance and Charter of the Board of Directors, the Directors 
should observe the following norms of conduct: (a) conduct fair business transactions with the Company 
and ensure that his personal interest does not conflict with the interests of the Company, including 
complying with the Company’s policy on required disclosures of Directors and Officers; (b) devote time 
and attention necessary to properly and effectively discharge his duties and responsibilities, and notify 
the Board before accepting a directorship in another company; (c) act judiciously; (d) exercise 
independent judgment; (e) have a working knowledge of the statutory and regulatory requirements 
affecting the Company, including its Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws, the rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, and where applicable, the requirements of other regulatory 
agencies; (f) observe confidentiality; (g) each member of the Board and the Board Committees, and 
Officer of the Company is obligated to inform the Board of actual or potential conflicts of interest, and, 
in case of direct conflict of interest, to abstain at his own initiative before discussing the respective 
matter; and (h) attend and actively participate, review meeting materials and if called for, ask the 
necessary questions or seek clarifications and explanations, in all meetings of the Board, of the Board 
committees in which he is a member, and meetings of the stockholders.  
 
The Nomination and Governance Committee Charter provides that the Board shall conduct an annual 
self-assessment of its performance, including the performance of the Chairman of the Board, the 
individual Directors, and the Board committees. The 2024 Manual on Corporate Governance provides 
that, every three (3) years, the assessment shall be supported by an external facilitator. 
 
The members of the Board of Directors and key officers attended corporate governance training 
sessions for the reporting year 2023 on 05 December 2023 and 15 December 2023. The last Board 
of Directors’ assessment supported by an external facilitator was on 27 October 2022.   
 
The attendance record of the Directors in the meetings of the Board of Directors for the year 2023 to 
2024 is as follows: 
 

Member of the Board of Directors Percentage of Meetings13 Attended 
Frederick D. Ong* 100% 
Carina Lenore S. Bayon** 100% 
Phyo Phyu Noe 100% 
Jun Beom Lim*** 83.33% 
Yang Soo Lee 100% 
Yun Gie Park 42.86% 
Parinya Kitjatanapan 71.43% 
Jin Pyo Ahn 100% 
Hyo Jin Song 80% 
Vishal Malik 100% 

 
12 This discussion on the appraisals and performance report for the board and the criteria and procedure for assessment is 
presented in compliance with Section 49 of the Revised Corporation Code. 
13 Regular meetings, special meetings, and organizational meeting of the Board of Directors, counted from the date of election. 
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Rafael M. Alunan III (Independent 
Director) 

85.71% 

Oscar S. Reyes (Independent 
Director) 

100% 

 * Mr. Ong has resigned and has been replaced by Atty. Carina Lenore S. Bayon 
as director effective 23 August 2023. 

 ** Atty. Bayon has resigned and has been replaced by Mr. Phyo Phyu Noe as 
director effective 01 November 2024. 

 *** Mr. Lim has resigned and has been replaced by Mr. Yang Soo Lee as director 
effective 19 February 2024. 

 
The attendance record of the Directors in the Board committee meetings for the year 2023 to 2024 is 
as follows: 
 

Audit Committee Compensation and Remuneration 
Committee 

Nomination and Governance 
Committee 

Committee 
Members 

Percentage of 
Meetings 
Attended 

Committee 
Members  

Percentage of 
Meetings 
Attended 

Committee 
Members 

Percentage of 
Meetings 
Attended 

Hyo Jin Song 100% Parinya 
Kitjatanapan 

100% Jin Pyo Ahn 100% 

Vishal Malik 80% Jin Pyo Ahn 100% Vishal Malik 0% 
Rafael M. 
Alunan III 
(Independent 
Director) 

100% Rafael M. 
Alunan III 
(Independent 
Director) 

100% Oscar S. Reyes 
(Independent 
Director) 

100% 

Oscar S. Reyes 
(Independent 
Director) 

100% Oscar S. Reyes 
(Independent 
Director) 

100%   

 
At the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 2023, the following members of the Board were 
present: Messrs. Oscar S. Reyes, Rafael M. Alunan III, Frederick D. Ong, and Vishal Malik. There were 
no other stockholders’ meeting held for 2023. 
 
Item 6. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
The aggregate compensation paid or accrued (in Philippine Peso) in the calendar years ended  
31 December 2023, 2022, and 2021, and estimated to be paid for the ensuing calendar year ending 31 
December 2024, to the following Executive Officers and Directors, is set out in the table below: 
 

Name Year Salary Bonus Others 
Aggregate for CEO and four (4) most 
highly compensated below-named 
executive officers 

CY 2021  
CY 2022  
CY 2023  
CY 2024 
(Estimate)  
 

42,475,264 
57,270,568 
39,092,067 
53,114,022 

8,408,898 
10,828,970 
2,335,485 
2,522,324 

573,626 
914,674 

- 
- 

All other directors and officers as a group 
unnamed 

CY 2021 
CY 2022  
CY 2023  
CY 2024 
(Estimate) 

44,430,930 
35,394,635    
30,640,710 
17,917,813 

3,465,293 
5,500,600       
5,711,933 

844,383 

10,672,751 
6,469,015 

42,965,715 
3,432,000 

 
 
The following are the five (5) highest compensated Executive directors and officers of the Company 
who were serving as Executive Officers at the end of the last completed calendar year: 
 
• Phyo Phyu Noe – President and Chief Executive Officer 
• Jin Pyo Ahn – Chief Corporate Strategy Officer  
• Lyndon Ferdinand J. Cuadra – Chief Commercial Officer 
• Youngho Kim – Chief Manufacturing Officer 
• Carina Lenore S. Bayon – Chief Environmental, Social, and Governance Officer, Chief 

Compliance Officer, Extended Producers’ Responsibility Act Compliance Officer, Data Protection 
Officer, and Chief Audit Executive 
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There are no special employment contracts between the Company and the above Executive Officers. 
 
At the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 24 May 2019, the stockholders approved and ratified the 
payment of annual fees for the members of the Board of Directors in the amount of PhP500,000.00 and 
a per diem allowance per Board or Board committee meeting of PhP200,000.00 for the Chairman of 
the Board and PhP100,000.00 for the other members of the Board. The seven (7) Directors representing 
Lotte Chilsung, and Quaker Global Investments B.V. have waived the per diem allowance as well as 
the annual directors’ fee. 
 
There are no outstanding warrants or options held by the above Executive Officers and all such officers 
and Directors as a group. 
 
For calendar year 2023, the members of the Board were paid an aggregate amount of PhP4,520,000 
for their attendance at Board and Board committee meetings. The following are the amounts of per 
diems and directors’ fees received by each Director: 
 

 Name of Director Per Diems Directors’ Fees Total 
1.  Oscar S. Reyes 1,920,000 500,000 2,420,000 
2.  Rafael M. Alunan 1,600,000 500,000 2,100,000 
3.  Frederick D. Ong* 0 0 0 
4.  Carina Lenore S. Bayon** 0 0 0 
5.  Phyo Phyu Noe 0 0 0 
6.  Jun Beom Lim 0 0 0 
7.  Yun Gie Park 0 0 0 
8.  Hyo Jin Song 0 0 0 
9.  Jin Pyo Ahn 0 0 0 
10.  Parinya Kitjatanapan 0 0 0 
11.  Vishal Malik 0 0 0 
 TOTAL 3,520,000 1,000,000 4,520,000 

* Mr. Ong resigned as director and was replaced by Atty. Bayon effective 23 August 2023. 
** Atty. Bayon resigned as director and was replaced by Mr. Noe effective 01 November 2023. 
 
 
Item 7. Independent Public Accountants 
 
The Company’s current external auditor is R.G. Manabat & Co. (KPMG Philippines). In compliance with 
Rule 68(3)(d) and Rule 68(3)(b)(ix) of the Securities Regulation Code, the Company engaged R.G. 
Manabat & Co. (KPMG Philippines) as its external auditor for the two (2) most recent calendar years, 
and Mr. Vernilo G. Yu as partner-in-charge. Representatives of said firm are expected to be present at 
the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting and will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to 
do so, and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions. 
 
Aggregate fees billed by R.G. Manabat & Co. (KPMG Philippines), for professional services in relation 
to (i) the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements and services in connection with statutory 
and regulatory filings; and (ii) tax accounting, compliance, advice, planning, and any other form of tax 
services for the calendar year ended December 31 2023, 2022, and 2021 are summarized as follows: 
 

 2023 2022 2021 

Statutory audit fees PhP5.15 million PhP5.1 million PhP4.8 million 

Other Assurance 
Services 

PhP4.45 million   

Tax advice fees   PhP0.6 million PhP0.4 million 

Total PhP9.6 million  PhP5.7 million PhP5.2 million 

 
The Audit Committee reviews and approves the audit plan and scope of work for the above services 
and ensures that the rates are competitive as compared to the fees charged by other equally competent 
external auditors performing similar services. 
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During the Company’s two (2) most recent calendar years or any subsequent interim periods, there 
was no instance where the Company’s public accountant resigned or indicated that they decline to 
stand for re-appointment or were dismissed nor was there any instance where the Company had any 
disagreement with its public accountant on any accounting or financial disclosure issue.  
 
In compliance with Rule 68(3)(d) and Rule 68(3)(b)(ix) of the Securities Regulation Code on the rotation 
of external auditors, the Company recommends the engagement of a new auditing firm for the ensuing 
year 2024 to 2025. The auditing firm of R.G. Manabat & Co. (KPMG Philippines) is being recommended 
for appointment as external auditor for the ensuing year 2024 to 2025.  
 
 
Item 8. Compensation Plans 
 
No action or matter with respect to any plan pursuant to which cash or non-cash compensation may be 
paid or distributed will be taken up at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 
 
Item 9. Financial and Other Information 
 
The Company has incorporated by reference the following as contained in the Management Report 
(attached as Annex B), Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A) (attached as Annex D), and Quarterly Report 
(SEC Form 17-Q) (attached as Annex E): 
 

1. Audited financial statements showing the financial position of the Company for the calendar 
years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, and its financial performance and 
cash flows for each of the three (3) quarters in the period ended 31 December 2023, attached 
as Exhibit II of the Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A); 
 

2. Interim financial statements showing the financial position of the Company for the period ended 
31 March 2024, attached as Exhibit I of the Quarterly Report (SEC Form 17-Q); 

 
3. Management’s discussion and analysis or plan of operation; and 
 
4. Information on business overview, properties, legal proceedings, market price of securities, 

dividends paid and corporate governance (which includes appraisals and performance report 
for the Board and the criteria and procedure for assessment). 

 
 
Item 10. Mergers, Consolidations, Acquisitions and Similar Matters 

 
No action or matter with respect to mergers, consolidations, acquisitions, sales or other transfers of all 
or any substantial part of the assets of the Company, liquidation, dissolution and similar matters will be 
taken up at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.  
   
 
Item 11.  Acquisition or Disposition of Property 
 
No action or matter with respect to the acquisition or disposition of a substantial amount of assets or 
property will be taken up at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 
 
Item 12.  Restatement of Accounts 
 
No action or matter with respect to the restatement of any asset, capital, or surplus account of the 
Company will be taken up at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
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C.   OTHER MATTERS 
 
 
Item 13.   Action with Respect to Reports 
 
The Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 2023, which will be submitted for 
approval of the stockholders, record the following matters: 
 

1. Approval by the stockholders of the Minutes of the previous Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held 
on 29 June 2022 [Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-001]; 

 
2. Report of the President and Chief Executive Officer on the results of operations of the Company 

for the year ended 31 December 2022; 
 
3. Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 

December 2022 and acceptance and approval thereof by the stockholders [Stockholders’ 
Resolution No. 2023/2024-002]; 

 
4. Ratification by the stockholders of all acts and resolutions of the Board of Directors, and all acts 

of the Management, as well as all contracts and transactions entered into by the Company, for 
the year 2022 [Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-003]; 

 
5. Presentation of the Proposed Amendments to the Amended Articles of Incorporation and 

approval thereof by the stockholders [Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-004]; 
 

6. Presentation of the Proposed Amendments to the Amended By-Laws and approval thereof by 
the stockholders [Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-005] 
 

7. Election of the Company’s Directors, including Independent Directors, for the year 2023 to 2024 
[Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-006], namely: 
 

Yun Gie Park 
Jun Beom Lim 
Hyo Jin Song 
Jin Pyo Ahn 

Frederick D. Ong 
Parinya Kitjatanapan 

Vishal Malik 
Oscar S. Reyes (Independent Director) 

Rafael M. Alunan III (Independent Director) 
 

8. Appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. as the Company’s External Auditor for 2023 to 2024 
[Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-007]. 

 
The Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 2023, a copy of which is attached as 
Annex C hereto, also provide (i) a description of the voting and vote tabulation used in the meeting, (ii) 
a description of the opportunity given to stockholders to ask questions and a description of the nature 
of the questions asked in the meeting, (iii) matters discussed and resolutions reached and the record 
of the voting results for each agenda item, and (iv) a list of directors and stockholders who attended the 
meeting. These information are restated below in compliance with Section 49 of the Revised 
Corporation Code. 
 
Voting and tabulation procedures used in the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 
2023 
 
The Corporate Secretary reported that stockholders were furnished copies of the voting procedures and 
an explanation of the agenda items. Upon the Chairman’s request, the Corporate Secretary explained 
the rules of conduct and voting procedures for the meeting. 
 
The Corporate Secretary explained that, under the procedures on participation by remote 
communications and voting in absentia, the stockholders may send their questions or comments to 
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corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph and that questions and comments received as of 8:30 a.m. will be 
read and answered during the discussion of the agenda item, “Other Matters”. 
 
The voting procedures provide that stockholders of record are entitled to one (1) vote per share, except 
in the election of directors where a stockholder may vote such number of shares as he or she holds on 
record multiplied by the number of directors to be elected (i.e., nine (9) directors). The procedures permit 
stockholders participating by remote communications to vote through a digital ballot until the end of the 
meeting. The username and password to access the digital ballot were provided by email to the duly 
registered stockholders. Stockholders who appointed the Chairman as their proxy have cast their votes 
using their proxy forms. 
 
The votes were tabulated by the Corporate Secretary. The Corporate Secretary reported that, at the 
end of the proxy validation process on 12 June 2023, 5:00 p.m., stockholders owning 3,624,292,286 
voting shares representing 99.99% of the total voting shares represented in the meeting (i.e., votes cast 
by proxy ballot) and 98.13% of the total outstanding voting shares have cast their votes on the items for 
consideration. The Corporate Secretary referred to this partial tabulation in reporting the voting results 
throughout the meeting. The remaining votes that were cast after the proxy validation and during the 
meeting are now included and reflected in the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 
June 2023, and set out in the table of voting results below. 
 
Questions asked and answers given during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 
2023 
 
Ms. Cecilia R. Duguran asked if Management sees a sustained trend towards releasing more zero 
sugar/no sugar products for the year. She also asked what Filipino consumers can look forward to as 
part of the product portfolio. Mr. Ong responded that market studies conducted in the country and 
overseas show that consumers have become more mindful of their dietary choices, and this cascades 
to their options in beverages. From the Company’s recent experience in launching Gatorade No Sugar, 
Management found that Filipino consumers are keen to embrace healthier products that do not 
compromise flavor and quality for their health benefits. With PepsiCo and Lotte, the Company continues 
to explore what products can be effectively delivered to customers in the country.  
 
Ms. Jocelyn P. Amado asked how the renewed focus on Environmental Social Governance (ESG) 
aspects affect operations. Mr. Ong responded that the Company has always championed causes 
centered on its people, its profitability, and the planet. The recent shift towards a more concerted ESG 
strategy allows the Company to create more than stakeholder value. This intensified effort on ESG 
programs helps make even better informed decisions on long-term facilities investments, talent 
attraction and retention, energy and resource conservation, to name a few areas. Mr. Ong then stated 
that he is confident that with a strong ESG team, led by the Company’s Chief ESG Officer, Atty. Carina 
Bayon, stakeholders can look forward to more engaging and empowering initiatives that further shared 
values and interests.  
 
Mr. Dominador T. Torres III asked about the Company’s top business priorities in a post-pandemic 
economy. Mr. Ong responded that, earlier in the meeting, he shared the Company’s transformation 
priorities starting the year to leap forward in a post-pandemic world. To summarize, the Company (a) is 
further refocusing its product portfolio to better serve clients and customers with clearer, more 
consistent brand positioning; (b) continues to calibrate its go-to-market strategy through digitalization 
and trade optimization; and (c) develops initiatives that help reduce expenses without compromising 
productivity and effectiveness. These pressing matters are what the Company will concentrate on to 
boost and future-proof its business. 
 
The matters discussed and resolutions reached and the record of the voting results for each 
agenda item in the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 2023 
 

Item discussed For Against Abstain 
Total No. of 

Shares 
Represented 

i. Approval by the stockholders of the 
Minutes of the previous Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting held on 29 June 
2022 [Stockholders’ Resolution No. 
2023/2024-001]; 

3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 
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ii. Presentation of the Audited Financial 
Statements of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2022 and 
acceptance and approval thereof by 
the stockholders [Stockholders’ 
Resolution No. 2023/2024-002]; 

3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 

iii. Ratification by the stockholders of all 
acts and resolutions of the Board of 
Directors, and all acts of the 
Management, as well as all contracts 
and transactions entered into by the 
Company, for the year 2022 
[Stockholders’ Resolution No. 
2023/2024-003]; 

3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 

iv. Presentation of the Proposed 
Amendments to the Amended Articles 
of Incorporation and approval thereof 
by the stockholders [Stockholders’ 
Resolution No. 2023/2024-004]; 

3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 

v. Presentation of the Proposed 
Amendments to the Amended By-
Laws and approval thereof by the 
stockholders [Stockholders’ Resolution 
No. 2023/2024-005]; 

3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 

vi. Election of the Company’s Directors, 
including Independent Directors, for 
the year 2023 to 2024 [Stockholders’ 
Resolution No. 2023/2024-006] 

    

1. Yun Gie Park 3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 
2. Jun Beom Lim 3,624,353,296    
3. Jin Pyo ahn 3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 
4. Hyo Jin Song 3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 
5. Fredrick D. Ong 3,624,353,296    
6. Parinya Kitjatanapan 3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 
7. Vishal Malik 3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 
8. Oscar S. Reyes 3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 
9. Rafael M. Alunan III 
 

3,624,353,296 0 0 99.99% 

vii. Appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. as 
the Company’s External Auditor for 
2023 to 2024 [Stockholders’ 
Resolution No. 2023/2024-007]. 

 

3,624,353,296 0 
 

0 
 

99.99% 

 
List of directors, officers, and stockholders who attended the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 
held on 15 June 2023 
 

a. Directors 
• Oscar S. Reyes – Chairman and Independent Director 
• Rafael M. Alunan III – Vice-Chairman and Independent Director 
• Frederick D. Ong – Director and President and Chief Executive Officer 
• Vishal Malik – Director 

 
b. Officers 

 
• Sungjin Kim – Chief Manufacturing Officer 
• Lyndon Ferdinand J. Cuadra – Chief Commercial Officer 
• Dong Geol Yoon — Officer-In Charge, Chief Supply Chain Officer 
• Jin Pyo Ahn – Chief Corporate Strategy Officer  
• Elmer Joseph N. Yanga — Chief Finance Officer and Chief Audit Executive 
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• Atty. Carina Lenore S. Bayon — Chief Environmental, Social, and Governance Officer, 
Chief Compliance Officer, Extended Producers’ Responsibility Act Compliance Officer, 
and Data Protection Officer 

• Alvin M. Valencia — Area Commercial Head (Luzon 1) 
• Aristedes H. Alindogan – Area Commercial Head (Luzon 2)  
• Raoul M. Palugod – Area Commercial Head (Visayas) 
• Ian E. Conlu – Area Commercial Head (Mindanao) 
• Reynaldo M. Israel – National Key Accounts Head  
• Kristine Ninotschka L. Evangelista – Corporate Secretary  

 
c. Stockholders 

 
• Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd.  
• Quaker Global Investments B.V.  
• Cecilia R. Duguran  
• Dominador T. Torres III  
• Jocelyn P. Amado 

 
 
Item 14.   Matters Not Required to be Submitted 
 
Except for the Report of the President and Chief Executive Officer, all other actions or matters to be 
taken up during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting will require the vote of the security holders. 
 
 
Item 15.   Amendment of Charter, Bylaws or Other Documents 
 
There are no proposed amendments to the Company’s Amended Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws 
to be presented to the stockholders for their approval during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 
 
Item 16.  Other Proposed Action 
 
Apart from the submission for approval by the stockholders of the matters in Items 13 of this Information 
Statement (i.e., approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 2023), 
the following matters will also be submitted for approval of the stockholders: 
 

1. Presentation of and approval the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2023; 
 

2. Ratification of all acts and resolutions of the Board of Directors and Management for the 
previous year, as well as all contracts and transactions entered into by the Company, for the 
year 2023 until the 2024 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting; 

 
3. Election of the members of the Board of Directors, including the Independent Directors, for the 

year 2024 to 2025; and 
 
4. Appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. (KPMG Philippines) as the Company’s External Auditor 

for the year 2024 to 2025. 
 
 
Item 17. Voting Procedures  
 
Voting requirements 
 
(a)     Matters for stockholders’ approval 
 
As provided in Article II, Section 4 of the By-Laws, a quorum at any meeting of stockholders shall consist 
of a majority of the outstanding capital stock of the Company represented in person or by proxy, and a 
majority of the entire outstanding stock of the Company shall be necessary to decide any matter that 
may come before a meeting.  
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In accordance with Article II, Section 1 of the Company’s By-Laws, stockholders who participate and 
vote through remote communications or who vote in absentia are deemed present for purposes of 
quorum. This is discussed further in Annex A of this Information Statement. 
 
All matters to be acted upon in the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting require the vote of a majority of the 
outstanding capital stock of the Company.  
 
(b)     Election of directors 
 
Pursuant to Sections 23 and 57 of the Revised Corporation Code, every stockholder entitled to vote 
shall have the right to vote the number of shares of stock standing, as of the record date, in his own 
name in the stock and transfer book of the Company; and said stockholder may vote such number of 
shares for as many persons as there are directors to be elected or he may cumulate said shares and 
give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of 
his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as many candidates as 
he shall see fit; provided, that the total number of votes cast by him shall not exceed the number of 
shares owned by him as shown in the books of the Company multiplied by the number of directors to 
be elected. By way of illustration, the formula may be stated as follows: 
 

Number of shares held on record x Nine (9) directors = Total votes that may be cast. 
 
Manner of voting 
 
Stockholders of record are entitled to one vote per share. A stockholder participating via remote 
communication or who intend to vote in absentia may cast their votes electronically following the 
procedures set out in Item 18 and Annex A of this Information Statement. A stockholder may also vote 
by proxy duly given in writing and submitted to the Corporate Secretary at least seven (7) days before 
the meeting in accordance with Article VII, Section 1 of the Company’s By-Laws. 
 
Method of counting votes 
 
All votes shall be tabulated by the Corporate Secretary. As the stockholders take up an item in the 
agenda, the Corporate Secretary will report the votes that have been received and tabulated; and the 
final tally of votes will be reflected in the minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 
 
Item 18. Attendance, Participation and Voting Via Remote Communications, Voting in Absentia, 
and Voting by Proxy 
 
As disclosed by the Company on 12 April 2024, in its meeting held on the same date, the Board of 
Directors approved the conduct of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting via remote communications, to 
allow stockholders of record to participate and exercise their right to vote through remote 
communication, or in absentia, or by proxy in accordance with Article II, Section 1 of the Company’s 
By-Laws; thus, dispensing with physical attendance in the meeting.  
 
The procedures for attendance, participation, and voting via remote communications and voting in 
absentia or by proxy are attached to this Information Statement as Annex A. 

 
COPIES OF THE COMPANY’S ANNUAL REPORT (SEC FORM 17-A) AND QUARTERLY 
REPORT (SEC FORM 17-Q) (WHICH ARE ATTACHED AS ANNEXES D AND E TO THIS 
INFORMATION STATEMENT) MAY BE ACCESSED BY THE STOCKHOLDERS AT THE 
COMPANY’S WEBSITE, https://pepsiphilippines.com/investor-relations-disclosures.  

 

https://pepsiphilippines.com/investor-relations-%20disclosures
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PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 

TO:  The Stockholders 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual meeting of stockholders of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc. (the “Company”) 
will be conducted virtually through https://bit.ly/pcppiasm2024  on 28 June 2024, at 9:00 a.m.  
 
The agenda of the meeting shall be as follows: 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Certification of Notice and of Quorum 
 

3. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 15 June 2023 
 

4. Report of the President and Chief Executive Officer 
 

5. Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

6. Ratification of Acts of the Board of Directors and Management for 2023 
 

7. Election of Directors for 2024 to 2025 
 

8. Appointment of External Auditor for 2024 to 2025 
 

9. Other Matters 
 

10. Adjournment 
 
Only stockholders of record as of 07 June 2024 are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, this annual meeting.  
 
Stockholders may (a) attend, participate, and vote via remote communications (on his or her own or through a proxy other 
than the Chairman); (b) vote in absentia (without attendance and participation); or (c) vote (without attendance and 
participation) by appointing the Chairman of the meeting as their proxy. Stockholders intending to attend, participate, and 
vote by remote communication, or to vote in absentia, should notify the Company by email to 
corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph from 07 June 2024, 9:00 a.m., to 21 June 2024, 5:00 p.m.  Duly accomplished proxies shall 
be submitted on or before 21 June 2024, 5:00 p.m. to the Corporate Secretary c/o Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc., at 
26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City, or by email to 
corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph. Validation of proxies is set on 21 June 2024, 5:00 p.m.  The detailed procedures for 
attending, participating, and voting in the meeting are set forth in the Information Statement, which will be posted on the 
website of the Company at https://www.pepsiphilippines.com/investor-relations-disclosures.   
 
Shareholders may nominate individuals for election to the Board of Directors by emailing the Corporate Secretary at 
corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph with the name and profile of the individual by 31 May 2024, 5:00 p.m. 
 
Duly registered stockholders may likewise access the annual meeting by scanning the QR Code below. 

 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/bit.ly/pcppiasm2024___.YzJ1OnJhamFoYW5kdGFubjpjOm86YjAxMWUzYWRlMDIxOWI0ZWNlYjlmNmI5YmZmMTBmOGE6NjozMjE1OjA1NTAwNzc2NWUwNzYyZjIyZGU4MGVhZTg1OWI5NDE4MWExNGIyYmZkMjdlYjc3ZDNhNGI2YjEwZTEyNWIwYTM6aDpU


PROXY 
 

I, ____________________________, a stockholder of PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. (the “Company”), 
holding ________________ of the Company’s shares, hereby name, constitute, and appoint 
__________________________________________ or in his/her absence, the Chairman of the Meeting, as attorney-in-
fact and proxy, to represent and vote all shares registered in my name at the annual meeting of the stockholders of the 
Company to be held on Friday, 28 June 2024, and any adjournment(s) thereof.  
 
The undersigned directs the proxy to vote on the agenda items which have been expressly indicated with “X” below.  
 

1. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual 
Stockholders’ Meeting held on June 15, 2023 

□ Yes 
□ No 
□ Abstain 

2. Approval of the Audited Financial Statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2023 

□ Yes 
□ No 
□ Abstain 

3. Ratification of the acts of the Board of 
Directors and Management for 2023 

□ Yes 
□ No 
□ Abstain 

4. Election of Directors for the 2024 to 2025 
 
Indicate in the space before each name how 
many votes you are casting in favor of that 
nominee. Your total number of votes can be 
computed as follow: number of shares held x 
9. If the cumulative number of votes 
indicated exceeds this computation, your 
votes will be proportionately reduced. 

Indicate number of votes per nominee: 
____________ Phyo Phyu Noe 
____________ Yang Soo Lee 
____________ Yun Gie Park 
____________ Parinya Kitjatanapan 
____________ Jin Pyo Ahn 
____________ Hyo Jin Song 
____________ Vishal Malik 
____________ Rafael M. Alunan III (Independent Director) 
____________ Oscar S. Reyes (Independent Director) 

 
5. Appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. (KPMG 

Philippines) as external auditor of the 
Company for the year 2024 to 2025 

□ Yes 
□ No 
□ Abstain 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have signed this ___ day of _________ 2024, at ____________________________.  
 

______________________________ ______________________________________________ 
PRINTED NAME OF STOCKHOLDER SIGNATURE OF STOCKHOLDER/ AUTHORIZED SIGNATORY 

 
This proxy should be received by the Corporate Secretary, at Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc., 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City or at corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph on or before 
21 June 2024, 5:00 p.m. For corporate stockholders, please attach to this proxy form the secretary’s certificate on the authority of 
the signatory to appoint the proxy and sign this form. This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner as directed 
herein by the stockholder. If no direction is made, this proxy will be voted for the election of all nominees and for the approval of the 
matters stated above and for such other matters as may properly come before the meeting as recommended by the Chairman. A 
stockholder giving a proxy has the power to revoke it at any time before the right granted is exercised. A proxy is also considered 
revoked if the stockholder registers to vote electronically as provided in the procedures attached to the Information Statement. 
Notarization of the proxy is not required.  
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ANNEX A 
 

PROCEDURES FOR ATTENDING, PARTICIPATING, AND VOTING IN THE ANNUAL 
STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING THROUGH REMOTE COMMUNICATIONS, FOR VOTING 

IN ABSENTIA, AND FOR VOTING BY PROXY 
 



PROCEDURES FOR ATTENDING, PARTICIPATING, AND VOTING IN THE ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ 
MEETING THROUGH REMOTE COMMUNICATIONS, FOR VOTING IN ABSENTIA, AND FOR VOTING 

BY PROXY 
 
A stockholder may only attend the meeting remotely by connecting to https://bit.ly/pcppiasm2024 or 
scanning the QR Code below at the date and time indicated in the Notice and Agenda. Stockholders 
who will not be attending, participating, and voting via remote communications may choose to vote 
in absentia or by proxy.  

 
Registration Procedures  
 
A stockholder (or his or her proxy) who intends to participate via remote communications, vote in 
absentia, or vote by proxy (by appointing the Chairman of the meeting as his or her proxy), must 
register in accordance with the procedures below from 07 June to 21 June 2024, 5:00 p.m.  
 
To register, the stockholder must send an email to corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph, indicating 
“PCPPI 2024 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting Registration” as the subject of the email.  
 
The following must be provided in the body of the email or attached to the email:  
 

I. For individual stockholders with stock certificates –  
 

1. A scanned copy of the front and back portions of the stockholder’s valid government 
issued ID, preferably with residential address, in .jpeg/.jpg or .png format. The file size 
should be no larger than 1 megabyte (“MB”);  

2. A valid and active e-mail address;  
3. A valid and active contact number; and  
4. Indicate if the stockholder will (a) attend, participate, and vote via remote 

communications (on his or her own or through a proxy other than the Chairman), (b) 
vote in absentia, or (c) vote by proxy (by appointing the Chairman of the meeting as 
his or her proxy).  
 

II. For stockholders under Broker accounts –  
 

1. A broker’s certification on the stockholder’s number of shareholdings (in .pdf, 
.jpeg/.jpg, or .png format). The file size should be no larger than 1MB; 

2. A proxy issued by the broker in favor of the stockholder (in .pdf, .jpeg/.jpg, or .png 
format). The file size should be no larger than 1MB;  
 
IMPORTANT: To facilitate the verification of your account, please make sure to copy 
corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph and the Company’s stock and transfer agent, Stock Transfer 
Service, Inc., through rdregala@stocktransfer.com.ph, ljmtallungan@stocktransfer.com.ph, 

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https:/bit.ly/pcppiasm2024___.YzJ1OnJhamFoYW5kdGFubjpjOm86YjAxMWUzYWRlMDIxOWI0ZWNlYjlmNmI5YmZmMTBmOGE6NjozMjE1OjA1NTAwNzc2NWUwNzYyZjIyZGU4MGVhZTg1OWI5NDE4MWExNGIyYmZkMjdlYjc3ZDNhNGI2YjEwZTEyNWIwYTM6aDpU
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mccapoy@stocktransfer.com.ph, and jscortez@stocktransfer.com.ph in all email correspondences 
with the broker regarding requests for proxies and broker’s certification;  

 
3. A scanned copy of the front and back portions of the stockholder’s valid government 

issued ID, preferably with residential address (in .jpeg/.jpg or .png format). The file 
size should be no larger than 1MB;  

4. A valid and active e-mail address;  
5. A valid and active contact number;  
6. Indicate if the stockholder will (a) attend, participate, and vote via remote 

communications, or (b) vote in absentia.  
 

III. For corporate stockholders –  
 
If the corporate stockholder will appoint a proxy other than the Chairman of the meeting as its proxy:  
 

1. A secretary’s certificate attesting to (i) the authority of the proxy to attend and vote, for 
and on behalf of the corporate stockholder, which may serve as the proxy if it has all the 
requirements of a proxy; or (ii) the authority of the representative signing the proxy for 
and on behalf of the corporate stockholder, together with the signed proxy (in .pdf, 
.jpeg/.jpg, or .png format). The file size should be no larger than 1MB;  

2. A scanned copy of the front and back portions of the valid government-issued ID of the 
corporate stockholder’s proxy, preferably with residential address (in .jpeg/.jpg or .png 
format). The file size should be no larger than 1MB;  

3. A valid and active e-mail address of the corporate stockholder’s proxy;  
4. A valid and active contact number of the corporate stockholder’s proxy; and  
5. Indicate if the corporate stockholder’s proxy will (a) attend, participate, and vote via 

remote communications, or (b) vote in absentia.  
 
If the corporate stockholder will appoint the Chairman of the meeting as its proxy:  
 

1. A secretary’s certificate attesting to (a) the appointment of the Chairman of the meeting 
as its proxy to attend and vote, for and on behalf of the corporate stockholder, which 
may serve as the proxy if it has all the requirements of a proxy; or (b) the authority of 
the representative signing the proxy for and on behalf of the corporate stockholder, 
together with the signed proxy indicating the Chairman as the proxy (in .pdf, .jpeg/.jpg, 
or .png format). The file size should be no larger than 1MB; 

2. A valid and active e-mail address of the representative of the corporate stockholder;  
3. A valid and active contact number of the  representative of the corporate stockholder; 

and  
4. Indicate that the corporate stockholder intends to appoint the Chairman of the meeting 

to attend and vote as its proxy.  
 
In all cases I, II and III above, if the stockholder will be attending by proxy, the signed proxy must be 
received by the Corporate Secretary on or before 21 June 2024, 5:00 p.m. The original signed proxy 
may be sent to the Corporate Secretary c/o Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc., at 26th Floor, 
Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City, or a 
scanned copy of the signed proxy may be sent by email to corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph.  
 
The Corporate Secretary may request additional information or documents to confirm the identity and 
number of shares of the stockholder. 
 

mailto:mccapoy@stocktransfer.com.ph
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Incomplete or inconsistent information may result in an unsuccessful registration. As a result, 
stockholders will not be allowed to participate via remote communications, vote in absentia, or vote 
by proxy.  
 
Validation  
 
Upon receipt by the Company of the email with complete documents, the Corporate Secretary will 
acknowledge it and will revert with the validation result together with the username and passwords 
for the meeting room and/or the ballot no later than three (3) business days from receipt of the email.  
 
A. Attendance, Participation and Voting Via Remote Communications  
 
Attendance and Participation  
 
Only stockholders who have duly registered (or their proxies) in accordance with the Registration 
Procedures above and have notified the Corporate Secretary of their intention to attend, participate, 
and vote in the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting by remote communication will receive the link to the 
meeting room and the specific username and password to access the meeting room.  
 
Questions or comments of stockholders participating via remote communications may be sent prior 
to or during the meeting to corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph and shall be limited to the items in the 
Agenda. 
 
A stockholder who participates by remote communications shall be deemed present for purposes of 
quorum. The meeting proceedings shall be recorded in audio and video format. 
  
Voting  
 
Stockholders (or their proxies) participating by remote communications may cast their votes by filling 
in a ballot to be provided by email to duly registered stockholders. Duly registered stockholders have 
until the end of the meeting to cast their votes by sending the filled-in ballot by e-mail to 
corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph.  
 
The voting must comply with the following instructions:  
 

• For items other than the Election of Directors, the stockholder or proxy has the option to vote: 
“For”, “Against”, or “Abstain”.  
 
For individual stockholders, the vote is considered cast for all the registered stockholder’s 
shares.  
 
For brokers, the number of shares voting “For”, “Against”, and “Abstain” must be indicated in 
the form.  
 

• For the election of directors, the stockholder or proxy may vote for all nominees, not vote for 
any of the nominees, or vote for some nominees only, in such number of shares as preferred 
by the stockholder, provided that the total number of votes cast shall not exceed the number 
of shares owned, multiplied by the number of directors to be elected. Further, if a stockholder 
or proxy has indicated an intention to vote for the nominees but did not indicate the number 
of shares voted for each nominee, it will be presumed that the stockholder allocated an equal 
number of votes for all nominees.  

mailto:corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph


 
B. Voting in Absentia  
 
Instead of participating via remote communications or voting by proxy, stockholders have the option 
of voting in absentia on the matters in the agenda.  
 
Only stockholders who have duly registered in accordance with the Registration Procedures above 
and have informed the Company of their intent to vote in absentia may vote on the matters on the 
agenda without attending the meeting. The ballot shall  be emailed to duly registered stockholders.  
 
A stockholder voting in absentia shall be deemed present for purposes of quorum.  
 
Voting  
 
Registered stockholders voting by remote communications or in absentia  have until the end of the 
meeting to cast their votes by emailing the filled-in ballot to corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph.  
 
The voting must comply with the following instructions:  

 
• For items other than the Election of Directors, the stockholder has the option to vote: “For”, 

“Against”, or “Abstain”.  
 
For individual stockholders, the vote is considered cast for all the registered stockholder’s 
shares.  
 
For brokers, the number of shares voting “For”, “Against”, and “Abstain” must be indicated in 
the form.  
 

• For the election of directors, the stockholder may vote for all nominees, not vote for any of 
the nominees, or vote for some nominees only, in such number of shares as preferred by the 
stockholder, provided that the total number of votes cast shall not exceed the number of 
shares owned, multiplied by the number of directors to be elected. Further, if a stockholder 
has indicated an intention to vote for the nominees but did not indicate the number of shares 
voted for each nominee, it will be presumed that the stockholder allocated an equal number 
of votes for all nominees.  

 
C. Voting By Proxy (Chairman)  
 
Instead of participating via remote communications or voting in absentia, stockholders have the 
option of voting by proxy, by appointing the Chairman of the meeting as his or her proxy.  
 
Only stockholders who have duly registered in accordance with the Registration Procedures above 
and have informed the Company of their intent to designate the Chairman of the meeting as their 
proxy, may vote on the matters on the agenda without attending the meeting.  
 
Voting  
 
The voting should comply with the following instructions:  

 
• Download and fill in the proxy form. The Chairman of the meeting, by default, is authorized 

to cast the votes pursuant to the instructions in the proxy.  
 



• For items other than the Election of Directors, the stockholder has the option to vote: “For”, 
“Against”, or “Abstain”.  
 
For individual stockholders, the vote is considered cast for all the registered stockholder’s 
shares.  
 
For brokers, the number of shares voting “For”, “Against”, and “Abstain” must be indicated in 
the form.  
 

• For the election of directors, the stockholder may vote for all nominees, not vote for any of 
the nominees, or vote for some nominees only, in such number of shares as preferred by the 
stockholder, provided that the total number of votes cast shall not exceed the number of 
shares owned, multiplied by the number of directors to be elected. Further, if a stockholder 
has indicated an intention to vote for the nominees but did not indicate the number of shares 
voted for each nominee, it will be presumed that the stockholder allocated an equal number 
of votes for all nominees.  

 
The stockholders may send the original signed proxy to the Corporate Secretary c/o Pepsi-Cola 
Products Philippines, Inc., at 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City, or a scanned copy of the executed proxy through email to 
corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph. The deadline for the submission of proxies is on or before 21 June 
2024, 5:00 p.m.  
 
Counting and Tabulation of Votes 
 
The Corporate Secretary will count and tabulate the votes cast via remote communication and in 
absentia together with the votes cast by proxy.  
 
Should the Corporate Secretary receive, from a single stockholder, a physical proxy-ballot and an 
emailed ballot, the Corporate Secretary will count and include in the final tally the votes cast in the 
latest ballot received.  
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
 

I. GENERAL NATURE AND SCOPE OF THE BUSINESS 
 
Overview 
 
Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc. (the “Company”) was registered with the Philippine Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on 08 March 1989, primarily to engage in manufacturing, sales and 
distribution of carbonated soft-drinks and non-carbonated beverages, and confectionery products to 
retail, wholesale, restaurants and bar trades.   
 
The Company’s principal office was in Km. 29 National Road, Tunasan, Muntinlupa City. On 10 
December 2021, the SEC approved the amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to reflect 
its new principal office address located in  26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate 
Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City.   
 
On 30 May 2014, the SEC approved the amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, 
particularly on its primary purpose to also engage in the manufacturing, sale and distribution of snacks, 
food and food products. 
 
The Company is a licensed bottler of PepsiCo, Inc. (“PepsiCo”), Pepsi Lipton International Limited 
(“Pepsi Lipton”), and a licensed snacks appointee of The Concentrate Manufacturing Company of 
Ireland in the Philippines.  It manufactures a range of carbonated soft drinks (“CSD”) and non-
carbonated beverages (“NCB”) that includes well-known brands Pepsi-Cola, 7Up, Mountain Dew, 
Mirinda, Mug, Gatorade, G-Active, Tropicana/Twister, Lipton, Sting, Milkis, Chum Churum Soonhari, 
Aquafina, and Premier. 
 
Philippine Beverage Industry 
 
The Company competes in the ready-to-drink, non-alcoholic beverage market across the Philippines. 
The market is highly competitive and competition varies by product category. The Company believes 
that the major competitive factors include advertising and marketing programs that create brand 
awareness, pack/price promotions, new product development, distribution and availability, packaging 
and customer goodwill.  The Company faces competition generally from both local and multi-national 
companies across the Company’s nationwide operations.   
 
Major competitors in the CSD market are The Coca-Cola Company and Asiawide Refreshments 
Corporation. The substantial investment in multiple plants, distribution infrastructure and systems and 
the float of returnable glass bottles (“RGBs”) and plastic shells required to operate a nationwide 
beverage business using RGBs are major factors which influence the level of competition in the CSD 
market. 
 
The market for NCB (including energy drinks) is more fragmented.  Major competitors in this market are 
Del Monte Pacific Limited, Universal Robina Corporation, Zesto Corporation, The Coca-Cola Company, 
and Asia Brewery Incorporated, among others. In recent years, the market has been relatively fluid, 
with frequent product launches and shifting consumer preferences. These trends are expected to 
continue. 
 
Industry-wide competition intensified with marketing campaigns, and trade and consumer promotions.  
The Company believes that it can effectively compete by maximizing its 360-degree marketing 
presence, maintaining its competitive price structures and expanding the range and reach of the 
Company’s portfolio.  For the years to come, the Company will continue to expand its beverage offerings 
leveraging its wide manufacturing platform and extensive distribution reach to meet consumer 
demands. 
 
Moreover, the Company invested aggressively, positioning the business for long-term growth while 
ensuring financial flexibility to battle current challenges. The Company expanded and upgraded 
manufacturing facilities in different plants to provide multiple product capabilities, maximize cost 
savings, improve product quality and increase operating efficiencies. 
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Customers/Distribution Methods of the Products 
 
The Company has a broad customer base nationwide. Majority of the customers include supermarkets, 
convenience stores, groceries, bars, sari-sari stores and carinderias. 
 
The Company’s sales volumes depend on the reach of its distribution network.  It increases the reach 
of distribution system by adding routes and increasing penetration by adding outlets on existing routes 
that currently do not stock its products.  It relies on a number of channels to reach retail outlets, including 
direct sales, distributors and wholesalers.   
 
The backbone of the distribution system is what is referred to as “Entrepreneurial Distribution System,” 
which consists of independent contractors who service one or more sales “routes,” usually by truck, 
selling directly to retail outlets and collecting empty RGBs. 
 
The Company also employs its own sales force, which principally sells to what is referred to as the 
“modern trade” channel, consisting largely of supermarkets, restaurants and convenience store chains. 
Most of these sales are credit sales. In addition, it sells products to third-party wholesalers and 
distributors, which sell them to retail outlets. 
 
An important aspect of the distribution system is the infrastructure-intensive process of selling and 
delivering RGB products to thousands of small retailers, including sari-sari stores and carinderias.  The 
efforts to increase the reach of the Company’s distribution network require significant investments in 
distribution infrastructure such as additional trucks, refrigeration equipment, warehouse space and a 
larger “float” of glass bottles and plastic shells, as well as higher costs for additional sales and 
distribution staff.   
 
Principal Suppliers 
 
Over half of the total costs comprise purchases of raw materials. Largest purchases are sugar and 
beverage concentrates. The Company purchases sugar requirements domestically and imports from 
Thailand if needed and depending on the government import allocation. It purchases beverage 
concentrates mainly from Concentrates Manufacturing (Singapore) Pte Ltd, mix tea kit concentrates 
from Pepsi Lipton International and seasoning from Pepsi Cola International Cork (Ireland).   
 
Another substantial cost is packaging. The major components of this expense are purchases of 
polyethylene terephthalate (“PET”) resins, and pre-forms, which are converted into PET bottles at the 
plants, non-reusable glass bottles, aluminum cans and PET closures.  It also makes regular purchases 
of RGBs to maintain float at appropriate levels.  Purchases of each of these materials are from suppliers 
based in the Philippines and in other parts of Asia, usually under short term, negotiated and/or 
contracted prices.  
 
Legal Proceedings 
 
From time to time, the Company becomes a party to litigation in the ordinary course of its business. The 
majority of the cases in which the Company is a party are cases it files to recover debts in relation to 
unpaid receivables by trade partners or in relation to cash or route shortages, private criminal 
prosecutions that it brings, labor cases for alleged illegal dismissal (which are usually accompanied by 
demands for reinstatement in the Company without loss of seniority rights and payment of back wages), 
and consumer cases brought against the Company involving allegations of defective products. Other 
significant cases are criminal cases for theft against employees and refund against suppliers. 
 
The Company had pending civil cases with the Regional Trial Court on the cancellation of assessments 
and refund of local business taxes in the City of Muntinlupa.  In 2023 and 2022, the Company and the 
City of Muntinlupa entered into compromise agreements whereby the City agreed to refund a portion of 
the assessments through tax credits.  
 
For a discussion of the Company’s pending tax matter, please refer to Note 28(b) to the Audited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
 
The Company has not been involved in any bankruptcy, receivership or other similar proceedings. 
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II. MARKET FOR ISSUER’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
Market Information  
 
The Company’s common shares were first listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”) on 01 
February 2008.  
 
The closing share price on 17 June 2020 is PhP1.70.  The trading of the Company’s shares was 
suspended on 18 June 2020 following the drop of its public ownership level to 2.1%, or below the 10% 
minimum public ownership required under the PSE Rule on Minimum Public Ownership, after 
conclusion of the tender offer conducted by Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd. (“Lotte Chilsung”) to 
acquire shares of the Company from the stockholders. 
 
On 18 December 2020, the delisting of the Company’s shares from the official registry of the PSE was 
made effective following PSE’s approval of the Company’s petition for voluntary delisting, and after 
securing stockholder approval of the voluntary delisting by written assent in October 2020. The 
Company petitioned to voluntarily delist its shares from the PSE upon assessment that it would not be 
able to comply with the minimum public ownership requirement of the PSE by 18 December 2020. 
 
Stockholders  
 
The Company has approximately 757 stockholders of common shares as of 20 May 2024, with the PCD 
Nominee Corporation (Filipino) and (Non-Filipino) considered as two (2) stockholders, based on the 
stockholder list of the Company’s stock transfer agent, Stock Transfer Service, Inc. (the “Stock Transfer 
Agent”). 
 
The following are the top 20 stockholders of common shares based on the report furnished by the Stock 
Transfer Agent as of 20 May 2024: 
 

NO. Name Number of Shares Held Percentage 
of Ownership 

1  LOTTE CHILSUNG BEVERAGE CO. LTD.1 2,715,868,5142 73.53%3 
2  QUAKER GLOBAL INVESTMENTS B.V. 923,443,072 25.00% 
3  PCD NOMINEE CORP. (NON-FILIPINO) 37,345,670 01.01% 
4  PCD NOMINEE CORP. (FILIPINO) 6,945,123 00.19% 
5  WAT WAI HOONG JOSEPH AND PHO LINL LIN 388,000 00.01% 
6  AB CAPITAL SECURITIES INC.  381,000 00.01% 
7  WEE MICHAEL T. 320,700 00.01% 
8  REYES OSCAR S. 300,001 00.01% 
9  BLANCAVER RENE B. 255,000 00.01% 
10  MADARANG WINEFREDA O. 250,000 00.01% 
11  MORGAN STANLEY SMITH BARNEY 221,000 00.01% 
12  G.D. TAN & CO. INC 213,000 00.01% 
13  CASTRO REY CHELIN PINERA 200,000 00.01% 
14  DIANA TE &/OR MARIBETH UY 170,000 00.00% 
15  VERDIDA IVAN N.  159,000 00.00% 

 
1 Lotte Chilsung is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of Korea with principal office at 1332-
1, Seocho-Dong, Seocho-Gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea. Based on the beneficial ownership declaration attached to the 
Company’s General Information Sheet filed on 23 February 2024, Lotte Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer, Dong Woo Lee, is 
named as the beneficial owner, under category I of the beneficial ownership declaration form (provided under SEC Memorandum 
Circular No. 15, Series of 2020) indirectly holding 73.58% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company, through shares held 
in the name of Lotte Chilsung. 
 
2 This number is based on the list of top 20 stockholders as of 20 May 2024 issued and certified by the Company’s stock and 
transfer agent, Stock Transfer Service Inc. 
 
3 The transfer of shares tendered to Lotte Chilsung during the tender offer conducted by the latter in 2020 are yet to be recorded 
in the name of Lotte Chilsung in the books of the Company in their entirety pending the submission of the necessary documentary 
requirements. 
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NO. Name Number of Shares Held Percentage 
of Ownership 

16  PNB SECURITIES INC. 154,000 00.00% 
17  JOSE JR ESPANA BAUTISTA 152,000 00.00% 
18  LUGTI VALERIANO A. 150,000 00.00% 
19  YU FELIX S. 149,998 00.00% 
20  PAN ASIA SECURITIES CORPORATION 149,000 00.00% 

 
Cash Dividends 
 
For the last three calendar years, the Board of Directors approved the following declarations of cash 
dividends: nil in the calendar years ended 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021. The last declaration of 
cash dividend was in the amount of P162.5 million in the calendar year ended 31 December 2019. 
Details of the declarations are as follows: 

 

Date of Declaration 
Dividend Per 

Share 

Payable to 
Stockholders of 

Record as of Date of Payment 
20 June 2019 0.044 16 July 2019 09 August 2019 

 
 
Dividend Policy 
 
The Company has a dividend policy to declare dividends to stockholders of record, which are paid out 
of its unrestricted retained earnings. Any future dividends it pays will be at the discretion of the Board 
of Directors after taking into account the earnings, cash flows, financial position, loan covenants, capital 
and operating progress, and other factors as the Board of Directors may consider relevant.  Subject to 
the foregoing, the policy is to pay up to fifty percent (50%) of the profit as dividends. This policy may be 
subject to revisions in the future. 
 
The declaration and payment of cash dividends are subject to approval by the Board of Directors without 
need for stockholders’ approval. On the other hand, the declaration and payment of stock dividends 
require the approval of the stockholders representing no less than two-thirds (2/3) of the Company’s 
outstanding capital stock. 
 
Pursuant to its Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws, as amended during the annual stockholders 
meeting held on 15 June 2023, and approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission on 29 
September 2023, the Company shall not declare payment of dividends until 2025. 
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities including Recent Issuance of Securities 
Constituting an Exempt Transaction 
 
There has been no recent sale of unregistered or exempt securities including recent issuance of 
securities constituting an exempt transaction. 
 
 
III. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Please refer to the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the calendar year ended 31 
December 2023, which is attached as Exhibit II to the Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A), which is 
attached to the Information Statement (SEC Form 20-IS) as Annex D. 
 
 
IV. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 
There has been no change in the independent auditing firm or handling partner or disagreements with 
the independent Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) on matters relating to the application and 
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interpretation of accounting principles or practices, tax laws and regulations, financial statement 
disclosures or audit scope and procedures during the three (3) most recent fiscal years. 
 
 
V. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
31 December 2023 versus 31 December 2022 
 
On a full year basis, Net Sales grew 5% to P38.4 billion in 2023. Key drivers of topline growth are Mix 
improvement via shift to higher value products and Pricing, a combination of the annualized impact of 
last year’s pricing initiatives and new pricing actions implemented during the year to counter inflationary 
pressures.  Volume slowdown resulting from these pricing actions partially tempered topline growth. 
 
Inflation continues to be a challenge in costs and expenses as reflected in the 6.4% increase versus 
prior year, of Cost of Goods Sold and Operating Expenses combined while Marketing Expenses reflect 
stepped up investments for future growth through GTM and portfolio enhancements. 
 
Given the above factors, the company posted an Operating loss for the year of -P674MM. 
 
After Other Income and Expenses, Interest and Taxes, resulting Net Loss for the year was P1.2 billion. 
Included is a one off expense for asset write-off in line with the rationalization of the company’s 
manufacturing footprint for increased efficiency. 
 
31 December 2022 versus 31 December 2021 
 
The Company posted full year Net Sales of P38.3 billion, a 17% increase from 2021 driven by volume 
recovery post-pandemic lockdowns, focus on mix improvement and price increases across the portfolio 
to address inflationary pressures on cost of goods driven by global price hikes on fuel and fuel-related 
inputs and local Sugar prices. Given the timing of increases, Pricing only partially covered for inflation, 
thus resulting in Gross Profit growing only 6% year on year. 
 
Inflation driven increase in Operating Expenses, mainly on freight cost due to fuel price increases and 
Selling and Administration expenses, contributed to lower Operating Profit at P191 million, 52% below 
last year. With this, full year Profit before tax stood at P10.1 million, or a 96% decrease from last year. 
 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY 
 
31 December 2023 versus 31 December 2022 
 
The Company’s operations are cash intensive. This capability to generate cash is one of its greatest 
strengths. With its liquidity, the Company has substantial financial flexibility in varying operating policy 
in response to market demands, in meeting capital expenditures through internally generated funds and 
in providing the Company with a strong financial condition and the access to financing alternatives (refer 
to Note 27 to the 31 December 2023 Audited Financial Statements for a detailed discussion on the 
Company’s revolving credit facilities as of 31 December 2023). 
 
Credit sales over the past three years have remained at the level of 50% to 60% of total sales. This 
credit sales level reflects a shift from a direct distribution mode to a more efficient model of fostering 
partnership with distributors and multi-route Entrepreneurial Distribution System contractors as well as 
increase in Modern Trade business. Liquidity has remained healthy. Collection period were at 45 to 68 
days, while, inventory days were at 4 to 22 days for the past three years. Trade payable days have 
remained at manageable levels. 
 
Decrease in current assets from ₱10,812 million as of 31 December 2022 to ₱10,082 million as of 31 
December 2023 were due to decreases in inventories – net of ₱326 million, prepaid expenses, and 
other current assets of ₱143 million, receivable – net of P134 million, cash and cash equivalent of P127 
million and due from related parties of ₱2 million. 
 
Decrease in noncurrent assets from ₱17,402 million as of 31 December 2022 to ₱16,780 million as of 
31 December 2023 due to decreases in property, plant and equipment of ₱783 million and bottles and 



 6 

cases of P186 million, intangible assets of P42 million, and other noncurrent assets of ₱7 million, and  
increases in deferred tax assets of P288 million, right of use assets P107 million, and investment in 
associates of P2 million.   
 
Decrease in current liabilities from ₱13,888 million as of 31 December 2022 to ₱12,394 million as of 31 
December 2023 due to decreases in accounts payable & accrued expenses of ₱2,649 million and an 
increase in and short-term debt of P168 million, and long-term debt current portion of P988 million.  
 
Increase in noncurrent liabilities from ₱5,379 million as of 31 December 2022 to ₱6,829 million as of 31 
December 2023 due to increases in long-term debt of ₱1,279 million,  and other noncurrent liabilities of 
P287 million, and decrease in deferred tax liabilities of  P117 million. 
 
Total assets decreased from ₱28,214 million as of 31 December 2022 to ₱26,861 million as of 31 
December 2023 mainly due to general increases in assets as discussed above. Total liabilities 
decreased from ₱19,266 million as of 31 December 2022 to ₱19,223 million as of 31 December 2023 
mainly due to general decreases in payables and stated above. 
 
Total equity decreased from ₱8,948 million to ₱7,639 million on account of total comprehensive income 
of ₱1,309 million in 2023. 
 
31 December 2022 versus 31 December 2021 
 
The Company’s operations are cash intensive. This capability to generate cash is one of its greatest 
strengths.  With its liquidity, the Company has substantial financial flexibility in varying operating policy 
in response to market demands, in meeting capital expenditures through internally generated funds and 
in providing the Company with a strong financial condition that gives it ready access to financing 
alternatives (refer to Note 27 to the 31 December 2022 Audited Financial Statements for a detailed 
discussion on the Company’s revolving credit facilities as of 31 December 2022).  
 
Credit sales over the past three years have remained at the level of 50% to 60% of total sales.  This 
credit sales level reflects a shift from a direct distribution mode to a more efficient model of fostering 
partnership with distributors and multi-route Entrepreneurial Distribution System contractors as well as 
increase in Modern Trade business.  Liquidity has remained healthy. Collection period were at 45 to 68 
days, while, inventory days were at 4 to 22 days for the past three years.  Trade payable days have 
remained at manageable levels. 
 
Increase in current assets from ₱7,531 million as of 31 December 2021 to ₱10,812 million as of  
31 December 2022 were due to Increases in inventories – net of ₱2,238 million, receivable – net of 
₱875 million, cash and cash equivalent of P45 million and prepaid expenses, and other current assets 
of ₱139 million, and decrease in due from related parties of ₱16 million. 
 
Decrease in noncurrent assets from ₱17,506 million as of 31 December 2021 to ₱17,402 million as of 
31 December 2022 due to increases in property, plant and equipment of ₱557 million and investment 
in associates of ₱12 million and other noncurrent assets of ₱1 million, and decreases in  bottles and 
cases of ₱444 million, deferred tax assets of ₱187million, intangible assets of ₱39 million, right of use 
assets of ₱4 million,  
 
Increase in current liabilities from ₱9,568 million as of 31 December 2021 to ₱13,888 million as of 31 
December 2022 due to increases in accounts payable & accrued expenses of ₱3,227 million and short-
term debt of ₱2,050 million, and decrease in long-term debt current portion of ₱957 million. 
 
Decrease in noncurrent liabilities from ₱6,761 million as of 31 December 2021 to ₱5,379 million as of 
31 December 2022 due to decreases in long-term debt of ₱1,155 million, deferred tax liabilities of  ₱131 
million, and other noncurrent liabilities of ₱96 million. 
 
Total assets increased from ₱25,036 million as of 31 December 2021 to ₱28,214 million as of 31 
December 2022 mainly due to general increases in assets as discussed above. Total liabilities 
increased from ₱16,329 million as of 31 December 2021 to ₱19,266 million as of 31 December 2022 
mainly due to general decreases in payables as stated above.  
 
Total equity increased from ₱8,708 million to ₱8,948 million on account of total comprehensive income  
of ₱240 million in 2022. 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 
The following are the Company’s key performance indicators. Analyses are employed by comparisons 
and measurements based on the financial data of the current period against the same period of previous 
year. 
 

  2023 2022 
Current ratio Current assets over current liabilities 0.8:1 0.8:1 
Solvency ratio Profit plus depreciation and amortization over 

total liabilities 
0.6:1 0.1:1 

Bank debt-to-equity 
ratio 

Bank debt over total equity 1.26:1 0.8:1 

Asset-to-equity ratio Total assets over equity 3.52:1 3.15:1 
Operating margin Operating profit over net sales -1.67% 0.5% 
Net profit margin Net profit over net sales -3.06% 0.12% 
Interest rate coverage 
ratio 

Earnings before interest and taxes over 
interest expense 

-1.40:1 1.04:1 

 
Current ratio increased slightly due to increases in assets. The changes in solvency, debt-to-equity and 
asset-to-equity ratios were mainly due to increases in net income, in total assets and total liabilities. 
The changes in operating margin, net profit margin and interest rate coverage ratios were attributable 
to the decreases in operating income. 
 
MATERIAL COMMITMENTS FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 
 
The Company has ongoing definite corporate expansion projects approved by the Board of Directors. 
As a result of this expansion program, the Company spent for property, plant and equipment as well as 
bottles and shells amounting to amounting to P1,592 million, P2,286 million, and P1,971 million for the 
years ended 31 December 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. To this date, the Company continues 
to invest in major capital expenditures in order to complete the remaining expansion projects lined up 
in line with prior calendar year spending. 
 
Factors that may Impact Company’s Operations / Seasonality Asects 
 
Refer to Part 1 Item (2) (o) of the SEC Form 17-A (Annual Report) for a discussion of Major Risks. 
 
Significant Elements of Income or Loss that did not arise from Continuing Operations 
 
There were losses arising from discontinued operations of the Snack business in September 2019. 
 
 
VI. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Manual of Corporate Governance 
 
The Company first adopted its Manual on Corporate Governance (the “Manual”) on 21 June 2007, and 
has since revised it based on the various relevant regulations issued by the SEC. Most recently on 19 
February 2024, the Board revised the Manual to align its provisions with the amendments to the 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws as approved by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on 29 September 2023.   
 
The Manual details the standards by which the Company conducts sound corporate governance that is 
coherent and consistent with relevant laws and regulatory rules, and constantly strives to create value 
for its stockholders and other stakeholders. 
 
Compliance with the Manual’s standards is monitored by the Company’s Chief Compliance Officer and 
Chief Risk Officer. Ultimate responsibility rests with the Board, which currently maintains three (3) 
standing committees, i.e., the Audit Committee, the Compensation and Remuneration Committee, and 
the Nomination and Governance Committee, each charged with oversight into specific areas of the 
Company’s business activities. 
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On 11 December 2019, the Board adopted its Board Charter and the charters of the Board committees.  
The Board Charter formalizes and clearly states the Board’s roles, responsibilities, and accountabilities 
in carrying out its fiduciary duties. The charter of each Board committee provides the committee 
objectives, duties and functions, membership and organization, reporting process, resources, and other 
relevant information, as well as its performance evaluation. Recently on 19 February 2024, the Board 
revised the Board Charter to align its provisions with the amendments to the Company’s Articles of 
Incorporation and By-Laws as approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission on 29 September 
2023.   
 
Board Committees 
 
While the Company’s By-Laws provide for an Executive Committee, the Board has not found it 
necessary to constitute this committee given the effective dynamics among the Board and the three (3) 
working Board committees below. 
 
The Audit Committee primarily assists with the Board’s oversight capability over the Company’s 
financial reporting, internal control system, internal and external audit processes, and compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. The Committee also assists with the Board oversight capability over 
the Company’s Enterprise Risk Management responsibilities to ensure its functionality and 
effectiveness, and with the Board’s oversight capability over all material Related Party Transactions of 
the Company. The incumbent members of the Audit Committee are as follows: Messrs. Rafael M. 
Alunan III (Chairman/Independent Director), Oscar S. Reyes (Independent Director), Hyo Jin Song, and 
Vishal F. Malik. 
 
The Compensation and Remuneration Committee assists the Board in developing a formal and 
transparent procedure and policy for determining the remuneration of the members of the Board and 
the Company’s key executives. The incumbent members of the Compensation and Remuneration 
Committee are as follows: Messrs. Oscar S. Reyes (Chairman/Independent Director), Rafael M. Alunan 
III (Independent Director), Jin Pyo Ahn, and Parinya Kitjatanapan. 
 
The Nomination and Governance Committee primarily assists the Board in the performance of its 
Corporate Governance responsibilities, and the determination of the nomination and election process 
for the Company’s Directors and officers. The incumbent members of the Nomination and Governance 
Committee are as follows: Messrs. Oscar S. Reyes (Chairman/Independent Director), Jin Pyo Ahn, and 
Vishal Malik. 
 
Compliance with the Manual 
 
For purposes of evaluating compliance with the Manual, the Company has adopted the self-rating form 
prescribed by the SEC, or the Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (SEC Form I-ACGR). 
In line with this, and pursuant to the requirements of the SEC, the Company submitted its first Annual 
Corporate Governance Report (“ACGR”) for 2012 on 28 June 2013, and has submitted the ACGR and 
the revised Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report form, yearly thereafter until 2020.  In 2021, 
after voluntarily delisting from the Philippine Stock Exchange in 2020, it submitted a Compliance 
Officer’s Certification (SEC Form CG-2020) in lieu of an Integrated Annual Corporate Governance 
Report. In compliance with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 13, Series of 2021, the Company has since 
filed its Annual Corporate Governance Reports yearly, with the latest for the reporting year filed on 2023 
on 30 April 2024. 
 
The Company continues to comply with its Manual through the election of independent directors to the 
Board; the constitution of the Board Committees, the membership of which include independent 
directors; the adoption of a Charter of the Board of Director and charters of each of the Board 
committees; the conduct of regular meetings of the Board and the Board committees; adherence to the 
Company’s Code of Conduct; and adherence to applicable accounting standards and disclosure 
requirements. 
 
The Company adheres to an Annual Operating Plan, which includes a business plan, budget and 
marketing plan.  Management prepares and submits to the Board, on a regular basis, financial and 
operational reports which enable the Board and Management to assess the effectiveness and efficiency 
of the Company. 
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The Company continues to evaluate and review its Manual as well as its over-all corporate governance 
framework to ensure that best practices on corporate governance are being adopted.  
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FOR APPROVAL BY THE STOCKHOLDERS AT THE 2024 ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 
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MINUTES OF THE 2023 ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING OF  
PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 

Held virtually via https://www.pcppi-asm.com  
on 15 June 2023 at 9:00 a.m. 

(Stockholders’ Meeting No. 2023/2024-001) 
 

 
STOCKHOLDERS PRESENT 
 

Total No. of Issued and Outstanding Shares entitled to vote 
 

3,693,772,279 

Total No. of Shares of Stockholders Participating by Remote Communications 3,624,673,290* 
Total No. of Shares of Stockholders Voting in absentia 0 
Total No. of Shares of Stockholders Present by Proxy 
 

60,010 

Total No. of Shares Present 3,624,733,300 
Percentage Present of the Total No. of Issued and Outstanding Shares entitled to vote 98.13% 

* 3,624,292,286 shares with proxies participated via remote communication 
 
STOCKHOLDERS PRESENT (BY REMOTE COMMUNICATIONS AND BY PROXY) 
 
Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd. 
Quaker Global Investments B.V. 
Cecilia R. Duguran 
Dominador T. Torres III 
Jocelyn P. Amado 
 
DIRECTORS PRESENT 
 

Oscar S. Reyes Chairman and Independent Director 
Rafael M. Alunan III Vice-Chairman and Independent Director 
Frederick D. Ong Director and President and Chief Executive Officer 
Vishal Malik Director 

 
OFFICERS PRESENT 
 

Sungjin Kim 
Lyndon Ferdinand J. Cuadra 
Dong Geol Yoon 
Jin Pyo Ahn 
Elmer Joseph N. Yanga 
Carina Lenore S. Bayon 
 
 
Alvin M. Valencia 
Aristedes H. Alindogan 
Raoul M. Palugod 
Ian E. Conlu 
Reynaldo M. Israel 
Kristine Ninotschka L. Evangelista 

Chief Manufacturing Officer 
Chief Commercial Officer and Area Commercial Head (Visayas) 
Officer-In Charge, Chief Supply Chain Officer 
Chief Corporate Strategy Officer 
Chief Finance Officer and Chief Audit Executive 
Chief Environmental, Social, and Governance Officer, Chief Compliance 
Officer, Extended Producers Responsibility Compliance Officer, and Data 
Protection Officer 
Area Commercial Head (Luzon 1) 
Area Commercial Head (Luzon 2)  
Area Commercial Head (Visayas)  
Area Commercial Head (Mindanao)  
National Key Accounts Head 
Corporate Secretary 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Chairman of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc. (the 
“Company”), Mr. Oscar S. Reyes, called the meeting to order. The Corporate Secretary, Atty. Kristine 
Ninotschka L. Evangelista, recorded the minutes of the proceedings. 

https://www.pcppi-asm.com/
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II. CERTIFICATION OF NOTICE AND OF QUORUM 
 
The Corporate Secretary certified that, beginning 24 May 2023 the notice and agenda for the annual 
stockholders’ meeting and the Definitive Information Statement cleared and approved by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) as well as the procedures on participation by remote communications and 
by proxy, and on voting in absentia, were made available to the stockholders through the Company’s website 
and by email to all stockholders of record as of record date who registered to participate or vote upon the 
matters for approval in the meeting. The notice and agenda were also published on 11 May 2023 and 12 May 
2023 in the business section of the Business Mirror and Manila Times, in both print and online formats (i.e., 
the physical copies of Business Mirror and Manila Times, and on businessmirror.com.ph and 
manilatimes.net).  
 
The Corporate Secretary also certified that there was a quorum to conduct business, there being a total of 
3,624,733,300 shares represented, constituting 98.13% of the total outstanding capital stock of the Company, 
or more than 50% of the Company’s total outstanding capital stock. This figure refers to the number of shares 
held by stockholders that had sent proxies, confirmed attendance, and completed registration prior to the 
meeting and based on the records generated in the online platform. 
 
III. INSTRUCTIONS ON RULES OF CONDUCT AND VOTING PROCEDURES 
 
The Corporate Secretary reported that stockholders were furnished copies of the voting procedures and an 
explanation of the agenda items. Upon the Chairman’s request, the Corporate Secretary explained the rules 
of conduct and voting procedures for the meeting. 
 
The Corporate Secretary explained that, under the procedures on participation by remote communications 
and voting in absentia, the stockholders may send their questions or comments to 
corporatesecretary@pcppi.com.ph and that questions and comments received as of 8:30 a.m. will be read 
and answered during the discussion of the agenda item, “Other Matters”.  
 
The voting procedures provide that stockholders of record are entitled to one (1) vote per share, except in 
the election of directors where a stockholder may vote such number of shares as he or she holds on record 
multiplied by the number of directors to be elected (i.e., nine (9) directors). The procedures permit 
stockholders participating by remote communications to vote through a digital ballot until the end of the 
meeting. The username and password to access the digital ballot were provided by email to the duly 
registered stockholders. Stockholders who appointed the Chairman as their proxy have cast their votes using 
their proxy forms. 
 
The votes were tabulated by the Corporate Secretary. The Corporate Secretary reported that, at the end of 
the proxy validation process on 12 June 2023, 5:00 p.m., stockholders owning 3,624,292,286 voting shares 
representing 99.99% of the total voting shares represented in the meeting (i.e., votes cast by proxy ballot) 
and 98.13% of the total outstanding voting shares have cast their votes on the items for consideration. The 
Corporate Secretary referred to this partial tabulation in reporting the voting results throughout the meeting. 
The remaining votes that were cast after the proxy validation and during the meeting are now included and 
reflected in these minutes. 
 
IV. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 

HELD ON 29 JUNE 2022 
 
The Chairman then proceeded with the next item in the agenda which is the approval of the minutes of the 
annual stockholders’ meeting held on 29 June 2022.  
 
The Chairman informed the stockholders that the minutes of the meeting was attached to the Definitive 
Information Statement made available to the stockholders through the Company’s website and by email to 
all stockholders of record as of record date who registered to participate or vote upon the matters for approval 
in the meeting. A copy of the minutes was also posted on the Company’s website.  
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The Corporate Secretary presented Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-001, which was displayed on 
the screen, and reported the approval by the stockholders based on the votes received: 
 

Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-001 
 
RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, 
Inc. (the “Corporation”), approve, as they hereby approve, the minutes of 
the Corporation’s Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 29 June 2022. 

 
Based on the votes received, the votes on the adoption of Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-001 were 
as follows: 
 

Vote Number of votes Percentage of shares represented 
For 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

Against 0 0.00% 
Abstain 0 0.00% 
Total 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

 
Given the voting results, the Chairman declared that the resolution is deemed adopted and the minutes of the 
Company’s Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on June 29, 2022, is approved. 
 
V. REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
The President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Frederick D. Ong, reported on the results of the operations 
of the Company for the calendar year ended 31 December 2022 and the various initiatives undertaken by 
Management for the year. 
 
Mr. Ong reported that the Company was able to deliver good business performance. With the support of 
PepsiCo and Lotte, the Company is emboldened to face the years ahead with clarity of purpose and passion 
in action.  
 
Mr. Ong reported that for 2022, the Company made PhP38.36 billion in revenues marking an increase of 
17%. The gross profit reached PhP6.53 marking a 4% increase while PhP2.89 billion in earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization was registered marking a 1% increase. These marginal 
increases are noteworthy because these were achieved despite industry challenges on sufficiency and higher 
prices of sugar and higher commodity inflation. 
 
Mr. Ong stated that the Company invested in a new polyethylene terephthalate line in Cebu and in a pre-
formed injection line in its Southern Tagalog Regional Operations which will boost the capacity to reach 
more customers across the country. By the end of the year, the Company was able to decrease its fixed cost 
per 8oz by 6.9% highlighting its intensified focus on efficiency across all areas of operations.  
 
Mr. Ong also noted that the Company’s brands remained strong and continues to gain market share with the 
reinforced distribution initiatives. Sting enjoyed its highest market share to date at 40.3% while Mountain 
Dew was ranked first in the Filipino carbonated soft drinks (“CSD”) segment. Gatorade registered a double-
digit growth while Pepsi made significant improvements in terms of brand preference over competition. 
Further, Gatorade No Sugar was launched in response to market demand for healthier beverage alternatives 
while strong ties with 7-Eleven Philippines allowed the Company to formally introduce Chum Churum 
Soonhari to Filipinos nationwide.  
 
The end of 2022 was marked with major client acquisitions that brought the Company’s product closer to 
more Filipino consumers. Jollibee, Greenwich, Chowking, Burger King, and Mang Inasal now exclusively 
carry the Company’s CSD brands in Mindanao. Lipton Iced Tea is also carried by Chowking, Mang Inasal, 
and Greenwich nationwide. The Company also partnered with Figaro Coffee Group Inc., which allowed 
consumers to enjoy the brand from Angel’s Pizza and Tien Ma, as well as at Megaworld Cinemas, which 
allowed the brand to be enjoyed while watching the latest films.  
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The Company retained the support and trust of major clients such as Max’s Group, Inc. which owns Max’s, 
Pancake House, Yellow Cab, and Krispy Kreme, and the Viking’s Group., which owns the Viking’s Luxury 
Buffet and Tong Yang. Gerry’s Grill, Taters, and Tom’s World also continue to carry the Company’s 
beverages. 
 
Mr. Ong reported that major economic challenges are in play as the Company navigates through 2023. A 
slower rate in economic expansion is expected as Gross Domestic Product is expected to crawl to 6% on 
account of cautious consumer spending. High inflation and interest rates continue to affect the global 
economy where inflation peaked at 8.1% which translates to higher price increases for food and non-
alcoholic beverages. Sugar and oil prices remained a continuing concern which affected the Company’s 
ability to balance demand recovery and output related expenses. 
 
Mr. Ong discussed the key areas of focus which are vital in ensuring that the Company thrives productively 
and sustainably. In this regard, the Company (a) refocused its portfolio by aiming at sustaining Mountain 
Dew’s leadership in the Filipino CSD space and launching a brand campaign inspired by the youth’s desire 
for new food discoveries; (b) revamped its go-to market strategy by implementing standardized market 
execution initiatives through digitalization and trade optimization; and (c) continued its optimization 
program that will reduce expenses and boost productivity thereby enhancing its manufacturing and 
warehousing network.  As a result of focusing in these areas, the Company reduced logistics operation 
expense, improved production line efficiency, and increased productivity results.  
 
Mr. Ong reported on the latest accolades received by the Company. In the Asia Pacific Enterprise Awards, 
which recognizes organizations and leaders that demonstrate remarkable performance while remaining true 
to their social responsibilities, the Company received the Corporate Excellence Award while Mr. Ong 
received the Master Entrepreneur Award. Moreover, the Company also received the 13th Asia’s Best 
Employer Brand Award for Promoting Health in the Workplace which affirms its commitment in 
championing health and safety across its locations in a post-pandemic world.  
 
Mr. Ong stated that the Company remains inspired by the ICARE values of Integrity and Innovation, Care 
and Respect, Excellence and Empowerment. In this regard, the Company calibrated its sustainability focus 
towards a broader framework encompassing its Environment, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) 
commitments such as continued reduction of plastic resin and decrease in volume of carton materials used 
in packaging materials. Additionally, waste recycling rates improved at 90%. 
 
Mr. Ong reported that, in 2022, the Company has donated and planted an estimated 800 seedlings along key 
locations during its community project and continues to work with government agencies such as the Laguna 
Lake Development Authority for clean-up drives and the Adopt-a-River program. In Muntinlupa, the 
Company still stands as the valued private sector representative at the Ecological Solid Waste Management 
Bureau. 
 
The Company is compliant with both government and industry rules and regulations. Mr. Ong mentioned 
that aside from establishing a stronger framework to support its business continuity plans, the employees 
continue to be engaged in refresher courses and best practice exchange to foster the spirit of empowerment 
and innovation across department functions.  
 
In the area of licenses and permits, the Company’s licenses have an approval rate of 99% while the permits 
are always filed on time and have an approval rate of 100%.  
 
Mr. Ong also reported that the Company’s manufacturing facilities have received the Department of Labor 
and Employment’s Safety Seal. He was proud to announce that all plants have received recommendation to 
be awarded Food Safety System Certification from Société Générale de Surveillance.  
 
In 2022, the Company leveraged its investment in the Quick-Learning-Knowhow Management System, 
which fully automates its commitment to its Code of Conduct.  
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Mr. Ong explained that the employees are at the heart of the Company’s operations which is the reason why 
the People Agenda is at the forefront of its priorities. Excellence, fueled by the passion to perform, was on 
full display with a 29% increase in promotions. The placement planning system and total rewards 
benchmarking was likewise completed, and the Company’s reward program was also fully implemented.  
In keeping with ESG standards, the Company has achieved the Hiring Target Gender ratio. Moreover, its 
annual engagement with the Department of Education’s Brigada Eskwela program saw an increase of 54% 
in the number of partner schools and 16% in its employee volunteers. Mr. Ong stated that the Company 
looks forward to a more meaningful campaign with them this coming school year. 
 
The Human Resource Operations function saw an improved efficiency where it was able to complete the 
Pilot Centralization of Payroll Operations for Luzon 1 and Track 2.0. Establishing a strong PCPPI-one 
culture with ICARE values kept the employees engaged which translated to a better attrition rate measure 
against market trend. 
 
In closing, Mr. Ong stated that the Company’s commitment to its Mission, Vision, and Value is ever steadfast 
and with the support and collaboration of its partners at PepsiCo and Lotte, the Company will be able to 
achieve profitable growth as it leaps forward towards being the country’s leading beverage company. Mr. 
Ong ended by thanking the shareholders, customers, employees, and directors of the Company for their trust 
and support. 
 
After the presentation of the Company’s corporate video, the Chairman stated that the President and Chief 
Executive Officer’s report on the results of the Company’s operations for calendar year ended 31 December 
2022 was noted for the record. 
 
VI. PRESENTATION OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

31 DECEMBER 2022 
 
The Chairman proceeded to the next agenda item, which was the presentation and approval of the Company’s 
Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements (“AFS”) for the calendar year ended 31 December 2022. 
The Chairman reported that copies of the Annual Report and AFS, which form part of the Company’s Annual 
Report, were attached to the Definitive Information Statement made available to the stockholders through 
the Company’s website. 
 
The Corporate Secretary presented Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-002, which was displayed on 
the screen, and reported the approval by the stockholders based on the votes received: 
 

Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-002 
 
RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, 
Inc. (the “Corporation”) note, accept and approve, as they hereby note, 
accept and approve, the Corporation’s Annual Report and Audited 
Financial Statements for the calendar year ended 31 December 2022. 

 
Based on the votes received, the votes on the adoption of Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-002, were 
as follows: 
 

Vote Number of votes Percentage of shares represented 
For 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

Against 0 0.00% 
Abstain 0 0.00% 
Total 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

 
Given the voting results, the Chairman declared that Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-002 is 
adopted, and the Audited Financial Statements for the calendar year ended December 31, 2022, are approved. 
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VII. RATIFICATION OF ACTS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT 
FOR THE PREVIOUS YEAR 

 
The Chairman proceeded to the next agenda item, which was the ratification of the acts of the Board and 
Management from the last annual stockholders’ meeting held on 29 June 2022 to date. 
 
The Corporate Secretary stated that the acts and resolutions of the Board include those of the Board 
Committees exercising powers delegated by the Board. These acts and resolutions are reflected in the 
minutes of the meetings, and include the election of officers and members of the Board Committees, 
appointment of authorized representatives for various transactions, treasury matters, contracts, and other 
material matters duly and timely disclosed to the SEC as well as posted on the Company’s website. The 
material matters disclosed to the SEC are also set out in the Company’s Annual Report, attached to the 
Definitive Information Statement that was made available to the stockholders through the Company’s 
website and by email to all stockholders of record as of record date who registered to participate or vote 
upon the matters for approval in the meeting. 
 
The acts of Management include acts that the Company’s officers performed to implement the resolutions 
of the Board or the Board committees, or in connection with the Company’s general conduct of business. 
 
The Corporate Secretary presented Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-003, which was displayed on 
the screen, and reported the approval by the stockholders based on the votes received: 
 

Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-003 
 

RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, 
Inc. (the “Corporation”) ratify and approve, as they hereby ratify and 
approve, all acts and resolutions of the Corporation’s Board of Directors, 
including those of the Board Committees, all acts of the Management, as 
well as all contracts and transactions entered into by the Corporation from 
the last Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 29 June 2022 to date. 

 
Based on the votes received, the votes on the adoption of Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-003 were 
as follows: 
 

Vote Number of votes Percentage of shares represented 
For 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

Against 0 0.00% 
Abstain 0 0.00% 
Total 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

 
Given the voting results, the Chairman declared that the resolution is deemed adopted; and acts and 
resolutions of the Company’s Board, including those of the Board Committees, all acts of the Management, 
as well as all contracts and transactions entered into by the Company from the last Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting held on June 29, 2022, to date are approved and ratified. 
 
VIII.  PRESENTATION OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE AMENDED ARTICLES 

OF INCORPORATION 
 
The Chairman proceeded to the next order of business, which was the presentation and approval of the 
proposed amendments to the Company’s Amended Articles of Incorporation. 
 
The Corporate Secretary confirmed that the proposed amendments to the Company’s Amended Articles of 
Incorporation were approved by the Board in its meeting held on 27 April 2023; and gave a brief overview 
of the proposed amendments, which were outlined and discussed in the Definitive Information Statement.  
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The proposed amendments to the Amended Articles of Incorporation seek to define the matters requiring the 
Board’s high vote requirement and increase the high vote to 80% of the Board.  
 
The Corporate Secretary presented Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-004, which was displayed on 
the screen, and reported the approval by the stockholders based on the votes received: 
 

Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-004 
 

RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, 
Inc. (the “Corporation”) approve, as they hereby approve, the following 
amendments to the Twelfth Article of the Amended Articles of 
Incorporation: 

 
“TWELFTH:      xxx                                        xxx                                                  xxx  
 
(d) For as long as the Appointments remain provide for and remain 
effective, the affirmative vote of PepsiCo, Inc. (“PepsiCo”) as a direct 
or indirect Stockholder, if applicable, shall be required for the validity 
of the following acts: 
 

(1)  Amendment of the Articles of Incorporation and/or By-Laws 
insofar as such amendment affects PepsiCo’s rights and 
interests; 
 
(2) Expanding the range of products to be produced, sold or 
distributed by the Corporation to include any product not 
licenses to the Corporation by Pepsico or its affiliate without 
the prior affirmative written consent of PepsiCo The 
introduction of a new beverage product in alcoholic 
beverages category. 
 

(e) For as long as the Appointments remain effective, at any board of 
directors meeting of the Corporation, the affirmative vote of three-
fourths or 75% 80% of the directors shall be required for the validity of 
any of the following acts:  

 
(1)  xxx  xxx  xxx 
 
(2) Disposal of any assets of the Corporation which has a value 
in excess of 10% of the net book value of all the assets of the 
Corporation unless provided for in the relevant Annual 
Operating Plan;  
 
(3) Substantial change in the business activities of the 
Corporation unless provided for in the relevant Annual 
Operating Plan; 
 
(4) Any external borrowing by the Corporation unless provided 
for in the relevant Annual Operating Plan which (i) would 
cause the Debt-to-Equity ratio to exceed the lower of 2.5x or 
250% or any applicable ratio under Corporation’s debt 
covenants or (ii) the purpose of which is not to invest in the 
business and to return any capital to shareholders;  
 
(5)  xxx  xxx  xxx  
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(6) Any change in the capital structure of the Corporation or any 
capital expenditure unless provided for in the relevant Annual 
Operating Plan (per project base) in excess of (A) (for non-
containers) USD 10,000,000 as long as it is not a related party 
transaction or (B) (for containers) the average capital 
expenditures made in connection with containers for the 
three (3) immediately preceding years; 
 
(7)  xxx  xxx  xxx  
 
(8) Granting by the Corporation of any warrants, conversion 
rights, other contingent rights to equity unless provided for in 
the relevant Annual Operating Plan, except for any employee 
stock option scheme which has been approved by the Board 
of Directors or any other security that may dilute PepsiCo’s 
equity ownership in the Corporation; 
 
(9) Declaration or payment of dividends other than in accordance 
with the policy that the Corporation may declare and pay 
dividends up to 50% (or such other percentage as may be reset 
by the Board) of its net profits (after allowing for provisions and 
other requirements of the Annual Operating Plan) on condition 
that it complies with the applicable Operating Targets as set out 
in the then current Annual Operating Plan and that the 
Corporation shall not declare payment of dividends until 
2025; 
 
(10) Recruitment, hiring, or otherwise changing terms of 
employment (including compensation, severance, or 
termination) for the six (6) highest-paid executives, officers 
and/or directors of the Corporation other than such terms as 
recommended by the Nomination and Governance 
Committee and Compensation and Remuneration 
Committee of the Corporation; provided that no director 
shall be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration 
during his or her incumbent term;  
 
(10) Change of any accounting methods unless required by 
applicable law, regulation, or accounting standards;  
 
(11) Approval or modification of any Annual Operating 
Plan; and  
 
(12) Any amendment to or renewal of the Appointments; 
 
(11) Appointment of an accounting firm which is not one of 
the Big 4 accounting firms (Pricewaterhouse Coopers, 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, Ernst & Young and 
KPMG) as the external auditor of the Corporation; and 
 
(12) Introduction of any new beverage product in the 
alcoholic beverages category.  
 

xxx  xxx  xxx” 
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Based on the votes received, the votes on the adoption of Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-004 were 
as follows: 
 

Vote Number of votes Percentage of shares represented 
For 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

Against 0 0.00% 
Abstain 0 0.00% 
Total 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

 
Given the voting results, the Chairman declared that the resolution is deemed approved, and the proposed 
amendments to the Twelfth Article of the Amended Articles of Incorporation are adopted. 
 
IX.  PRESENTATION OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE AMENDED BY-LAWS 
 
The Chairman proceeded to the next order of business, which was the presentation and approval of the 
proposed amendments to the Company’s Amended By-Laws. 
 
The Corporate Secretary confirmed that the proposed amendments to the Company’s Amended By-Laws 
were approved by the Board in its meeting held on 27 April 2023, and gave a brief overview of the proposed 
amendments, which were outlined and discussed in the Definitive Information Statement.  
 
The proposed amendments to the Amended By-Laws seek to (a) change the date of the annual stockholders’ 
meeting from the last Friday of May to the last Friday of June but no later than the 29th of June; (b) reflect 
the provisions allowing the participation of the stockholders in meetings via remote communication; (c) 
define matters requiring the Board’s high vote requirement; (d) increase the high vote to 80% of the Board; 
€ reflect the current designation and functions of the executive officers; and (f) move the proxy submission 
deadline earlier from three days to seven days before any stockholders’ meeting, will be presented to the 
stockholders. 
 
The Corporate Secretary presented Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-005, which was displayed on 
the screen, and reported the approval by the stockholders based on the votes received: 
 

Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-005 
 
RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, 
Inc. (the “Corporation”) approve as they hereby approve the following 
amendments to Article II of the Amended By-Laws:  
 

“Article II 
STOCKHOLDERS 

 
SECTION 1. The annual meeting of the Stockholders shall be held in 
Metro Manila on the last Friday of June but no later than the 29th of 
June of each year (which shall not be a legal holiday) or, if it be a legal 
holiday, on the business day immediately preceding it.  
 
Stockholders or their proxies who cannot physically attend or vote at 
the meetings can participate and vote through remote communication 
such as videoconferencing, teleconferencing, or other alternative 
modes of communication that allow them reasonable opportunities to 
participate.  
 
SECTION 2. Special meetings of the Stockholders may be called at the 
office of the Corporation by resolution of the Board of Directors, upon 
request of the Stockholders holding one-third or more of the fully paid-up 
capital stock, or by the President.  
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Stockholders can also vote and participate at special meetings 
through remote communication. 
 

xxx  xxx  xxx 
 
SECTION 7.  xxx  xxx  xxx  
 
(b) A Stockholder shall be entitled to nominate the replacement(s) for the 
director(s) who were nominated by such Stockholder at as director 
representing such Stockholder (as the case may be). Except in cases where 
a vacancy in the Board of Directors is due to the removal of a director or 
an increase in the number of directors (which vacancy shall be filled by 
the Stockholders in a regular or special meeting called for that purpose), 
a majority of the remaining directors, if still constituting a quorum (or, in 
the event the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum, by the 
Stockholders in a regular or special meeting called for that purpose) shall 
vote to elect that replacement(s) so nominated.” 
 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the stockholders of the Corporation 
approve, as they hereby approve, the following amendments to Article III 
of the Amended By-Laws:  

 
“Article III 

DIRECTORS 
 

SECTION 10.  xxx  xxx  xxx  
 
10.5. The other committees of the Board, created and appointed by the 
Board from time to time, shall have such powers and duties not 
inconsistent herewith as the Board of Directors may from time to time 
determine. All such committees shall resolve all matters brought before it 
(including the election of their respective Chairmen) by the unanimous 
vote of its Director-members. If unanimity cannot be achieved at the 
committee level, the unresolved issue or matter for decision by the 
committee shall be elevated to the Board for consideration and approval 
which shall decide the same by majority vote, unless it is one of those 
corporate acts requiring the vote of three-fourths or 75% Eighty 
Percent 80% of the members of the Board. The members of the 
Executive Committee and such other committees created by the Board of 
Directors may be removed at any time by the Board of Directors, with or 
without cause, and any vacancies in such committees shall be filled by the 
Board of Directors, at any regular or special meeting of the Board at which 
a quorum is present; provided, that only the party which nominated the 
member who was removed may nominate the replacement of such 
member. The Board of Directors shall adopt rules and regulations not 
inconsistent herewith, prescribing the powers of the Executive Committee 
and the other committees, and the manner in which said powers shall be 
exercised.  
 
SECTION 12. For so long as the Appointments provide for and remain 
effective, the affirmative vote of PepsiCo, Inc. (“PepsiCo”), as a direct 
or indirect Stockholder, shall be required for the validity of the following 
acts:  
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(1) Amendment of Articles of Incorporation and/or By-Laws insofar as 
such amendment affects PepsiCo's rights and interests;  
 
(2) The introduction of a new beverage product in alcoholic beverages 
category Expanding the range of products to be produced, sold or 
distributed by the Corporation to include any product not licenses to 
the Corporation by Pepsico or its affiliate without the prior 
affirmative written consent of PepsiCo.  
 
SECTION 13. For so long as the Appointments remain effective, at any 
Board of Directors meeting of the Corporation, the affirmative vote of 
three-fourths or 75% 80% of the directors shall be required for the 
validity of any of the following acts:  
 
(1)  xxx  xxx  xxx 
 
(2) Disposal of any assets of the Corporation which have a value in excess 
of 10% of the net book value of all the assets of the Corporation unless 
provided for in the relevant Annual Operating Plan;  
 
(3) Substantial change in the business activities of the Corporation unless 
provided for in the relevant Annual Operating Plan;  
 
(4) Any external borrowing by the Corporation unless provided for in 
the relevant Annual Operating Plan which (i) would cause the Debt-
to-Equity ratio to exceed the lower of 2.5x or 250% or any applicable 
ratio under Corporation’s debt covenants or (ii) the purpose of which 
is not to invest in the business and to return any capital to 
shareholders;  
 
(5)  xxx  xxx  xxx 
 
(6) Any change in the capital structure of the Corporation or any capital 
expenditure unless provided for in the relevant Annual Operating 
Plan (per project base) in excess of (A) (for non-containers) USD 
10,000,000 as long as it is not a related party transaction or (B) (for 
containers) the average capital expenditures made in connection with 
containers for the three (3) immediately preceding years;  
 
(7)  xxx  xxx  xxx  
 
(8) Granting by the Corporation of any warrants, conversion rights, other 
contingent rights to equity unless provided for in the relevant Annual 
Operating Plan, except for any employee stock option scheme which 
has been approved by the Board of Directors or any other security 
that may dilute PepsiCo’s equity ownership in the Corporation; 
 
(9) Declaration or payment of dividends other than in accordance with the 
policy that the Corporation may declare and pay dividends up to 50% (or 
such other percentage as may be reset by the Board) of its net profits (after 
allowing for provisions and other requirements of the Annual Operating 
Plan) on condition that it complies with the applicable Operating Targets 
as set out in the then current Annual Operating Plan and that the 
Corporation shall not declare payment of dividends until 2025; 
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(10) Recruitment, hiring, or otherwise changing terms of employment 
(including compensation, severance, or termination) for the six (6) 
highest-paid executives, officers and/or directors of the Corporation 
other than such terms as recommended by the Nomination and 
Governance Committee and Compensation and Remuneration 
Committee of the Corporation; provided that no director shall be 
involved in deciding his or her own remuneration during his or her 
incumbent term; 
 
(10) Change of any accounting methods unless required by applicable 
law, regulation, or accounting standards;  
 
(12) Approval or modification of any Annual Operating Plan; and  
 
(13) Any amendment to or renewal of the Appointments;  
 
(11) Appointment of an accounting firm which is not one of the Big 4 
accounting firms (Pricewaterhouse Coopers, Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu Limited, Ernst & Young and KPMG) as the external 
auditor of the Corporation; and  
 
(12) Introduction of any new beverage product in the alcoholic 
beverages category. 
 

xxx  xxx  xxx" 
 
RESOLVED FURTHER, that the stockholders of the Corporation 
approve, as they hereby approve, the following amendments to Article IV 
of the Amended By-Laws:  
 

“Article IV 
OFFICERS 

 
SECTION 1. The Officers of the Corporation are the Chairman of the 
Board, the Vice-Chairman, the President, the Chief Executive Officer, the 
Chief Corporate Strategy Officer, the Chief Operating Officer, one or 
more Executive Vice Presidents, one or more Vice Presidents, the 
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Chief Supply 
Chain Officer, Chief Manufacturing Officer, Chief Environmental, 
Social and Governance Officer, the Compliance Officer, the Chief Risk 
Officer, one or more Executive Vice Presidents, one or more Senior 
Vice Presidents, the Corporate Secretary, the Assistant Corporate 
Secretary, and such other officers as the Board of Directors may from time 
to time elect or appoint. Any two or more offices, except those the 
functions and duties of which are incompatible, may be held by one 
person by resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 

xxx  xxx  xxx 
 
SECTION 6. The Chief Corporate Strategy Officer shall be responsible 
for developing the long-term business plan of the Corporation. He/She 
shall identify and develop plans for the introduction of new product lines 
and implementation of new business of the Corporation. He/She shall 
evaluate business opportunities for the Corporation, including, but not 
limited to, joint ventures, acquisitions and strategic alliances. He/She shall 
be in charge of liaising in behalf of the Corporation with PepsiCo on all 
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matters that relate to the Appointments. He/She shall perform such other 
duties as are incident to his/her office or are properly required of him/her 
by the Board of Directors.  
 

xxx  xxx  xxx 
 
SECTION 8. The Chief Financial Officer, who shall report directly 
to the Chief Executive Officer, shall exercise the financial 
management function for the Corporation, including corporate 
financial planning and analysis, financial performance management 
and reporting, accounting operations and shared services, treasury 
management, taxation and tax planning and financial compliance, 
banking relationships and arrangements, and such other duties 
consistent and typically exercised by one with the job title as may 
from time to time be delegated or required by the Board of Directors. 
 
The Chief Financial Officer may also act as the Treasurer, who shall 
have charge of all monies of the Corporation and shall keep regular 
books of account therefor. 
 
Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, he/ she shall 
sign or countersign such instruments as requiring his/her signature; 
perform all duties incident to his/her office and render such accounts, 
reports, and statements as may be properly required of him/ her by 
the Chief Executive Officer or the Board of Directors. 
 
Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, he/she shall 
sign, in the name of the Corporation, all checks, drafts and orders for 
payment of money, and in case the Board of Directors shall so require, 
he/ she shall give a bond satisfactory to the Board of Directors for the 
faithful performance of his/her duties.  
 
SECTION 9. The Chief Commercial Officer, who shall report 
directly to the Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for leading 
and directing the Company’s commercial operations. He / She shall 
provide the organization with strategic, holistic, timely and efficient 
management and services in the areas of Go-To-Market strategies, 
trade marketing, demand planning and forecasting, revenue 
management, traditional trade, modern trade, sales systems and 
processes, people development, customer and consumer relations, 
governance, and compliance to achieve sales volume, market share, 
revenue, and profit targets and such other duties consistent and 
typically exercised by one with the job title as may from time to time 
be delegated or required by the Board of Directors.  
 
SECTION 10. The Chief Supply Chain Officer, who shall report 
directly to the Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for 
providing overall strategic leadership and direction to the Supply 
Chain function to ensure efficient and effective operations of the 
supply chain operations, the availability of products and services 
anchored on the short, medium and long-term plan of the Company. 
He / she is accountable for the end-to-end supply chain, including 
sourcing, procuring, planning and distributing of products and 
services. 
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SECTION 11. The Chief Manufacturing Officer, who shall report 
directly to the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for providing 
overall strategic leadership and direction to the Manufacturing 
function to ensure efficient and effective operations and the 
availability of products and services anchored on the short, medium 
and long-term plan of the company.  
 
SECTION 12. The Chief Environmental, Social and Governance 
Officer, who shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer, shall 
be responsible for leading, directing, and coordinating the human 
resources, communications, legal and compliance, environmental and 
sustainability functions of the Company, providing the organization 
with strategic, holistic, timely, and efficient management and services 
in the areas of organizational development systems and processes, 
workforce planning, talent acquisition and development, total 
rewards management, labor relations, line human relations 
partnership, human relations services, corporate advocacy and 
communication, legal and compliance strategy and support, over-all 
corporate governance, environmental advocacy and sustainability.  
 
SECTION 13. The Board shall appoint a Compliance Officer, who shall 
have the rank of at least Senior Vice-President, highest ranking officer or 
head of a department, or an equivalent position with adequate stature and 
authority in the Corporation. The Compliance Officer shall report directly 
to the Board and shall: (a) ensure proper onboarding of new Directors; (b) 
ensure the attendance of Board members and key Officers to relevant 
trainings; (c) monitor, review, evaluate and ensure the compliance by the 
Corporation, its Officers and Directors with the relevant laws, the Manual 
and the rules and regulations of regulatory agencies; (d) ensure the 
integrity and accuracy of all documentary submissions to regulators; (e) 
appear before the Commission upon summon on similar matters that need 
to be clarified by the same; (f) collaborate with other departments to 
properly address compliance issues, which may be subject to 
investigation; (g) determine violation/s of the Manual and recommend 
penalty for violation thereof for review and approval of the Board, as well 
as the adoption of measures to prevent a repetition of the violation; (h) 
identify, monitor, and control compliance risks; and (i) perform such other 
duties and responsibilities as may be provided by the Commission.  
 
SECTION 14. The Officers of the Corporation shall receive such 
compensation and salary as may be recommended by the 
Compensation and Remuneration Committee; provided, however 
that the power to fix the compensation and salary of the officers 
performing management functions, other that the Officers 
enumerated in these By-laws, may be delegated by the Board of 
Directors to the Chief Executive Officer. 
 
SECTION 15. The Executive Vice-President(s) and the Senior Vice-
President(s) shall constitute the senior management team of the 
Corporation and shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer. 
If qualified, they shall assume such specific duties as the Chief 
Executive Officer may assign to them in writing, or as may be 
properly required of them by the Board of Directors.  
 
SECTION 16. The Corporate Secretary, who shall be a citizen and 
resident of the Philippines, shall issue all notices of regular meetings of 
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the Stockholders and Board of Directors; keep the minutes of all meetings 
of the Stockholders and Board of Directors; have charge of the corporate 
seal and records; sign, with the President, all stock certificates and such 
instruments as require such signature; and make such reports and perform 
such other duties as are incident to his/her office, or as may be properly 
required of him/her by the Board of Directors.  
 
SECTION 17. The Assistant Corporate Secretary shall also be a citizen 
and resident of the Philippines, and in the absence or disability of the 
Corporate Secretary, shall act in his/her place and perform his/her duties. 
The Corporate Secretary may delegate any or all of his/her powers, duties, 
functions and responsibilities to the Assistant Corporate Secretary who 
shall always be subject to the supervision and control of the Corporate 
Secretary. The Assistant Corporate Secretary shall also perform such 
other duties as may, from time to time, be assigned to him/her by the 
Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer.” 
 
RESOLVED FINALLY, that the stockholders of the Corporation 
approve, as they hereby approve, the following amendments to Article VII 
of the Amended By-Laws:  
 

“Article VII 
PROXIES 

 
SECTION 1. Any Stockholder may be represented by proxy at any 
meeting of the Stockholders. Subject to the rule on proxies and 
information statements under pertinent laws and rules, the proxy must be 
in writing, submitted to the Corporate Secretary at least seven (7) days 
before the meeting, and be substantially in the following form:  
 

xxx  xxx  xxx” 
 
Based on the votes received, the votes on the adoption of Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-005 were 
as follows: 
 

Vote Number of votes Percentage of shares represented 
For 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

Against 0 0.00% 
Abstain 0 0.00% 
Total 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

 
Given the voting results, the Chairman declared that the resolution is deemed approved, and the proposed 
amendments to the Articles II, III, IV, and VII of the Amended By-Laws are adopted. 
 
X.  ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 
 
The Chairman proceeded to the next order of business, which was the election of the members of the Board 
for the year 2023 to 2024.  
 
The Corporate Secretary read out the following names of the nine (9) nominees for election to the Board: 
 

YUN GIE PARK 
JUN BEOM LIM 
HYO JIN SONG 
JIN PYO AHN 

FREDERICK D. ONG 
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PARINYA KITJATANAPAN 
VISHAL MALIK 

OSCAR S. REYES (Independent Director) 
RAFAEL M. ALUNAN III (Independent Director) 

 
The Corporate Secretary reported that the Chairman, Mr. Reyes, and the Vice-Chairman, and Mr. Alunan 
have served on the Company’s Board since 2007 and have consistently been re-elected until present, and 
have again been nominated to be elected this year.  The Corporate Secretary noted that under the SEC’s 
Code of Corporate Governance for Public Companies and Registered Issuers, if an independent director who 
has served for a cumulative term of nine (9) years from 2012 is intended to be re-elected to the Board, the 
Board shall provide meritorious justifications and seek stockholder approval during the annual stockholders’ 
meeting. 
 
In compliance with this requirement, the Board, through Mr. Ong, presented the following justifications for 
the nomination and re-election of the Messrs. Reyes and Alunan as independent directors of the Company: 
 

(a) Messrs. Reyes and Alunan possess the necessary qualifications and stature which enable them to 
participate in the deliberations of the Company’s Board competently and actively; 
 

(b) Messrs. Reyes and Alunan’s service on the Company’s Board since 2008 has not impaired their 
ability to act independently and objectively, as they are able to actively lead discussions and weigh 
differing perspectives on the Company’s operations and organization during meetings of the Board 
and the committees; 
 

(c) Messrs. Reyes and Alunan also serve on the boards of other publicly-listed companies, public 
companies, non-profit organizations, and other entities, which provides them opportunities to gain 
a broad view of the Philippine economy and the business sector, including the latest developments 
thereon, thus ensuring that their perspectives on issues are not limited to the industry within which 
the Company operates.  In this respect, and on the other hand, the other regular non-executive 
members of the Company’s Board, who are based abroad, provide an in-depth commercial and 
technical, as well as global, view of the industry; 
 

(d) Messrs. Reyes and Alunan’s extensive knowledge and understanding of the Company’s business, 
operations, and organization allow them to: make insightful, constructive, and practicable comments 
on Management’s plans and reports while at the same time staying mindful of the Company’s past 
experiences, and ask the necessary questions and clarifications before approval or disapproval of 
proposed corporate acts; and 
 

(e) The other regular non-executive members of the Company’s Board have had relatively shorter terms 
and do not serve on the Board for long durations, which ensure that different perspectives and an 
appropriate balance of skills and experience are always present in the composition of the Company’s 
Board. 

 
The Chairman confirmed that the Nomination and Governance Committee of the Board had passed upon the 
qualifications and business experience of all nine (9) nominees, including the two (2) nominees for 
independent director, and ascertained that the nominees possess all the qualifications and suffer none of the 
disqualifications for election to the Board.  The Nomination and Governance Committee had approved and 
certified their inclusion in the Final List of Candidates for election to the Board for the year 2023 to 2024. 
The Chairman also confirmed that all the nominees had given their consent to their respective nominations. 
 
The Chairman then requested the Corporate Secretary to report on the results of the voting for the election 
of the directors. The Corporate Secretary reported and certified that, based on the votes received, each of the 
nominees for directors has garnered at least 3,624,292,286 votes, which is greater than majority of the 
outstanding stock of the Company. The final number of votes garnered by each nominee are as follows:  
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Nominee Votes 
For Against Abstain 

Yun Gie Park 3,624,353,296 0 0 
Jun Beom Lim 3,624,353,296 0 0 
Hyo Jin Song 3,624,353,296 0 0 
Jin Pyo Ahn 3,624,353,296 0 0 
Frederick D. Ong 3,624,353,296 0 0 
Parinya Kitjatanapan 3,624,353,296 0 0 
Vishal Malik 3,624,353,296 0 0 
Rafael M. Alunan III 3,624,353,296 0 0 
Oscar S. Reyes 3,624,353,296 0 0 

 
The Corporate Secretary presented Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-006, which was displayed on 
the screen, and reported the approval by the stockholders based on the votes received: 
 

Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-006 
 

RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, 
Inc. (the “Corporation”) elect, as they hereby elect, the following 
nominees as members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation for the 
year 2023 to 2024: 
 
1. YUN GIE PARK 
2. JUN BEOM LIM 
3. HYO JIN SONG 
4. JIN PYO AHN 
5. FREDERICK D. ONG 
6. PARINYA KITJATANAPAN 
7. VISHAL MALIK 
8. OSCAR S. REYES (Independent Director) 
9. RAFAEL M. ALUNAN III (Independent Director) 

 
Given the voting results, the Chairman declared that all nine (9) nominees are elected as members of the 
Company’s Board for the year 2023 to 2024. 
 
XI. APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR FOR 2023 TO 2024 
 
The Chairman proceeded to the appointment of the Company’s external auditor for the year 2023 to 2024. 
He requested the incumbent Chairman of the Board’s Audit Committee, Mr. Alunan, to convey the 
recommendation of the Committee on the matter. 
 
Mr. Alunan reported that the Audit Committee had reviewed the performance of the Company’s present 
external auditor, R.G. Manabat & Co. (a member firm of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated), 
over the past year and is satisfied with its performance. Mr. Alunan confirmed that the Board is endorsing 
the re-appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. as the Company’s external auditor for the year 2023 to 2024. 
 
The Corporate Secretary presented Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-007, which was displayed on 
the screen, and reported the approval by the stockholders based on the votes received: 
 

Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-007 
 

RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, 
Inc. (the “Corporation”) approve, as they hereby approve, the appointment 
of R.G. Manabat & Co. (KPMG Philippines) as the Corporation’s external 
auditor for the year 2023 to 2024. 
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Based on the votes received, the votes on the adoption of Stockholders’ Resolution No. 2023/2024-007 were 
as follows: 
 

Vote Number of votes Percentage of shares represented 
For 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

Against 0 0.00% 
Abstain 0 0.00% 
Total 3,624,353,296 99.99% 

 
Given the voting results, the Chairman declared that the resolution is deemed approved, and R.G. Manabat 
& Co. (KPMG Philippines) is re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the year 2023 to 2024. 
 
XII. OTHER MATTERS 
 
The Chairman inquired if there were any other matters to be taken up at the meeting, or if there were any 
questions regarding the earlier agenda items. There being no other such matters, he requested the Corporate 
Secretary to read out the questions and comments sent through email, together with the names of the 
stockholders who sent them. The Chairman requested Mr. Ong to respond to the questions. The Chairman 
further noted that any questions and comments not taken up during this meeting will be responded to by 
email.  
 
Ms. Cecilia R. Duguran asked if the Management sees a sustained trend towards releasing more zero-
sugar/no sugar products this year. She also asked what Filipino consumers can look forward to as part of the 
product portfolio. Mr. Ong responded that market studies conducted in the country and overseas show that 
consumers have become more mindful of their dietary choices, and this cascades to their options in 
beverages. From the Company’s recent experience in launching Gatorade No Sugar, Management found that 
Filipino consumers are keen to embrace healthier products that do not compromise flavor and quality for 
their health benefits. With PepsiCo and Lotte, the Company continues to explore what products can be 
effectively delivered to customers in the country. 
 
The next question came from Ms. Jocelyn P Amado, who asked how the renewed focus on ESG affect 
operations. Mr. Ong responded that the Company has always championed causes centered on its people, its 
profitability, and the planet. The recent shift towards a more concerted ESG strategy allows the Company to 
create more than stakeholder value. This intensified effort on ESG programs helps make even better-
informed decisions on long-term facilities investments, talent attraction and retention, energy and resource 
conservation, to name a few areas. Mr. Ong then stated that he is confident that with a strong ESG team, led 
by the Company’s Chief ESG Officer, Atty. Carina Bayon, stakeholders can look forward to more engaging 
and empowering initiatives that further our shared values and interests. 
 
The final question came from Mr. Dominador T. Torres III. He asked about the Company’s top business 
priorities in a post-pandemic economy. Mr. Ong responded that, earlier in the meeting, he shared the 
Company’s transformation priorities starting this year to leap forward in a post-pandemic world. To 
summarize, the Company (a) is further refocusing its product portfolio to better serve clients and customers 
with clearer, more consistent brand positioning; (b) continues to calibrate our go-to-market strategy through 
digitalization and trade optimization; and (c) develops initiatives that help reduce expenses without 
compromising productivity and effectiveness. These pressing matters are what the Company will concentrate 
on to boost and future-proof its business. 
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XIII. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further matters to discuss, the Chairman adjourned the meeting and informed the stockholders 
that the minutes of the meeting will be posted on the Company’s website within five (5) business days. 

 
 
 
Kristine Ninotschka L. Evangelista 
Corporate Secretary 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
Oscar S. Reyes 
Chairman 
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OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141 

OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 

1. For the calendar year ended 31 December 2023 

2. SEC Identification Number 0000160968 3. BIR Tax Identification No.000-168-541 

4. Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter: PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 

5. Province, Country or other jurisdiction of 
incorporation or organization: Philippines 

6. Industry Classification Code: 
(SEC Use Only) 

7. Address of principal office: 26th Floor, Fllinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City. Alabang. Muntinlupa City Postal Code: 1781 

8. Issuer's telephone number, including area code: 8888-73774 

9. Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report: Km. 29 National 
Road, Tunasan, Muntinlupa City Postal Code: 1773 

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC, or Sec. 4 and 8 of the RSA 

Title of Each Class Number of Shares of Common Stock 
Outstanding and Amount of Debt Outstanding 

Common Shares of Stock 3,693,n2,219 

11. Are any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
Yes [ J No [x] 

If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein: 
Not applicable 

12. Check whether the issue: 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17.1 thereunder 
or Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of The 
Corporation Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter 
period that the registrant was required to file such reports); 
Yes fxJ No [ 1 

(b) The Registrant has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 
Yes fx] No f I 

13. State the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant. The 
aggregate market value shall be computed by reference to the price at which the stock was sold, or the 
average bid and asked prices of such stock, as of a specified date within sixty (60) days prior to the 
date of filing. If a determination as to whether a particular person or entity is an affiliate cannot be made 
without involving unreasonable effort and expense, the aggregate market value of the common stock 
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h~ld by non-affiliates may be calculated on the basis of assumptions reasonable under the 
circumstances, provided the assumptions are set forth in this Form. 

Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant - µJ37 million as of 
17 Jun 2020. 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED SY REFERENCE 

14. The following documents are incorporated in this report: 

(a) Statement of Management Responsibiltty attached as Exhibit I hereof; 
(b) 31 December 2023 Audited Financial Statements attached as Exhibit II hereof: 
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PART 1- BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

(1) Business Development 

a. Form and Date of Organization 

Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc. (the ·company") was registered with the Philippine Securities 
and Exchange Commission (·SEC") on 08 March 1989, primarily to engage in manufacturing, sales 
and distribution of carbonated soft-drinks and non-carbonated beverages, and confectionery products 
to retail, wholesale. restaurants and bar trades. 

The Company's principal office was in Km. 29 National Road, Tunasan, Muntinlupa City. On 10 
December 2021 , the SEC approved the amendment to the Company's Art(cles of lncorporat!o~ to 
reflect its new principal office address located in 26th Floor, Filinvest Axrs Tower Two Building, 
Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City. 

On 30 May 2014, the SEC approved the amendment to the Company's Article of Incorporation, 
particularly on its primary purpose to also engage in the manufacturing, sale and distribution of snacks, 
food and food products. 

b. Bankruptcy, Receivership or Similar Proceedings 

The Company is not involved in any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings. 

c. Material Reclassification, Merger, Consolidation or Purchase or Sale of a Significant Amount of Assets 
(not ordinary) over the past three (3) years 

The Company has not made any material reclassifications nor entered into a merger, consolidation or 
purchase or sale of significant amount of assets not in the ordinary course of business in the past three 
(3) years. 

(2) Business of Issuer 

a. Principal products 

The Company is a licensed bottler of PepsiCo, Inc. ("PepsiCo"), Pepsi Lipton International Limited 
("Pepsi Lipton"), and a licensed snacks appointee of The Concentrate Manufacturing Company of 
Ireland in the Philippine.s. It .. manuf~ctures a range of carbonated soft drinks ("CSD") and non­
car?onated beverages ( NCB ~ that rn~ludes w~ll-known brands Pepsi-Cola, ?Up, Mouhtain Dew, 
Mtnnd_a, Mug, Gatorade, G-Act1ve, Trop1cana/Tw1ster, Lipton, Sting, Milkis, Chum Churum Soonhari 
Aquaf1na, and Premier. ' 

Calendar Year ended 

Net Sales 
31 December 31 December 31 December 

2023 2022 2021 
Carbonated soft drinks µ26,079 ~25,984 ~22,992 
Non-carbonated 
beveraaes 14,177 12,374 9,790 
Total ~0.256 i;l38,358 '232,782 
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Segment result* 
Calendar Year ended 

31 December 31 December 31 December 
2023 2022 2021 

Carbonated soft drinks '24,546 '24,427 '24410 
Non-carbonated 
beveraaes 2,471 2,108 1,878 
Snacks - - -
Total '27,017 ~.535 ~ .288 

•segment result 1s the difference between net sales and segment expenses. Segment expenses are 
allocated based on the percentage of each reportable segment's net sales over the total net sales. 

b. Foreign sales 

There was no foreign sales for the calendar year ended 31 December 2023, 2022, and 2021. 

c. Distribution methods of the product 

The Company's sales volumes depend on the reach of its distribution network. ft increases the reach 
of distribution system by adding routes and increasing penetration by adding outlets on existing routes 
that currently do not stock its products. It relies on a number of channels to reach retail outlets, including 
direct sales, distributors and wholesalers. 

The backbone of the distribution system is what is referred to as "Entrepreneurial Distribution System," 
which consists of independent contractors who service one or more sales "routes," usually by truck, 
selling directly to retail outlets and collecting empty returnable glass bottles ("RGBs"). 

The Company also employs its own sales force, which principally sells to what is referred to as the 
"modern trade" channel, consisting largely of supermarkets, restaurants and convenience store chains. 
Most of these sales are credit sales. In addition, it sells products to third party wholesalers and 
distributors, which sell them to retail outlets. 

An important aspect of the distribution system is the infrastructure-intensive process of selling and 
delivering RGB products to thousands of small retailers, including sari-sari stores and carinderias. The 
efforts to increase the reach of the Company's distribution network require significant investments in 
distribution infrastructure such as additional trucks, refrigeration equipment, warehouse space and a 
larger "float" of glass bottles and plastic shells, as well as higher costs for additional sales and 
distribution staff. 

d. Publicly-announced new product 

The Company launched and publicly announced several new products in 2023: 
1) Dew Zero Sugar 320ml Can, 
2) Dew Zero Sugar 500ml PET, 
3) Dew Zero Sugar 1.SL PET, 
4) GNS MSPET 1.5ml, 
5) GNS MSPET 900ml, 
6) Pepsi 195ml 
7) Pepsi Zero Sugar Lime 320ml Can, 
8) Pepsi Zero Sugar Lime 500ml PET, 
9) Pepsi Zero Sugar Lime 1.SL PET, 
10) Pepsi Zero Sugar Lime 1.5L PET, and 
11) Chum ChurumSoonhari Soju 360ml 
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e. Competition 

Th~- C~mpany competes in the ready-to-drink, non-alcoholic and alcoholic beverage market across the 
Ph1_hppmes. The market is highly competitive and competition varies by product category. The Company 
beheves that the major competitive factors include advertising and marketing programs that create 
brand awareness, pack/price promotions, new product development, distribution and availability, 
packaging and customer goodwill. The Company faces competition generally from both local and multi­
national companies across the Company's nationwide operations. 

Major competitors in the CSD market are The Coca-Cola Company and Asiawide Refreshments 
Corporation. The substantial investment in multiple plants, distribution infrastructure and systems and 
the float of RGBs and plastic shells required to operate a nationwide beverage business using RGBs 
are major factors which influence the level of competition in the CSD market. 

The market for NCB (including energy drinks) is more fragmented. Major competitors in this market 
are Del Monte Pacific Limited, Universal Robina Corporation, Zesto Corporation, The Coca-Cola 
Company, and Asia Brewery Incorporated, among others. In recent years, the market has been 
relatively fluid, with frequent product launches and shifting consumer preferences. These trends are 
expected to continue. 

Industry-wide competition intensified with marketing campaigns, and trade and consumer promotions. 
The Company believes that it can effectively compete by maximizing its 360-degree marketing 
presence, maintaining its competitive price structures and expanding the range and reach of the 
Company's portfolio. For the years to come, the Company will continue to expand its beverage 
offerings leveraging its wide manufacturing platform and extensive distribution reach to meet consumer 
demands. 

Moreover, the Company invested aggressively, positioning the business for long-term growth while 
ensuring financial flexibility to battle current challenges. The Company expanded and upgraded 
manufacturing facilities in different plants to provide multiple product capabilities, maximize cost 
savings, improve product quality and increase operating efficiencies. 

f. Sources and availability of raw materials 

Over half of total costs comprise purchases of raw materials. Largest purchases are.sugar and 
beverage concentrates. The Company purchases sugar requirements domestically and imports from 
Thailand if needed and depending on the government import allocation. It purchases beverage 
concentrates mainly from Concentrates Manufacturing (Singapore) Pte Ltd, mix tea kit concentrates 
from Pepsi Lipton International and seasoning from Pepsi Cola International Cork (Ireland). 

Another substantial cost is packaging. The major components of this expense are p1..1rchases of 
polyethylene terephthalate ("PET') resins, and pre-forms, which are converted into PET bott.les at the 
plants, non-reusable glass bottles, aluminum cans and PET closures. It also makes regular purchases 
of RGBs to maintain float at appropriate levels. Purchases of each of these materials are from suppliers 
based in the Philippines and in other parts of Asia, usually under short term, negotiated and/or 
contracted prices. 

g. Customers 

The Company has a broad customer base nationwide. Majority of the customers include supermarkets, 
convenience stores, groceries bars, sari-sari stores and carinderias. 

h. Transactions with and/or Dependence on Related Parties 

Please refer to Item 13 of this report . 
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i. Patents, trademarks, copyrights, licenses, franchises, concessions, and royalty agreements 

The Company does not own any intellectual property that is material to the business. Under the various 
agreements, the Company is authorized to use brands and the associated trademarks owned by 
PepsiCo, Unilever N.V (in the case of the Lipton brand and trademarks) and Lotte Corporation. 
Trademark licenses are registered with the Philippine Intellectual Property Office. Certificates of 
Registration filed after January 1998 are effective for a period of 10 years from the registration date 
unless sooner cancelled, while those filed before January 1998 are effective for 20 years from the 
registration date. The table below summarizes most of the current Certificates of Registration. 

Filing Date Expiration 

Pepsi Max 10 Februarv 2021 6 August 2031 
Pepsi 6 March 2014 10 July 2024 
Mirinda 22 Mav 2013 30 Januarv 2026 
Mountain Dew 03 April 2009 02 October 2029 
Mountain Dew 14 September 2016 10 November 2026 
7Up 26 Februarv 2007 05 November 2027 
Gatorade 27 November 1992 29 June 2025 
Propel 23 Auaust 2002 17 Januarv 2025 
Tropicana Twister 29 Auaust 2017 07 December 2027 
Tropicana 11 October 2002 08 June 2026 
Stina 16 Mav 2014 17 March 2026 
Lipton 27 March 2014 07 November 2024 
Milkis** 21 September 2010 06 January 2031 
Premier* 12 Januarv 2016 07 July 2026 

* Trademark owned by the Company 
** Trademark owned by Lotte Corporation 

The Company produces its products under licenses from PepsiCo, Pepsi Lipton and Lotte Corporation 
and depends upon them to provide concentrates and access to new products. Thus, if the agreements 
are suspended, terminated or not renewed for any reason, it would have a material adverse effect on 
the business and financial results. 

Refer to Notes 23 and 24 to the 31 December 2023 Audited Financial Statements for details of 
transactions with PepsiCo, Pepsi Lipton and Lotte Corporation. 

j . Government approvals of principal products 

As a producer of beverages for human consumption, the Company is subject to the regulation by the 
Food and Drugs Administration ("FDA•) of the Philippines, which is the policy formulat ion and 
monitoring arm of the Department of Health of the Philippines on matters pertaining to food and the 
formulation of rules, regulations, standards and minimum guidelines on the safety and quality of food 
and food products as well as the branding and labeling requirements for these products. 

It is the Company's policy to register all locally-produced products and/or imported products for local 
market distribution. Each of the plants has a valid and current License to Operate as a Food 
Manufacturer of Non-Alcoholic Beverages from FDA. These licenses are renewed as per FDA's validity 
period in accordance with applicable regulations. Any findings and gaps found during the regulatory 
audit and inspection are thoroughly discussed with FDA inspectors and compliance commitments are 
re-issued. There are no pending findings or gaps that are material or that may materially affect the 
operation of each plant or all the plants as a whole. 

The Company is registered as a Food Manufacturer/Processor and in certain plants has a Food 
Distributor/Exporter/Importer/Wholesaler license. 
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k. Effect of existing or probable governmental regulations on the business 

The Company's production facilities are subject to environmental regulation under a variety of national 
an~ local laws and regulations, which, in particular, control the emissions of air pollutants, water, noise 
sohd, and hazardous wastes. It fs regulated by two major government agencies, namely, the 
Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) and the Laguna Lake Development 
Authority (LLDA). Local Government Units (LGU) also ensure compliance with RA 9003 or the 
Ecological Solid Waste Management Act and are actively taking part in reducing our waste and 
considering sustainability programs on circular economy and soon on waste neutrality. PCPPI is 
likewise required to comply with the requirements of RA 11898 or the Extended Producers 
Responsibility Act of 2022. The Obliged Enterprise (OE) or under the Extended Producers 
Responsibility (EPR) Act of 2022, or the RA 11898. This requires an Obliged Enterprise (OE) or 
Collective, Producers Responsibility Organization (PRO) to submit its application for registration of its 
EPR Program. Target weight of plastic packaging footprint to be recovered and diverted for reuse, 
recycling, treatment, or proper disposal to prevent them from leaking into the environment. (To be 
known as "plastic waste diversion target") is 20 % of the total plastic footprints of the Obliged Enterprise 
for the first year of implementation. For the initial implementation of the EPR law, we tapped the 
Philippine Alliance for Recycling and Material Sustainability (PARMS), as our Producers Responsibility 
Organization (PRO) for the program on recovery and waste diversion. 

The Company is compliant with all local environmental laws and regulations. All plants are equipped 
with wastewater treatment plants and in some areas require air pollution control facilities to ~nsure that 
our plants comply with the existing environmental regulations. Each Plant has an accredited Pollution 
Control Officer (PCO), a technical person competent in pollution control and environmental 
management, performing the duties and responsibilities in a particular establishment and officially 
accredited by the Environmental Management Bureau (EMS) Regional Office to perform such 
responsibilities. 

While the foregoing agencies actively monitor the Company's compliance with environmental 
regulations as well as investigate complaints brought by the public, it is required to police its compliance 
and prevent any incident that could expose the Company to fines, civil or even criminal sanctions, 
considerable capital and other costs and expense for refurbishing or upgrading environmental 
compliance system and resources, third-party liability such as clean-ups, injury to communities and 
individuals, including, loss of life. 

m. Costs and effects of compliance with environmental laws 

Compliance with all applicable environmental laws and regulations, such as the Environmental Impact 
Statement System, the Pollution Control Law, the Laguna Lake Development Authority Act of 1966, the 
Clean Air Act, Clean Water Act, Toxic and Hazardous and Nuclear Waste Act and the Ecological Solid 
Waste Management Act has not had, and in the Company's opinion, is not expected to have a material 
effect on the capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position. Annually, it invests about P30 
million in wastewater treatment and air pollution abatement, respectively, in its facilities. 

n. Employees 

As of 31 December 2023, the Company has employed 3,102 regular employees. All of the regular 
production employees at the bottling plants and sales offices are represented by a union. Currently, the 
Company is a party to fourteen (14) Collective Bargaining Agreements (CSA), with said agreements 
covering non-sales forces in business units. Said CBAs contain economic and non-economic provisions 
(i.e., salary increase and performance incentive, laundry allowance, per diem, bereavement assistance, 
union /eave, calamity loan and assistance to employees' cooperative, among others), which generally 
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have .an effect!vi~ and binding period of three (3) years, while the representation aspect thereof is 
effective and binding for five (5) years. 

!he Company believes that its relationship with both union member and non-union member e'!lp/oye~s 
1s healthy. In fact, the Company has not experienced any work stoppages due to labor and industnal 
disputes since 1999. 

Significant emphasis is placed on training of personnel to increase their skill levels, ensure consistent 
application of procedures, and to instill an appreciation of corporate values. To achieve these, it 
operates "Pepsi University,· a full-time training facility consisting of three (3) main Training Halls, a 
Computer Lab, Conference Room and an Audio-Visual Room. Supported by an end-to end Learning 
Management System, OLK and an online training platform via Zoom. 

Likewise, PCPPI continues to champion its ICARE - Integrity, Innovation, Care and Respect, 
Empowerment and Excellence values and thrives to keep a highly-engaged and high performing work 
force. As such, "Pepsi University" resources are likewise being utilized for this purpose. 

Futhermore, It has adopted a compensation policy which is believed to be competitive with industry 
standards in the Philippines. Salaries and benefits are reviewed periodically and improved to retain 
current employees and attract new employees. In relation therewith, employees' performance is 
reviewed annually, and employees are rewarded based on the attainment of pre-defined objectives. 
Similarly, Performance Review follows an annually cycle, and employees are rewarded based on 
achievement of pre-defined and agreed objectives. . . 
Finally, the Company has a funded, non-contributory and defined retirement benefit plan covenng 
substantially all of its regular and full time employees. The Company has a Retirement Committee that 
sets the policies for said plan, and has appointed two Philippine banks as trustees to manage said 
retirement fund in accordance with the plan. Annual cost is determined using the projected unit credit 
method. 

o. Major Risks 

Sales and profitability are affected by the overall performance of the Philippine economy, ·the natural 
seasonality of sales, the competitive environment of the beverage market in the Philippines, as well as 
changes in cost structures, among other factors. 

Sales volume are also affected by the weather, generally being higher in the hot, dry months from 
March through June and lower during the wetter monsoon months of July through October. In addition, 
the Philippines is exposed to risk of typhoons during the monsoon period. Typhoons usually result in 
substantially reduced sales in the affected area, and have, in the past, interrupted production at the 
plants in affected areas. While these factors lead to a natural seasonality in sales, unseasonable 
weather could also significantly affect sales and profitability compared to previous comparable periods. 
Sales during the Christmas/New Year holiday period in late December tend to be higher as well. 

The CSD and NCB markets are highly competitive. The actions of competitors as well as the 
Company's own continuous efforts on pricing, marketing, promotions and new product development 
affect sales. Some of the smaller competitors have lower cost bases than the Company and price their 
products lower than th~ Company's prices. Thus. in addit!on _t? the cost of producing and distributing 
our beverages, sales pnces are greatly affected by the ava1lab11tty and price of competing brands in the 
market. 

All of the Company's sales are de~ominated_ in Philippine p~sos. _However, some of the significant 
costs, such as purchases of packaging materials, are denomrnated ,n United States dollars. Some of 
the other costs, which are incurred in Philippine pesos, can also be affected by fluctuations in the 
exchange rate between the Philippine peso and United States dollars, Euro and Malaysian Ringgit. In 
respect of monetary assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the Philippine peso, the 
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Company ensures that its exposure Is kept to an acceptable level, by buying foreign currencies at spot 
rate~ where nece~sary to address short-term imbalances. The Company considered the exposure to 
foreign currency nsk to be insignificant. 

The business requires a significant supply of raw materials, water and energy. The cost and supply of 
these materials could be adversely affected by changes in the world market prices or sources of sugar, 
crude oil, aluminum, tin, PET resins, other raw materials, transportation, water, and energy, and 
government regulation, among others. Although direct purchases of fuel are relatively small as a 
proportion of total costs, the Company is exposed to fluctuations in the price of oil through the 
dependence on freight and delivery services. Changes in materials prices generally affect the 
competitors as well. 

Margins differ between beverage products and package types and sizes. Excluding packaging, 
production costs are similar across the range of carbonated beverages, but vary with non-carbonated 
beverages. Packaging costs vary, with RGBs being fess expensive than PET, aluminum cans or no~­
returnable glass. The incremental cost of producing larger-sized serves in the same p~ckage typ~ 1s 
proportionately lower than the increased volume, creating opportunities to achieve higher margins 
where customers perceive value in terms of volume. 

As a result of the factors discussed above, the margins the Company earns on the products c~n be 
substantially different, and the margins can change in both absolute and relative terms from pen"?. to 
period. While the Company attempts to adjust its product and package mix to Improve profit~bllity, 
changes in consumer demand and the competitive landscape can have a significant impact on mix and 
therefore profitability. 

The Company is also subject to credit risk, liquidity risk and various market risks, including risks from 
changes in commodity prices, interest rates and currency exchange rates (refer to Note 27 of the 31 
December 2023 Audited Financial Statements for discussion on Financial Risk Management). 

The Company was not aware of any event that resulted in a direct or contingent financial obligation as 
of 31 December 2023 that was material to the Company, including any default or acceleration of an 
obligation. To the Company's knowledge, there are no material off-balance sheet transactions, 
arrangement, obligations (including contingent obligations) and other relationship of the Company with 
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

As a foreign-owned company, the Company is not permitted to own land in the Philippines and has no 
intention to acquire real estate property. Hence, it leases the land on which the bottling plants, warehouses 
and sales offices are located. 

The Company leases certain parcels of land where its bottling plants and warehouses are located from 
third parties and NADECO Realty Corporation (NRC) for a period of one to 25 years and are renewable for 
another one to 25 years (refer to Note 23 to the 31 December 2023 Audited Financial Statements for further 
information on the leases). Lease payments pertaining to these leased properties amounted to~246.5 
million, µ176.8 million. and ~184.2 million for the years ended 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. 

The Company owns all its bottling facilities located in Muntinlupa City, Sto. Tomas, Rosario, Pampanga, 
Naga, Cebu, lloilo, Bacolod, Tanauan, Davao. Cagayan de Oro and Zamboanga which are all in good 
condition. Other than the buildings and leasehold improvements. machinery and other equipment, and 
furniture and fixtures disclosed in Nole 9 lo the 31 December 2023 Audited Financial Statements, and the 
investments in shares of stocks disclosed in Note 7 to the 31 December 2023 Audited Financial Statements 
the Company does not hold any other significant properties. ' 
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Fr~m _time to time, the Company becomes a party to litigation in the ordinary course of its business. T~e 
maJ~nty of the cases in which the Company is a party are cases it files to recover debts in relatio~ to unpaid 
r~e,vables by trade partners or in relation to cash or route shortages, private criminal prosecutions that it 
brings, labor cases for alleged illegal dismissal (which are usually accompanied by demands for 
reinstatement in the Company without loss of seniority rights and payment of back wages), and consumer 
cases brought against the Company involving allegations of defective products. Other significant cases 
are criminal cases for theft against employees and refund against suppliers. 

The Company had pending civil cases with the Regional Trial Court on the cancellation of assessme~ts 
and refund of local business taxes in the City of Muntinlupa. In 2023 and 2022, the Company a~d the City 
of Muntinlupa entered into compromise agreements whereby the City agreed to refund a portion of the 
assessments through tax credits. 

For a discussion of the Company's pending tax matter, please refer to Note 28(b) to the Audited Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

The Company has not been involved in any bankruptcy, receivership or other similar proceedings. 

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

The matters voted upon at the Annual Stockholders' Meeting held on 15 June 2023 included the election 
of Directors. The following were elected as members of the Board of Directors for the ensuing year (2023-
2024): 

Frederick 0. Ong 
Yun Gie Park 
Jun Beom Lim 
Hyo Jin Song 
Jin Pyo Ahn 
Parinya Kitjatanapan 
Vishal Malik 
Oscar S. Reyes (Independent Director) 
Rafael M. Alunan Ill (Independent Director) 

The Company has complied with the guidelines on the nomination and election of Independent Directors 
set forth in Rule 38 of the Amended Implementing Rules and Regulations of the Securities Regulation Code. 

PART II - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR ISSUER'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

Market Information 

The Company's common shares were first listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange ("PSE") on 01 
February 2008. 

The closing share price as of 17 June 2020 is P1. 70. The trading of the Company's shares was suspended 
on 18 June 2020 following the drop of its public ownership level to 2.1 %, or below the 10% minimum public 
ownership required under the PSE Rule on Minimum Public Ownership, after conclusion of the tender offer 
conducted by Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd. ("Lotte Chilsung") to acquire shares of the Company from 
the stockholders. 
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On 18 Dec~mber 20_20, the delisting of the Company's shares from the official registry of the PSE ~as 
made effective following PS E's approval of the Company's petition for voluntary delisting, and after s~~unng 
stockholder approval of the voluntary delisting by written assent in October 2020. The Company petitioned 
to voluntarily delist its shares from the PSE upon assessment that it would not be able to comply with the 
minimum public ownership requirement of the PSE by 18 December 2020. 

Stockholders 

The Company has approximately 757 stockholders of common shares as of 28 February 2024 with the 
PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) and (Non-Filipino) considered as two (2) stockholders, based on the 
stockholder list of the Company's stock transfer agent, Stock and Transfer Service, Inc. (the "Stock Transfer 
Agent"). 

The following are the top 20 stockholders of common shares based on the report furnished by the Stock 
Transfer Agent as of 28 February 2024. 

NO. 

1 
2 
3 
4 

5 

6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 

Name Number of Shares Held 

LOTIE CHILSUNG BEVERAGE CO. LTD 
QUAKER GLOBAL INVESTMENTS B.V. 
PCD NOMINEE CORP. (NON-FILIPINO) 
PCD NOMINEE CORP. (FILIPINO) 
WAT WAI HOONG JOSEPH AND PHO LINL 
LIN 
AB CAPITAL SECURITIES INC. 
WEE MICHAEL T. 
REYES OSCAR S. 
BLANCAVER RENE B. 
MADARANG WINEFREDA 0 . 
MORGAN STANLY SMITH BARNEY 
G.D. TAN & CO. INC 
CASTRO REY CHELIN PINERA 
DIANA TE &/OR MARIBETH UY 
VEROIDA IVAN N. 
PNB SECURITIES INC. 
JOSE JR ESPANA BAUTISTA 
LUGTI VALERIANO A. 
YU FELIX S. 
PAN ASIA SECURITIES CORPORATION 
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2,715,868,514 
923,443,072 
37,345,670 
6,945,123 

388,000 

381 ,000 
320,700 
300,001 
255,000 
250,000 
221,000 
213,000 
200,000 
170,000 
159,000 
154,000 
152,000 
150,000 
149,998 
149,000 

Percentage of 
Ownership 

73.53% 
25.00% 
01.01% 
00.19% 
00.01% 

00.01% 
00.01% 
00.01% 
00.01% 
00.01% 
00.01% 
00.01% 
00.01% 
00.00% 
00.00% 
00.00% 
00.00% 
00.00% 
00.00% 
00.00% 
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Cash Dividends 

F?~ the last three calendar years, the Board of Directors approved the following declarations of cash 
drvrdends: nil in the calendar years ended 31 December 2023 2022 and 2021 . The last declaration of cash 
dividend was in the amount of J:2162.5 million in the calendar year ended 31 December 2019. Details of the 
declarations are as follows: 

Date of Declaration 
20 June 2019 

Dividend Per 
Share 
0.044 

Payable to 
Stockholders of 

Record as of 
16 July 2019 

Date of Payment 
09 August 2019 

Dividend Policy 
The Company has a dividend policy to declare dividends to stockholders of record, which are paid out of 
its unrestricted retained earnings. Any future dividends it pays will be at the discretion of the B?ard of 
Directors after taking into account the earnings, cash flows, financial position, loan covenants, ~aprtal and 
operating progress, and other factors as the Board of Directors may consider relevant. SubJect to the 
foregoing, the policy is to pay up to 50% of the profit as dividends. This policy may be subject to revisions 
in the future. 

The declaration and payment of cash dividends are subject to approval by the Board of Directors without 
need for stockholders' approval. On the other hand, the declaration and payment of stock dividends require 
the approval of the stockholders representing no less than two-thirds (2/3) of the Company's outstanding 
capital stock. 

Pursuant to its Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws, as amended during the annual stockholders meeting 
held on 27 April 2023, and approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission on 29 September 2023, 
the Company shall not declare payment of dividends until 2025. 

Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities including Recent Issuance of Securities 
Constituting an Exempt Transaction 

There has been no recent safe of unregistered or exempt securities including recent issuance of securities 
constituting an exempt transaction. 
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PART 111- FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

31 December 2023 versus 31 December 2022 

On a full year basis, Net Sales grew 5% to P38.4 billion in 2023. Key drivers of topli~e gr~wth are Mix 
improvement via shift to higher value products and Pricing, a combination of the annuahzed impact ?f last 
year's pricing initiatives and new pricing actions implemented during the year to co_unter inflationary 
pressures. Volume slowdown resulting from these pricing actions partially tempered toplme growth. 

Inflation continues to be a challenge in costs and expenses as reflected in the 6.4% increase versus prior 
year. of Cost of Goods Sold and Operating Expenses combined while Marketing Expenses reflect stepped 
up investments for future growth through GTM and portfolio enhancements. 

Given the above factors, the company posted an Operating loss for the year of -P674MM. 

After Other Income and Expenses, Interest and Taxes, resulting Net Loss for the year was ~1.2 billio?. 
Included is a one off expense for asset write-off in line with the ratiom1fization of the company s 
manufacturing footprint for increased efficiency. 

31 December 2022 versus 31 December 2021 

The company posted full year Net Sales of P38.3 Billion, a 17% increase from 2021 driven by vol~me 
recovery post-pandemic lockdowns, focus on mix improvement and price increases across the portfoho to 
address inflationary pressures on cost of goods driven by global price hikes on fuel and fuel-related inputs 
and local Sugar prices. Given the timing of Increases, Pricing only partially covered for inflation, thus 
resulting in Gross Profit growing only 6% year on year. 

Inflation driven increase in Operating Expenses, mainly on freight cost due to fuel price increases and 
Selling and Administration expenses, contributed to lower Operating Profit at P191 million, 52% below last 
year. With this, full year Profit before tax stood at P10.1 Million. or a 96% decrease from last year. 

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY 

The Company's operations are cash intensive. This capability to generate cash is one of its greatest 
strengths. With its liquidity, the Company has substantial financial flexibility in varying operating policy in 
response to market demands. in meeting capital expenditures through internally generated funds and in 
providing the Company with a strong financial condition that gives it ready access to financing alternatives 
(refer to Note 27 to the 31 December 2023 Audited Financial Statements for a detailed discussion on the 
Company's revolving credit facilities as of 31 December 2023). 

Credit sales over the past three years have remained at the level of 50% to 60% of total sales. This credit 
sales level reflects a shift from a direct distribution mode to a more efficient model of fostering partnership 
with distributors and multi-route Entrepreneurial Distribution System contractors as well as increase in 
Modern Trade business. Liquidity has remained healthy. Collection period were at 45 to 68 days while 
inventory days were at 4 to 22 days for the past three years. Trade payable days have remained at 
manageable levels. 

Decrease in current assets from ~ 10,812 ~ill!on as ?f 31 December 2022 to ~10,082 million as of 
31 December 2023 were due t~ ?ecrease_s in mventones - net of ~26 million, prepaid expenses, and 
other current assets of P.143 m1ll1on, receivable - net of P.134 million, cash and cash equivalent of ~127 
million and due from related parties of P. 2 million. 

BUREAU OF INTf,RNAL REVENUE 
LARGE TAXPA'T ER~ SERVICE 

R~i5~lD 
BY: F.RWIN PACINI() 
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Decrease in noncurrent assets from P.1 7,402 million as of 31 December 2022 to P.16,780 million as of 31 
December 2023 due to decreases in property, plant and equipment of P.783 million and bo~,~~ and cases 
of P.186 million, intangible assets of '242 million, and other noncurrent assets of P.7 mrlhon , and ~n 
increases in deferred tax assets of P.288 million, right of use assets P.107 million, and investment in 

associates of p.i million. 

Decrease in current liabilities from P.13 888 million as of 31 December 2022 to P.12,394 million as of 31 
December 2023 due to decreases in ~ccounts payable & accrued expenses of P.2,649 mil(i~n and an 
increases in and short-term debt of P.168 million, and long-term debt current portion of P.988 m1lhon. 

Increase in noncurrent liabilities from µs 379 million as of 31 December 2022 to PS,829 million as of 31 
December 2023 due to increases in long-term debt of P.1 ,279 million, and other noncurrent liabilities of 
P287 million, and decrease in deferred tax liabilities of P.117 million, 

Total assets decreased from P.28,214 million as of 31 December 2022 toP.26.861 million as of 31 December 
2023 mainly due to general increases in assets as discussed above. Total liabilities decreased from 
P.19,266 million as of 31 December 2022 to P.19,223 million as of 31 December 2023 mainly due to general 
decreases in payables as stated above. 

Total equity decreased from PS,948 to P7,639 million on account of total comprehensive income of P.1 ,309 
million in 2023. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The following are the Company's key performance indicators. Analyses are employed by comparisons and 
measurements based on the financial data of the current period against the same period of pre~ious year. 

2023 2022 
Current ratio Current assets over current 0.8:1 0.8:1 

liabilities 
Solvency ratio Profit plus depreciation and 0.6:1 0.1:1 

amortization over total liabilities 
Bank debt-to-eauitv ratio Bank debt over total eouitv 1.26:1 0.8:1 
Asset-to-eouitv ratio Total assets over equity 3.52:1 3.15:1 
Ooeratina marain Ooeratina orofJt over net sales -1 .67% 0.5% 
Net profit maroin Net orofit over net sales -3.06% 0.12% 
Interest rate coverage ratio Earnings before interest and -1.40:1 1.04:1 

taxes over interest exoense 

Current ratio. incr~ased slightl~ due to in~reases in .assets. The changes in solvency, debt-to-equity and 
asset-to-equity ratios were mamly due to increases ,n net income, in total assets and total liabilities. The 
changes in operating margin, net profit margin and interest rate coverage ratios were attributable to the 
decreases in operating income. 

MATERIAL COMMITMENTS FOR CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 

The Compa~y has on~oing definite corporate expansion projects approved by the Board of Directors. As 
a result of this expa~st0n program, the .~ompany spent for property, plant and equipment as well as bottles 
and shelfs amounting to ~ .592 m1lhon, P.2,286 million, and P1 ,971 million tor the years ended 
31 ~ecember ~023, 2.022, and 2021, respectively. T~ t~is date, th~ Company continues to invest in major 
capital expenditures. ,n order to complete the remaining expansion projects lined up in line w·th · 
calendar year spendrng. 1 prior 
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FACTORS THAT MAY IMPACT COMPANY'S OPERATIONS / SEASONALITY ASPECTS 

Refer to Part 1 Item (2) (o) of the SEC Form 17-A (Annual Report) for a discussion of Major Risks. 

SIGNIFICANT ELEMENTS OF INCOME OR LOSS THAT DID NOT ARISE FROM CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS 

There were losses arising from discontinued operations of the Snack business in September 2019. 

ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Please see Exhibit II hereof for the 31 December 2022 Audited Financial Statements. 

ITEM 8. INFORMATION ON INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT 

The Company has engaged the services of an independent Certified Public Accountant ("CPA") to conduct 
an audit and provide objective assurance on the reasonableness of the financial statements and relevant 
disclosures. The independent CPA is solely responsible to the Board of Directors. 

The appointment of the independent CPA is submitted to the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors and 
shareholders for approval. The representatives of the independent CPA are expected to be present at the 
Annual Stockholders' Meeting and will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so, 
and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions. Upon request, the independent CPA 
can also be asked to attend meetings of the Audit Committee and the Board, to make presentations and 
reply to inquiries on matters relating to the Company's financial statements. 

The Company has appointed R. G. Manabat & Co. as its independent CPA for the audit of its financial 
statements for the calendar year ended 31 December 2023. 

Aggregate fees billed by the Company's external auditor for professional services in relation to (i) the audit 
of the Company's annual financial statements and services in connection with statutory and regulatory 
filings, and (ii) tax accounting, compliance, advice, planning and any other form of tax services for the 
calendar year ended December 31 are summarized as follows: 

2023 2022 2021 
Statutorv audit fees P.5.15 million P-4.8 million P-4.8 million 
Other Assurance 4.45 million 
Services 
Tax advice fees 0.6 million 0.4 million 
Total P.9.6 million P5,7 million PS.2 million 

The Audit Committee of the Company reviews and approves the audit plan and scope of work for the above 
services and ensures that the rates are competitive as compared to the fees charged by other equally 
competent external auditors performing similar services. 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

!here has been no change in the in.dependent auditing firm or handling partner or disagreements with the 
rnde~endent CPA on matters _relatr~g to Jhe application. and interpretations of accounting principles or 
practices, tax laws and regulations, financial statement disclosures or audit scope and procedures during 
the three (3) most recent fiscal years. 
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PART Ill-CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

Term of office 

Directors who are elected during the annual meeting of the stockholders in general hold office for one (1) 
year until their successors are duly elected and qualified as set out in Article Ill, Section 1 of the Company's 
By-Laws. 

Directors 

As of 28 February 2024, the following are the names, ages, and citizenship of the incumbent Directors, 
including Independent Directors, of the Company, as well as the year they were first elected: 

Name Age Citizenship 
Year First 
Elected 

Phvo Phyu Noe 40 Burmese 2023 
Yun Gie Park 54 Korean 2021 
Yang Soo Lee 51 Korean 2024 
Hvo Jin Sona 47 Korean 2021 
Jin Pyo Ahn 51 Korean 2022 
Parinva Kitiatanaoan 58 Thai 2020 
Vishal Malik 55 Indian 2022 
Oscar S. Reves (lndeoendent Director) 77 Filipino 2007 
Rafael M. Alunan Ill (Independent Director) 75 Filipino 2007 

Executive Officers 

As of 28 February 2024, the following are the names, ages, positions. and citizenship of the incumbent 
executive officers of the Company, as well as the year they assumed their respective positions: 

Name Age Citizenship Position Year Position 
was Assumed 

Phyo Phyu Noe• 40 Burmese President and Chief Executive 2023 
Officer 

Elmer N. Yanga 49 American Chief Finance Officer 2022 
Jin Pyo Ahn 51 Korean Chief Corporate Strategy 2021 

Officer 
Youngho Kim 44 Korean Chief Manufacturing Officer 2023 

Lyndon Ferdinand J. 56 Filipino Chief Commercial Officer 2022 
Cuadra 
Byoungoh Jang• 48 Korean Chief Suooly Chain Officer 2023 
Carina Lenore S. 54 Filipino Chief Environmental, Social, 2023 
Bayon and Governance Officer, Chief 

Compliance Officer, Data 
Protection Officer, Chief Audit 

Executive, and Extended 
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II 

Name Age Citizenship Position 
Year Position 
was Assumed 

Producers' Responsibility Act 
Compliance Officer 

Kristine Ninotschka L. 50 Filipino Corporate Secretary 2018 
Evangelista 
Jethro C. Perez 32 Filipino Assistant Coroorate Secretary 2023 

*The assumption of the respective roles of Messrs. Noe and Jang m the Company 1s subJect to the 
issuance of relevant permits. 

Background Information and Business Experience 

Directors: 

PHYO PHYU NOE 
Phyo joined PCPPI, the exclusive bottler of PepsiCo beverages in the Philippines, as its President and CE~ 
in Nov-23 after successfully turning around Pepsi Myanmar (revenue growth: 6x, net profit growth: 23pts in 

40 months) amid Myanmar's political and economic turmoil. Before Pepsi Myanmar, Phyo held two 
positions at Coca-Cola Myanmar: Director of Strategic Planning and Director of Commercial Operations. 
Previously Phyo was an Investment Director at Delta Capital Myanmar, a Myanmar-focused PE fund. As 
part of the fund management team, he has experience sourcing, structuring/ closing investment deals, 
managing portfolio companies and bringing in strategic partners for portfolio companies in Myanmar's 
consumer, telecom and IT sectors. Before Delta Capital, Phyo was a Senior Consultant at Bain & Company. 
At Bain, he worked on strategy consulting cases in Southeast Asia for private equity, financial services and 
telecom clients. Prior to Bain, Phyo worked as a Senior Trader at Kellogg Capital Markets in New York City. 
As part of Kellogg, he has extensive front office trading experience: structuring and trading a wide range of 
fixed income- and commodity-based structured products. Phyo earned his MBA from Duke University. 
graduating with the highest honors as a Fuqua Scholar. He received his Bachelor of Arts in Political Science 
and Economics from Williams College in MA, USA. 

YuNGIEPARK 
Mr. Park is a non-Executive Director of the Company. With over 30 years of experience in the beverage 
business, he currently seives as the Chief Executive Officer and President of Lotte Chilsung. As CEO of 
Lotte Chilsung, Mr. Park currently oversees all of the Lotte Group's alcoholic and non- alcoholic beverage 
businesses. Before assuming his current post in 2020, Mr. Park seived Lotte Chilsung in various executive 
capacities including as the Chief Strategy Officer and Chief Marketing Officer. 

YANGSOOLEE 

Mr. Lee is a non-Executive Director of the Company. He is also currently serving as the Senior Vice 
President of Lotte Chilsung, where he spearheads the Global Business Division. He has more than 29 
years of domestic and international sales strategy and planning experience in the fast-moving consumer 
goods (FMCG) industry. He joined Lotte Chilsung in 1995, and thus has accumulated diverse experience 
in domestic and international sales. In 2022, he assumed leadership of the Global Business Division. 

HYO JIN SONG 

Ms. Song is a non-Executive Director of the Company. She is currently the Chief Financial Officer and Vice­
President of Lotte Chilsung. She joined Lotte Chilsung in 2014 as Senior Director of Finance Team and 
was promoted as Vice-President in 2020. Prior to Lotte Chilsung, she was with Ernst and Young Korea and 
Seonjin Accounting Corporation in Korea. She is a Chartered Public Accountant in Korea and the US. 
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JIN PYO AHN 

M~. Ahn i~ an Executive Director and serves as the Company's Chief Corporate Strategy Officer. Prior to 
this appointment, Mr. Ahn also served as the Chief Strategy Officer of Lotte Akthar Beverage Co. Ltd. from 
2018 to 2021 ; the General Manager for P-Project TF of Lotte Chilsung from 2016 to 2017; and the Team 
Leader of the Global Brand Team of Lotte Chilsung from 2015 to 2016, among others. Mr. Ahn also 
previously served as the Company's Chief Strategy Officer from 201 O to 2015. 

PARINYA KITJATANAPAN 
Mr. Kitjatanapan is a non-Executive Director of the Company. He has 30 years of financial and commercial 
management experience in the FMCG industry across Asia Pacific, Middle East, and North Africa. He joined 
PepsiCo, Inc. in 1998 as the Chief Financial Officer for PepsiCo's Thailand Beverage business and 
subsequently became General Manager for the country. In 2010, Mr. Kitjatanapan joined PepsiCo China's 
team as General Manager, South Cluster, based in Guangzhou. Then in 2012, he relocated to Shanghai 
to serve as Greater China Beverage Franchise Vice-President. He moved back to Thailand in 2014 to 
assume Vice-President and General Manager of the Thailand Power of One business. In 2019, M_r. 
Kitjatanapan was promoted to Senior Vice-President of Sales & Franchise COE for the AMENA (Asia 
Middle East North Africa) sector. In 2020, he became the Chief Commercial Officer for the Asia Pacific 
sector. In 2023, he was appointed as Asia Beverages & GMO Business Unit General Manager. 

VISHAL MALIK 
Mr. Malik is a non-Executive Director of the Company. Prior to his election as Director in June 2022, Mr. 
Malik served as the Company's Chief Finance Officer and Chief Audit Executive since his appointment in 
2020. He is a Chartered Accountant from India and has been working with PepsiCo International since 
1994. He spent six years with PepsiCo Beverages and Foods operations in India, following which he has 
been working as a Finance leader in Southeast Asia for the past 20+ years. In his previous roles, he served 
PepsiCo in the capacity of Chief Financial Officer for lndoChina, Thailand, Vietnam and other geographies 
including Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore. 

OSCAR 5. R EYES 
Mr. Reyes is an Independent Director and is the incumbent Chairman of the Board of Directors, as well as 
the Chairman of the Company's Board Committees for Nomination and Governance and Compensation 
and Remuneration. Among his other current positions are: Member of the Advisory Board of Basic Energy 
Corporation; Chairman, Link Edge, Inc.; Independent Director of PXP Energy Corporation, Team Energy 
Corporation, D.M. Wenceslao and Associates, Sun Life Financial Plans, Inc., Sun Life Prosperity Funds, 
Eramen Minerals Inc., Petrolift Corporation, Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp., Philippine Dealing 
& Exchange Corporation, Philippine Depository & Trust Corporation, Philippine Securities Settlement 
Corporation; Pioneer Life Insurance Group and Alviera Country Club. He served the Manila Electric 
Company in various capacities from 2010 until his retirement in 2019 as its President and Chief Executive 
Officer and Chairman/Director of its various subsidiaries and affiliates. Mr. Reyes also served the Shell 
Companies in the Philippines in various capacities from 1986 until his retirement in 2001 as Country 
Chairman and President of Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corporation, and Managing Director of Shell 
Philippines Exploration B. V. 

RAFAEL M. ALUNAN Ill 
Mr. Alunan is an Independent Director, and is the incumbent Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, and 
Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company. He has had extensive experience in the private and 
public sectors. Currently, he sits on the Boards of APC Group, Inc. and Senior Adviser to Kaltimex Energy 
Philippines. He is the President of the Rotary Club of Manila for RY 2023-2024 and President of the 
Philippine Taekwondo Association; past Chairman of the Harvard Kennedy School Alumni Association 
and the Philippine Council for Foreign Relations; and a Trustee of the Spirit of EDSA Foundation. Mr. Alu nan 
is an Eminent Fellow of the Development Academy of the Philippines, and a Fellow of the Institute of 
Corporate Directors and Institute for Solidarity in Asia. He is a member of the Maritime League and the 
Fraternal Order of Eagles of the Philippines. He organized the One Philippines Party List; produced the 
documentary "Tagaligtas"; has a YouTube Channel "Thinking out loud with Raffy Alunan"; and co-authored 
the book "Silver Linings". He holds the rank of Colonel in the Armed Forces of the Philippines (PA 
Reserves). He commanded the 131st Infantry Division (Standby Reserve) and the 9th Infantry Division 
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(Ready Reserve) of the Philippine Army. He is an adopted member of Philippine Military Academy Marangal 
Clas_s of 1974, PC-Special Action Force, Special Forces Regiment (Airborne) and First Scout Ranger 
Regiment. 

Executive Officers: 

The background information and business experience of Messrs. Reyes, Alunan, Noe, and Ahn are 
provided above. 

ELMER JOSEPH N. YANGA 
Mr. Yanga is the Company's Chief Finance Officer and Chief Audit Executive. Prior to this appointment, Mr. 
Yanga was serving as the Vice President for Finance and Chief Finance Officer for the Asia Pacific of 
lngredion Singapore from 2018 until 2022. He also served as the Executive Vice President and Chief 
Finance Officer for Asia of Suntory Beverage and Food Asia Singapore from 2016 to 2018; the Chief 
Finance Officer for North Asia, Philippines, Indonesia, Maps Commercial Unit (NAPI) and APAC Sales from 
2015 to 2016 and the Chief Finance Officer for North Asia (Japan, Korea) and Philippines Business Unit 
and Asia Pacific Region Sales from 2014 to 2015 of PepsiCo Hongkong; and Director and Vice President 
of the Planning Department of PepsiCo Vietnam from 2012 to 2014. Prior to that, Mr. Yanga held various 
roles in PepsiCo Asia Pacific Region and North America from 2008 to 2012. 

YOUNGHO KIM 
Mr. Kim is the Company's Chief Manufacturing Officer. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Kim served as 
Senior Manager, Production Support Team at Lotte Chilsung since 2020. He has been with Lotte Chilsung 
since 2006, having been assigned to several managerial roles in quality assurance and production at the 
Ansung, Opo, and Daejeon factories, as well as at the production headquarters. 

CARINA LENORE S. BAYON 
Atty. Bayon is the Company's Chief Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Officer. Atty. Bayon 
also serves as the Company's Compliance Officer, Data Protection Officer, Chief Audit Executive, and 
Extended Producers' Responsibility Act (EPR) Compliance Officer. Prior to the creation of the Chief ESG 
Officer position, Atty. Bayon served as the Company's Chief Legal and Government Affairs, as well as 
Compliance Officer and Data Protection Officer. She was previously the Vice-President for Corporate 
Affairs of Nestle Philippines Inc. from 2018 to 2019. She also served as the Director for Policy Compliance, 
Promotion and Labeling for Nestle USA (Wyeth Infant Nutrition) from 2015 to 2018, Regional Compliance 
Lead of Nestle -Wyeth Infant Nutrition for Asia & Pacific from 2013 to 2014, and Regional Counsel for Asia 
for Wyeth Philippines, Inc. from 2010 to 2013. Atty. Bayon was also a professor of Labor Relations Law at 
the Lyceum of the Philippines from 2009 to 2013. 

LYNDON FERDINAND J . CUADRA 
Mr. Cuadra is the Company's Chief Commercial Officer. Prior to his appointment, Mr. Cuadra has been 
serving as the Company's Area Commercial Head for Visayas. Mr. Cuadra has been with the Company for 
over 25 years serving in various capacities including as manager for Sales, Finance, Supply and Services; 
and Credit and Collection. 

BYOUNGOH JANG 
Mr. Jang is the Company's Chief Supply Chain Officer. Prior to his appointment, he was Senior 
Manager/Supply-chain Management Team since 2020 at Lotte Chilsung. He has been with Lotte Chilsung 
for over 15 years, having served in different roles in supply chain management, new product development 
and quality assurance. 

KRISTINE NINOTSCHKA L. EVANGELISTA 
Ms. Evangelista is the Corporate Secretary of the Company. A partner at Gatmaytan Yap Patacsil Gutierrez 
& Protacio, also known as C&G Law, she was elected as Corporate Secretary of the Company in August 
2018. She started her legal career in 1999 as an associate at SyCip Salazar Hernandez & Gatmaitan. In 
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2008, she joined Holcim Philippines as Senior Legal Counsel, and served as its General Counsel and 
Corporate Secretary from 2014 until 2017. 

JETHRO C. PEREZ 
Mr. Perez is the Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company. He is currently a senior associate at C&G 
Law. 

Resignation of Directors 

No Director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the Board of Directors since the d~te of the 
last Annual Stockholders' Meeting due to any disagreement with the Company on any matter relatrng to the 
Company's operations, policies, or practices. 

Significant Employees and Family Relationships 

No single person is expected to make an indispensable contribution to the business since the Company 
considers the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to the overall success of the Company's 
business. The Company is not aware of any family relationships between or among the aforementioned 
Directors or Executive Officers up to the fourth civil degree. 

Except for the payment of annual directors' fee and per diem allowances, the Company has not had any 
transaction during the last two (2) years in which any Director or Executive Officer had a direct or indirect 
interest. 

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 

None of the aforementioned Directors or Executive Officers is or has been involved in any criminal or 
bankruptcy proceeding, or is or has been subject to any judgment of a competent court barring or otherwise 
limiting his involvement in any type of business, or has been found to have violated any securities laws 
during the past five (5) years and up to the latest date, except as disclosed in Item 3 on Legal Proceedings. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers 

The aggregate compensation paid or accrued (in Philippine Peso) in the calendar years ended 
31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021 and estimated to be paid for the ensuing calendar year 31 December 
2024 to the following Executive Officers is set out in the table below: 

Name Year Salary Bonus Others 
Aggregate for CEO CY 2021 42,475,264 8,408,898 573,626 
and four (4) most CY 2022 57,270,568 10,828,970 914,674 
highly compensated CY 2023 39,092,067 2,335,485 -
below-named CY 2024 (Estimate) 53,114,022 2,522,324 -
executive officers 
All other directors CY 2021 44,430,930 3,465,293 10,672,751 
and officers as a CY 2022 35,394,635 5,500,600 6,469,015 
group unnamed CY 2023 30,640,710 5,711,933 42,965,715 

CY 2024 (Estimate) 17,917,813 844,383 3,432,000 
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The following are the five highest compensated directors and/or officers of the Company who were serving 
as Executive Officers at the end of the last completed calendar year: 

• Phyo Phyu Noe - President and Chief Executive Officer 
• Jin Pyo Ahn - Chief Corporate Strategy Officer 
• Lyndon Ferdinand J. Cuadra - Chief Commercial Officer 
• Youngho Kim - Chief Manufacturing Officer 
• Carina Lenore S. Bayon - Chief Environmental, Social, and Governance Officer, Chief Compliance 

Officer, Data Protection Officer, Chief Audit Executive, and Extended Producers' Responsibility Act 
Compliance Officer 

There are no special employment contracts between the Company and the above Executive Offic~rs. 
At the Annual Stockholders' Meeting held on 24 May 2019, the stockholders approved and ratified the 
payment of annual fees for the members of the Board of Directors in the amount of PhPS00,000.00 and a 
per diem allowance per board or committee meeting of PhP120,000.00 for the Chairman of the Board and 
PhP100,000.00 for the other members of the Board. The seven (7) Directors representing Lotte 
Corporation, Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd., and Quaker Global Investments B.V. have waived the per 
diem allowance as well as the annual directors' fee. 

There are no outstanding warrants or options held by the above Executive Officers and all such officers 
and Directors as a group. 

In 2023, the members of the Board were paid an aggregate amount of -P4,520,000 for their attendance in 
Board and Committee meetings. The following are the amounts (in Philippine Peso) of per diems and 
directors' fees received by each director: 

Name of Director PerDiems Directors' Fees 
1. Oscar S. Reves 1,920,000 500,000 
2. Rafael M. Alunan 1,600,000 500 000 
3. Frederick D. Ong* 0 0 
4. Carina Leonore S Bayon'"* 0 0 
5. Phvo Phvu Noe 0 0 
6. Jun Beom Lim 0 0 
7. Yun Gie Park 0 0 
8. Hvo Jin Sona 0 0 
9. Jin PvoAhn 0 0 
10. Parinva Kitiatanaoan 0 0 
11. Vishal Malik* 0 0 

TOTAL 3,520,000 1,000,000 . Mr. Ong resigned as director and replaced by Atty. Bayon effectrve 23 August 2023 
•• Atty. Bayon resigned and replaced by Mr. Noe effective 01 November 2023. 

Total 
2,420,000 
2,100,000 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

4,520,000 
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 

Security Ownership of Record and Beneficial Owners of at Least 5% of Our Securities as of 
28 Februari 2024 

Name of 

Name and Address of Record 
Beneficial 

Number of Title of Owner and Relationship with 
Owner and Citizenship Shares Held 

Percentage 
Class relationship 

Issuer with record 
owner 

Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd. 1 

Common 1332-1, Seocho-Dong, Seocho- Lotte Korean 2,715,868,5143 73.53% 
shares Gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea Corporation2 

Relationship Stockholder 

Quaker Global Investments B.V.4 

Common Zonnebaan 35, 3542 EB Utrecht PepsiCo, lnc.5 Dutch 923,443,072 25.00% 
shares The Netherlands 

Relationship - Stockholder 

Security Ownership of Management as of 28 February 2024 

Amount& 
Nature of Citizenship 

Percent of 
Title of Class Name and Address of Owner Beneficial Class 

Ownership 
Oscar S. Reyes 
Chairman of the Board and 

Common Independent Director 300,001* Filipino 0.01% 
shares Room 2504, 25/F, 139 Corporate 

Center Valero St., Salcedo Village, 
Makati City 

Common Phyo Phyu Noe 1* Burmese 0.00% 
shares Director, President and CEO 

1 Lotte Chilsung is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of Korea with principal office at 1332-1, 
Seocho-Dong, Seocho-Gu, Seoul. Republic of Korea. 

2 Lotte Corporation is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of Korea with principal office at Lotte 
World Tower, 300 Olympic-ro, Songpa-gu, Seoul, 05551, South Korea. Based on the beneficial ownership declaration attached to the 
Company's General Information Sheet filed on 23 February 2024, Lotte Corporation's Chief Executive Officer. Dong Woo Lee. is 
named as the beneficial owner, under category I of the beneficial ownership declaration form (provided under SEC Memorandum 
Circular No. 15, Series of 2020) indirectly holding 73.58% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company, through shares held in the 
name of Lotte Chilsung. 

3 The transfer of shares tendered to Lotte Chilsung during the tender offer conducted by the latter in 2020 are yet to be recorded in 
the name of Lotte Chilsung In the books of the Company in their entirety pending the submission of the necessary documentary 
requirements. 

4 Quaker Global Investments B.V. ("QGI") is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the 
Netherlands with principal office at Zonnebaan 35, 3542 EB Utrecht, The Netherlands. 

5 Based on the beneficial ownership declaration attached to the Company's General Information Sheet filed on 23 February 2024, 
PepsiCo, lnc.'s Chief Executive Officer, Ramon Laguarta, Is named as the beneficial owner, under category I of the beneficial 
ownership declaration form (provided under SEC Memorandum Circular No. 15, Serles of 2020) indirectly holding 25% of the 
outstanding capilal stock of the Company (through QGI). 
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Amount& 
Nature of Citizenship 

Percent of 
Title of Class Name and Address of Owner Beneficial Class 

Ownershio 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
Citv 
Yun Gie Park 
Director 

Common c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 1* Korean 0.00% 

shares Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
Citv 
Yang Soo Lee 
Director 

Common c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 1* Korean 0.00% 

shares Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
Citv 
Hyo Jin Song 

Common 
Directorc/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis 

0.00% Tower Two Building, Northgate, 1· Korean 
shares Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, 

Muntinluoa Citv 
Jin Pyo Ahn 
Director and Chief Corporate 

Common 
Strategy Officer 

shares 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 1* Korean 0.00% 

Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
Citv 
Parinya Kitjatanapan 

Common 
Director 

shares 
c/o 622 Emporium Tower 1* Thai 0.00% 
17/F Sukhumvit Road, Klongton 
Klongtoey, Banakok, Thailand 
Vishal Malik 
Director 

Common c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 1* American 
shares Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 

0.00% 

Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
Citv 
Rafael M. Alunan Ill 
Vice-Chairman and Independent 

Common 
Director 

shares 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 1* Filipino 0.00% 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
Citv 
Elmer Joseph N. Yanga 
Chief Financial Officer 

Common c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
shares Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 0 

American 0.00% 

Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
Citv 
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Amount & 
Percent of Nature of Citizenship Title of Class Name and Address of Owner Beneficial Class 

Ownership 
Lyndon Ferdinand J. Cuadra 
Chief Commercial Officerc/o 26th 

Common Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower Two 30,000 Filipino 0.00% 
shares Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 

Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 
Youngho Kim 
Chief Manufacturing Officer 

Common c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 0 Korean 0.00% 
shares Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 

Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 
Byoungoh Jang 
Chief Supply Chain Officer 

Common c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
0 Korean 0.00% 

shares Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa 
City 
Carina Lenore S. Bayon 
Chief Environmental, Social and 
Governance Officer, Compliance 
Officer, Chief Audit Executive, and 

Common 
Extended Producers' Responsibility 

0.00% Act (EPR) Compliance Officer, 0 Filipino 
shares 

and Data Protection Officer 
c/o 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower 
Two Building, Northgate, Cyberzone, 
Fifinvest City, Alabang , Muntinlupa 
City 
Kristine Ninotschka L. Evangelista 

Common 
Corporate Secretary 

shares 
c/o 30/F 88 Corporate Center 0 Filipino 0.00% 
Sedeno corner Valero Streets 
Salcedo Villaoe, Makati Citv 
Jethro C. Perez 

Common 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 

shares 
c/o 30/F 88 Corporate Center 0 Filipino 0.00% 
Sedefio corner Valero Streets 
Salcedo Village, Makati City 

~ Each of the Directors ,s a registered owner of at feast one quahfying share. 

The aggregate shareholdings of Directors and key officers as of 28 February 2024 are 330,009 shares 
which is approximately 0.000089% of the Company's outstanding capital stock. 

Changes in Control 

The Company is not aware of any voting trust agreement or any other similar agreement which may result 
in a change in control of the Company. · 
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 

Refer to Note 23 to the 31 December 2023 Audited Financial Statements for details on related party 
transactions. 

PART IV- EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 

The following are the reports on SEC Form 17-C, as amended, which were filed during the period of 
1 January 2023 to 28 February 2024. 

a. SEC Form 17-C dated 17 January 2023 

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 17 January 2023, the Board of. Directors approved the 
following matters: (i) acceptance of the resignation of Mr. Yongsang You as a director of the Con:ipany, 
effective 17 January 2023; (ii) election of Mr. Jun Beem Lim as a director of the Company, effe~t1ve 17 
January 2023; (iii) removal of the position of Chief Human Resources ~ Corporate Affairs ~nd 
Communications Officer, effective on 17 January 2023, and as a result of the said removal, the sep~~at1on 
of Ms. Ma. Vivian A. Cheong from the Company, effective 31 March 2023; (iv) removal of t~e position. of 
Chief Legal & Government Affairs Officer from the Company's organization, the creation of C~1ef 
Environmental, Social, and Governance ("ESG") Officer position and the appoi~tme~t of Atty. Carma 
Lenore S. Bayon as the Chief ESG Officer, effective 17 January 2023; and (v) designation of Atty. Bayon 
as Extended Producers' Responsibility Act Compliance Officer, effective 17 January 2023. 

b. SEC Form 17-C dated 17 April 2023 

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 17 April 2023, the Board of Directors approved the 
Company's Annual Corporate Governance Report for the year 2022. 

c. SEC Form 17-C dated 27 April 2023 

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 27 April 2023, the Board of Directors approved the following 
matters: (i) the Company's Audited Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2022 and 
authorization for its issuance and filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and the SEC; (ii) the Company's 
SEC Form 17-A (Annual Report) for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2022 and authorization for its filing 
with the SEC; (iii) the postponement o{ the Annual Stockholders' Meeting for the year 2023 from the date 
scheduled under the Company's By-Laws (i.e., the last Friday of May) to 15 June 2023; (iv) the agenda of 
the 2023 ASM, and fixing the record date of stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at said 2023 ASM 
on 26 May 2023 at 9:00 a.m; (v) the conduct of the 2023 ASM and the participation by stockholders to be 
done via remote communications, and of the voting by the stockholders to be done by remote 
communications, in absentia or by proxy, and delegating to Management and the Corporate Secretary the 
finalization of the requirements and internal procedures for such conduct of the 2023 ASM; (vi) the 
Company's SEC Form 20-IS for the 2023 ASM and authorization for its signing and filing with the SEC; (vii) 
the Amendment of the Articles of Incorporation to further define the matters requiring the Board of Directors' 
high vote requirement, and increasing the high vote to 80% of the Board of Directors; and (viii) the 
ame~dment of t~e Byl~ws to f~rther define the matters requiring the Board of Directors' high vote 
requirement, and increasing the high vote to 80% of the Board of Directors, to reflect the current designation 
and functions of the executive officers, to change the date of the annual stockholders' meeting from the last 
Frida~ of Ma~ to the last Friday of June but no later than the 29th of June, to move the proxy submission 
dea~h~e earlier_ from thre~ .day.s to seven days before any stockholders' meeting, and to reflect the 
prov1s1ons allowing the part1c1pation of the stockholders in meetings via remote communication. 
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d. SEC Form 17-C dated 15 June 2023 

At the Annual Stockholders' Meeting held on 15 June 2023, the Stockholders approved. the following 
matters: (i) minutes of the Annual Stockholders' Meeting on 29 June 2022; (ii) Audited Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2022; (iii) ratification of the Acts of the Board of Directors and Management 
for the previous year; (iv) amendments to the Amended Articles of Incorporation to further define matters 
requiring the Board of Directors' high vote requirement, and increasing the high vote to ~~% of the Board 
of Directors; (v) Amendments to the Amended By-laws to further define the matters requmng the Board of 
Directors' high vote requirement, and increasing the high vote to 80% of the Board of Directors, to reflect 
the current designation and functions of the executive officers, to change the date of the annual 
stockholders' meeting from the last Friday of May to the last Friday of June but no later than the 29th o'. 
June, to move the proxy submission deadline earlier from three days to seven days before a~y st~kholders 
meeting, and to reflect the provisions allowing the participation of the stockholders in meetings via remo!~ 
communication; (vi) election of the members of the Board of Directors for the year 2023 to 2024; and (vu) 
appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. as the Company's External Auditor for the year 2023 to 2024. 

At the organizational meeting of the Board of Directors held on 15 June 2023, the Board of Directors 
approved the following matters: (i) election of the members of the Board Committees for the year 2023 to 
2024; CTi) election of the Officers of the Company for the year 2023 to 2024. 

e. SEC Form 17-C dated 25 July 2023 

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 25 July 2023, the Board of Directors approved the following 
matters: (i) acceptance of the resignation of Mr. Frederick D. Ong as the President and Chief Executive 
Officer, and Director of the Company effective 31 July 2023; and (ii) appointment of Mr. Jin Pyo Ahn as the 
Interim President and Chief Executive Officer effective 1 August 2023. 

f. SEC Form 17-C dated 23 August 2023 

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 23 August 2023, the Board of Directors approved the 
appointment of Atty. Carina Lenore S. Bayon as director of the Company, effective 23 August 2023. 

g. SEC Form 17-C dated 24 October 2023 

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 24 October 2023, the Board of Directors approved the 
following matters: (i) resignation of Atty. Carina Lenore S. Bayon as Director of the Company; (ii) resignation 
of Mr. Jin Pyo Ahn as Interim Chief Executive Officer and President; (iii) appointment of Mr. Phyo Phyu Noe 
as Director of the Company and as President and Chief Executive Officer effective 01 November 2023; (iv) 
resignation of Mr. Dong Geol Yoon as Officer-in-Charge, Chief Supply Chain Officer of the Company; (v) 
appo!ntment of Mr. Byoungoh Jang as Chief Supply Chain Officer effective 01 November 2023; (vi) 
ap~om~ent of Mr. Youngho Kim as _Chief M~nufacturing Officer effective 01 November 2023; (vii) 
res1gnat1on of Ms. Anna Raeza A. lacadm as Assistant Corporate Secretary; (viii) appointment of Mr. Jethro 
C. Perez as Assistant Corporate Secretary effective 01 November 2023; and (ix) approval of the Muntinlupa 
Operations Services Relocation 

h. SEC Form 1?-C dated 19 February 2024 

At th~ meeting of~e B?ard ?f Directors held on 1? February 2024, the Board of Directors approved the 
following matters: (1) re~1gnat1on of Mr. Jun Beom Lim as Director of the Company; and (ii) appointment of 
Mr. Yang Soo lee as Director of the Company effective 19 February 2024. 
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PART V- SIGNATORIES 

The following are the authorized signatories of the Company: 

1. Phyo Phyu Noe in his capacity as the President and Chief Executive Officer. Said positions are the 
Company's equi:valent positions for principal operating officer and principal executive officer, 
respectively. 

2. Elmer Joseph N. Yanga in his capacity as the Company's Chief Finance Officer and Chief Audit 
Executive. 

3. Agustin S. Sarmiento in his capacity as Chief Risk Officer of the Company. Said position is the 
Company's equivalent position for comptroller and principal accounting officer. 

4. Kristine Ninotschka L. Evangelista in her capacity as the Corporate Secretary of the Company. 

Signature page follows 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Securities Regulation Code an~ Section 177 of the 
Revised Corporation Code, this report is signed on behalf of the issuer by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized, in the City of on, ______ _ 

AGUCsARMlENTO 
Head, Finance Controlling and 
Chief Risk Officer 

J~ 
ELMER JOSEPH N. YANGA 
Chief Finance Officer 

REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES) 
Quezon City > s.s. 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me this _1j_ ~~ol_rrz:_
4 __ 20_ by: 

Phyo Phyu Noe 

Elmer Joseph N. Yanga 

Agustin Sarmiento 

Competent Evidence of Valid Until/Place Issued 
Identity 

Passport No. MH697303 14 July 2028 I Moha, Yangon 

Passport No. 566708737 4 February 2032 I United States of America 

Unified Multi-Purpose ID 
No. 0033-2456012-6 

who have satisfactorily proven their identity to me through the above identification, that they are the same 
persons who personally signed the foregoing instrument before me and acknowledged that they executed 
the same. 

DocNo. 2&; 
Page No. 9/t_; 
Book No . ..I_; 
Series of 2024. 

"TH E. ESTRELLA 
OR AND IN QUEZON CITY 

UnW ecember 31 , 2024 
7th Floor, Legal and Legislative Division, BIR National Office Building, 

Sen. Miriam P. Dafensor-SJntiago Avenue, Diliman, Cuez.on City 
ADM. MATIEH NO. NP-525 (2023-2024) 

Roll of AnorMvs No 85648 / 05-02-23 
IBP No. 342441 , 385::91; 05/09/23 & O 1/02.'24: Quezon i:::r, 

PTR No. 5452398; 01/02/24: Quezon City 



SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Securities Regulation Code and Section 177 of the 
Revised Corporation Code, this report is signed on behalf of the issuer by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized, in the City of W~TI on 1 2 APR ?D24 · 

By: 

REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES) 
MAX/'.TI ) S.S. 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me this _1_2daAfo~ 202A 20_by: 

Competent Evidence of Valid Until/Place Issued 

Kristine Ninotschka 
Identity 

L. Passport No. P1132602C 29 July 2032 / DFA NCR Central 
Evangelista 

who have satisfactorily proven their identity to me through the above identification, that they are the same 
persons who personally signed the foregoing instrument before me and acknowledged that they executed 
the saMe. 

D,.oc No. ~ ; 
'Page No. ~ ; 
Book No1 _.4_; I I 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

With Independent Aud~ors' Report 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Pepsi-Cola Products Phlllpplnes, Inc. 
26th Flo0<, FilinvestMs Towe, 1\vo Building 
l'l<>nhgate Cyberzone, Filinvest C~y. Alabang 
MuntirjUl)a City 

Opinion 

We have al.dited the financlal statements of Peps-Cola Products Pnitippines. Inc. 
{the ' Company"), which comprise the suitemenls or financial position as at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (bss}, sta1.emenl$ of changes in equity and statements of cash 
flows for each of the three years iJl the peood ended Oeoember 31, 2023. and notes. 
COffl)rising material accounting policies and other e)(J)lanatory information. 

In our opinion, the acoompanying financial siatements present fairty, in al material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and 
tts financial pen0<mance and its cash HO\\/s for eaell of the three years i1 the pe<lod 
ended Deoembe< 31, 2023, In accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting standards 
{PFRS.). 

Basis for Opinion 

We e;ondPJctad 011 ~d!ts in ~cordance with Philippine standards on Auditing (PSA.s). 
Our responsibiliti8s under those Qndards are further described m the Auditors' 
Respons;tili!its for the Aud1l of /he Financisf Stalemenfs section of OUf rel)Of't We are 
Independent of the Company in accocdance wi1h the Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants in the Phllipplne$ {Code of Ethics). together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we have 
fl.lfilled our other ethical responsibilitie$ in acoordanoe 'flilh the$e requirements a.nd the 
Code of Eth:cs. We belle't'e that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appro~ate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Key Aooit Matte,s 

Key audi1 matters are those matters that, in our professional Judgment. were of most 
s%)nificance in our audit of the financ~I sta!ements of the a.men1 period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, ~md we do not pto\lioo a separate opinion on these matters. 

Rev<uwe Recognition 

The Company's accounUng policy with respect to revenue recognition is included in 
Note 3, Material Accounting Policies, to Uie financial statements. 

The risk: The nature of the Company's se'ling and distribution system, the high 
volume of products, ijs geographical locations, and various stakehOklers' 
eXP«,tations pose a risk that the Company may recognize certain revenue from sate 
of goods at or near the year-eOO without meeting all the required reco!Jlilion cn'teria 
and oonditlons under Philippine Financial Reporting Standard (PFRS) 15, Revenu• 
from Contracts with Customers. 

Our response: our audit procedures lneloded, among othefs; assessmeri of the 
design and effectiveness of controls in respect of revenue; Identifying and teslilg the 
Company'$ key revenue controls In selected Jocations with detailed testing of 
trans3ctions; assessment of whether the Company's revenue recognition policy in 
plac& complies with PFRS 15 and ensuring its consistent application; perlo<ming 
sales cut,off procedures prior to and post ye3r-end; and t&Sting of credit memos 
i$Sued after year-end. In addition, we evaluated the re.asonablene&5 of revenues by 
developing an expoct::ition of the current year balance based on trend analysis. 
taking into account h1stc)l'ical monthly $ales data and ci'cumstances in the current 
year. We also tested manual foum~l entrie$ to identify unusual or irregular item$. 

other lnfo,mo.tion 

Man.igement i.s responsible for the olher information. The other information composes 
U\e information l'lduded in the Securities and Excha1'Qe Commi$siorl {SEC) Fomi 20,.IS 
(O~finltive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and AnnuaJ Report for the year 
ended December 3-1, 2023, but does not include the fin3.00al statements and our 
auditors' report thereon The SEC Form 20-IS (Dofi.nilive Information Statem&nl). SEC 
Form 17-AandAnnual Report fottheyearended Daoomber31, 2023 are expected to 
be made available to us after the date of this tu;ditors' report. 

Ow opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and w& win 
not express any fo<m of assurance conclusion thereor,. 

Jn connection with our audits of the finaneial statements, our respons1blllty is to read the 
other info,mation identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information Is materially Inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audrts Ot olherwise appears to be materially misstated. 



ReSPonsibililies of Managemenl and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Slatemenls 

Management is responsible ror the preparation and fair presentation of the f1lancial 
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such intemaJ ~nttol as management 
dett!nnines is neoes,ary to enable the prepsralion of financial statements thal are free 
from material misstatement, whether due lo fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Companys ability to continue as a going concem, dise!osing. as applicable, matters 
reta:ed to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic altemative but to do so. 

Those charged W.th governanoe aie responsible fot overseefng the Company's financial 
reporting process.. 

Audilors' Rcsponsibifitios for tho AU<iit of tho Financial St•tements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether I.he finan~t 
sto.temer.ts as-a whok: a.re free from materi~ mi&stafemel'lt, whe!her due tc> fravd oc 
error, and to issue sn auditors• report tha! lndudes O'Jr opl"nio-n. Rcaso01ble assur.ince 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a 9'.Jarantee that-an audi1 conducted in 
aocordancewilh PSAs wlU a~vays detect a material rnis$t.ltementwhen it c>Mts:. 
Ml$Slateme1il$ can atise from traud or effor and are considered matetial if, indlvid11.al y 
or in the a99reg~e. they could reasonably be expecled to influence the eoonorn.lc 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these tinancla! statements. 

A:s part cl an audit In acc0<dance with PSA.s, ws excl'Ci$C ptofe" ioo~l judgmert and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• fd@ntify and assess the ris.k::s of mated~! misstatement of the financi al ~t_atements. 
W'tlether due to fraud or e:rror, design and perform audit procedures rt:sponsive to 
those Mks. and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basts for our opiniOJ'I The risk of not detedi'lg a material misstatement resu!ling from 
fraud IS hlgtier chan for one resulting from error, as fraud may invotve collusion, 
forgery. intentional omissions. misrep,e.-sematlons. or the override d internal oontrot 

• Obtain an understan<ling ol lntema! control retevant to the c1udi1 in ordec- lo design 
audit procedures that are appvopriate In the clrcumstances, btJI not foe the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effee11veness of the Company's Internal control 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of acoounting polities used arn:t the reasonatfeness of 
!he accounting estimales and related discl05ures by management 

• Conclude °" the approp-iateness of managemenrs use of the going oonoem basis 
of acxountfng and, based on the audit evidence obtained, Vfhether a material 
uncerfainty e-xists related to events or conditions that may cast sjgnlficant doubt on 
the Company's ability to contlnu& as a going c:or.::em If we oonc!ude 11lat a material 
uncertainty exists, we ate required to draw attention in our auditors• report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements, or if sudl d1'$dosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our coocl t.JSioos .Ye based an the au:ht e~~nce obtained up 
to the da!e of our · 'nf~~t!JUle events or condrho.ns may cause 

!ho Company 10 c ~l~~:;~:r rncern. 

-~· I ),,\.,.,, ...... '"' 
U;i,t~ ,,,w ; i ._(A(i~ 



• Evsluale the overall presentalion, structure and con1E!lll of the finanaal statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 1ha1 achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate wllh those charged with 90Vernanee regarding, among other matters. 
the planned scope and timilg of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
s.ign.ificant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit 

We also provide those charged with governance wiU, a statement that we hc1ve complfed 
with relevant ethical requiremenls regarding independence, and communicate with them 
all relallonshlps and other mailers ll1'1t may re8$00ably be lh<>ughl to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 

From the matters communicated with tOOse charged with governance, we determine 
th0$e matters lhal were of most significance i1 the audit of the f111andal slalemenls of 
the current period and are lherefore the key audit matters. We describe these mat1ers in 
our auditors• ,eport t.mless law or regulation precludes l)Ublic disclosure about the matter 
or whe.n, In extremely rare circumstanoes. we determine that matter should not be 
communicated in our report t::ecause the adverse consequences of doing $0 would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such oommunicatlon 

The engagement panner M the audit res1.l1Jng In this Independent auditors' report is 
Vemilo G. Yu. 

R.G. MANABAT &CO. 

Partner 
CPA license No. 108798 
Tax ldentifica:ion No. 225-454-652 
BIR Accredilatio.1 No. 08-001987-035-2024 
Issued March 26, 2024: valid until M;1rdl 26, 2027 

PTR No. MKT 10075209 
Issued January 2, 2024 at Makoti Ciy 

April 15, 2024 
Makati City, Metro Manila 

l 
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PCPPI 
PCPPI HHdquarters 
261-'1 Fbor, A»& Tq,,~ Two-&ild~ N!»'!h;ale C)tle,mne, Alln\'9st 
Alabeno. Munllnl~ CltJ, Rili1'Jnts 
Tel.: (632)~S1 (73714) • ...,._.~1)"'1ipplt'!eg.com 

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Management of Pepsi.Cola Products Phlllpplnes, Inc. (the "Can(Jc1ny") is respoosible 
fot the p,eparabon and fair presentation of the finarn::::ial statements, Jnctuefing the -schedules 
attached therein, as at December 31, 2023 and 2.022,. and for each Cf lhe lhree years in the 
period ended December 31, 2023, in aooordance with the prescribed financial teportirg 
framework lndJcated !herein, and for such 11'\ternal control as managen,ent determines is 
necessary to er.able the preparation Of financial statements that are free form material 
misstatement. whelhet ctJe to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management Is responsit:fe for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as-a going eonoem, disclosing. as applica~e matters , elated to 
going conce'" and using the going concern basis of accounting unless mana.gemenl eithet 
intends to liquidate the Company or to cea.se opera1fons, or has no realistic aftemative but tl) 
do so. 

The Board of Dir'eetors is responsible for overseeing the Company's fina,1eial reporting 
process. 

lhe Board of Oirectot& reviews and approves the f1t1ancial stalemenls including the schedules 
attached therefn, and submits the same to the Stockhok:lers. 

R. G. Ma nab.It & Co .. the indepMdent auditor appointed by the Stockholdera has audited the 
financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and 
in its rep0rt to the Stoc:kholders, has eXJ)fessed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon 
oornpletion of such aOOil 

osc~ 
Chairma the'13oord 

ELMER JOSEPH N. YANGA 
Chief Finance Officer 

Sig~ lllis April 12, 2024 



REPUBUC OF THE PHILIPPINES) 
Quezon City J s.s. 

SUBSCRIBED ANO SWORN TO before me in the City of Quezon Cijy on 

1 5 APR 2024 bv: 

Competent 
Name Evidence of Identity Valid Until 

Oscars. Re1es Passport No. P0615079C June 20, 2032 I 
OFA NCR E9'1 

Pnyo Pl\yu No• Passpon No Ml-tS97303 July 14, 2028 / 
~1oha, Yangon 

Elmet Josepl'I N. Yanga Passport No. 56670S737 February 4, 2032 
united State or Ame<tca 

who !\av& satiStacto,l!y proven their Identity to me through tne abo\le 1ctentil'icWon, inat they are tne sa.ne 
persons wno persondly signed tne foregoing instrument before me and acknowledged that they execuled 
the same. 
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Page No 1L 
Book No • .£: 
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71hfl0or, Legal Gfld Lr;r!J1.-c OM9i0n, OIR Ntion:il Office ~.il?"9, 
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A.0\1 MATTER~O. NP-52S{2m;.2024} 
f\JldAr.~rMyi N~. s~ 105,m.23 

!E!PNo. 342441. ~S1 0$.'¢),,2) &01!01.124. Q1!~?00 Ory 
PTR ~ . S,15lli9; ouoz.-2, OJeu;,n ~ 



PEPSI.COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Amounts in Thousands) 

December 31 

Note 

ASSETS 
Current A.saeta 
Ca.th 4,26 
RecelvabJes - ne, 5, 24, 26 
Inventories 6 
Due 6'o(n rdttted paJties 23,26 
Prg?:aid e)(JX::naes and other current assets 

Tot.al CurrentA$sets 

Noncurrent As.sets 
Investments in associate'.$' 7 
BottlM and eaM!'s: - net 8 
Propeny, plant and equpment . ""' 9 
Rioh.t-of-use and ref.at&d assets 3.27 
Intangible assets 10 
De..~rced tax assets 13 
Other nonaJrrent assets 

Total Noncurrent Assets 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Current Uabllftlts 
Accounts payable and c1o:;rued 

expet1ses 11. H, 24, 26, 27 
Short-term debt 12, 26 
Current POrlion of long•term debl 12. 26 

Total Current Uabllitles 

Non current Liabllltles 
Long~1esm Cle bl~ net of c:IXt@l'lt portion 12, 20-
oe:erred tax liabl!ities 13 
Other nonct1rrent 1iallt!!Ues 14. 26, 27 

Total Noncurrent UabUltics 

Tote! LlabiUties 

Equity 
15 Share capita.I 

Remoosurement losses on ne1 defined oonafit 
14 liabifity 

Retainoc:t earnings· 

Total equity 

Se, NO,'ff ID tl;e A'WCl.t 
?.D:n ,bt.'•""" a'!Wltct. :v.s . 

16 

• 

2023 2022 

P5S4,168 P680,967 
Z,873,43A 3,007.028 
6,494,340 5,820.132 

491,250 493.078 
&68,320 811.115 

10,081,512 10,812.320 

676,259 674.500 
4,330,690 4,516,412 

10,467,494 11,250.798 
592.255 484.977 
234,920 277,369 
288,214 
190,238 197,513 

16,779.970 17.401,849 

PZ&,861,4-82: P28,213,969 

P8,070,196 P10,719,320 
2,217,500 2,050,000 
2,106,342 1.118.333 

12,394,038 13,887.653 

6.314,260 4 ,034,941 
116,730 

\ 5141389 1.227.104 

6,828,649 5,378,775 

19,,222,687 19,266.428 

1,751,435 1,751,435 

(280,683) (203,451) 

s.1681048 7,399.557 

71638,79S 8,947,541 

P26,861,482 P28.21J,969 



PEPSI.COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
(Amounts In Thousands, Except Earnings Per Share Data) 

Years Ended December 31 
Noto 2023 

NET SALES 25 P4-0,255,905 
COST OF GOOD6 SOLO 17 33,238,283 
GROSS PROFIT 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
semn(l and distritutbn 
General aoo administrative 
Ma'keting 

OPERA TING PROFIT (LOSS) 

18 
19 
24 

FINANCE ANO OTHER INCOME 
(EXPEl'ISES) 

Equity in net earnings of 
associates• 

Interest inoome 
Interest expense 
Other Income (los.s) • net 

PROFIT (LOSS! BEFORE TAX• 
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

7 
4, 23 

12, 27 

(BENEFIT) 13 
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 

OTHER COM?REHENSIVE 
INCOME (LOSS) 

Item that will not be 
roclassined to profit or los.s 

Remeasuremenl galn& (losS8s) 
on defined bet.efit llabll1y • 

7,017,622 

6,4901951 
1,478,966 

721,598 
7,691,505 

{673,883) 

1,679 
4,075 

(627,3341 
(208,121) 
(829,701) 

(1,S0 3,f)64) 

(272,075) 
(1,231,509) 

netofd!!tafiedtax 13, 14 tn ,237) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME (LOSS) (P1,308,746) 

8.&$lc/Dilutcd Earnh,9, 
Per Sharo• 22 (P0.33} 

Sf'fNcfNll:I t'Jo F~S111~"' 
·2cra l)IWlCII' ocf1n11eo', $0~ 1;.,rt 7, 

2022 

P38,357,204 
31,821,706 
5,535,498 

4,753,988 
1,213,913 

376.192 

6.34~.093 

191,405 

11,949 
1,079 

(282,075) 
87,715 

(181,332) 

10,073 

57,654 
(47,581) 

P239,8"3 

(P0.01) 

2021 

P32,782,077 
26.493,8"0 
6,288.237 

4,391,272 
1,105,069 

335,653 
5,831,994 

456,243 

9,423 
7,667 

(321,375) 
73,877 

(230.408} 

22.5,635 

8,947 

216,888 

{22,72Sl 

P194,159 

PO.OS 



1, 2021_ 

-

l'Ef'~Sl:COLA PRODUCT§ PHILIPPINES, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(Amounts in Thousands) 

Capital Stock 
·$e~ Note 1s; 

P554,066 

Share- CaP.ttal Remeasurement 
Addltlonat Gains (Losses) on 

Paid-in Net Defined 
ca.pli.t Benetlt Liability 

see Nofe 15) Total (see Nole 14} 

1"1, 197,369 P\,751,435 (P468,146) 

_V_~,m~ Ended Occ_cmbor 3_1_ 

Retained 
Earning& 

{see Note 16) 

P7,230,250 

216.888 

Total Eg!!!!Y_ 

P8.513,53!l 

216,888 
(22,729) • (22,729) 
(22,729) 216.888 194,159 

PM4,066 Pl,197,369 P1,751,43S Q'490,875) P7.~7.138 PS, 707,898 



~ 
,•ice es at Janu; t ._2_022 

~~J Compteh!nslve Income (loss) 
~

1 
tor the yoat· 
~ comp1iehet1sive gain - net 

- ~~~· ai ff~ comprehensive Income 

~~ j · I a~ce u at December 31. 2022 
j5~ 
~ ' ::,;a: ~ ' t ,..~i ~ 4 ... - • 

Capltal Stock 
sea Note 15' 

PSS4.066 

?564,066 

Sh.are Ca,e,ftal 
AdditiOMI 

Paid-fn 
Capital 

·see Nc-te 15J 

P1 ,197,369 

?1,197,:)69 
. --------------

I2!!L 
P 1

1
751 ,435 

Pl,751,435 

Remea$urement 
Gains (Losses) on 

Net Defined 
Benefit Liability 

see Noto 141 

P4~~7: 

287.424 
267,424 

(P203.451) 
.. -- - - ----

Ye~rs Ended Oeccmber3_1 

Retained 
Earnings 

(see Note 16) Total equity __ 

P7,447, 138 PS,707,698 

(47,581) 

(47.681) 

P7,399,5S7 

(47,581) 
f87,424 
239,843 

PS,947.541 



Years Ended December 31 
Sha1e Caeltal Rerneasurement 

Addltlon.:al Gafr1a (losses) on 
Paid-In Net Oerincd Retatntd 

Capital Stock C:.1pltal Benefit Li.,.bilJty Eti(ning:s 
·see Noto 15) ,seo Note 15} Total (see Note 14l (sec Note 16} Total Equit• 

P5S4,Q§§ __ P1,1971369 P11751,4J.5 (P2~, ~51J P 7,399,657 PS,947,541 

(1,231,509) (1,231,509) 
77.237) (77,237 

(77,237) (1,231,609) (1,308,746) 
P5S4,0GG P1, 1971369 P1,761,435 (P280.688) PG,168,.048 P7,638,795 

i nee_ as ~~_J .anua1 L._2_Q23 

---~~ "> I Comprehensive loss ~N , ror the ye:;r 
~ f i r oom retionSNe loss .. net 
~- • .-. - c h. I ~ .? , <.ft ompre ens1ve oss " - , ? ; §1 ~:i\a. co~$ at Oecomber 31 , 2023 
~ ~. . ... , 
~ -L-~~ ... · -:. =~- =~: 
I~ el[f.»toNloF~fllStltf~ , . 

·- - ~ 2 bilt.w.G0.04':.Wcd, _. Nou: 7. 
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PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PlilUPPINES, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Amounts in Thousands) 

Yeats Ended December31 

Note 2023 2022 2021 

CASH FlOWS FROM 
OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 

Profit (loss) before 1ax· 
AdJuSlmenl$ for. 

(Pl.503,584) P10.073 P225.835 

Depreciation M d 
amortization 8, 9, 10, 20, 27 2,442,180 2,552,297 2,502,469 

Interest expel\Se 12. 27 622.082 278,659 321 ,375 
Impairment losses on 

receivables, 
inventories. bottles 
and case~ ar,d 
machinery and 
equipment 5,6, B, 9 543,312 194.923 107,556 

Retirement cost 14, 2' 149,3"79 161,698 14:5,24"1 
Equity In net earnings 01 

associate$· 1 (1,679) (11,949) (9,423) 
lntere~ income •. 23 (4,075) (1,079) (7,667) 
l oss (gain) on dsposal or 

l?.!2e~ 81\d ~Ul,:n'lent 9 12,457 (1,829) (1.556) 
Opet&ltng profit before 

working capital t:hangC$ 2,260,072 3,180,793 3,283,835 
Changes in opo,rlltlng 

~"CR; and liabaties: 
Oecre3se (ina easa) Sn; 

Rece.N3bles 39,924 (995,423) (262,604) 
Ou& from rela~d parties 1,828 15.915 (1,009) 
I n•,efltories 150,581 (2,509,073) 35,585 
A$Sel heJd forsa~~ 126.428 
Prepaid exi::,enses and 

other ~ment assets 142,795 (205.950) (53.523) 
Increase (decrease} in 

accounts payable and 
aocrued extenses l~,550,538} 3.410.033 !:391,633} 

Cash generated tom 
operations 4-4,662 2,896,295 2,737.074 

Interest received 4,075 1,079 1.fY//1 
Income taxes pakl (107,123) (30,153) (100,258) 

Contnl>lition {O plan assets 14 \3,900) (36,600) \36,000) 

Retirement benefits paid 
directl)'. lO e1!!12loyees 14 j91,171) j29.377) [23-936! 

Net u sh provkSed by (usGd 
in) operafug actlvi!i:es (153,457) 2,801,244 2,584,5~7 

f<;nt1u'O' 

~j1) 
UV' CH Y!tf PACltltO "1i ~'IJ'JJ,j/(l~,.$'.11 ll'~ \ --



Years Ended December Jf 

Note 2023 2022 2021 
CASH FLOWS FROM 

INVESTING ACTMTIES 
Procetds lrom disposal or 
1)1-'Yand-1 

Add!Ciona 10. 
P1.S27 Pl,829 P1,5S6 

Propeny, plant ond 
ec;Jil>nonl 9 (639,174) (1.718 978) (G23,068) 

Sot:!e$ and cases a (9S2,S>IO) (W.294) (1,347,837) 
tntang1b!OS 10 (5,!HI (4,771) {W.938) 

Ooaease (lnause) in -
non<tl'len( 835e!S 1,11, 153) 15.2<8 

Net C8$h UHd in Investing - (1,5$8,'21) (2.289,9)5) (2.0,7,IMO) 

CASH FLOWS FROM 
f lNAHCll<O ACTIVITIES 

~tern 12 
Short-tem, debt 2&,817,500 23175 000 10,350,000 
Lon!J'term debt J,400,000 4,750,000 R._,_. 12 
Short-t«m dc.l>t 12',650,000) (21,125.000) (10,700,000) 
Lon:114term debt (1,118,333) {2.087,083) (4,647,500) ()ejx-- 12 (25,500) (35,625) 

lnt.TKt palcl 1l (561,491) (252,298) (271,868) 
Le.JN paymonts 27 (246,485] (176.761) , ,&1.2•n 
Hel-p,o,,;dedby(UHd ln) 

nn11ncin9 ac.tivibl)t 1,615,584 (466,140) (739,240) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 
IN CASH (126,TH ) <5,199 (201,733) 

CASH AT BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 610,967 635,768 937.501 

CASH AT END Of YEAR P6'4,168 - .967 Pll3S.768 

s .. NOIN /'O lht Fl/#CW .Sl'll!Wllllt.U 
•,:in '*"'1llf • t\11:!Ht ... Nol, 1 



PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES INC. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Amounts In Thousands, Except Per Share Data and 
Wilen Otherwise Indicated) 

1. Reporting Entity 

Pepsi.COia Pro<!uct, Philjppln&$, Inc. (the "Company") was incorpotated as a stock 
C01POration h the Philippines on March 8, 1989, p,im3fi~/ 10 engage In 
manufacturing, sa!as and dtsttibution of carbonated soft,drinks (CSD). 
non,carbonated beverag~ (NCB) and confE!ctionery producls to retai~ wholotakl, 
res.tsfJrants and bar tradBS. i he regis.tered offioe addreu and prlncipal place of 
busin&ss of the Company is at 26~ Floor. Filin\'OS~ Axis T0\1.-ar Two Btlilding, 
Northgate C)berzaoe, Flin,est City, Munlinlupa City. 

On May 16. 2014 and May 30, 2014. 1he Company's Board of Oireclors (BOO) and 
Stockhokl&1s approved (on the respecti\le dates) the irnendmenis to the Article of 
lnoorporat5on, particularly en its pdmafi purpose to engage in, ope,-a~. oonduct and 
maintain the business at manufacturi'9, lm~rting. buying, seting, handling. 
dlstrbu1ing, tradin9 or otherwise dealing In, at wtiolesele and (fo the extent ailcwt«I 
by law) reta!I, food and road produ~ snacks, confectionery drilks and oiher 
beverages In t:(lttles, cans a.nd other oontainers. or dispensers and other related 
goads or whatever ntr.ure, and any and al rnaterlals, SUpp'iers and other goods used 
or employed in or related to the manufa~re of such finished products as well as the 
ameodment of the Company"s principal offioe addrass. The said amendments were 
approved by tne securitie, and Exchange Ct>mmis.s1on (SEC) on August 27, 2014. 

Pepsi-Coll) Products Philippines, lnc.'s Parent Company ias Lotte Chitsung 
8ave1ege., Ud., who lo incorporated \lnder the laws of South Korea. The ullim.t.e 
p;irent company is Lotte CofJ)Otatloo, that is incorpon1ted vnder the laws of South 
Korea, Tho Company's another majo,: thatebo!der is. Quaker Gtobal lnvestmerts 
8.V. have 25.00% shareholdings of the Company, which is organize(! under the laws 
of the N.etherlands. 

2. Basie of Proparati.on 

Sfate-meot of Compliance 
The fi:nancisl statements have been prep:ucd in comptanoe with Phlllppine Financial 
Reporting Stand:irds (PFRSs). ?FRSs are based on lntem:stlonal Financial 
Reporting Standards (!FRSs} issued by tho International Aocounting Standards 
Board {IASB). PFRSs which are issued by the Phllipplno Financial and Suswinablllty 
Reporting Standsrds Counc1 (FSRSC), consist cf PFRSs, Philippine Acc:ounting 
Stardards (PASs), and Philippine lnlerpretation,. 

The accompanying financial -sbt.emenl$ ii$ a.t December 31, 2023 and 2022 and f0t 
eaeh or the tht&e years period ended December 31, 2023 wora approved end 
a\l'thotited for is.sue by the Company's BOO on April 12, 202.4. Tho BOO has !he 
power lo i.mand th& 11nandat statemoott after issuance. 

Details of th-e Company's accounting poUc!es m Included In Note 3 to the fina~I 
s.1at&moots 



Sas1s of Measu,emenL 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historicill cost basis of 
accounting, except for Retirement befleflts !lablllty which fs measu1ed at the present 
value or the defined benefit obligalion (080) less fair value of plan assets. 

FuncttonaJ iOd Eresentation Cul'N!ncy 
1'1\ese fin800lal s1al8't'l&1llS a,e presented In PhiUppine peso, whk:h IS the Company's 
funcilonal currency. AO amounts have been roum:led-off to the necirest lhousams, 
excee,ll per share data ard when othefWl.se irdlcated. 

use of Judgments aod Es.tlmatei 
In preparaUon of lhese financial :statemen~. rnaoagement llas made Judgments, 
estimates a.nd assumptions U»t affed the appllcatlon of U',e Company's ao:ountl'lg 
policil!s and lhe reported amounli of assets, l!a'tl!lt ies, income and expenses. Actual 
re":$utls may diffet fr'om these es:timate,,, 

Estimates and "Underlying assumption.5 are re\'lewed on S'l ongoing bai&I$ and are 
baaed on hie!ori¢al e>1p,etlen<:e, and other factors, inc!ucfhg o.xpec13:ion-s of future 
events that are beiie•,ed to be reasonable urdOt lt'te circurnstanc&S. Revisions to 
accounting estimates or• recognized prospectively. 

Judgments 
Information ; b<lut fudome.r,ts made in applying aocountlng policies that have the 
most s!gnlt'ican! effect an the amounl$ rerognized in the financial statemed.s are 
lncludM I!\ the following noles.: 

• 
• 
• 

Note 26 • Classifying financial insirumenbs 
Note 27 - Determination ofwhe1he1 an arrangemenl contains a lease 
Note 27 · Commitments, Contingencies and losses 

AssumpUans end Eswnauo,, uncettafrtties 
Information abcut as.sumpUons and estjmation uncertalf!tie:S. that have a signlftcant 
risk of resul~ In a malefial adjustRlQj\l lO !he caoy!ng amounts ot assets, li.abiflties. 
and equity vi.thin the next tlnanctal year are included in the fol owing notes: 

• No:.e 5 • Estimation of allowan,ce k>r fl'l'lpaml-&nt losses on receive tiles 
No~ 27 • Coornilmenh , Contingencies and Losses 

· 2 · 

-



3. Material Accounting Polk:ies 

The aecounlir.g poticie.s set out be!cnv have been applied consistentty to all years 
presentad in theso finandial statements. except ~r the ehar,ges il"l: accounting 
policies e)ql-1ained below 

Aqoption of Ne-.\• Slandard, tOtlHP:Cetatlon and Amendments to S1and.-1rtfa 
Toe Company ha$ adol)(ec:I the fol lowing new s.iande;d, irrterp;cetation and 
ameOOmenl:s lo &tandards s1arting Januiry 1, 2023 and ac:cordlngly, changed its 
accounting polidas, Except .is otheMise indica!ed, the adoptkin did not have any 
$lgnificanl impaci on the Company's financial st:al&.men~s. 

.. Disdoture of Accounting POl.clet (AmMdm9!11S to PAS 1 Presenlirtio."I of 
Fiflancial Sta~mems and PFRS Praclioo Statement 2 MRking MAretfa/11)' 
Judg8ments). The am&ndments are intended to help companie,s provide useful 
accounting pollc:y disclosures. The key amendments to PAS 1 i\c!ude: 

• requii.ng COtt'lpanies to disdose lheir material accoun1ing poJicles rather than 
their significant accounting policies: 

• clarif)'tng ttla! aecout1ting pou:les related to immatarlal transactions, other 
even!s or cond tions are themselve$ immaterial and as such need not be 
disclosed; aM 

.. ciarifylr'Q lhat not all accounting policies that relate to ma~eria! transactior.s, 
oiher e•,ents or conditions are themselves matelial to a oompany's financial 
statements. 

The amendroonts to PFRS Practkie Statement 2 ll'ldudes gu;danee and 
additional e:xamples on th8 app1icatbn of materialify to accounting policy 
dlsclos.ures. as$Sthg companies to provide useful, entfty.s.pecific aocountln.g 
poHcy information that users Med to understand t>:her infonnatioo in lt\e Fmanc:ial 
statements. 

The Company rev!evted Ula accounting policies ind althou.gh tne amendments 
dkl not resull in aay changes to the 8c.countEIQ polide:s themselves, Ul)dales 
were macfe to me accounting p:>licy information dSSclosed in Note 3 Material 
Acoounting Polldes in certain insttnces In Une with the Qmendments. 

• OefinjfiOO of Accoontmg Eslrmate.s (Amendments to PAS 8 Accounting Polfci11s. 
Ctlanges fn Accounting Estimates .ind (:11'0($). To ¢11irify the distinction between 
changes in accot.1ntln9 policies. and dlan~$ in aCCO'!Jnfing estfmate,, the 
amendme.nts inb'odvoo a now definition foe accounting e,Uma;tu, clarifyir,g lhat 
they are mone\ary amoun~ In tr.e financial r..1atOO"lonts lh:it ;1re subject to 
measurement uncertainly. The amendmonts abo cf~ulfy the relationship between 
accounting policies and accounfos Gstmwtes by specifying that an accc,Jnting 
estimate. l$ developed to achieve tho ob}ective set oul by aJ\ a¢00untmg polcy. 
Oevtrop ng an aceounling e,til'n.lte includes both selecMg a rtteasurement 
lechniqve and choosing tho inputs to be usod when appl.ying lM chosen 
measurement teclYllque. The orfOO:$ of changes In s.uch inputs or measurQment 
technique! are chMges in aooounting estimates. The detinitbn of changes in 
:such Inputs or measurement techniques sre changa.s ln a(Counting estimates. 
The deflnitton of a"..counting po!lc!oo ,emain unchanged. The ~me.ndments aJso 
ixovlde e)(amplcs on the applicalion of the new definition 

The amendments witl apply prospee!ive}IJ to changos in i-oo:>until\Q estimates 
end changes l.n accounting p¢1ic!es occuttlf\9 on or after the beg!ncling of the first 
annual ,cpol'llog period In whkh the amendrntnt, ~re app6ed, 
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• D8ferred Ta, re/ared to As.<ets and UebUit~s arising from a Sinfle T tanSJJcvon 
(Ameodments to PAS 12 Income Taxe,). Tile arnendmenfs clarify that !he ini!iaJ 
recognition exomption doos not ap-ply to transactions that glvo ri~e to equal 
tsxeble and deduc~ble temporary differences. soch as lea.s.ees and 
decommissle4'lln9 obli9a6ons. 

For 1eases and deconiml~sloning iabilities, the assoaaled deferred tax asse1s 
and llablli.1les wl!I b6 recognized from the beghnlD'J of the earliest comparative 
period pfesented. viilh eny cumulative @ffecl recognized as an atf}JStment to 
rclaine~ eaminss or other appropriate oomponero of equity a! th~ date. For aJI 
CXher transactions. lhe amOO'Jments apply to transactions ~tlat occur after the 
beginning of 1he ec111lest perloo i:resented. 

financial lns1rumeni,s 
Date of Recogl!illo11. FinancieJ n &1ruments are recognized in the statemerns of 
fir,ancia! posllion \\tlco the Company becomes a party 10 the contractual provisions 
of the instrument Regillit! way purchases or sales of fklanclaf asselS that mqui'e 
delivery of assets within the time frame estab!ls,hed by regulalion or c0<:w001ion in lhe 
m;,rketplac;e are recognized oJl Ole 1rade date. 

I. In Wal Recognition of FinandlJJ lnsta.1mMrs 
Financial instruments are recognized if'lilial;y at fair value. Except for nnancial 
instrument,- dt:Signotod as at fair va;ue through profit 01 loss (FVPl), the Initial 
measurement of financial a$Se'.ti Include, tfa.nsactlon costs that are directly 
Mtribubbl& to lholt acqtisi.tion eo&t or issue. 

II. Clsssiiicstjon ~ M&a.turement 
The Company classifies tts m*nclal a$$O-l$ l\to the f-0!1owing categories: 
amortized cost. FVOCt - debt in\'estment. FVOCI - e::i.ulty Investment. or FVTPL. 
The Company clasSifies its finwicial QabUities in1o fmaOOal ~iabi~es at FVTPL 
and other financial liebi!ities. The classlfcaijon of f.nanclal assots de-pends on 
both the business medal In •Ntl!ch tr.e financial asset is managed and wholher the 
cash flows from the flnand.al ass.et represer,I, on specified d.ate. solely payment 
of principal and fnterest (SPPI) on tOO principal amount ou1Standlng. 
Management dete<mines the classification of its investments at initial recognition 
and, where allowed and appropriate, r&-evaluatas such designation st fNttty 
reporting date, 

Anandal assets are no1 reclass:tle<I subseq,.iem to tMlr Initial reeogrtl:ion unless 
me company changes Its business model for managing tlnanclal assets and 
tnere Is a change in llle cor.ttaCU/al caSh naw characteristics ol the tln-i!ndal 
asset, i.n wh!Ch case au atlected ffnancl~ aJSEts are reclassilied on the fit'$! day 
of the , rst reporting period fotio'Mng the change in busines.s model. 

As i1 Oecembec 31, 2023 a.nd 2022, ihe Company does not have any financlal 
assets ard ftnMclal llab'ities a1 FVTPL aod FVOCI. 

Am,nciaf As.sots at Amorlk<td Cosr. A finand::>.1 6$8el 1$ l'le$$Ured at amorilzad 
cost if the &$&el i$ held wiltin a bufiness model whose objoc1iv& fa l~ c,oUect 
oon;rach.ial cash flows and its oonbactuol term.it of tho- fin:inoal :1.$-Se~ ~ rise on 
specified dates lo cash flows that are solely psymenls-.of principal and ln;orest on 
the prlndpal amounl wt.standing. Such assets are 1oco9~ed initi~l\' at fair 
value plu, any lnaementa) lr:msaction cost 
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After Initial reoognition, tbese 6nanclal assets are subsequell1ty measured al 
amortited cost using the effecUve interest method less any al!owanoe for 
i"!'lpairment Jesse~, Amortlted. cost is ~C:Uated t:Ji/

1 

l:al(itg i,to accourt any 
dtSCount or pcemum on acquisltlon and lees !hat are an ln1eg,al part of lhe 
effectll/e lntares1 rats. LOSSe!-$ are ieoogntzed in profit or loss aod 1eflecmd in Ule 
allowance acoooot. Wh&n lhe Company coMidea that there aie no realfStic 
prospects of r~ery of the asse~ the relevant aCQJUnl ls written.off. Gains .and 
loss&s a.re recognized rn profit or loss when these financial assets are 
derecognized or impaired, as weH as through amortization process. Finandal 
assets at amortized ()()St are classined as <:urtem atsets if malur!ty is within 
12 months f<om Ibo rel>()nl.ng d.ate. Olher,t,se, Ulese are classified as noncurrent assets 

Assessment ,vhether Contrxlusl CO$h Flews am SPPI. For the purposes of this 
assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair vaJue cf tile nnanc'al ass~ on i~lal 
r0<:ognltion, 'ln.terest' Is defined as OCt'l&'.dersUon for the time value ol money and 
for the crOOit risk associated wi lh the !)Mdpal amount outNa11di~ dutir'(I a 
parrtio.rlar period of time and f()f other basic lendng risks and eos;s {e.g. liqu;;iity 
risk and adrninlsttative c::osts). cS well as a prollt ma.rgin. 

In assessing wheiher the caitractual c::esh ftO\\"S are SPPI, the Company 
considers I.he contractual teems of the fnstrumEnt This inclv4o, asseseing 
whether the financial asset contains a eontraauaJ loon that could change the 
timing or amount ot oont1actual cash flons such that it would nol mee1 lhi, 
condlUon. In making ti\$ assessment, the Company coos.xfers: 

conti'lgem events \flat 'IIQUl:j Change the amount or timing of C'1Sh flows: 
term, thal may adjust the conlractual covpon rate, io;hxfing •,arlab'.e-rate 
feature,; 

• prepayment and ex;ensl¢n feature$; and 

tQrms th;.t llmit the Company's claim lo cash 00'.vs from speelll&d assets 
(e g, non-1ecoul$e features). 

BtJSiness MOdel A$s•$.SIT)ent. The Compai'\y mak~ an e:$$essment of U'l8 
objective of the business model in which a flnancial asset Is hetj at a p:trtfolio 
level because this be.s1 r8'1ects the way th• bu.stnen is rranaged aoo informSOOn 
ls pr'o~ded to man~emant. The information cor.sl<»red inc'-ido~ 

the staled policies and objeci1ves for the pot1folio and tne operati0n cf those 
po!ides lo prac1ice. These Include whether managemQf"lfs strategy focuses 
on earning contractual interest ll\OOl'r,e, maJ"ta.ning a partiettar int.e,.$t ra!.0 
profr'8, matching the duration of the Rnancial assets to tho duration of ~my 
r'elated liabilities or expected cash outflows Of realizing c;ish flows lhrou9'h 
th& sale of the assets. 
how the performance of the portfolo Is evaluated and reported to the 
Company's mat1agernent; and 
the risks that a1'1ect lhe performance of the buslness model (and the finandal 
assets held wlttin !hat bushess rnode~ and ho·t.· those risll.s are managed. 

111 Derecognffi:>n of Financial lnsttumenrs 
· Financja/ Assets. A financial asset (or, Yrhere applicable a pan of a finanelal 

asset or part of a group of similar financial asseW) Is dereco_gnlzed wMn. 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the linancial aS>set have expired; 
the Company r'etains the right lo reoaive cash flows. from the -~nclal asset, 
but has asst>ned an obligalion to pay them In fui11Mthout matcnal delay to• 
third party under a '-pass-through' attallQement or 
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• the Company has trarsfened tts tights lo receive cash /lows from the 
financial asset and either. (a) has 1,ansferred sub$!8n~any all the risks and 
rewards of tho- financial asset: ot (b) has. neither trans~rred nor retafned 
tubstantially aU lhG r\'Gkt and rewards of the f.nancial as:1et but has 
transferred control orthe financial esaet. 

When the Company ha!S 1rans!erred its rights to receive cash Hovts rrom a 
financial as.set and hes neither transferred nor re!ained substantlelt/ al the risks 
and rewards of the financial as.set nor transferred control of the financial asset. 
the financial asset Is recognized lo !he extent of the Company'$ eonUnuing 
invotvement In the Manda! asSSL 

Confnuing invoNemem that takes lhe form of a guarantee ovet the '1tlfiSferred 
fll"tan<::iai asset is measured al the rower of the origin.,! eatrying amrunt of tfle 
fir.3ncia! ;:1St8t and the maximum amoun1 of eoneiderelion that lhe Company 
could be required to pay. 

Rnsncisi LiabJJJtles.. A financial li3bility is. derecognized when the ob!ig.atic>n i$ 
Cllsdlarged, cancelled or Ms expired. Vvl·en an existing frnancial llablRy Is 
repla,oed by anotMr f;om the same lender on substantially diff&renl terms, 0< the 
terms of an existing t.a'oi!ily are substantially modiRftd. such an exchanoe or 
m:idification £s 1reated as a derecognition of (he carrying amount ot the origi11al 
liability and the rec«)nalon of a new liability at fair value. and Mi resulting 
difference In lhe respectve carrying amounts is re,cognized In profit or k>ss. 

Fair Value Measurerm,QJ 
A numbef of th& C~ny's ,ccounting pdicies and disclos..-res require the 
measurement of fair values, for both financial aod non-financial assets and liabill1~$. 
Fair value is the price trat W'()IJJd be received to seO an asset or paid to transfer a 
llabllliY' In an o-rdetly transac~on in the principa1 {or most advantageous) market at tne 
measuremen1 date under current market conc:ttions (l e. exit price}, regardll'!SS ot 
whether that price is <irectty observable or esumateid using another va!uat1on 
tectlrique. \/\'here applicable, the company uses va!Jation techniques tM't are 
appropriate in the drcUTtSlances and for which surrteteot csaw ace available to 
maasure fair •,alue, maximiti~ Ir.cs use of te!evant obsevable lnputs and milimizing 
the use of unobservable inpu1s. 

Vvben meas:uMg the faJr values or an asset or a lebili ty. the Company uses markei 
ob:se.w-obte data es far as poatib!e. Fair values are categorized l-nto different level$ o1 
the fair value hierarchy based on tho lnpu\$ used In the valuation techniques as 
folowa: 

Level t: quotod p,ICC$ (unadjusted) in active m:u'kcts for ic!ontical USQI$ or 
llobl1111es; 

• L9vel 2: inpvts ether than quoted prietn lr..etuded within level 1 that are 
obseNabte 1ot the assel 01 l!abitty, ellher dltectty (I.&., M prke,s) tX 

indirectly {I.e .• dE!tlved from price$); Qnd 
Level 3: input, for the a&'9t or liability lh.it .ire not b;a$ed on ob$CMlble m.irket 

data (ur\Observable inputs), 

If th4 Inputs used to 1r..easvie Ole fair value of an asset o, a li:JbiUty m;oh1 be 
categor1zad In different levels of the fair value hlera1chy, then the falt value 
ma3sutem.nt 1$ e;itegoriz.ed in its entirety in the same 18\191 of tha talt value 
hierarchy a$ the lowest leve-1 Input that Is significant 1o 1he anfire measutemenl 

Th~ Company /9Cognizes transfers betvteen levels of lhe fair value h~circhy at the 
end of the reporting period duiino which 1he change has occurred 
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Inventories 
Inventories are valued al the lower cf cost and net reanzab~ •,arue (NRV). The cos! 
ot inventories (finished goads, work in process, ,~v and pac1<a9fng materials and 
spafe parts and supplf,es), which is determined using vreigh!ed averaJE! and is valued 
at slaidard cost method adjusted 10 appro)dmate actual costs through the a9ocation of 
mat"u.sfaaurlng vat\ances on a porkldlo basis, lnclude.s expendl!ures incurred in 
acquiin9 the trwenlortes, pc-oduccion or conversion cos!s and other eos1s incurred in 
brfnging lhese ln\lentories to their present location and condition. Jn U-.e case of 
manvfactured tnwmtor!es and work tn process, cost in:lt,t;es an appropriate share of 
ptoducUon overheads based on normal opera:ing capaci1y. 

The NRV 01 finished goods Is IM estima:ed saning price in the ordinary ooorse of 
business less estimated costs neoessary to make 1'1e sale. The NRV Of raw and 
packaging materials, s~e parts and supplies is the estimated cunent mptacement 
oosts. 

When inventories are sokf, the carrying amounts ot tnose inve,.1tofies are reoognl2:ed 
under ·Cost of gOOds sold" acoount In I.he statements of pront or loss and other 
comprehensive income (l()Ss) in the period when the relatt!d revenue is recogntttd. 

&)paid ~P!MAA .aQd other current OS~$ 
Prepaid ex;>ent:os and olher curren1 asseta. are expmsas paid in cash and reoorded 
as ass~l:$. before th~ are ue.ed ot consumed, ea the sW.ce or benefil wi!I bc 
receh'ed in the f..itl!F&. Prep:l!d G,pe.'™!s Me roeosinizcd' ;;)~ expanse either with tho 
passage of time or !hroogh use or consurnp~~·t 

Prepayments are included In CUITS'.lt as;Q•S;. e,coept when the re!3tad goods. or 
seNices are expected to be reoeived or roodered more than tv.·cl\-e mooths after tile 
end of tile reporting date. In wr»ch case, these are c1a:..."iifted es non-c11rrent assets. 
These prepaid e>epcnsas and other cunent assets art indMdualfy ht.mate1ial to the 
financial statements. 

Investments in As§-Oci:ites 
Assoctates are tl\ose enlit:es in Vfflich the Company has significant lnHuence. but not 
control. CNeI the financial a!\d operating policies al'ld v.t.ich are ooilher subsidiaries 
nor joint ventures. The financial statements include the Comp,any's share of lhe total 
recognlz:ed eamin9s and loss.es of associates en an equity accounted ~sis, from too 
date that slgniflcanl lnfluen::e commenee5 until the date that significant influence 
ceases. me application of tho equity metruxs of accounting is based on too 
Compc.ny·s beneflciel inlerest in the net profits and net assets of th& associates. 
O~WbuUoos recetved from ll'le associates reduoe lhe canying amount oi too 
lnvestmeots. lllOOme and expe!l5e resu!Ung rrom oansactions between the company 
and Iha as.social.es a;e eliminated lo the exten1 ol the lnl8test in the assoclates. 
\t'Vhen the Company's share of loSses eXCE"eds ihe cost or lhe investment in an 
associate, the wrytng amount or thal intmest is reduced to nll and 1ecogn111on of 
fUtther loss.es ls dlsccnlinued. exoept to U"re extent \ha! the Company has Incurred 
leget er co.,stru<:tive Qbligation, or made payment'S on behatr of the usociate, 

The Company's investments il associates include en amount lhat represents the 
excess of .acquisition cost of investment over the feir value of the net ldenUffabl.e 
eMeb ¢f lhc Investee companies al tile date of acquisition, net of impairment in 
vakJe, ff arr,. 

The financial atstament& of the esscclates are prepared for the $Ame period as lhe 
Company't financial ttatomonts. 
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Botiles and Cases I bottles and cases stated at deposit ,,atues 
Bottle• and cases Include relumanle 9 ass their 
and the excess of the acquis.flion cos1s of teturna~le bottles a~ cases over 
deposit vfllue-s. Bottles and cases also include ccrta:n pallets a:<'u1red uOOer finance 
lease. These assets are deterred and amor112ed \ISlng the stta1ght--ine method over 
their estrnated useful lives (EUL) (5 years for r~tutnable ~oft!~ and 7 years for 
cases and pallets) determined principal:y by their actual h1stoncaJ breakage and 
t<fppage. Amortization of bottles arld cases commences o~ce they arc 3':a~able for 
use and Is recognized \n profit or loss. An allowance ts provided for excoo;o, unustible 
and obsolete re1uma.ble bottles and cases based on the specific klon.tiflcation 
method. 

Refundable customer deposits we tolJeded from eustomens based on deposit value 
and rofundabte when the bottles and cases are ce:umed to the Company in good 
conditions. These deposits are presented as pan of "Tratle payables • thl!d partlM' 
under ·Accounts payable and accrue<! e)(J)enses~ in the statements of financial 
positicn. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, pfani and equipment are carrled at cost less accumulated cfeprecietion and 
impaim,ent losses, if any. 

Initially. an Item of property, plant and eqiJ!pment rS calfied at cost. which comprises 
its purchase price and any direcily i!ttributabte cost in brir'l~Q the asset to working 
oondition and loca5on for its intended use. Subsequent costs (induding cost6 of 
re~cing a part of an item of property, plaot and equipment) ltlat can be meas:ured 
rehably are added to the canying amoun1 of the asset wt.en It 1s protiab(e that Mure 
econcmie: benefits assodatad with the a5s.et wm flew, to me Company. ~ carrying 
amount of lhe replaced part is dereoogni2ed. AD other repa1rs and maintanaoce arc 
recognized in profit or loss as ilcurred. 

Construction in-progress represent, assets under conshucUon and is stated at cost 
This includes costs of construction and o:her cirect costs. Construction in,progres$ IS 
not depmciated unUI such time 1h.at me reievant assels are completed and put into 
operational use but tested for impairment kisses. Assets under oonstruction are 
transferred to the related property, plant and equipment aoc;ounl v.tlen th& 
construction and installa?!on and related aciiviUes necossary to prepare the ptope~, 
plant and eqli:pm:enl for the Intended use are completed and the proparty, plant and 
equipment are ready for services. 

Major spare palis and stand~by equipment Items that tne Company e~ to use 
over mere than one period and can be used only In cooneCllon with c1P item of 
prcperty, plant and equipment are accounted for as proper1y, plant and equipment. 
Oepteciation of these major spare pans and stand-by equipment commence once 
these have become availabte fot use (Le., 'Mlen they are In the location and 
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating In a manner tnteoded by the 
Company). 

Toe EUL of property, plant and eq1>pmeol are as fol ows: 

Machinery and ether equipment 
Sul dlngs: 
Utaseho&d improvements 

Furniture and fixtures 

· 8 · 

Number of Years 
3 . 25 

20 -40 
5 .. 40 or te:'m of the lease; 

wl1ichever iS shoner 
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Depraclation commer¥:e 01t-ce the assets become available for use. Depmciatioo 
ccmpu\ed on & slraight-llne basi• wer lhe EUL of lhe assets. leasehold 
improvements are depreci~ed over tho shorter of lhe!r EUL and the correspondrlg 
!eosetem\$ 

lhe asset&' residual values, EUl and deprac:i.ation roothods are revl9Wed st each 
repo11i~ date a.1d adjus'.eel tf approprlate. to en.1Ufe 1hat Ille period am depreciation 
methocts are consistent wi1h the expected pattern ot economic beneMs. from those 
a$Sets.. Any Change In the expected residual values, EUL and methods of 
depreciation are adjusted sxospectN8:Y f1om the time the charge was determined neoos.,.ary, 

WhEn an item of property, p%int and equii;ment is dlSPQsed of, or ii permanet1tly 
Withdrawn from use and no future eoonomic benefits are expected from il$ disposal. 
the cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any, a.e remo'f'ed 
fr~rn tho accounts and any resulting gain or less arising from lhe retirement or 
dispo_s;I (ca!etntocl as th& diffe1ence betv,llen the net dspos.al proooeds and !he 
canytng amount of the irenl) is recognized in profi1 or loss. 

fntanaiblo Atset§ 

lntangibkt assots acqolrad separately are maasuted on initial rec:ognition at CO$\. Th& 
cost of ~n intangible asset acquired in a business combination Is its falr value at the 
date of acc,uieition. SubOOquentty, intangible as"Sets are measured at oost l&s.s 
aocumutated amortlulion and t:l'rf .acaimu!atod Impairment losses. Internally 
08'l~~ted htang1ble assets, t.xduelin9 capaa)Jzed de\•elopment COS'!s. aro not 
cap!tatized and: expenditures a,e recogn'2ed in pco1lt or loss In !he year In which the 
related e:xpen<St\Jres tire incurred, 

The useful llves o( lntangi~ asset$ are assessed lo be either fuilte or indefinite.. 

1ntangl>le assets with tnhe lives~ amort2cd eve, lhe useful nre and asseMed fer 
impairment whenever them 1$ an lndic:aflon that the intang?o!e assets may be 
Impaired. The amortization period and th4 amortitation method used toe an 
Intangible as.set with a Mite useful Tct$ aie revkwed at least at eech re;x,rting date. 
Changes ln the expected useful llfa or the expected pattern of consumption of fulure 
economic booeff15 embodied in the asset are aocountoo for by changing Ul! 
aimrtization period or methOd, as apf)fopriate, and we treated M changes In 
aocounting esUmale. The amortiza!jon e-xpe:nse on Intangible usats wAh fln't.o Ives 
is recognized In pro1it Of k>ss oonslstent wilh the fun:tlon of \he int.)ngib1e as$8t 

Amorfrzation of computec software and licenses ls oomputtd usir.g th• g:traQht-lire 
method over the estimated useful lives of ten vears 

Gains or losses arh!ng from the di.sposa1 of an intang.,'ble asset ate meuured as the 
difierence between lht net dis.J)O$al procoeds and the canyirv,; amount of the .)$Ht. 
and are recognized in prctit or loss., when !he asset k deieoo,onlud. 

lffill~iml:1)1 
Financial A$$tts ., . 
The Company measures loss al!owanoes at an amount ec:iual 10 b.etin'le expected 
credi1 loss (ECL), except for the following, which are measured as 12•month ECL: 

cash in bank that is <letermlned to have low credit Mk,&1 the reporting dat~: and 
, due from <elated parties for which ered,t risk O.e. ll>e ns'< of defailt occumng ?'"' 

the e,peete<I Ille of the financial Instrument) has not liwreased slgo~cantlv since 
inltial recognition. 



Losa atlowanoea for ttade receivables and contracts assets are always n-easurtd at 
an 1m<Ut eqll811D i1ttn,ECL 

When de'8nnini>Q-ad rill< of a lnancill assa hK meaod 519niflcanfy 
s:noe lnltial recognfflon and when estimating ECL, the Cof'J\?any conolders 
<oa1<H1abll and -11ablt inlomlatlM lilal Is -n and ...-,., - undl.e 
ClOlt Or eflort. TtMa tndudes bo1h quantita'lfve and qualla!lv9 information and ana!ljsls, 
baaed on lhe COmpany'a historical expertence and id0ffl'l4d credit uteSVMnt and 
irducfi<i --i.r,g Wonnalioo. 

Lllotmt ECLs an, lhe ECLa t,at - horn al ~ - ......, ..., lhe 
~ lfe of a finanelal intlrumant vdlllo 12~onth ECL~ are Iha Portia, of Eel, 
lhllt rosult from del'iu11. e'1ents that are postitile detaul wUWI the t2 months '1w h 

~ date (0< • "'°""' period I the OJ(l>ec,ed life o1 the " ' "'"'"'"' h lost lh111 
12 montht), Default ia defined as 6naincial ass~ to, which cortractual payments .,. 
more than 60 day:s put due ~ . ttte ~ nwy also conA6w a financial 
asset '° be ln defa.M When interna1 o, external tnlormatiOn Indicate$ that tht 
CDfr.Pany 1s uttlkely to rec.Ne the ~ cofiradUal lfflOW't'I In ful befot• 
laldog """ _,. eny crt:fit emanoemen1> held t,y tile Company. A lnoncial 
asset is writton off when there 11 no ieasonable e,cooctatk>n of ftCOJtring the 
CO<l~adual <* ...._ lilt rna,;m,.,. period fNf/1 v.hldl the Company exposed 10 
cred'n risk. 

ECls 1r1 prob&bihty1W1lgl'(eo estimate of credit losses. Credi! lossH are measurtd 
aa the present value of au casn s.hol'ttiUs (l..e. the diff«en<:e betwem lhe cash .,._. 
due to the vnfty In -11100 ~ 1110 connct and the cash flows that tho 
Comptny 4xpecls to receive) Eels are dlscount&d et the e:l'ledlve Interest r.te of 
U,e Wl'COI Hcal 

At each reportll'lg dale, frlt eo,,pol\Y aa.ee:sse.s wheNf tt,e ftna,,c;:ial assets eanwd 
at a..iiotttzed COSS ace ad-Impaired. A. flnancial asse-t •s ·cred!l·lmpa!red' when one 
or more events that have I detrlMOnt« tmpect on the 1611ma~ tlJtijtt: cash ftows of 
theinat\cialn,ebllaVeoccurred. 

Evlde,,oe 1h11 a financial 15set ii c.-.lmf,ai,.cl i:lclwe$ .,. ~ -
da1a: 

, ~ ma'l<lllc""'*'Y o111e boffl>-.. -. 
• a breach of eon1rtct such as a cfef111At or being mot"O then GO da)'$ pasl due: 
• ltle rutr\ldUMQ of a loan or actvW"tCI b,)' !he ~ on lerml tla1 lhe 

Ccmpany ,-ould not con$i~ otlle<W1se: 
• fl Is probable lhat Ule borrcwet •Hll enter ba.nmlptcy ot Ol.hef inanelll .__ .. 
• the dlsappe.a1'811ce of an ective mantel for a HCUl!~Y beta.So& or finJnelat --
The carrying amount ol ti& an« ii - ~ .,. .,,. oC an -
aOOOl.l'lt. 1nttrest lncome contff11.ies to be accrued on ma I educed c;arrymg amOll't 
bas.ct on th6 or}gll\81 effedlva Interest rate o1 the auet. Thi fin.ar.cLal asMl. toge~ 
'fCitt1 the nsoca1.ld alloWlnce ~nb,, ii wnner,.ofi v.MI'\ nf8 k flO relf!C>C 
proapect of fu1ure reoovery and all ccllalteral, If at1y, hM been reallied or has be&n 
Uanslefl'ed to tile Co<,pany. lmpeirmonl 1os, ii r_,i,,,d In P"*,. lol~ 
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I~ In, s,ibseqo"'"' period. u,e amoonl ot tie in,pairmert loss docream and the 
decre:ase can be rei~od objecctlvely to ao e-.ient ~ring after the Impairment wa1 
recognized, I.he previously reoognlzed lmoaiment k:lu 11 reversed Ally subseql.'llnt 
- iS -- lo l)'oftl Ol loSS 10 Ille O><!erC lhol lhe CO"Y"9 - of the 
a.!$81 doe, not exceed It$ amortlz;ed eo11 at ihe reversal date had no impairmon1 Iott 
been ,ecog™Zed 

N«i.fon-AsS6'$ 
Tho carrying e1no\.llts of the Company's no~financia! uHt,. such as in\•stmenb In 
assOOietes. boWes end cases. property. plant erd ~ and otl9I' nonct.wtWC 
at.Hta. a.re reviewed 111 each re,porting data to determine \\tlo1hw tMre Is any 
lndic11lon Uia1 &n as.sci may be impaited., or whether there is MV incfieabon 1tlal an 
lmp:ilm-,ont 1ota prevloUS,fy recognized to, an asse1 A om, periods rrat no longer 
elilt or may hBlre dtereaied, tf any tuch fflciCltion exlns and when the ca;rying 
amount of Qn asse, exe&eds Its estimated tecoverable af'I\Otlnt. the asset or 
cash-gen•ratlng urut (CGU) to ¥Ajch the 8$Ul belongs is ~ to b 
~ lmOUnt. Recoverable- amounti aie estmtted for .ndi'mual assets or 
1nve1tments or, !fit 1, not posslb&e, tor !he CGU to which the asset belongs.. 

The ~bk arnount o1 • non-finlndall au.et is 1he g:recntr of Ila asser, fat 
val111 less C05t1 of ditposal and its value In u11. Fair vol\le 1&11 costs of ct,pos1l ls 
the price that would be: reotlved ta nil an asset or pad to tr'II\Rf a labity 11"1 an 
O<dellv - .,._ rnari<et plrtciparQ at Ille measurement date leu the 
COits of dlsPosaL Vt11~ In use I$ the pr•sel'll value ot the ruttrre cash flows axpectcd 
to be delivered from an ~•t er CGU. 1n c1.u,essa,g value In use, the estimated 
Mute cash - arodlw,,Jmd., 11M ,.....,. va\JO us.og a p,e-,ax dlMX>Ulu rate 
that reflects ourren1 market O&:Seaemonts of the timo valve 01 money and the rlsks 
specific to the asset. for ;n asset that does not g~nerate ca$1'\ 1'cw.s 1ara•1 
independent of tholt trom OM asNCS U. *Oftr"* at','iOIJM is Otlelmiiied for 
lhe CGU to Whkh the atse! belongs 

/>JI Impairment loss ii reccgn~ed only , <ht can\-~ ""'°"'"of.,.•-exceeOt r.s 
recoverab:e amoui.t. An tm~rment 1oss iS rkognizad In profd or loss In the year n 
which it arises. A prevlwsly recognized knpairmcint 1011 i, rovorted only If there has 
been a change in eritnates used ID cleterr'wle th9 *""'8rab\e al'l"tCU\t of an au«. 
however not to an amount higher 1han the catryrng amount that would ha~ been 
determf'l'od (net of any accumul.lted depredation and amortliatlon f0t propert'j. plant 
and eq~nt and bot:let ud caMS) ~.ad no impal,mefll lo&t been _..od let 
the es.set In prior years. A reversal of a, lmpwmen.1 less is rtc09!"1Ud in profit or 
loss Afte1 such reversal, Iha depreciation an:S amonlzation -0x;pense lt adjuatld In 
M!J~ yeara lo al~e.le the a..ero tl'lised canyYlg - - any ,_ V-. 
on a systematic bas1t mer h remaining life. 

frpvisions 
A pmv-""11 ,s a f,ebKily ol onC8fla1n llml~ or amount ft 11 """'~ whOfl .,. 
Company hM a prosent obl,gation {tegal 01 constructive) a& 11 ~It of a past event; 
It Is ~ble NI an oulllcrN ol ....,...,.. embodying eccnome betleib ""'' te 
~ to settle "" ojjjgallon: and I rebable esllma!e can be made al the amount 
ol lhe obligation. 
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Provisions are revisited at each rePQrtino date and adjusted 10 relteci the current 
best estimate. If the effect of the h'me value of money is material, provision, ate 
<fete.rmlned by ctsCQuntina the expected fulure cash flows al a pre-tax rate that 
raflecr;s the current market assessment of the Hme valve of m<>ney, and, where 
approprfate. the risks specific to th& liability. Y.tere discounting is use(i, th6 increase 
in the pro\/Ukin dua to th& passage of time Is recognl:ted as Jntarest expense under 
"Ffna.nce and other Income (expensesr account In statements of profit or loss and 
other ¢0mprehenslw income (loss} {see Note 27). 

Share Cepi!al 

Capit~I &tock is recognized as ls.sued when the stock I$ paid for or subscribed under 
a ~ding subscrfption agreemen1 and Is measured at oa1 value, Incremental costs 
cfrect!y attrt>utable to the issue of common shares ate recognb:ed as a deduction 
from equity, net ot any tax effects. 

The amount or oornributlOn in excess of par value is accounted for as • Addi bona! 
Paid-in capital." Addltio.·'l'al pald~in capital also arises from additional capital 
contributions from th& sharehok1ers. 

8eta1ned Eamjogs and ON!deng Ols~ribytion 
Retained earnings represent the cumt.1lative balance of pel!odio prcfit (!OS$}, df\tideoo 
dlstributionSi prior period adjuscnents and effects of changes In aooounting potcy ard 
capital adjustments, 

Dividends on oommon Shares are recognlZecl as a liability and dec1Jcted from equl'ly 
when approved by the Boo of me Ccmpany. Oiviaends for the year that are 
approved after the ,reponlng date are dealt wllh as a non-adjusting event afte.r the 
reporting date. 

Other Cpmptehens;j'{;& lncom~ 
Other compmhen$i'IO income ore itemi of income and expensas that are no! 
recognized in profit or ioss for the year in eocordance with PFRSs. 

Revenue Recognition 
Sale al Goc<Js 
Revet1ue is ,ec,oont:zed as or whn periormance obligations are saUsfied cy 
fransfe-.rring control of goods to the customer. Control is transfened al the 1ime of 
dewety of the products to the cudomers, ~nd uider no,mal credit terms. RevenL"Et iS 
reccgn!zed to the extent that It Is highly probabte that a ,ignifi¢anl reversa1 will not 
occur. Therefore, sale of goods f$ measured at transaction prke or th& amount to 
which the Company expecis to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods to 
customer, net of expected discounts, allowance,, and cartain payments to ®stomers 
includi'lg bul not limited to !istinglslotling tees and display aUownnecs for which no 
ciistind goods or seNioe Is received. 

Other Income 
Oth&r 1n«.me is recognized in profit Ot bss when earned. 

Cost and Expense Recognttioo 
E.x~nses are decre~ses in e,conomic bEinefl~ during th• .ic_co1:n~ng period in ~ 
fotm of outflows or deore•se of assets or 1i.eurrence of flobillMs that fG&lit 1n 
decteases in equity, olher tha~ those rolatfng to dlstribtlUo~s to equ!ty portlcipa.nts. 
expenses are generally recogr.1zed wh.en the axpenses are ll'ICUrred. 

Cost of Goods Sold · 
Cost of good$ sold i"lcludes direct materi;f oos-ts. labor and manu~c1uring 8)(9Qnses, 
Thi, is recognized when 8ie goods: are deivered or when the expenses aro incurred. 
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SeJfjng, Difttibution and M/Jrhting Expenses 
SeUlng. d'stnOution and marketing e:otpe(ISC$ oonsfst of cos1s assocla1ed with the 
develop,ren1 and exeootion of marketing promotion activities and alJ expenses 
c?"nect~d with s·omng, servicing and <1 f:Str!b\zlin9 the Compal'ry's products. Selling. 
d.$tJtbuhon and marketing oxpenses arc generitly reeogniled when the setVlce is. 
tendered or the expol'lse is incurred. 

General and Administrative Expen$11JS 
Expenses 11\:Urred in the general admfnlstration of the day-to-day operation of the 
Company am generany recogni1.8d when tho se.rvi,ce Is rendered or the expense is 
Incurred. 

Emcfoyee Benefits 
Stio,t-/erm Employee 8'Jnollts 
Sh~rt-term emplovee benefits ire expensed as the re!at~ service i$ provjded. 
A flabUtly Is feOlQOized for the (!mount expee!od to be p<1id If the Company has a 
Present legal or constructive obligation tQ pay lhis amounl il$ a resi.i:tt of pa,t servk;e 
prov'".ded by the employee and the obl.gaijoo can be estimated roliab!y. 

Defined Bene/ii Plsn 
The Company has a funded, noooonmbvtory. lln.al salary de~ncd bcneSt plan 
covering substantially an of Its employees. 

The Company's net obligation in ,espec: ot the defil'lod benefit plan is cak:U'!ated by 
estimating the amount of the future benefit tha! emp!oyoos have earned in the 
current and prior periods. discoumlng thal amount and deducting tn<i fair value o1 
plan assets. The Company presen~s the amount of 8)(pecled contrilxrtion to th0 plan 
assets in the next fiscal year as a current liability, while the ,emaining 3/TIOUnt of the 
net defined benefit tiab!l!ty Is presented as noneurrent, 

The calct.fation of the 080 is pecfotmed on a periodic; basis by a quatified actua:y 
using the projected unh credit method. Vvlien the calculation results in a potential 
asset tor the Company, 1he reoogn2ed asset is limited to the present value of 
economic benefits available In the form of any future refunds from 1M plan or 
reductions in future con!ributions to the plan. 

Remeasuternents of the net defiMd benefit llablrty, 'M"lich comprise actuarial oai:ns 
and losses, the return on plan assets (exel'Jding interest) and the effect Qf the asset 
celling (tf any, excruding interest), are recogniled immedl.atety in other 
comp,ehensive income. The Company determines the net lntetest e.x;pense on the 
net defined benefit fiab!li,y for the period by apjfylng the dis<ounl rate used to 
measure the 080 at the. beginning of the annual period to the openlr\g net defined 
benefit llabilly, taking lito account any cllanges in the no¢ defined oonefit lii!billy 
during the period as a result of oornributions and bel\efit paymen1S. Net lntetest 
expense and o1her ex~ses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in profit 
or loss 

When the benefits ct a !)!an are changed Of when a plan is curtaUed, the resultlng 
change in benefit that relates 10 past service or the gain or bss on cu:rta!lment Is 
recognized immediately in profi1 or loss. The Company reoogri2es gains and losses 
on the s.etlk!men1 of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

Toe Company's plan assets that are heJd by entmes (trustees} that are legally sepa.rat.e 
and independent from the Company and exist sotely to pay or fun~ the defined benefil 
plan are not available to the Company's own cref.rtors (even in ba~tcy), and 
can~ot be rell.rnod to the Company. lllless the remair.i.ng asset$ of the fund are 
sufficient to meet all the DBO of !he plan or !he Company. 
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FIOBQRB Income aQd Finance Expenoo . . 
Finance Income ccrnp<lses lnle4'os:I lncome on bank deposit. net f~re1gn c~ency 
9ahs on as5et and liebil~a and dividend income. Interest incom.e ,s rOCQgnrz.ed In 
profit or loss as i1 a,ocrooa, us!Jl9 too effodivG inle,est method and 1s presented net of 
flnal ffl.<, OMdend income., ii any, I$ recognized in ptofit or loss on the date that the 
Companf5 right to receive pa)tOent is establshed, 

Fi"llncG 9>g,onse oomp.rises Interest expense on bOl'fO\\ings and net torelgn 
currency loss on financial assets and tiab!lities. All fllance expense are recognized 
In profit or loss as they accrue. 

Leases 
Com.o-any as a Lessee 
The Co.mpan\l assessed whetheI a oontract is, of contains, a lea&e, at inception of a 
contract. The Company reoognized a right-of-use asset ano c1 oorrespondl.09 
lease liability with respect to an lease agreements n which it Is too lessee, except tor 
short.term Jeases (defined as leases with a Jease. term of 12 monttls or less) ~nd 
teases of law value assets. Fot these leases, the Company reoognl:z.ed the lease 
paymen;5 as an operetir~ expense on a stl'ilQht·line baslS over 11\e term or the tease 
unless another systema!lc basis Is more rei::<esentatiV& of the time pattem in vlhich 
economb benefits from the leased ass.et are consumed. n,e company reco;~ ed 
depteciation or fight-of~use asset and Interest on lease liabilities In the itatement of 
profit or los.s Md separales tho total amount of caSh pald into a principal portion and 
interest in the statemen1 of cash nows. 
R/ght-o~Use Asset 
Measurement or rlght-Ot•use asset al oommencemE!f'lt of Uic lease includes: 

• Lease lability 
lnlUal direct co$b 

• Advanoe lea,e paym01'11$ 
• Obligations to ref\lblsh leased :.1sse!$ Sass Sea&e incentives received 

Right-of,use &ESets arc te&:ed for lmpafment in accofdance with PAS 36. 
Impairments. 

The EUL of tho right-of-use ane1$ are tfte shorter of the lease term and the useful 
life of the underlying cSS8ts 

1.$,se Uabillty 
MeaGurement of lease fiabiity at cornrnencem~t of the loose .S the present \•alue of 
the total of the lease payments as described in the contract (indudiog payt'l"J8nis 
eonnocted to tM re;;1$C.Bably certain exercise of extension or termination c,ptions), 
cfi$~nted at 1he inte.resi rata implicit in the leas& contract (if readily detetmlnable) or 
the lessee's Incremental boocw.rlng rate. 

Lease pf!ymentsi that depend upon a rate ot lndex are meawred at commencement 
based on the rate or Index in etrec1 at that t'tme, and are rem&asured if or when the 
payments linked 10 the inde,c or rates. 

Variabte le8$f) payrnt-nts that do not depend upon an Index or rate 
(e.g a PP.rcenlage of sales or based on usage) are not included in the initial 
measurement of tne rlght·o'·use asset 

- 14 • 



The leo6'1 liability determired at inrfial measurement should not ex~d_tlW fair varue 
of 1tl• underlying ..,.1. Ao excess of the lease riability value ove, _Ille far value of lhe 
undertylng asset is an indicator that the discount rate being used IS too low and must 
be reassessed. 

The dttfe,ence belw~n the futurn v:1lue (undisoounted} of the total of lease 
payments and 1he lease liiitility repreaontG the flnancia!. co$l which is to be spread 
over the period or the lease In form o1 an annuity calOJlation. 

The Company re<;o9nlzed the followlng In the &tatemont of profit or lo$&: 

• Oej)fec;is6on calculated on lhe value of the asset; 
Interest expon$e whlch is part of the annuity cak:ulation; and 

• any amoum ad variable lease payrr.ems excluding amount that ®pond upon an 
indax or ,ate. 

S/JorNe,rn Leoset and L.ea.$8 of Low,.valvc Assets 
The Company has e!ectad not to recognize right-of-use a&&ctc ~"Id lease l!abi.llties of 
low-value assci:s and short•tc,m leases. The Company ,ecognizes the ~!.e 
payments associated with th&&e leases as an expense on a st~ighl-line baSi$ over 
the lease term. 

Operating Leases 
Leas.es where the lessor retains subGtcntl:illy all the risks end bonofits of ownership 
of I.he .;i,~set o..-e ciac.slficd S.$ operating lea.sea. Rental lncorr,o ;ind expense from 
<ipereting leaee~ are reeognQ:ed in profit er loss on a &IJaight.lino b:1sis ov8f the term 
of theleose. 

Finance LO.>SOS 
Finance leases, which transfe< to the Comp~ny sttistarnia!:ly all th& risks and benefits 
incid4n~I to ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the IO'.uer of fair value of 
the leased p,operty and the present \l&lue of the mlnlmum lease payments at the 
tncGptloo of the lease. Lease paylTl8flts are apportioned between the ft:'lallCe cost 
and reduction of the outstanding lease 10bifrtv so as to achieve a constant rate or 
intecest on the remai111ng b::lance of the liability, Finance oost is recognized In ptofit 
or loss. 

Ca~aliz:ed leased assets. ~e depceclated ove, the shorter of the EUL m the assets 
and the respective lease terms, unless It Is with reasonable certainty that the 
Company v,ili o-btain owner'$hip by the end of U,e lease term, in which case the asS<!t 
Is depreciated over its EUL. 

As a Lessor 
At ilcep1ion or modification of a contract that contlnns a lease componenl. the 
Company allocates the consideration In the eonttac1 to each lease oomponent on the 
basis of their ,etative stand-altfle pfioe. 

1M"ten the Company act as a lessor. l determines at tease inceptle>n whether ea-oh 
lease is a fln.ar.ce lease or en operating lease. 

To ciass·ify each lease. the Comuany makes en overall assessment of whethe, the 
tease 1,arisfers substantially an the dsks and rewal'tl$ incidenlel to ownership of the 
underlying asset. If this Is the case, lhe asset Is a finance lease; if not, then it is an 
operating tease. As part of this assessment. the Company considers oertail 
indicators such ~s whether the lease is t:::,r the major part of tho economic life of the 
assel 
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\\/hen the Company Is an i.nte,mediate lessor, It accounts for its ln!8rests In the .lease 
In the head lease and the sub-lease separately It assesses lne rease classification 
of a sub-lease with reference to the ROU asset arising from the head lease, noi with 
reference to the undert,!ng asset 

The Company classifies lhe sublease as a fnance lease o, an operating Jesse as 
rol!OVt-s: 

• If the head lease is a s.hort-totth lease that the untty, as a lessee, hai acooumed 
for by recogttizing the leas& payments as a.n expense on a s.!rai9ht-'lne basi.s 
OVef the term of the lease, lhe sublease must be classified as an operating lease. 

• Otherwl$e, the ,utte3se mutit be daS;slfled by reference 10 the rig~-of-use as.se 
arising from the head &ease, rather lhan by refo,snce to the economic useful li e 
of 1he tlncferlying asset (such as the item of property, plant or equipment tha1 is 
the sub;ect of the lease}. 

Vvtien the Company Gnters Into a sublesse .l(ifecmont it 

• DereccgnizM the rlgh1-of.use &.$$Gt relatiig to the head loatc that it transfers to 
tfte sub-tes.see, ar.cl recognizes the net in\'C$lmtnt in the sublease. 

• Recognizes &oy dlffe1enoe between !he right-of.use asset and the net lnvestrn<1nl 
In the sublease in profit 01 loss. 

Retains the tease liability relahng to the head !aas.e in its statement of iiflandal 
PJSillon, wtlic.h represe.rrts lhe lease payments O\ved to the head lessor. 

Ourlng the term of the lease the ComPMY as af'I intermediate !Qssor reoogn.ized 
financ.e income en the su~~ase and Interest exper.se on the head lease. 

If an arrangem~t QOntains Jeasf:! and non.1ea1te ecmponents. then the Company 
applies PFRS 15 to atbca1e: the oonsideration in the contract, 

The Company applies ~ dececognllon and impa:nnent requirements in PFRS 9 to 
the net investment In the lease. Tho Company regularly reviews estimated 
unguaranteed residual values used In calculatlng the gross Investment in the tease, 

The Company recognizes the lease payments received net of ilteres! Income under 
it, sub-lease agreement classified as Mance lease as deduct:on to U'le "Net 
tn•,esttnent in sub-lease" aocovnt In the sla1ements of nnanciaJ posllion. 

Net lnvestme;its in sUQ-lea,e which WII be ret'eflied within t\velve (12} months from 
1he f~pof'ling period are classlied at current assets. OtM1wise. these am d.assmed 
at no~curr8n1 assets. 
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Sorrowino Costs 
Interest and othe, finru>ce 00$ls Incurred on borra11/ngs used lo finance propeity 
development are capitalized if they are dlrectly attributable to the a:qulsiiion (J( 

construction of a quaufylrg asseL The c~italization of booowir.g costs: 
(a) commence$ wl'lEn lhe actMties to prepare the assets are in progress and 
expenditure.s and borrowing cos.ts. aro being incurred; (b) is suspondod during 
extenooct periOds in which aciive developmen~ ltr.prove:ment ~nd consttue6on of the 
assets are ir.terrupted; and (c) ,;eases when substanti.a!ly all the activities necessary 
to prepare tile assets are- com~ted. These costs are amortfzod USillQ the straight. 
tine method c:Ner the EUL of the related property, plan! arid equipment to which it!$ 
capil'alized. Borrowing CO$lS tha! are not dtectlY. at!ributiblo to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are reco9niled i'I profit or loss using 
the effective ln(erest method. Other boncMfng costs are gen.er.iJly a>cpenaed In the 
period in which these are lincurred, 

f oroigo Currency 'T ransactlons 
Transactions in foceign amencies a re recorded in Philippine peso basod on the 
prG'Yailing ~change reites at tM dates of the transactions. F«eigl"I cun'ency 
denominated monetary asse1s and flabi:lllies are t~nslatGd In Philippne peso u;lng 
the exchange rates ~evallng at the reporting date. Exchange gains or loues arising 
from translation of fotei.gn currency denominated Items at 1ates different from ~e 
at whic::h lhey were preV:ously recorded are ,ecognized S'I pto5t or k>s.s. 

NOf'lmonetary ilems in foreign ctrrencles that are measured in terms or hl$toric:al oost 
are transfaled using the excha~ rate at the date of transaction. 

Foteigc'I cu1Tency gains a.'\d losses ate reported on a net basis 3$ elthE!r finance 
income or flnanoe cost depending on whether foreign curTency movements are 1n a 
net gain or net 1-oss- pos!tfon. 

Taxes 
lnoome tax expense comprises current atld deferred tax. Income tax expense Is 
~cognlzed U1 profit or loss, excep! lo ttle extent that n relates to item$ recognized 
directty in equity 0 1 in other comprehensllfe Income, In whie:h case it ls recognized in 
equity or in other comprehensive income. respectively. 

CuffOlll TAX 
Current tax S$$el$ and tli'llbilities fOf the current and prle< pel10ds are measured at the 
amount expected to be roooveted from or paid 10 the tax aut,iorlty. The tax rates and 
tax laws used to compute the amount arc those that are Efl3Cted or substanttvely 
enQcted by lho end of too reporting period. 

Deferred TeJ< 
Oef8ired tax aSSEts and 11:abi!ities ;:iro recognized in respect_ of temporary c:ifferences 
bet11~en the carrying amounts of assets and labUilios tor financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts vsed for taxation purposes and the canyfotward ta.x 
benefits of unusoo not operating loss ct'lrtyO'~er (NOLCO}, If any, and l.r"IU$ed lax 
credit$ from excess mirumum oorporata income ta)( (MCIT) O'Ver the regular 
corpOQ-tt incom& t.ax. Deferred tax i$ not recognized for temporary differences on 
Che in!tlal roc:ogO:.llon of assets or llubllitlos ln a transaction that is not a b<.1si~ss 
combination and th.at affects neither acooooting nor taxable profit or loss; temporary 
differences rclatod to lnv8!iitmer.l's in subsidl~ules 300 jointly oontrol~ ent;fles to the 
eldent that it is probable that lhey will not reverse in tho forosooabla future; aAd 
taxable temporary d'.fferences o;1Min.9 on the lnltial reoognltion of 900<iwil. 
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Oeferre4 tax assets are reoogniz.ed for canyforwsrcf tax benefits of unused NOLCO, 
unused tax credits from excess MCJT aRCI deduciJble temporery differences to the 
extent that ll ts probabk! that Mure taxabto p<ofcts will be available against \Vhkti 
they can be us.eel. Future tax.able profit$ ar-o determined based on the reversal of 
ra"evant taxable temporary dJffarenceti. If the amount of taxa~ tempc<a,y 
cflfferences J~ insufficlenl to recognize a deferred tax asset in ful , then future taxable 
profits, ;adjusted for reversals of exi$tll'lg temporary drffcrences, a.re considered, 
based on the business plans of the Company, Deferred tax •ssets are reY1ewed at 
each reporti~ date and are reduced lo the eictent that it is no longe, f.(Obable that 
th8 related tax OOfleflt w!II be 1<1aiized. Unreoo(J"lized deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each reporting dc1fo and are recognized to the exl8nt that it t\as. 
beccme probabl:! that future taxable Income wm allow tho defened tax assets to be 
recognl:z.ed. 

Deferred tax assets an<S liabilities are me3sttred al the we ra!os that are expected to 
apply to the year when the asset is realized or !ho liabiljfy Is seteed, ba:sed on ta~ 
rates that l\ave been enacted o, subst;int/1:(lly en~etod t>-1 the e!Y.I of lhe reporting period. 

In dete.rm!ning the amount of current and defeJred fax, tho ComJXlny ta1<t-$ lnto 
account the impact of uncertain tax positions and vihether achf-.tionat truces M d 
interest may be due. Tile Company bel2Ves that its aca u~ts for tax liabili1les are 
adequate fot all cpen years based on its asse$sment of many ~~tors, rnch,1ding 
intetpretatton of tax laws and prior e~lie.nce This Msessment relies on es1imate$ 
and assumptions and may involve a series of jlJISgments aboul Mure even\$. New 
information may become available thit causes the Company to change Its judgment 
regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilltl&s: such changes to tax li~bitities wll 
impact tax e.xpenS& !n the period thal such determln.al)on is made. 

Do.ferred tax asse1;:g ano liabilities are offset if there Is a iegally enforceatie right to 
offset current tax liab!lities and assets.. and lhey relate to hcome taxes lev5ed by the 
samo tax authority on tha same taxabSe entity. 

ValuNddod TOK /VA1) 
Revenue, C)Q)enaes and assets art! re(;ognlzed net of the amount of VAT except 

• where the VAT incurred on purchase of asse1s or setvices a1e not tecoverable 
from the la~tkln authorify, In whic;h ease, the VAT is recognized as part of th& 
c0$l ot aoqUsition of the asset or a& pert of the expense Item as applicable; and 

• receivablM and payablGs that arc stated 'M.lh the amount of VAT ilc!Uded. 

Too net amounl of sales tax ,oeovorable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included as part of ~Prep:1kS &lCpenses and «her current assets~ or -Acett.1n1s 
payable and accrued expenses" accounts- In tha .statet'l'lt9nis of tlnancial J>O$ition. 

Earnings Per $hare (EPS) 
Basie EPS is computed by dividing tho p;ofd epplicabl~ to wmmoil stock by tM 
weighted ::werage number of common shares out,;tnnding during the period, Witll 
retroactive adjustmerts for any $tock dividend& declared. 

Diluted EPS Is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to common equity hokier,, 
by the weighted average number of common s.ha:ea outstanding during the year, 
adjusted for the etfecis of any potentially dlllltive common shares 
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Contioge;ncies 
Continga:n1 llabillties are not reoognized in the financial statements. lhe.$0 am 
discl~d ln the no1es to the financial statement3 unless the poss.!bi lfy of an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not 
reoogn!z~ In the financial statements bul are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
st&\emcnts when an inflow of economic benefits Is probable, When the realll:ation of 
i:ncomc hs virtually oenafo, lhe related asset is not a contingent assel Md its 
recogm!lon is appropriate. 

When loHes i\ro expected to be reimbursed by an~her party, the reimbursement 
c.hould be recognized when and onJy v,tien, it is 'l\rtuafly certa.il that the 
reimbursemen1 will be received. 'rhe relmbursoment shall be treitted as a separate 
.1sset Tho oxpenie relating 10 a _provision Is presented net of the amount reoognr.zed 
for the rei.mbu1sement. 

Evaots Afoot the Reporting Qgte 
Post year-end 8\!ents tha1 provide additional fnformation about the Company's 
tlnanci.al position al tho mponing date (adJu$lilg events) arc rnnected !n the nnancial 
stat~menl.'S. Post yea1 .. ond 8',.ents that are not adjusting eiJents are d'l$Cl0sed In the 
notes to the financial statements \Wien material. 

Amendments to S1imdardg. issued byt No~ Yet AdQpted 
A number of new standards Md amendmonls to sta!Klatds are effecli'Ve ror annual 
pe,iods beginning after January 1, 2023. HO\'iC\'eJ, the Company has not eal'ly 
adopted the following new or emendod atandardt in preparlog 1he$e fmancial 
slatements Unlass otherwise stated, none of the-...c ;:,m expected to hav& a 
slg.nifica.m Impact on the Company's financial $l.'.ltemenis. 

The Company wl!I adopt th& following new standards and .amendments to stand1:ir<ft; 
that afe relevant to the Company ln the respacttve effedr,e. date$: 

Effective JanuifY 1, 2024 

• Classlneation of Uabilities as Current or Noncurrent • 2020 amendments and 
Non-Current UabTiities vMtl Co\•enanls • 2022 amendmems (Amendments to 
PAS 1, P1esentation of Flnancial Stataments} To promote consistency in 
appUc:aUon and c!artty the requirements OI'\ determining v.t.ether a tiahlJit,, tS 
cunent or noncunent. the amendinents: 

• removed the requirement for a rigtit to defe1 settlement of a liability for at 
least twelve months after me 1epor1ing pef'l.od to be unconditional and Instead 
requires lhat ll\e right must have substance and e.xist at the eMI of the 
reporting period, 

• clarified lllat only CO\'enan1s with which a o:>mpaiw must comply on or befote 
the reporting dale affect the classfficaliOn af a liability as current or 
norK:urcent atld covenants 'Nl!h which the entity must compy after the 
reporting dale <So not aflect a liability's clas.slflca~on at Lhal date; 

• p1ovided addltlonal diS(;losur& r~qulrements for non-current llabilitles subjec.t 
to qonditlons wllh1n twelve months after the repoctlng period to enabl'e thr! 
a&Ue.smcnt of the 1tsk that the lfab!l!ty could become repayabk!. Vi\thin 
twelve months; and 

• eta.rifled 1hat settlemem 01 a 11atility lndudes ttansfening an entit)'s own 
equity lnstrwnant& to the CC>unteiparty, bl.A c::ortYerslon options that are 
dastified as e~uity do not afrec! classification ot u,e '-31:tf!ty as CUI!'(Hll or 
nonc.urrenL 
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The amendments will apply retrospecljvely for enr,.,al reporting periods 
beginnir{I on or alta Janua,y 1. 2024, with ea~ler application permlt1ed. Entfties 
that have ear1y applied tile 2020 ame-ndrrcents may retain appJica-000 until the 
2022 amendments i>re applied Entities Iha! will ear~ apply the 20'20 
amendmet'AS aft~r i"°8 of the 202:2 amendments mus.I apply both amendments 
at the same time) 

4. Cash 

5. 

Cash consists of: 

Cash in ban~ 
Cash ,on hand 

Note 
26 

2023 

P216,507 
337 661 

P554,1S8 

2022 
P324,73a 

356229 
?680,967 

Cash in bar,k5eami annual lnler&st at the respe¢111JO bank deposit ratecs. 

tnterest Income earned from cash in Danks amounted to P0.'2S millon, Pl.OS mlllcn 
and P3.6 mllllon in 2023, 2022 and 2021 , respectvely, 

The Company's ex;x,sur~ to ccedil risk and mef8$t ,ate fisk a,e disclosed in 
Note 26 to 1he financial stale:ncnts. 

Receivables 

Recelvable$ c:onsist of: 

Note 2023 2022 
Trade recetvable:s • tmd paiies 26 P2,49S,784 ?2,371.~ 
Others 24 26 722 101 6859]1L 

3,218,885 3.257,764 
l es:3 a\lowar.ce forirr.paimenl losses 

and others 345,451 250.736 
26 P2.873,434 1'3,007,028 

Trade receivabt!.S are a!J currem, ncnlnterast-bearlr..g and are generally on a 30 to 
60 days' term. Other receNatle.s con&11 mainly of receivab~ from employees-, 
~I'll and mauetlng related reimbursements (see Now 24), which are nomaUy 
oc:.i!ected in cash. 

tmpairmenz 
The company mafntahs on a1owance for irrpairmeml IOGSes at a level ocnsidered 
aaequale to pro·,ide fol' ECL, The Company perfotms regular review of the age and 
s-tall.6 af these account$, designed to Identify aocoun1s with expected cte-d,1 bs.see 
arid prOYidl!t.s these with tho tipproprlate a l!owan~ fo, impairment losses ~ rtwlew 
Is acoomp!ished v&Y'lg lifotime ECL, with tho lmp.1irment tosses bang, diltrmmed for 
eadi ri~k grouping ldcntlffed by t.hc <:onpany. Th.e am0\1n.1 ~nd tim1~g of 1eC0<4ed 
experises for ur.y period waut<l differ 1f the Co,mpany made dltfetent Judgments. An 
Increase i, the aHowanco frK Impairment losses wo~ increase the reoorded 
operating expenses and -daaeaso cvrrenl asset 
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The roovements m the aJ,1owa11ce for impairment losses 011 receivables are as 
1o11cws: 

2023 20>2 

N"" Trade Ql!!rS ""' Tri~ """" T-Olal 

Babru:o a! ,,.,.,211 P91,0>) P3S8,656 tiegiMIIIQ Ch'8a' P1S.l,W P97,1t.! P?S0.736 
1~11rmen1 io.:5e:! 
~l:ttd~ 

M,,110 61,6&0 93,670 ,,,.. 68,31;3 120,369 fhtyor •• w,;1,-dfs and 
~adjd!Ll'IQ-
neyear (11,181J u,n2 1Afli (158,354) l7£',1:6) jZ28,,&s; 

a.'ance•CMr:I 
l"M PUl.'61 Pil6,000 P341i4H P15.l.~U P91,t9a PM0,7:,& 

Impairment losses recogni'lect during the period are ine!udei:J as part of "Selling and 
distribution expenses'" accouni In uie S".atemen\$ or pt'of!t or los, and other 
compreh.e.o&M! irGome (loss). 

The Compaiy"s exposure to credil rlsk rela!ed to receivables is dis.dosed in Noia 28 
to the finsndal ttatcmonts. 

6. lnvontoriea 

Raw and packaging materials 
Fini$hed 930ds 
Spare i:arts Md ~plies 
\i\'o!k in process 

21123 

P4,08S,$84 
660,870 
688,915 

58t871 

PS.4"4,340 

2022 

P<,278,040 
685,412 
847,485 

9.195 
PS,820,132 

Raw a:nd packaging material$, finished goods, and work In ~ocess. included in "Cost 
of 9 oods sold" account ln the statement$ of profit and loss and other com prehensi\'e 
income (lo .. ) amounled to P18.3 biion In 202'3. P16.5 billion In 2022. and 
P12.5 bilion In 2021 <••• No:c 17). 

In detercninlng the NRV of lnve-,1ories, the Company ocns:ders Inventory 
obsoeescen;e. base<f on specific idenlificatkln and as determined by marnr,gement f0< 
lnventodes es11matcd to be unsalea~ in tne future. The Company adjusis lhe cost 
of Inventories to NRV at a 1eve: constlered adequate. to mfte.ct 8ITf market decline in 
the va!ue of the reco<ded inventories. The Company revlmvs, on a conlinuous basls, 
lhe product movement. changes m consumer demands .and mlJ'oduction of new 
products to idenUfy inventories which aro to be written-down 10 NRV, The amount 
and timing or recorded e.xpense for any period would differ if diffQtenl JUdgmerrts 
Vt'tlre made 01 different eS!ilmates were utffiZed. Toe Increase In lnventc.y 
obS~e ao::i market declne would Increase th.e recorded cost ol goods s.-old 
and deefease cuttoot assets. 

Net YH'ite-dOYm or &nvento11es to NRV amounted to P17:U mllton, PJ0.5 million and 
P12.9 mtllon for the years ended Oecem.ber 31, 2023, 2022 al\d 2021 , respe,clNely. 
The wrile4own or inventories to NRV which ~ dlcec!ly re-la.led to pl'OdtX:tion is 
Included as part or -Cost of goods sold" account, otherwise ii is recognized as patt of 
'Operating expense:s" aeeouM ltl lhe statements -of profit and IO$S and ott\er 
<:omprehenslve income (loss}. 
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7. Investments 1n Associate,, 

_, 1 · otller companieo which are 
hrJestirent.s In associates eonsiSt ot lnv,,,~men s m • 
lrcorporated und~r Philippine laws, as follows' 

Acquisition cos.t 
Nadec::o Realty Corporation 

(NRC) 
Nad8c:() Hokl'ing::s Corporation 

(NHC) 

Accumuli.ted equity in net 
earnings• 
Balance at beg1nring of year 
Equ&ty in nel eamlngs for the 

eer 
Balance at end of yea, 

Percentage t%) of 
ownership 
2023 2022 

40% 

400..:. 

40% 

40% 

Amoe.mt 
2023 2022 

P231,490 P231,490 

132 132 
231,622 231,622 

442,9 5a 431,003 

1 ,679 11,949 

444,637 .. 2.958 

P676,269 P674,580 

Both NRC and NHC are incorporated in the Phillppmes. 

TM fnancia1 statements or tM 8.ssociates are prepared for Iha &amo re.pe>t'ling 
period as the Company's financial statements. The financia1 $talemcnts used for the 
purpose of applying equity met.hod are the mo&t r(:cenl m~n~ement accounts of the 
associates as at Oeccmbef 31, 2023 Md 2022. 

None of the Company'$ equity.aecovn!ed a5-SOciate$ are publicly fisted entities and 
consequently, do not have pubts.hed p,i::e quotl~ions. 

As ti1 Oecembo, 31, 2023 arnl 2.022, the undistribUted earnings of the as.s-ociates 
1ndUC8ci In the Company's retained ~rnings amounting 10 P444.6 m!lllon and 
P443 O million rtscectively, is not avail~b!e ror distribution to stocl<hO!ders uliess 
declared b'/ the associates, Equity in oe~ earnings trom Investments in associates 
amounted to ?1.7 millio11. P1 1.9 miffion and P9.4 mlmon for the years anded 
December 31. 2023. 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

Summarized below is th• financial informatico pertaining to the Company'& 
associates: 

,.,. H t/ld fot Ult YHr Enllfd llr.ffllb,!t u, :ion 
Pll)filTfoiii" 

Cu1Nn1 tkncurrffl """"' NOtt11~•111 Cr.fllpttllms.?lc, 
!!J:l!'!l AHtll t.~lllll!A! ~l~ n RMtn!ltS ""-· NRC P110,U3 Pl,t.!-4,281" P572.6H P11"0U P1'1,11A P1,tt3 

NHC~tale4! uC,U• ,,u.c1;,n 57t.f4C ll'i.21i 1JJ11 , .&11 

A4111111Gf<tllllYt,;1rEr-"td £!0'1f1.!l 311 2922 
P:ol \'lctal 

~ll't(,\ ......, '""-~ C011'1'10twll/15i'.O 

2'!:f!! !}:ilh "~· Ullblllitl l~l1M flt•l!!i:U ""'" Nil¢ P9M64 P\.~(SG ?Wl,l'3! Pm .MS IJ2,$10 P.ct?.(77 
MHC~•~!!!J: 1Ci.'l!U , G@&,((1(1 612.121 11•,ia! ,,.,10 '426 "M,4 
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The assoclatGs d o not have contingent llabilltles i"lcum:d Jointly with olher Investors. 
Also. the Company Is not severally liable for all o r part of the liabilities of (he 
3$$0Cf.atea, 

Pdor ponOd adjustment 
The CompMy adjusted It& equity In not earnings of associates to align the 
accounting polfcy of i1s associate for Its investment properties that is In fair value 
model to cost model that fs lhe accounting policy of the Comp,a1w. The !f't"f)act of lhis 
priOl yea; adjv$tmont as at and for the y~ar ended Deoember 31, 2022 on It$ the 
s1atemont ot fin:incial potrtlon would result In o decrease of P262 mill1on to 
investment fn assocfatoo and retained earnings aooounts respectively, ~nd o 
dec,e.ase in equity in net ca,_mlnga o f ss1Jociates ond total eomprohcnahre IMome 
(loss) by P26'2. million and earninl)S per share by P0.07 for the year enced Oe¢ember 
31, 2022. The adjustment has. no Impact on income taxes ond on lhe statemenl of 
cash flov.s as at and f,or the ycai ended December 31 , 2022 and no impact on the 
balancas as of and for tho yoar ended December 31 , 2021. 

8. B ottles :ind Ca.sos 

Bottles and ease$ -consist of. 

Cost 

Gross Ciurying Amounf 
Balance at beginning of year 
Net change 
Balance at e:nd of year 

Accumulated Amortitation' 
Balaooe at beginning of year 
Amortization ror tne year 
Balance at end ot yea r 

Note 

17, 18 

202J 2022 

P17,532,685 ?16,767,201 
987,105 765,484 

18,519,790 17,532,685 

13,016,273 11,807,055 
1,172,927 1,209,218 

14,189,200 13,016,273 

P4,330,690 P4,516,412 
'Thia lnc\.ldet pallets v,ilh r.et book v.at:e of Pi 1&7 ritlon end P1lo6.0 mlli::in ii$ iit Oecetntiet 31. 2023 and 

2022. mped.vetf. 

Amoltfz/ll/Otl 
Amortlza'!lon wa$ charged to: 

Cost of goods sold 
Selling and cfstribution 

Note 
17 
18 

2023 
P715,585 

457,,342 
P1,172,927 

2022 
?923.037 

286,181 
P l,200,218 

2021 
P1.036.404 

243,608 
P1,280,012 

The Company ann1.1al ly reviews the EUL of re\umabfe bottles and cases based on 
the period over which the assets ate expected to be avall.ab!e for use, prindpany 
de1e-rmined by their h1storicat break.age and trlppage. 11 rs possi~e that tutu,e 
financial performaooe coulo be materially affected by Chan9es in tllese estimates 
brought ii bout by cha~es In too tacto,s mentioned. A recua!on In the EUL of bottJ,es 
and cases would Increase t11e feoorded amortization expense and dectease 
noncurrent assets. 
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9. 

lmpalrm<>nt 
The Co:npany i:rovides an allowance for unusable contafnets at drculstion ttl~! fal!ed 
to meet tho Company's quality standards and excess bottfes as. determined by 
management based on the containers profile and optimal floal analyses concluded. 

The Company asusses at each reporting date 'M'lelher th&r& is an lndicatiotl that the 
bcttles and cases may be impaired. Oetemtining the amount of the assets. which 
requires the determination of future cash flows expected to be g:e-ne.rated from the 
continued use and ulthnate disposition of such asset&, requires the Company to 
make estimates and assumptions that can mate.riatty affect the financial statemen~ 
Future events could cause the company to conoi.Jde thst these assets are impaired. 
Arry resulti"lg Impairment loss couk:t have material impact on u,e. llnancial position 
an:t 6nandal parformaoce of \he Compcl"ly. The pteparation or ttie es~imated Mure 
cash flows invot-.ies estimations and assumptions. 'lfilmle lhtt Company betleves tha1 
its assumptions are approp,taie and reason.able, Signlficsnt changes In these 
assumptions may materially affect lhe Company's assessment of the recovorable 
amounts and may lead to future ai:tdHional impalrment diarges. Art incret>se in the 
allowance tor unusable oontahers would increase the rec:o,ded operating expen$0:$ 
and decrease noncurre~ assets. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

The mo•,emeots In this account are as follows: 

MM"'llllff)' lhlldlnga •nll 
CCl'ISll\,Cdon 1IWIOUIH l.NHbOld furwlur• 

~ !!lm!!nl lme;omtft!$ and fJl!III'*' ln,Pr!:irn,: "'" 
Gio,$ ¢.1!1'y!19 A,noun1 
~:.1.10,11 P19,W ,7l0 P4,0l6.2.'lt PG,l,92$ 1'47,111 Pl,4,f:711,174 

""'""" 1,$6',4:8 12s.10, ,.on 31.792 1,7;8,S76 

0~!.P'NfllHlllhdUS!m:n'!S ,,2t2n1 14.71!1: 111c-,t12'1 

~,:.,.20'll J J,ffl,O~ s,o.,a,2u 0,,$$0 86,,tOO to,28-4,"" ....... 2n.~4 '" '" ~5.!:l! 6l9;t7~ 

DJpoNIV~ll~U,10,!l'Qc p~.N7) (9,4$;) {11'1> ,oo,uo ~148,1.$7) 

l)J,-~lj!ISc.llSet!$ 2t:e,na 77364 @f-C91} .. ,,. -DtGtmi:,, s 1, ~u 21,m,471 5,107,'7' ,uo. ;e,,738 26,136,»S 

Accul'lib!ed0,pf'9Cl91iQII ud 
lmp)ltm'nt 

Ollomb$J31, 2tU'I 1i.~u ,, 1.se'-220 ., ... 13,99:Z~I - ·"' ... .,,. 188)ill) .. ,, ,,1$Zk0 
0tt.ooaa1U<imt~adllsimen1s ~W&!1l 12.e&~ ll!l!?i14 I} 
Deco:1~31,Nl2 13,291,WO 1,11,••o ...... 15,0l-4.14!1 

o~:n m .12e m,ee& .. ,. ,.~m 
0~ .. fhl.cll!i~CIJJilft>Mll ,n.•e:i 25.~Si '" (7,0:.9) 
I,,. li"- IOH ,1s.a:,1 11S.&2'1 

o,o"bttSt_. 2on 14117,ffl un.2u 61, '411 U,21t.t.to l 

Cu,ylllg A-nl 
~l:t!H, lC12J P1,~1U ;>'.),263,C~ PU,EE& ....... Pn ,a,sc,m 

Ototmbct)1, ~U ..... .,... 11,,11$,110 l't, IM P28.c,J18 P1~i1,C94 

Depreciation 
OePleci~tion were charged to: 

Note 2023 2022 2021 
Cost of goods sotd 17 P833,785 P797,505 P774,378 
Selling and distribution 18 193,717 212,822 251,964 
General and 

administrative 1~ 38,491 78,032 31 ,017 
P1,065,993 P1,088,300 Pl ,057,419 
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The Company at'lnuatfy" 1cvlcws thlil EUL of p1operty, plan I and equipment based on 
the p&nod over which the assets are &xpecled to be avabable for use and updates 
those expedations If act\lal rosul1s differ from previous estinates due to physical 
wear and te.11 and technical or comrr,ercial obsolescence. It fs posslbte th:at Mure 
financial performance could be rnatefia!ly affected by changes In these estimates 
brought abool by changes In the factors mentioned. A redutrlon in the !:UL of 
p--opert'I, plant and equipment wou!d Increase the reoord9d depreciation and 
aTio:112ation expenses Md decrease: noncurrent assels. 

lmpa!l1Tt6nt 
The Canpany assesses at each reporting dale wnethes there is an Indication ~hat fts 
property, plant anj equipment may be impaired. Oetermiting ¢le amolNlt of tne 
assets, vdl.ich requires the delennination of future cash flO'IVS expected to be 
generated from the conlinued use and ultimate disPo~ lon of such a$$ets, reqWes 
the Company to make estimates and assumptions that can materlaJI'/ affect the 
tlnitncial slatemems. Future events cow:t cause th& Company to conelude 1hat these 
assets are !mpafed. Anv restAirq impairment loss couJd hav& mate.rial impact on the 
financial position and financial performance of the Com,pa.,y. The prepa;atlon of the 
estimated future cash flows involves es~ ations and assumptions Wh'8 tile 
Co111pany believes that Its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, an increase 
In impairmem k>sses would decrease profit ot loss and oonsequent!V, decrease 
eQUitY, In 2023, lhe Company ha$ recognized Impairment loss on certain machlne,y 
and other eqoipment fot these idantif.i8d items wll no fonger be used and It.at the 
carrying value of these assots cannot be recovered. The Impairment loss amoundng 
to P175.8 mll!lon is i.ncfuded l,J'lder ·aher income (loss) ~ net" account ln the 
statement of proftt of loss and othef comprehenSINe income {loss-). Aiide from 
impairment loss recognized (OI' the year, no othe, impairment ln:ucators exiSt on the 
Company's property, plant and equipment 1or the. year ended December 31, 2023 
a1d2022. 

DiSJ)OSOI 
Gain (toss) on disposal of p.operty arx! aqu\::11nen1 amounted to (P12.5 million), 
P1.8 million ar'ld Pl .6 mmion in 2023.. 2022 anct 2021 respectively. 

10. Intangible Assets 

rntangib!G asseis pertain to sonware and licenses Tt:e movement in lhis account 
consists of the fo!Jow~19: 

Note 2023 2022 

Cost 
Ba!al')OO at beginning of yt:ar P479,977 P475,206 
Additions and other mo-Jetnents 2,633 4,771 
BaJanc& at ond of year 482, 610 479,977 

Accumulate-Cl Amonlzatlon 
saianco at t>eglnnrng of year 202,608 1:18,972 
Arnortlzat!oo ct.Iring the iear 11, 18, 19 46,0,82 43,636 
Balance at end of yC-ilr 247,690 202,608 

Net Carrying Amount P234,920 P277,369 
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11. AtcotJnts Payable and Accrued Expenses 

Aocounts payable and acctued expooses consist of: 

Note 2023 2022 
Trade payables 23 P&,931,864 P7,486,802 
Non-trade payables and accruals 1,912,517 3,044,342 
Current portion of. 

Lease llabikly 27 177,988 165.727 
Retirement iabil'!l 14 47,827 22.449 

PS,070, 196 P10,719,320 

The Company's trade payables mostly pertain to ra,,v matariaJ purchases mad9 by 
the Company and Includes refundab}e customer deposits. 

Non-trade payables ard accruals malriy consist of withholding taxes. payables to 
other government agencies. acc.tued freight charges, lofting fees and other services 
and other Items that are ln~MduaUy Immaterial or insignificant. 

The Company's exposure to liquidity risk 1elated to accounts payabl& and accrued 
expenses is disclosed In Note 26 to lhe finanOal statements. 

12. Short·term and Long,tcrm Debt 

a. Shott-:enn Debt 

b. 

As at December 31 , 2023 and December 31 , 2022, this account represents 
unsecured, interest-bearing short*term obtained trom local banks 'Mlh different 
maturity dates, which were acquired to fulfill the CompanY,s worklrg capital 
needs. The Interest rates ai:;plicate to the..<ie loans are de1ennined by the 
pre·,amng mar1<e1 1a1es. 

Total proceeds frorn these sllo1He-tm lOatrs amounted to P26.82 bilion and 
P23.1811Ulion In 2023 and 2022, respec11vely, wnilo tatal payments amounti~ ta 
P26.65 billion and P2\ .12 billion in 2023 and 2022, 10$1)e~ely As at 
Deoember 31, 2023 and 2022, the balance of sho<l-term debt amounted ta 
P2 .. 22 billion and P2.05 billion, respectively. 

Long-u,nn Deot 
Thl! aocou.nt oonslst! of: 

2023 2022 
7 year P500 mlbon term tan from BPI P320,000 P480,000 
6 year P1 billion term loan from BPI 33),333 6€6,667 
s year P2 01 11:~n term ban rrom BPI 2,000,000 2,0C0,000 
5 yei,r P1.5 billlcn term lean from Metropolkan 

Bonk & l ru>t 6 Co. (MBTC) &2S,OOO 1, 125,000 
6 yeat P1 billion term ban from MBTO 550,000 7~0.000 
7 yeM P3 tiil'ion term ban from M8TC 3,000,000 
3 yew P200 ml!Eon tonn ban from IBK 31,260 156,250 
5 xe-lll P-100 milLon term bari from IBK 4001000 

P7.45t,583 ?5,177,917 

Currenl P2,10&,342 P1.118.333 
Nonc:urrent 5 314 260 4.034 941 

P7 ,.C20,602 P5,1S3,274 
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Term Loan from BPI 
Co OecembQt 28, 2018, the Compe.ny &nteted into a P600 rritlK>n loan 
agreement wilh Spt to .-ofinanc& or partially refinan:e its short-tem, bank toans. 
The loan is unsecured and with a term of seven (7) yea!'$, payabk3 in twenty (20) 
equal quarterly princlp1d rept1ymen1s to commence at the end of' the 9th quarter 
l'rom the drawdown dale. 

On December 27. 2019. lh& company entered into a P1 b11ion loan ag,eeme~t 
with BPI to 1erw-tance the Company's short-tetm bank loan$, Th& loan ,s 
unoocurad and a !enn frve (5) yeats paya~e in twelve (12) equa1 quarterty 
instal.lments to commence at the end or the 90! quartet of the botrowfng date. 

On December 22. 2021 . the company entered Into a P2 billiof"l loan agieement 
with BPI to refinance lhe Coropanys bank loans. The loan is un,seouretl ana a 
lllf1n live (5) years payable In twelve (12) equal quart"'1y Installments to 
commence at the end of the 9b quarter of the borrowing date, 

Under the terms of the long-tefm loan agreement with BPI, the Company may, at 
i1s option. Pfepay the. loan in full or fn part without penalty, together with rn~erest 
due. Prepayment shall be ap~ie)d ag~nst the scheduled installment piJyments in 
the inverse 01der of their maturity. The Company shaD give a notice Of such 
prepayment not less than thirty (30) da)'S prior to such proposed oate of 
prepayment. 

In 2021 th@ Company Y.'3S able to emend the financial covenants of l!S terms 
from Its bans from 8PI in whlch it wcold permit the company to have Debt-to~ 
equity ratio shall not exceed 3: 1 based on the financial stat8fflents i,nd walved 
the require;nent of debt service coverage ratfo. 

Term Loan from MBIC 
In July 2021. the Company anieroo into a P3.5 billion loan agreemen1 \Vith MBTC 
10 refinance its eicisting loans of which P1.5 bl Uon was <lrawn on July 2021 ~nd 
P1 biUion was dra¥m In September 2021. The loan is unsecu1ed and a term 
five (5) years payable In 1wanty (20) successive quaneriy pnnc!pal repayments. 

On December 14. 2023, the Conl)any entered into a loan agreement wlth MBTC 
amounting to PJ S:IUon. to be used by the Company for general corporate 
purposai irciudlng but not limited to refinancing of 'its e.xlstfng loans. t he loan is 
unseo.ired and 1~th a te1111 of se, .. n (7) years, payable In twenty-eight (28) equal 
quarterly prlnd'pal repayments trom the date 01 borrO\Ylng until the maturity date. 

The outstandtng Klan agteemems wllh MBTC als-o provides tor certain 
c.ovenams, the mcxe significant of which is th.e Company to maintain a Debt•to· 
equity ratio shall not exceed 3:1 basoo on the llinanc:ial ·Slatements. 

Term Loon trom IBK 
In 2021, the Company eotered Into a toan agreement with IBK amounting to 
P250 million, to be used by the Company exclusively ror financing its capital 
worl<lng loan. The toan Is unsecured and with a tenn ol lhree (3) years, payable 
In eight (8) successive quarterly principal repaymer<s 10 commeoce at the end of 
tile 5th quaner ffom tl\a drawdown date and with- a fixed Interest rate. 

The lnan agreement also provid~s for certaln covenants. the more signifi.cam of 
which are a& follows· 

• DtbHo-equlty ratio shall not exceed 3:1 based on the financial statements· 
• Debt Set\llee coverage ratio of 1:1 based on tr.& financial statemen!s. · 

• 27 • 



OA December 15. 2023, the Company ente,ed lnto a loan agreement with IBK 
amount'ng to P400 Million, to be use-d by the Company exclu&Ncly for financing 
lts other bank k>an take~ul Ttte loan Is vn$8cured and with i1: toon ()f five (5) 
yeari, pa1a"Dte in twelve (12) suocessivc qu:anerly pcinclpQI repayments to 
commence at 1he end of the 9th quartei l'tom the drawdown d~te. 

Torm Loan from KEQ HANA 
On December 2:·3. 2020, the Company entered into a loan ~greement with IBK 
a.mounting to Pl Billion, to be used by the Co!l'IP'ln)' tor financing its wC(king 
capital. The loan is unsecvred and with a term of thirtaen months, payatAe upon 
maturity frQm the -drewdown dote and with ln1e,est caie, reptlceabla QU8rterly in 
arrears. The loan was fully pald &, 2022. 

As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Comp;my Is oomp11ant Wrth aU of the 
Gnanclal covenants of !ts loan agroornente. 

Interest expense on the tJbove loans reoognlz.ed in the statements of profit or loss 
and d.hcr oomprehenslve income (los,} :i."Tiountetl to PS66.5 mHl.ion. P260.1 million, 
and P291.4 million for the yeors e ndod DeoombeJ 31. 2023. 2022 and 2021 
respectively. Amortiza!ion of debt issuance cost a.mounted lo P1 t .2 rnlllicn in 2023~ 
P13.7 milflon In 2022, and P68.9 million in 2021. 

Information about the Company'e exposures to Interest rate risk and liquidity risk are 
disc1osed in Note 26 to the t nllndal &tatements. 

Bepayment Schedule 
As of December 31, 2023. the annual matureles of long..t8fl'Tl debt are as follows: 

Amortization 
Gr0$S cl Debi 

Year Amount l&$ uance Cost Net 

2024 P2, 119,821 P13.479 P2,106,342 

2025 1,766,.218 10,19 3 1.745.045 

2026 1,(103,671 6,914 1,597,657 

2027 661.905 4,060 557,845 

2028 561,905 2,963 558.952 

2029 428,572 1,762 426,810 

2030 428 671 620 427,951 

P7,459, 583 P38,981 P7,420,602 

Beg;inci'iation of Ooenfna and aosing Balances of Iota• Bank Debt 

Accruod 
Bank Debt Interest Tolal 

Balanoo, Oeoombor 31. 2022 P7.203,274 P24,643 P7,227.917 
Proceeds · :.hM term 26,817,500 26,817.500 
Prooee:ls . long tenn 3,400,000 3,400.000 
Inter~ expense 11,161 550,437 561,598 
Payment ot. 

Principal • short term (26,650,000) (28,650.0001 
Principal · long tetm (1,118,333) (1,118,333} 
Debt is.sue oost (26,600) (25,500) 
Interest (S61,S98) jS61 ,S98) 

Balance, Oec:ember 31, 2023 P9,633,102 P13,462 P9,651,684 
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Accrued 
Bank Debt lnteresc 

Balance, December 31 , 2021 P7,231,656 P12,450 
Proceeds. shor1 term 23,175,000 
Proceeds · long term 
Interest ex;,eose 6,701 200,134 
Payment of; 

Prine.pal • short tem, (21,125,000) 
Principal • long lerm (2,087,083) 
lntare$"l (187,941) 

Balance, Oe<ember 31. 2022 P7,203,274 P24,643 

13. Income Taxos 

Th& components of the Income tax e,c;pens& (benefit} are as fol!owS.: 

Cumm1 tax expen,se 
Deferred tax: expense (benefit) 

from originaUon end reversal 
of temporary differences o.nd 
othel'S 

2023 
P107,123 

{379,198) 

(P272,075) 

2022 
P97,048 

{39,392) 

P57,6S4 

Total 
P7,2"4, 106 
23,175,000 

208.835 

(21,125,000) 
(2,087.083) 

{187,941) 
P7,227.917 

2021 
P64.653 

(55,706) 
PB,947 

The dot.Rs of the net deferred tax assets and ttabilitles are as follows: 

- · °"!!.'!1,,-,,.,~. .. _. ......... .... - --~-l\ hl'f01h CJfrfl'lt'IK•M 
,.. ,~ 

mt - ,. i.. ... ·- tkl k- Ult:ilDjtt_ ,w.,__..., PJ IJ,U I ,,un m u• ·- P:lU,ul •• Ml,.--~~ .... -.,., ... _.--. ... ~ U Jl,1~ 1U.Nt i,:u ,• J~,11~ . .._ .. ,n.,,,, (l':,J)q .,.,,,, 
....... - u ... 1,1 .... ni 1'-•'4 IT!4A7ll ~...._m:, 
::,1'41«pj~·* 11ff.,m ) llJlf 1141,tJQ . ,.12•1 
' 

)ll;fll ·-~ s,i,s,o .s,i,no 
wn m...,_ l~M V'6n , ~1,•11 

..,., •. ..,.~ °"''""dt (116.1RI U._,N U.l~ 111.,,. 1,H:Z.?40 "''"" !llll<llldllllff . s,y.~1 -· 11·-··-~ ll'IIU:MI ""·'" l't•,1• ,,. ... .,. 
- .. 114 •• 

,...,,.. - ·a....-,i 2!)(?2 ·-· - · ..... --~ -~ O.~tl. --';n"-., .. ~. To TM 

~12l; ~! !:!..!'.! le!!!• '• ~l!;I l,;!5••• 
""°""""-..iw,;e, ""'"' "'"' 

.,,..., nil11' ?211,.11' • • 
_,.o,a,..~ ,t.i;>HWHIM 
.~ ...... ~,:(-l!ldOho't IGl'.G ~m '""' ...... . _.. ... """" <12..~ 

(kl ... ..., ..... ,1.._oa:o 15)111 17"'-Cl! !Ut• 
~ . ·;l,t't ............ ,.. ,,.35,ij , .. ..., 1m.c,11 1mmJ 
l!O~CO ..... ~n, tu TI'1 '"·™ "'" 19.3M lllS 211 !:5? 211 !K? '··-~in.-.tif -f/elf!"'•- · 

..... ,.,., ..... 1110.txl ..... 
jlli&llo£!l 

....,.., .,.,s 
fNl 1M JUQ 0.-.s) '"""" f>"..O,l?l ........ ~l\t]a(j ' . i Pll6J3CI 

Deferred tax e.xpense relating to remeasurements of net defined benefil tlabl ity 
,ecognl2ed In other <:omprehel\Slve lncomo amounted to ?25.7 mUllon, P95.8 million, 
and P37.0 million, in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respecti\•ely. 
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The Compar.y revi8''t'6 ltl8 carrying amount& of deferred tax .J$$&.S ~t each reporting 
d;,te end reduces tho doforrod tax asset& to tho oxtont lh3Lit Is no longer i,robable 
~t ,:;uffic!ont t..:ucable profit will be ava!lable to allow all or ~ rt of the deferred tax 
assets to be utilized. The Company also review'S tho expected tining and tax ra:es 
upon re-venal of temporary cfiffetencM and adju~s the Impact of deferred ~.x 
..ooordingly. The Company's ~ssoHmQtit on lhe recognition of deferred tax assets '5, 

based on the forecasted taxable income of the subs6quent rePorting periods. This 
forecast Is bas8d on t"' Company's past r~sults and future expectations on 
reventres and expenses. 

The teconcllaUon of the inoome tax axpe,BS8 computed at the staMory inoome tax 
rate to the Income tix expense shown 1n the statements of profit or loss and othel 
ootnp('eMnsf\'e income (loss) is as follows: 

2023 2022 2021 

Profit (loss) before ta)( (P1,503,584) P10,073 P225,835 

Tax rat$ at statuiory rate (2023. 
2022 and 2021 • 25%) 

Addition to (reductions in) 
inoome tax re&.1ltlng rrom the 

(P375,896) P2,516 P56,459 

tax effo<:1• cf: 
Tax deficiency paymenls 32.553 
Norw;teduct!ble expenses and 

others 7,516 26 41 

Equity In ne! earnings cf 
associates~ (420) (2,967) (2,356) 

Interest income subjected to 
final lax (63) (104) (163) 

lmpaCC ol CREATE Law (45,034) 

Expired MCIT 82,700 
Oerecognized MCIT 64,063 
other mavements 149,9751 25,646 

{P272,075) P57,654 PS.947 
'1C22 6-.atow.:,, «fwl,d.., Noto 7. 

A$ .1! December 31, 2023, the Company has NOLCO that csn be carried forward 
and daimed as deduction from futwe taxab~ Tncome as ronow,: 

"''" M 2S•2020 

"" 

P•U8.939 
80;t237 

1,242,116 

1>2,0$0,320 

p • 

p • 

p • 

p • 

Balance 

~.939 
800,237 

1.242.176 

P2,050,UO 

~r31, 2025 
Oeoerrt.!t 31

1 
2026 

The carryforwa!d booe1it of MCIT tllat can be claimed as 1ax credit against regular 
oorporate mcome tax is as fol lows; 

Ytat I/ICX.l'.l!,i M!our.t El.fred U.od """"" E~rl Dalt ,.,. Pa?,700 (P&i.7COJ p ' p • Deceinbe111, 2023 
'"' .. ..., 0<,00, oecetrtie1 l l, 202, ·~· 64,493 M.4!i3 Oteerri:,or l 1. 202$ 
2023 101~123 10't,l23 Ote&tNlef 1112026 

PJ11.)7t (PU,TilO) p • nl-5.679 
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'The Comj)ijny has derecog.nlzt1d MCIT a:moun1i1"9 to P64 milion 111a1 was lneurrod in 
2021 due lo management assessments ltl.at u,e ComP'{lny v,ould not be abkl to 
utilize lho MCIT untll Its e)lpiraUon. 

Bayaqihan lo Recove, as one Act 
On Sep{ember 30, 2020. ihe BIR lssted Revenoo RegulatiOl'IS No. 2$.2020 
lmplenientlng Seaion 4(bbbb) of '8.Jyonihan to Recover A$ One Ae1" which states 
it.at the NOLCO inculTCd for taxable years 2020 and 2021 ca., be carried over and 
de!med e,s a deduction from gross Income for the t16Xt five (5) conserutive taxable 
years Immediately followlng the year of such IO&G, 

Enactment or CO!potate Reooyery and Tax incootlyes for Entemrisas (CREATE) Acl 
On March 26, 2021, the Pre,ideni of the Phillppines has approved the Republic Act 
(RA} No 11-53-4, or the "Cotpor&te Reco-.·ety and Tax fn,centiveS for Enterprises P-1:J." 
(CREATE), with nine (9) provisions \'8loed by tile Pteskleirt. Below ate the salient 
features of the Aci that are relevant to tho Company: 

e. Corporate lnoo-rne tax rate is roch;ie,ed from 30% to 20% !or domestic corporations 
with net taxoble inOO"M not exceeding PS million a!ld with total as.sets not 
exceeding P100 mUllon. A!I ether domestic corpo:aitions and residenl foreign 
corporations will b8 .subject to 25% income t~ Said rG1uctions are effaciNe 
July 1, 2020. 

b. Mlnlml#'O corporate Income tax (MCIT} ra!e Is reduced fn:m 2% to 1% effec..1lve 
July 1, 2020 to Juno 30, 2023. Effective July 1, 2023, MCIT rate was reverted to 
2%. 

o. The ;~ s!tton of improperly accumulated eamif\9S tax has been repealed. 

14, O~fincd Benoflt Plan 

The Company has a fullded, noncontn"butory, final salary defined beriefit Jlan 
cow.ring substan~ally all of tis regular and full time empbyees. The Company has a 
Retirement Committe~. which is composed mainly of the Company's emp1oyees, !hat 
s•ts the pokies for th& plan arid has appointed two Ptdlipplne. ban'ks as trustees to 
manaoe the reti1emen1 fund pursuant to the plan. Annual cost is determinad by a 
quallfled actuary using the p,ojected unit credit methOd. The latest acb.:al'ial vallation 
wa• made on December 31, 2023. 

Under the o:dstin;, regu!at.OJY framework. Republic Act 7641, 'The Retiremcnt Pay 
L;,w," a company is 1oc;t1lred to pre,Jide 1e1iroment pay to quaHfted prlvate sector 
employees m the absenc.e of any retirement plan in the enthy, provided, howe·,er, 
lhat rhe emp:Oye&'s retirement bene!lts under collective bargaining and other 
agreement shall not be less than those provided for under the law. The Jaw does not 
require miniTiwn funding of lhe plan. 

The determination of the Company's net defined benefit liab!l!ty and retirement cost 
Is dependent on the selection of certa·n assumptions used by the actual)' In 
calculating such amounts. Remeasuremenls of the net defined tenefil liability are 
recognized u, of.Mr comi:rehenslve tncomc and comprise acwarial gains and loss.es 
on Ole net defined benefit liabillty, return on Jjan assets and any change in the effeet 
of asset oem~. excluding amounts included In the net Interest on the net defined 
benefit llablllty. 
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The following latte shows reconcilfalion from 1he opening balan~ to h dosing 
balances for net defined benefit llab!lly and its components; 

,.,, v,,u, (I'! N,t o.nn~ 81tn.r11 

-,.,, 000 
~2 

Pi.A1m1i. l.la!SlltY 

'"' >m '"' "" 
a.at11>ce , , Jilllllll!)'. ! !J.t$8J!i Ci,ia2.W i P2l6,Sl l l !f:12~?11} '"'~...., P111if&l 

1nclllde,t t,i Prom Of w , 
¢.119m "°""" w• U,1U 1'4,t79 8',73l 101,ffi 
run,,tuoenst 1~"' .,. ... ,...., 62,444 

lrl'ie!t ~lT\Cl)ft',e, Slll!8 110,n.!~ ~15i7,::,1 !!0,7Ul... 

111;.174 1u,,u 11:i,n,1 (10.7$'$) 1,41),ffl l lU.699 

l\~mm111er •1~ Im (Jll,. 
klu~l:)$ffJill>'I,); 

- llr;HIO)l,nl,l.q:tb ns. Ul ,08 (27~! ,..,,. 1211,eoo• 
• $1;t l'Oncaactu11r.e111 ..... 5.COI (1,:10::) 

Atlu•n Cl'!~ aue:1 11vi,,032'.l , 
~-(9 lt!t:!!M. ln:x- jl2iC$!j (10l.0'2~ a;,(IO*I 

IU,410 (Na,200·1 P2,to51 (101.011) 1«1,9!3 {3*3,7:l2) 

°"'ffl Ccffl~ s.~ (lJ!CO) ..... i>,100) (!S,900) 

84tlelb, ~ dr9tt, by (tt ,m ) 1,1i,3m 
flt t om)II~ l'Jl ,tf l> r.~ ..Jen1211c: ·34,,,:i 

{91,t H) (U,4,t,ZJ tl,tOO) (a.la~ ~U71) ~ .977) 

8-ibACt al OtcM!llff l\ nnun Pt,0,1,9':t f1'316) :MJ ~P2~6)3) l't,~t.na l>l:S2,.U2 

The current portico of defined beneit llabillty (included under ~Accounts payable and 
accrued e,cpenses· account in the S!ate:ments or nnancial posfflon) amounted to 
P47 .8 million and ?22.4 million as at Oecernt:M:K 31, 2023 and 2022, re,pee,vely, 
wb.ile the noncurrent portlo;i Oncluded vndet "Other noncurrenl liabilitie$" account in 
the statements of ftnancial position) amounted to P961.9 million and P830 miltion os 
at Oec,mbef 31, 2023 and 2022, respect•ely. 

Retirement cost is a11oca1ed between ~Cost of goods sokf' accoul'lt ln the atamments 
of profit or k>ss- and other compcehenslve ln:ome (loss), whk:h amounted to 
P18. l million, P3.1 million and P9.3 million for th& years endod December 31 , 2023, 
2022., and 2021, re$peclivety, a_nd ''Ope,etilg expenses• :iccount in the atatemonts 
of protll or loss and otl'ler oomprehensive income (10S$), whloh amounted to 
?131.3 million. P1S2.6 mm:.on and P135.9 minion f0< th& years ended December 31, 
2023. 2022 and 2021, respccilvely ($CO Notee 17, 18, 19 and 21). 

As at Deoomber 31, 2023 and 2022, the pces:ent vat\Je of 0 80 amounting to 
P1 .30 mitiol'I aOO P1 .09 million, rot~eti\loty, porbiTI$ to ~e members. 

Prlncii:el acturutal assumptions used in de,1ermining retitetMnt cost at reportin g date 
(axpres.s<id i $ weighted average.s) are as follON$" 

Discount rete 
Rate of fu1ure salary increase 

2023 
6.00o/. 
6.00% 

202~ 



• 

Plan assets al Oecemtef 31 compr.sed: 

20'3 2022 

Cash and cash eguivalenls PS. 183 P 111913 

Oebl securities: 
fnvcs1ment 1n government securities 120,125 98,347 

Investment In debt se,curi6es 411 6,400 

120,602 10<.753 

lrwestme1n In equi1y securmes· 2,735 
Food and dri nK 

3,847 

Holding COme!nt 153,6{)2 117,102 

157,449 119,837 

Total 
P286,234 P236,503 

"lndudrs lrr.'e911Tlil!I in NHC 

Oebt and equity insuuments h.aVe quoted J)Jlces in active mar1<ets. All 9ovemment 
bonds and securitlM are issued by the Phl&ppir.e govetnment, which are rated 
·sea,• by Smdaro and Poofs F11ancial SeNlces. 

other financial assets tltl-ld by the Plan are primarily 1ece'Vables and paybbles. 

Mat\Jrity analysis of the benefil paymen1s: 

During the Year Endmg December 31 
2024 
202S 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 through Oece<rber 31, 2033 

ExpaC'tod B&nefit 
Payments 

?47,827 
81,209 
66,080 
64,312 

114,960 
669,369 

Se.nsitlvlty Analysis 
Reaeonatt, possible changes at the reponing da-:e to one oi the relevant actuari.31 
assump!iOJ'l-S, holding other assumpUons con:stant. would have 3tfected DBO by the 

amounts shown bek>W: 

Scnsitlvlfy Effoct on 

2023 An3tfsls 080 

Dtsoount rate 7.00% 1.00% Increase -9.91% 

Dlsoount ,a1e 5.00% 1.00% decrease 11.67% 

Rate of s.a!ary increase 7 .00"f. 1.00% increase 11.55% 
Rale of saiary if)c,aasc 6.00% 1.00% dec,ease -10.00% 

sensltMty Effisct on 

2022 An&yS-S DBQ 

OiSCOlllt rate 8.00% 1.00% increase -9.73% 
Discount rate 6.00% 1.00% C:ec,ease 11.44% 
Rate of sala.,y lnetcase 7.00% 1.00%. incroase 11.4.4% 

Rate or sa!a~ increase 5.00% 1,00% decrease -9.91% 

A~ 9; Decemb'" 31, 2023 and 2022, lhe wei~~ted-average duraton of lhe OBO Is 
11.2::i years and 10.78 years, respe.;.U~fy. 
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These defined benefil plans expose the Company to actv;uial riSl:s. such as 
klngevlty risk. inlerest rate risk, and market f,we$1ment) Mk.. 

Toe Re-Urement committee rev/aw$ the .level of tundlng requtred for the 10tirern.ent 
fund. Suell a review Includes U~ asseHiab!ljfy matck!ng (AUA) strategy and 
Investment risk mcinagement policy. The Company's ALM objoctlve is to match 
maturtt!es of ttle ptan as.se\5 to the. ret!remenl beneflt obllgation as they fall due. The 
Ccmpany monitors haw the duration a.nd ex:pected yield of the Investments are 
matching tM e,cpected cash outnows arising from lhc reiltement benefit o~ations 

The Compan)"s expected conlribution to the plan foi the year '2023 is ?47.8 mllion. 
Ari'/ future contribuiion to the plar1 Is dete.rmlned ta'<ln9 into account the cash flow 
and t;nancial ¢00d.1tlon as at the date or Intended contribution, 9-g ,...,el) .as o1her 
fa~ors. as the Ccmpany (flay oonsider rerevant. 

The Company's runding poUcy is to contribute to lhe Pie.n's fund as re<1uired under 
actuarial principles to malntaJn the fur1d balance In sound condition. in add'rtion, the 
Company re.serves the rigJlt to discontinue, suspend °' change the l(lfe and a~unt 
of the conltibUtloos to the fund at any time M to the bus!r,ess necessrty 01 

economic condl1bns. 

1S. Share Capital 

Caprnll stock consiS1S of: 
Y..-. Elld<d ~i!l!IMI' l I 

m• - 121, 

Slllf'' Amol!fl &-~M -· "~ _.., 
>J,mobed • PC. 15 

p,u w/.ut I* snn ~oao,oo,,,;oo P7'1:1,'0) 6,~0X'.COO "'"'"' 1,0:,0 al!l,000 PT~OI» 

,....o ~peT,o•«I 
C<.uurult'G ~"~-~.,...lre,_111 <( ,_ 3,Ul,11U1t PS~Ot:i lfi.0,11'2J7t /11!,$4 );6 )$.7TU7'9 .PM4.0U 

On January 2t, 2008, the Company obtained a cenificato of pe.rmlt lo offer se<:urfties 
for sale is,ved by th• SEC consisting of 3,693,772.279 common shares wi;h a 
melCimum offer price o.i P3.50 per she,e. 

On Februa!)' 1, 2008, lh• Company's Initial public offering of 1,142,348,660 shares 
at P3.50 ptt share culminated with the lsting and trac:!inQ of its shares of stock under 
the firo! B0a1d of the PSE, Inc Of the total shares offered, 380,782,893 shares 
pertall\ to the primary offerire, which tesulted in an II\Cfease in eapttal stock 
amounting to P57.0 milion and add'fflonaJ paid-In ca.vital of P1.2 billion, net of 
P138.0 milfhn tt.lnt.iction coslth:.t is accounted for 33 a reduction In eql.ity, 

The Company has approximately 758 and 798 holders of common equity se<::urities 
as at Oe,;embcr 31 , 2023 and 2022, respee!iv&¥ , based on the nunber of acx:ounts 
,cgistered with tho S1ock r mnsJor Agent The ?CO Nominee Corporation (Fil(plno) 
and (t>lon·Filiplno) were considered as. two holders. 

On Deoombor 11, 2019, lhe Compiny received a TeOOer Offer Report from Lotte 
ChHsung Beverage Co. l td to acqWe up to 2,134,381,838 com.mon shares of th& 
Comp;iny through a -lender offer lo all shaf8hok!ers other than Lotte Corporation and 
!he members of the BOO ,,ith respect to their qualifying ccmmon shares and the 
offioera ot the Co..rnpany 
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These. dellned beneftt plans expose the Company 10 1owarial mks, such as 
longevity rtsk, lnt!rest ral8 fisk. and market {investmont) risk 

lhe Retirement Canmittee ,e~ews the levol ot funding roquired for the r*6remen1 
fund Suen .a review includes tne esse1~i1blity matching (ALM) strategy and 
tnves-1 mk maoagemem policy. The Company', ALM ob,- " 1o ...­
mal\lrilies of the plan assets lo the retirt,ment benefit obtlgotlon as they fa!I due. TM 
Company moonDf'I how d°'e dll86on and &xpe,..'"'lod yield of the lnvestmen5 are 
matctmg ttle e~ed ca.sh outtlows 1risng from the ,e6re.mont bend: obligabons 

The Company's expected «><1Cllbull0n IO !he plan f0< the year 202311 P47 8 million 
Any M ure contr1buuon to b'\e plan is determined taki,g in10 ac<:ount the c:asn row 
and mane.al oond tiOn as al tl'le date or intended contribution as well as othor 
factors a, tneCcmpanymay conslcle<relevant 

The Company's fUndl:'.'IQ ~ ll to contritxne to the Pian's fund as required unde.. 
acruatlaJ principles to marntain the hr.d ba"'Snct in sound cond ton In adcitkrl. the 
Company reserves th& (,Qhl to dltconlinue, sutp,end or chMge the rote 8/ld smount 
of che conint>umns to lhe fund at any tinrt due to the business nac11sity or 
eoonomic oomnklns. 

15. Share Capital 

Gapltill siock coosl,ts or 

~-P01• 
~.,,_,_,,._ ._......... nlt,IC'J 1.COIOOJClll) ~S)ffl s,000,000,o:g l'r~ 

ltf,l'!I Mt l)ao tM --· oe-1,,..,.,..,...J'N' )$!U1U1' ........ u,,rtun "J~* U$:S'r.::tr,o ,~ 

On JinV3,Y 21 , 2008, the Company obtained a oertificatl! of permit to offer stouriMS 
lor safe issued by the SEC CCl'l$selng 0( 3 893,m,279 ccmnon lhates Wilh I 
m~mum orrer price of P3.50 per &l\are. 

On Flbrva<y 1, 2006. the Compan/, 1'1 1,;o put;lc cffo0'9 of 1,1•2.3'8.680 .i.ires 
at P3.SO per share culmin818d vlc1h the 11$1.ing and 1rad1ng of its ,tunes of stock under 
fle ~rst Board of the PSE, tne. Of tne total st\a1es offered, 380,782.893 &hares 
pertain 10 tho prfm.ary ofie(lng, which rest.ited in an ineroase in capital S!OOt 
,mounting to P570 mUlion and additional paid-in capital ot P1.2 billton, nM of 
P138..0 milon tran:sadxln cost Nt is aocc:urted to, as a reduclion in oquiry 

The C,ompany has approximately 758 and 798 hokfers of commoo equity securities 
as a1 0-,it,er 31, 2023 Bild 2022. respectNety, based on die...,.,_ ol accountS 
registered with the Stock Ttal\Sfer Agent The PCO Nominee Corpouioon (Filtp1no) 
and (Non-Fillpm) WllNI ror.ic:,,red as two hold .... 

On Oteerrl:>or 11. 2019. tho Compony rocelved a Tonder error Repon from Lotta 
Chlsong ~oge Co LIO. 10 acqwe up IO 2,13-1,381 838 comn,on ahares of the 
Company through o tender orre, to all sharehold6/8 otner than lotte Corporatton and 
Vte menil>ers of the BOO with respea 10 their qualifying common shares and the 
omc ... or t7le Company. 



On_ June 17, 2020 Lotte Chlls"'9 Beverage Co. Ltd na, oompeted 111 tende, o"or 
wflic:11 elfect.wfy lncrea,e its ownel!hp t> l'>e Company by 30. 7"-

0n Sei:temoer 9, 2020. Che Company's BOO approved Iha vourwy dol~ting of the 
Common ,hares or the Company \\tth the PSE. 

Lotte Chrl•ur,g a .... er.ago Co. Ud. ('lotto Olllsl.w,g, filed • T enoer Olfe, Re,,ort and 
Amended lander Offer Report with the SecurHU::s end Exchango Coo,mi,siQn (SEC) 
and Che PSE on September 15, 2020 and OaDller 13, 2-020, raspective!y, fo< !ho 
remaining sl\ares owned by th& public, 

On December 1, 2020 1he Company received lnlonnation llom lo1!» CllllsuoQ 111811 
has ~ted _its tGndet offer and has acqul1ecJ addltlonal .01% of th• 1hares of tho 
C0<11Pllny, 

On Docembe< 18, 2020, lhe 8oMl or ,no PSE ho• opprovad the Comoany's 
application o1 tts del ,1men1 with tne PSE. 

Qap1ta1 Manoaemen1 
The Compatry's ol;ljectlWIS when manag.lng c;pitaJ are to increase lhe valle ol 
shareholders' ,nvesimem. Ind fflllialn ruSOMble 9rawlh ~ applying free c.aSh now 
to selective lnves,ments that would furtner 1he Companfs product and geographic: 
dive:silcaion. Tha Coo,pany ..,ts sltoteglot wilh lhe ot,rectlve of establishing a 
versatile and resourceh' l'inancial man01,emont atld capital structure. 

The Chief flianctar Offioor haS _., n,o;,or,$lbiliy for Iha rno/lltorir"9 of capjtal in 
proportion to rtsk.. Proliff to, capita! r:atios Are se1 in the ffghl of changes In ttlfl 
Corrpanys emrr.al enm,nne,I and ll'a risb underlying tile Company's business 
opeiatlons Md lndu&1ry. 

The Compony ma;n1a1ns ill u,;e of c,,plt,I SINCl1ffe uu,g • --uhy ratio whldl 
It grosJ deb! dlvid&d by equity. Tha Company Includes wittin gcol$ debt a!I fntetest­
Ctarlng Joans and t>o<rowt,gs, - Ille Com?a,,y defines eqully as l<>til oquily 
shown fn lhe otatemonts of financl1I po&.tlon. 

There wwe no chanf1DS In lhe Comfaf1Y", app,oach co ~ management during 
the year, The Company Is subject to dobt covenants rela!Jng to its IOrQ-term de bl 
(,eeNole 12) 

The eompor,y, clo!N 10 "'JJlly ratio as al reponu,g d41tas IS as lollowa. 

2023 2022 

(a) Oebr PS,631,102 P7,203,274 

(b)To<al~ P7,63&,795 PS,947,541 

Dobt lo equity ratio (alb) 1.26:1 0.8 1:1 

' , • .rtoint 10 Ntkd*Ott 

18. Retolnod E.trnlngt 

On June 20. 2019, tho Company•, BOO approved tho de<lmtion of ca,,h dMdtncts 
amounting to P162..5 rtiMlon or PO o« pe, share to au stockbokle:1a on ,ecord III of 
July 16, 2019 and wa, paid on Augu,I 9. 2019. The Ccqw,y - !he....,_,. 
from its tenders prior to declaring cfvldetids In 2019. 
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As at Deoembe:r 31, 2023, the Comp.1ny has rctalnod earnings of PS 845103 
(a-s adjusted per Revised Securities Regu1atlon Code Rule 68), ar,d shal'G ~ pit~f d 
P1 ,751,435. The C-0mpany hH a dividend policy to declaf'8 df\lidends to 
stockholder, of record. which are paid ou1 ot its unrestricted ,etained eernings. A.ny 
future dtvidcnds it pays wtl be at the discretion 6f the BOO t'lfter takill;I into account 
the foUowing: the Com(Xlny's earnings; cash flows; financial position: k>a.n ooven.ants; 
c;:,pi.WI .:ind operating progr.ss (too Note 9); and other factors is the SOD may 
con$ider relevant. Strbjod 10 the foregoing, the pollcy is to pay up to 50% of the 
annual profit as dMdend's:. In addioon, tM: Company must obtain pria wri1ten 
consont from iti lenders before It can declare or pay any cash divklends or redeem 
01 tepurch~oo any out:standlng sh11re or make any capital or as$et distrlbu;on to its 
stockho'ders {see Note 1z,. 

Unel8t the Re,..ised Corp0ration Code of the Pl'lll!ppines, stock corpotatior.s are 
ptohlbited from retaining surplus pro(ts in excsss of one hundred p0rcent (100%) of 
theit paid-in capital stock.. except: 

• Whon justified by definite corl)O<ate expansion pro}ects ot programs approved by 
;ho Board cl Oitector$; 

When the Corp.;>ration is prohibited under ~ny loan agreem~nt v~ltn any finan::181 
institution 01 creditor, whether tocal or rorergn, from declaring dividends vntnoul 
its consMt, and such consent h~s not yet be6n secured: 0t 

• When it can be clcarl.v -shown that such retention is necessary under special­
circumstances . .such as when there Is a need for reserve toe probable 

contingencies. 

As at December 31, 2023, the company has no appropriation over the excess 
,etmed eamfngs. 

17. Cost of Goods Sold 

Cost of goods sold consists of: 

Noto 2023 2022 202, 

Material$ and suppQes 
used. and taxes e. 24 P2T,955,002 P26,810,2132 P22,309,'42t 

oeprecia!IOn and 
smo.1fz;itiotl B. 9, 10, 2C, 'J7 

Oolve,Y ~d tl'elght 
Persomol e,tpense& 14, 21 
Rental and tl!lhies 27 
Olhe.rs 

1,601,273 1.763.71¢ 1,816,219 
1,526.820 1,504,906 1,222,079 

959,6154 975,631 276,658 
26,410 &Vo-<6 21,$14 

1116$1124 8&',8!17 8"7,&49 

PJ.3~238,283 P31,&21,M P2G,4$3,EAO 

The ·others .. account includes repairs and maintenance, ootskle servioes and other 
various items of ma:nuracturing ovethead which are individually ins.ignificanl 
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18. Selling and Distribution 

SeflillQ and distribution ex-penses consist of: 

Noto 2023 2022 2-021 

Oist~bv!IOf'I P1,618,79S P1, 148,240 P1,313.257 

Ottlh.'efY ,t1d frellttt 1,652,831 1,710,112 l,3M~13 
Persoruiol 0;1tr,enaea 14, 21 637,442 63S.282 el70,735 

De!)(8cia1ioo ond 
amonuiot'I s. 9, 10. z~ 21 7$8,31 2 .&00;201 4~.767 

ReMSI ll'ld ut!Ula 
., 0,108 146,190 98.724 

S.,1¢s oarntnie.lon 110.3"3 231,099 170.~t 

Ta1tee 157,213 1'.377 142.100 

""'" s 496.904 309,$97 164,409 

PS,<190-,951 P4.JS3,988 P4.391.212 

The ~omers" account includes impalrme-.nt k>sses on receivables and unusable 
oontainers, and valiou$ indMdually inslgnific~nt items. 

19. General and Admtnls1ratfve 

General and admlnis1tall•te expenses oonsi&l of: 

Note 2023 2022 2021 

Pe:sonnel expenses 14, 21 P874,080 P784,621 P685,485 

Outside services 111,560 .. 4.316 48,753 

Oer:;reclation 9, 10, 20, 27 az,s,s 78,209 73.247 

othe<s 410,701 306,467 296,584 

P1·,478,9S6 P1,213,913 P1 ,105,069 

The "Others" account inc)Jdes other items that e;e lndividuaUy immaterial 

20. Depreciation and Amortlza:fion 

Depreciation and amortization are dls.tribu1ed as follows: 

Noto 2023 2022 2021 

cost of goods sold 17 P1,601,273 Pl ,763, 714 ?1 ,816,219 

Selfilg and dl$U'ibutioo 18 758,31 2 499,291 495,767 

Generat and 
administrative 19 82,595 78.209 73,247 

P2,442,180 P2,341,214 P2,385,233 

21. Personnol Expenses 

Persoonel expenses consist of; 

Note 2023 2022 2021 

Salaries and wages P2,321,697 P2.234,186 Pl,488.634 

Retiremcm cost 14 149 379 161 ,698 145,244 

PZ,471 ,076 P2,395.S84 Pl ,633,878 
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The above a;nounls are distributed as follows: 

Not• 2023 2022 2021 
Cost of goods sold 17 P959,65A P975,681 P276,658 
Seli ng and distribution 18 637,442 635,282 670,735 
Gen2(al and adninistrative 19 874,080 784,921 686,485_ 

P2,471,076 PZ,395,884 P l.633,878 

22.. BaslcJDiluled Earnings Per Sh-are 

8asic EPS is computed as follows: 

2023 2022 2021 

Ptolll Ooss) for 1ho year 
attnbulable to eci.;IY he!ders 
Of the Company (a) (P1,231,509) (P• 7,SB1) ?216,888 

Number of issued s~res at 
beginning ind end of year 3,693,772,279 3.693. 772,279 3,693. m.21s 

NLimberweighted ai.1era,ge 
number of shares 
oulslatlding (b) 3,693,772,279 3,693,772,279 3,693,772,279 

6a•l<ldiluted EPS (alb) (P0.33) (P0.01) PO.OS 

As at December 31, 2023, 2022 anO: 2021, the Company has no c:Outive equity 
instru,r1ents. 

23. Related Party Transactions 

Related party relation.slip exim when one party has ability to control, dire,ctiy or 
lndirectty, through Ofle er more lntermediari~ . the other party or oxcrcise significant 
influence over the other ~ In makil'lg the fi.nancial and operating cSedsioM . Such 
relationsh~ also exl$1$ between Mdk>r among ertitict which are under common 
cootrol with the reporting enterprises, or betKOcn andlor among th& reporting 
enterprises and their key manag-etnGnt poroonnel, di;edors, or tts stockholders. 
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Related party transactions are shown undec the approprla!e ar.eoonts in the f;nancial 
statemems as foilows: 

11.«1,, ,W.,. 
,1,....., ... , °'""'"' .. IAfl_ .. ,.,,_,_ °"""" .. f'tlfllt,J .. o) 

C,1!Sl!i!IX 
_,.(II w~ 0.... 1!-fWJ 4'<'10,I 

T,1111"'!!!9 - ,_ ,.,locl 
"'"'"" '"""' E.S':•!!•l f!!l!!I -.... ..... •. .. .. . Prt,101 •• l"IU Hf = 100,lZI -- ... ~tll . -- "' ... "" - ~ae-011 b!Mtltkl; 

;,:, "'"' ·- ao~I -~ ~ ..... 
):;,,1 ... ...... """"~ ......... _., m-.... .. "" HAU ... U.OM 

'" """ "'""' - , .. ... M '1A'U (U»_.f70'/ .:11-.. ...... 

t.OJ:1,796 
........ ~ 

m; l l,(ID!l~ 
.,..,._ ·---,., uam ........ .,...,. _ 

.._. ,. 
"'"' ...... 

___ ,.. 
= 4J .s.,. .... - lrl--1119 

= ''"" """' •1.-. .... 
-"""' ,..- M ... 121,n, IW,Q l 11-..t: -- ""''•""""" ""' u1.~ m.= ,.._ - ro,iei-=o•<t ... U',ffi ~-,.;..r,to'l'lorl ............ ....... '" '"' ...... ....... .., .. ,.., = .... ~ .... "" -"" ~ ... ·-- = "" ...... "" :in N""' I"""'°" 

= ...... 1r1,1 919, 171) 

'"' -- ~NOl*O 

The above outstanding balances of due trorn retated parties are un&eC"Ured aoo 
expected to tie settled in cash. No inpainnet1l losses ha,·c been reccgniled rn 2023, 
2022 and 2021 in respect of amounts of due from related parties a5, 1hese are 
considered to be ooUeciible. 

The Company has slgn!flcam refaied p.3rty tran,aalons which 01e summanzcd :, 
follO'Mi: 

a. The Company pUfChaS&d tlnished goods from Lone Chilsur:g Beverage Co., Ltd. 
Total purchases for the year& ended December 31, 202i 2022 and 2021 
amounted to P67.7 milllon, P108.22 million ruxt P4,62 million. rcspec:lively. 

During 2023, the Company also availed services from its affl!eie, Lotte Global 
Logi$1lcs Ph!IIA)ines, !no., wilh a total v.alue of P296.17 milion, The oul$tanding 
balance for lllese services amou.nted to P21,25 mtJion and P1 5.59 mlllfon :is at 
Oe<:ember 31 , 2023 and Oecembet 31, 2022, respcdivdy. The Company made 
purchases of .-aw and packaging ,na1erials from Lo:tc Chefflical Corp amounting 
10 nil and P98.7 million for the year encfod Oocembe! 31, 2023 a nd 
Oecember 31, 2022, respec:H\fe!l?y. The outstanding bo1.:ince for lhO$e purchases 
amounted to P11.50 million and nll e5 at December 3 t, 2023 at1d December 31, 
2022, respectivety. The Company's outsiandi"9 payable tor ils purcflase from its 
major shareho!d<u Md' affiliafe ~ included undet the ·Accounts p;.1yable- and 
acauad e>cpet1se,• account in the Meltements of Rna.ncial position. 
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b. The Compa~ leas.es parcels of land where some of ls bottling pfanb a,e 
rocatod. Amortiz.at1011 expense fos the right.cf.use asset fo, the le<1$ed p•rcels of 
fands w~ reoog.,lted under "Cost of goods soler and "Operatir,g axpeJi,es" 
accounts in the. statements of p,ofrl. or bss and olher comprehet)S.ive inoo 
(loss} atnounted P16.2 mnnon tor the )-ear ended December 31 2023 ~ 
P15.2 mm1on for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. The C0<r,,3ny 
has advances 10 NRC amounting to P38.0 mtlion as at December 31 2023 
Which bear ln:eresl al 8 fixed rate of 10% per an.num and which are uns'.eoored 
and col!ecttO!e on d~mand. The retaed interest income amounting to P3.8 ni!lion 
each fo r the years ended December 31, 2023, 202:2 end 2021 is recog.nlzed as 
part of ·~mer Income - net" under ·Finance and other income {expenses)' 
account 1n ttte sta1emerus of profit or loss and othet ocmprehensive income 
(loss). The Comp.any also has out&tanding net ,eceN'ab!es from NRC arnount!ng 
to P478 9 m!Hlon ar,, P483.3 mill.on as at Deoombet 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respeclively, \'mlch are unsecured aoo co1.ecuo1e on demand. The advances and 
recelvabres are included under "Due from related parties" account In the 
stafemems or linancial position. 

c. The Company has outstandrlg working c,pital atfi,,ances lo NHC, an assoc:iata, 
amounting 1o P12,3 mitlron a.id P9.6 milion as at December 31, 2023 ancl 2022. 
respectively, and which ere unsec1.1red and eolld bl~ Otl derrumd. The advances 
am incfuded undet 'Due from related parties' accouf\t in the &latemen:s of 
fiMncial positioti. 

d . In OOdition 10 their saf.aries, the Company also prow:les non-cash benefits to key 
management petsonn<:il and cooltibulG:S to~ dof.ncd bonolii: plan on their behaf. 
There are no ~;1reements between the Company ~.n::I My of its dlre<:t01$ .11"\d koy 
officers pro'Ading for benefits upon termination of employment. except fo1 such 
bonefits for whth they may te entitled un®r lhe Company's retiraman! pl5n. 

Transaction$ w#h the Defined Benefit Plan 
The Company's retirement fund is being held In trust by trush!e banks. 

As a1 December 31, 2023 and 2022. the fair value of the retirement fund amounted 
to P286.2 milion and P236.5 milrion, respeciivetf, The retirement fund consists of 
00-•,emment .and deb! securities, equities aid other ite.ms such as cash and cash 
equlva!Mts, receivables and payables, which acoounted for 42%, 0.2%. 55%, ar.d 
2.9% of plan assets. respectively in 2023 and 42%, 3%. 51%. and 5% of plan assets. 
respectivefy tn 2022 {see Note 14). The retirement plan has no invesfflents in the 
Company or any rocel•tal>Jes from the Company. 

The Company made contributions to the retirement fund amoc,ntlng to P3.9 mllUon, 
P36.6 million and P36.0 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021 . respectively. 
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24. Sign Ifie.ant Agreements 

The Co?lpany has exclusive bottling agreement and other tn;JJ'\hctioos wh:ch are 
summamed below. 

a. The c.ompany has Excluslvc Bottling Agreements. w1th PepsiCo, Inc. (PepsiCo), 
the ultimate p~nt .of Ouaker Gl~bal fn~mcnts B.~ •• a shareholder, up !O yeer 
2029. and Pepsi ~1pton lnto,national l lilllted (PepG, Lipton), a Joint Yenture of 
PepsiCo ~nd Un1l~er N.V., up to yea, 2029. Under the ag,eemeo1s, the 
Company tS authorized to bottle, sel and d!sttibl.00 PepsiCo and Pepsi Lipton 
beve~ge procntcls In the Philippines Jn &ddltlon, PepsiCo and Pepsi Upton llha!I 
supply the Compan)' wlh the main raw matesials {concentrates) ln the prOduction 
of Ctiesc be"erage products and share In the fundjng of celtah marketing 
programs. The agreements may t:e rooei.w,d by mutual agree~t ber11een thti 
pardes.. Uocte1 the agr~em~ts. PepsCo and Pepsi Upton have the nght to 
torminate the oontrac'I! und&r certain conditions, including failure to comply 'Mth 
terms and oondltions of the ag1eemen1 subject lo written notice and rectification 
period, changt: of o·v.mership control of the Company, eha~e of ownership 
control of tin entity \l'jhich controls 1he Coi'npany, diaoonlinuance cit bot!ing 
beverages for 30 COMee\ltlve days, ocC\lrrence of certain events leading to the 
Company's lns.olvency or benkrup1cy, change in management .:ind control of tho 
business, amcing 01hers. P1.:rchases mad9 from Pc~lCo i$ mode m3inly thru 
Concentrate Manufacturing (Singopc>fC) PTe l.ld. {CMSPL). Total net purchase; 
from CMSPL otno!Xlted to P7.6 billion and P6.8 billion tor the >>e.-ir, erded 
December 31, '2023 and 2022. The Company's outstanding payable to CMSPL 
(i:nciuded Lnder "Acc:ounts paya.We 3nd aoorued expensas' acooun1 in the 
statcrncrus of financial po,ttion) as at~cEn'lter31. 2023 and 2022 smounte.:i to 
P1 3 billion and P1.8 billion, respectlvtly. Tot.ii purclliises trom Papsl Upton 
amountEP to P'207.3 niUion, P220.7 minion a.rd P31.4 m!IUM for too years ended 
December 31. 2-023, 2022 and 2021. respealvely. Tho Companfs. ootstanding 
payabio to Pepsi Upton (lnduded I.Mer "Accounts payable and &"...tru&:I 
expenses" accounl In the &atements of finarclal pos'ruon) amourted to 
P32.1 m111on andP71.8 million as al December 31, 2023 and 2022. respectiwly 

b. The Company ha, cocipefa'We advertising and marketing programs with 
PepsiCo and Pepsi Lipton 1/VU CMSPI. Ula! sets forth me agreed advemsing and 
marke!irg acii•1ities and participation anangffllent during the years covered b/ 
the bottling agfeements. In certah fnseanees, the Coft4'.)any pays for ttle said 
expenses and claims reimbursements from PapSfC!> tnru CMSPL The Comparvf 
inwrred rnarl<eting expenses amountiC"Q to P721 .6 mlllion. ?376.2 million and 
P335.7 milion for the years ended December 3·1, 2023, 2022, and 2021, 
respee1Neiy. The Comp11ny's outstanding receivable from CMSPL indudad 
untie< ~Reoeivables' accou.nt tn tile statements of financial position, whk:::h are 
unserured an:f ate payable on demand, amount&d to P400.1 million, PG22.6 
mll ion and P2-'4,0 million as al December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 
respeetl\'efy. 

c. Tne Com-pan'( entered lnw an agreement 'M1h PepsiCo to meet certain 
marll.eiirt3 and lnv&Stment levels, as requkecl by I.he botWng egreement with 
PepsiCo. TM agreemeflt requires the Company to. among olhers,: (1) spe<d or 
1n'l8s-t a spcci1ed amounl to maintain sufficient oonta1ners, bottles and sheC:s <>f 
toe t>everage ptodu<::ts; {2) mainlab ce!Ulh minimum annuat manufactuing 
capacity and sufficient waft!house capacity to meet peak demand for 00,1e1a9e 
products; (3) inveisl in a mirlimum nuin~r of coolertl .,/\d foun1aln equipment per 
year to suppon dlslribution expansion; Md (4) expand tlw! Corr,flany's 
d~ttibution capabi!l!ies in to,ms of the numtJer of activs routes, the number of 
new routes and the number of trucks uied fordistribu~on support. 
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25. Revenue Disaggregation 

(Amounls In Millions) 
Catbon,led Soft Drink 
Ncn Carbonated Bevorage 

2023 

P26,079 
14,177 

P.40,256 

2022 
P25,984 

12,373 
P38,357 

2021 
P22,992 

9,790 
P32,782 

26. Finonc:ial Risk Management and Financial Instruments 

C@s§jfying Financial Instruments 
The Company exercises judgments il clas.sltylng a financial lnstcument, or It$ 
componen1 parts, on inltial recognltjon as eitner a financial asset, a fin¥tcia1 Habitity 
o.r an equity instrumenl in accotdance with the subs1at1ce Qi the contractual 
arrangement cild the definition ol a flnanc;ai asset, a financial Jlabi!ity or an equity 
instrumel'lt The substance of a finar.dal instrumenl. talher lh~n its legal fonn, 
governs i1s classification In the statements or financial position. 

flna.ncial Risk Maoaqetnent 
Ovetvi&w 
The Company ha.S exposure to the fellowing risks from its u&e of financial 
instruments; 

C<edit Risi< 
• Liquidity Risk 
• Mark&t ~isk 

This f'IO?e presents information aboot the Company's oxpos.ure to each of the above 
tiSks, the company':s objecti-.re,, polici0$ and processes for measuring and 
m.anagi:ng mb. 

The maJn purpose of the Company's dealngs In finandat l.nstOJments is to fund its 
operations and ca?1tal expcnditi.ires. 

Risk Management Framework 
The BOO or the Company has owra.ll responsi:buty for lhe estabfishment and 
0·1e1slght of the Company's risk management framewoli< The Company's 800 has 
established the Executive Committee (EXCOM), v,hlch is responsible for developing 
and monito;ing the C-Ompany'$ , isk mc'lnagerneol policies. Tha EX.COM ld-entifies al 
issues affecting the opo!'atrons of the Company and repons regi.t.arty to the 
companYs 800 on its activlWS. 

rne CompMy's tls.k msnagoment poiioios are established 1o identity and analyze the 
rlsks faced by the Company, to set appcopriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitot 1isks and o.dheronco to limits. Risk management policies and syst81t\S are 
reviewed regularty to reflect changes in mat~el oonditions arid the Company's 
activities.. The CompMy, through Its trainrtg. and management standards and 
pr9cedures, aime; to develop ::i disciplined and constructive control eovirooment in 
whieh all employees unde1stand their roJos and obllgatiollS. 

Th& Company has an Aud1l Committee, which performs oversight over financial 
management and Internal control, $peclfically in the a1eas of managing ccedtl. 
liquldlty, market and other risk$ or thf3 Company The Company's Audit Comminee is 
assi&ted in the oversight 10?-o by the ln1emal Audit {IA). The Ccmpany'! IA. 
under1akos bo4h reguJar and ad hoc reviwm of r:sk man.~gement eontrols and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Commit!ee. 
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i hefe were no changBS In Ute Company's ot>jecuves. policies and processes tor 
managfng tne risk. and the melhOds used to measure the risk rr·om previous year. 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk represents 1he risk of loss the Company would Incur if aedt eUSlomers 
and counterpardes fail to perlorm their contractual obligations. The Company$ aedl1 
risk arises principaJly from the Company's cash in banks, receivables and due from 
related panics. 

Exposuro to Crodit Risk 
The carrying amounts of the financial assets represent the company's maxfmum 
credit exposure before effect or any colfatetal and any master netting agreements. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk. ~s at Deicombet 31 is as follows;: 

Note 2023 2022 
C.sh In banks 4 P216,507 P324,73S 
Recefvables • oot 5 2,873,434 3,007,028 
Due from related parties 23 491,250 493,078 

Totaf cr~it exposure P3,681,191 ?3,824,844 

The Compa1y has a Plant Credit Committee (PCC) fot each of the plant. The PCC 
has established a credl policy under wtich each neW customer is Matyzed 
lndlvidua!ly tor ,creditworthiness before standard credit terms and conditkin$ .ue 
granted. The PCG's review tndude& the rcqufremen!s of upda.tcxl credit applic3tion 
documen!s, credit vetlflca:fons through confirmation that the.re are no credit violstlons 
and that the a~counl Is not included In U'le negative litt (1st of blGC:ktisted customers). 
tllld ana?ys,es of financial pctformance to easuce credit capacity. Credii limfis: are 
established for each customer. wf',ich &tirvc ae !he maximum open amount at which 
thay ato ;illO\Ved to p.urchase on crGdit, provided that credit terms and conditions are 
¢!>$$Ned. 

TM CJectit limit and status of each customer's account are first checked before 
p<OC8S$ing a cMdlt t:ansactlon. Customers that fail to meel the Company's 
conditions in tM cred"Jf cOO<:king process may transact with the Company onJy on 
c.;1sh basis. 

Most of the Company's cus.tomers have bee:n transacting with the Company for 
several years, and losses have ocrurred from time to time. Customer credit risks ate 
monitored through annual credb reviews conducted on a per plant basis. Results of 
credi1 ,eviews are grouped and summarized according to cred'rt ch.aracteris1ie:s. such 
as gaog1aphic focatfon, aging profile end credit violations. Histotically, credit 
violations have been attributable to bounced checks, denied and absconded credit 
accounts. Reeeivabt~s from ;hese customers a1e considered by the Company to be 
impalred. 

h Is the Company's POiicy to enter into lransac~ons with a diVerslty of creditl10<1/ly 
parties to mrtigate any significant concen1ration of credit ris.k. 

Collaterals are required from customers (01 credit limit :applications lhat exceed 
certain thresholds. The Company has polldes fOf acceptable collaterat securities that 
may be presented upon submission of credit applications. Collaterals Include bank 
guarantees, time deposits, surely bonds, ,ea! oo.tate and/or chattel mongages. The 
aggregate fair market value of these eoffateral securities amounted to P151.8 million 
and ?217 .2 million a.s al December 31. 2023 and 2022, respectively. Total amount of 
receivables thal have colJateral 8J110<Jnted 10 P102.2 million and P194.8 million as at 
De<:ember 31, Z023 and 2022. 
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To pursut timely realization of collateral In an Ofderiy manner, the Company's policy 
dls«>u1ages lhe acceptance of chattel and real estate ooUateraL For <hattel and relit 
estate collaterals, the Comparty t reated rules gover~ g 1he acceptance ot such 
guatamees. On ns1ances of ooslomet deraun, lhe PCC, With the $Uppon of the 
corporate legal departmenl, is respon$ib1e tor the foreclosure of eollaterals in the 
form of real and movable pefsonal properties. Sefiei of demancf lettet·S are .sent to 
the defau!ti'lQ customer to command ror payme,1t and to propose ror det>t repaymenl 
agreements. If the customer fails to cooperate, Che case will bO endOrsed to Iha !~al 
department to facil itate ttle foreclosure of the eonateraL The Company .oenerany 
does oot use non.cash collateral for tts o!NTl operations. 

NS at December 31, the aging an.a!ysls-per cla:ss of financial assets i$ as toUoY,s: 

l1!t~!tll!b<t ~l . ~2~~ 

"''"'" P• st Oue bul 1'.0I fflp,111!!£! 
Past Ot,H, nor 

1 "" 
3t ta ,o M«ethan 

lm~lrtd Day:• D!is iO !!!Xt be!re4 To,,I 

Cioh In bank& P11l.-S07 p • p . p • • • P218,$07 

Rooo,.,,bb: 
TA dlt 1,1~ffl 1'5,4·12 133,1'1 2.72,04 17','41 2,4'6.784 

Oft11u~ ttU ~ .,.... 71;,< l67.433 1&U1t> 122.101 

Ouc from ~lll!cd 
E!r1ies u,,2~ ,.,.,., 

1,$*'-ffl &,19.180 105,0ZS 640,12'7 345,4$1 3.tu..~2 

Len aJowlllct IOt 
ime!;iTncml. lou.• 3451411 l45t51 

P1,tif)879 P! 49,160 P2K.025 P$40,127 p . P'l,,5&1, 191 

Qea3(r'lbef 3j, 2Ql2 ........ P:u t ~ b1t1 119' !D!l'rlld 
Past Due u r 1 1!130 31 to60 Mc-re th.in 

!!!l\!;Nd 
..,, Da:r:i l!OOiix, rm2a1roo T..i 

casnlll ~rkf P'324,,73a p • p • p • p . PU4.T38 

R.4ccivahltt: 
$25.13$ 2..371,864 T- ....... IA-l.904 1!0,0)8 1S3,539 

"',,.,. 370.7'25 202 ,.su 413,161 97,197 t$5,9CO 

Due fran 19181$$ ..... 4!QOTO 49M1t 

2."7, Hit e..4,1~ l ~C~ 11:ie,01 2&0tl0 ~.C7S..~ 

Less akw4-'IO- l ~1 
lmeaifmMll 12i:iU 2:0,7l6 2~l36 

P2.087.187 P&44,IC6 P1$4,e&> p~,90, • • ?3,624.8« 

As at Oecembe1 31 , 2023 and 2022, there was an allowance for impaitrnent loss of 
P345.5 rniffion and P250.7 mlll!on. respectNely, relafug to tra:te and ether 

receivabfes. 

The-Comparty beUQvos th3t !he unimpaired amounts that are past due by rnore than 
thirty (30} deya ara &tlU collectible, based on historic payment behavio1 and exte~ 
anai~sis of customer crodt risk, In addition, the Company befleves th.at the amc,,Jnls 
o! finanefaJ assets that ar& neither pas'! due nor impairad are ooneetib!G, based on 
historic payment behavior and extensive analysis of oounterpartlas credit risk. 

The Company's exposure to erodit risk arises from default of the counterparty Thece 
ii no sign!ficOl'lt ccnoentnilon of credit risk within the Company 

The cred:il qua,ues of financial ascets that wet8 neith~r past due nor Impaired are 
detetmined as fotlowa: 

• Cash in banks are baeed on tho crodit s-tsnd!ng or r.i:ting of the counterparty, 



• iotal receivables aro due from rela!ed parties are based on a combination of 
credit standing or rati!li;1 of the eounterparty, hrs.orlca1 experience and specific 
and co!!ecthie ctedit risk assessment 

High grede cash in banks is deposled fn klcal banks th.at are ~nsidered as top tier 
banks in the Philippines In terms of resources and profitabl1!ty. Receivables imd due 
from related parties are considered to be high grad& quality financial as.sets, wtiere 
the cnunterparties ha.ve a very remote likelihood of defautl and have consistently 
exhibited good paying habits. High grade qual~y f nandal assets 3'e thOS8 assessed 
as having minimal a edit risk, otherwise they are of standard grade Quality. Standard 
grade quality financial assets are those :as.s.ess.ed as having mfrtimal to regular 
instances of payment defaul due to ordt1ary/common colection issues. These 
accounts are typically not impaired as the oountar.oarties generally respond to credit 
actions a.nd update their payments aocordingty. 

ECL Assessment 

Trade 8f1d Other ReceivablB.t 
The company allocates each exposure to a credit ri:sk based on data that 1$ 
dete1mined t() be predictive of the risk of loss (lnctuding but not limited to external 
ratings. aucLled financial s!atements, rrran&gement aixounts and cash flcm 
projections i nd avaUable press information about customers) al\d applying expected 
ctedit judgment Credit risk grades are defined using qua!itatlve a.nd quantitative 
factors 1h00 are indicafive of the riskofdefau!t. 

f)(PoSures within each credit risk grade are segrr.ented ti/ matttet or customer type 
aoo an ECL rate is calcutat@d for each 5egment based on dalnquency staws and 
actual cted"rt bss experience. 

The fO!low!nQ table proVkieis "tormatk>n abOUt the exposure to c.edit ri$k tor trade 
ard other reoeivable$ as at December 31, 2023 and 2022: 

2023 
Gr= 

Cartylng 
Amount 

CtJrrent (not past due) P1)279,122 
1 • 30 days past due 849,160 
31-60dayspostdue 205,025 
More than 60 days past due 885,S78 

Balance a;t Oee&mber 31, 2023 P3,218,835 

2022 
Gross 

Carrying 
Amount 

O.meru (not past due) P1
1
269,371 

1 • 30 days past due 644,106 
31 - 60 days past due 154,650 
Mom than 60 days past due 1,169,637 
Balence at December 31, 2022 P3,257,764 
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lmpal,ment 
Loss 

Allowane~ 
p . 

345,451 
P346,451 

lmpa!rmen1 
l 0S$ 

Allawance 
p . 

250,736 
P250,736 

Credit· 
Impaired 

No 
No 
No 

Partlall:t.. 

Crecltt­
impa1red 

No 
No 
No 

Partial!( 



Loss rates ate based on actu•f credit '°'' o~e ewe, th'N years consider.ng 
cireums1anoes at the reportJng date. Any adju$ffl')ffnl to the lo$s rates for forecasts of 
Mt.re economc condl/o'l5 ore 004 c,q,ectod io be m•torial. Tho company a~p1:.,. 
the simph'fied approaeh rn pl'OViding for ECL prescnbed by PFRS 9, which PMmif:s 
the use of fhe .itetime e,<pee1ed bu provtl,lon and applies • ptovi.sion matmc. The 

~-Of !ho - lols ta1" IO Ille -·-o/ lhe Company doet no! 
hsve a material lmpaGt on thO ftnano:it &!attmen~ 

The. matunty ot lhe Con"l)an)ls ~ and other rec:er.sbtes iS ,." than o:iie year, 
wh.lch inpfles 11\01 lhe l!ktllme ECL and Ule 12-month ECL are simUar. I 
Ca.$h ;,t Benb I 
Tho Company hold eath in banks amounting to P216.5 mUlion and P324,7 million as 
ac Oerembc:1 31, 2023 and 2022. ~y. Tht cash In baJtks Js dcposiiod In 
local ba,ika, which i$ r.1ttc1 a, hJOh grade. I 
ftl'lpairmont on cost, in ba11ks has been me.aJUred on a 12~ e>rpeeted kJSS be:a.ls I 
and reflects tha ahort maturities of the etpo1u1es. The Company cons«Nrs tftat fts 
cu.h in bar..ks Nve Jow c:edd risk based on the extetnaJ Cl&dlt ratings of 1he 
countcrporti8' .1ncf any ECL is e:xpectect to be lmrnatllliat 

{>JO from Ro/8/sd-
Tho Company has due from ttlated parttes amounting- lo P491.3 mi.on and 
P403,1 mllllon a, at December 31. 2023, and 2022, respecllvely. Oue from retated 
partfes consists of receNable:S tom COU1terpatUes that have• vety remot• ILket;hood 
or cref.1uti because there rs no known Stgnll'fclnt l n,nciaJ difficult)' d. N 
counteq>airtJes a.nd no probabl1i~ that the counta.rpanles will enter bonkluptey based 
°" tile .... - ffna<)(:,aj fn/ormollon. 

Jff1)al'TT.enrl on due lro'n related partiet has been me&Sured on o 12-month ECL 
ba$/s and reftects me shott maMlt-es ol Ille exposures. The Company """9iders Illa! 
its due irom ,elated patties has Jaw credit risJi: based on the external credit ratings of 
Ille~ ond any Ea. ls expecle<l to be ommo1l>rlal 

l,iaulditv Rig 
Li<;uf4ity risl< IS the rtslc NI rile Comp,,ny will encoun:o, cffllculty In meeting 5nanclal 
obllgellons 8$ lhey fall due. The Compony monogoo liquidity risk by fo<e<:asSng 
p,ojeded ca.sh flows and maintaining I balance betwc81l continuity of funding al\d 
tlexib,fty in operations. Treasury convots and p,ocec1'.1ru ar6 1n p3ce ilQ en....-e that 
sufflc'ent cash is maintained to cover dally operational ind working capital 
requhmeffts ~ well • ~:al expencftt.wes and debt service payments. 
Manegem«u closety monl:0<> the Company's fllture and conbngenl obigolions and 
set5 up required cash reserves as necessary In accordance with ltnemel 
requfreme<llS. 

In addllicn, the Company malnlaint the following oredit facllitioa: 

• Totar commitment as at oeoomber 3·1, 2023 and 2022 under ttlo ltne of credit is 
1'22.1 l>ollan and P17.• tilllOn, respectively ol which Ille Company had drawn 
1'9. 7 b~/on and F'T.3 bl/ion, re1pec1lve!y, uncler tellers of etvdit, short..,,rm loans 
and tenn loans. Alf facilities under Ula omnibus lines and 1orm loan& bear 
negol!a:ad interest al ffoa~ng rates consfsdng of a margin c,,e, cum,nt Pllilij,pnt 
treasury r•tes; and 

• P1.1 tiillfon domestic bills purchased lne, '-Nhfch are a"l8Jable ,s at 
December 31, 2023 and 2022. respeeUvely. 
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Expos11ro to Uqw'dity Risi< 
The tabla summarize, the ma1urlty profile of the Company's financial li.abilille& based 
on contractual undisoounled amount, Including estimated interest payment$ Md 
e.)(cluding tbo Impact of *ny neftlrg arrangements: 

Ftnar.clal llablllt!es 
Accounts pay,ble and accrued 

Olq)O!'lMS • 
S~-tenn debt 
Long-term 6ebl 
Olher noncurrem !ia'tililiff 

Fwlnelal t.Jaollltlet 
A,;icwnt11 ~eble and accrued 

8)11)8"1$0' • 

Shorl-tetm 6el)t 
Long-1ermdebt 
Other noncurrent l abilltfe& 

Carrying 
Amounl 

As !I OeeHnbtt 31 , 2023 
Contractual Ono Yeu 
Cash Flow or Lou 

P7,411,17.S P7 ,411,175 P7A11,175 
2.217,500 
2,119,821 

2.211,soo 2,211,,00 
7 A-20,601 7,459,5,8-3 
t ,S141389 1,514,389 

A& at December 311 2022 
Gall'yina Comradual Ot.e Year 

' "''""" Cash Flow or Less 

P10,668,093 P I0.8;8.093 P10,668.093 
2,050.000 2,076,959 2,076,959 

5,153.27' 5,177,917 1.118,.333 
1,227,104 562,~ 1&5,727 

P19,098,471 P18.485.80!! p 1,,02&,112 

More than 
One Year 

• • 

5,339,782 
!,514,3'39 

P&,8$4;151 

M0te lhan 
Qoe Ye.ir 

p ' 

4,0S8.s&4 
3!>71109 

P-4,456,693 

It is not expected that the cash flows induded in Ute matu1ity analysis ooulO occ:ur 
significantly eat1ler, or at slgniRcantly different amounts. 

Financial As$<1ts Used for Mana/jllg Lif/u/dity Risk 
The Company considers e>1pected cash flOWs ttom financial assets in aMessing and 
managing liqui(Qy risk. To manage its llquidity risk, tile Company forecasts cash 
ft.ows from operations for the next stx montns Which wl!I resu&t in addillonal availobJe 
cash resources and enable tt'.e Company to meet tt.s expected cash outflcw 
requ:reme.nts. 

Mar1<at Risk 
Market risk 1, the risk ltlat changes In market prices, wch es commodity prices, 
foreign exchange rates, lntetest rates and other market prices, 'MIi affect tho 
Company's profit cs the value of tts hotfings of financlel instruments" The objectiv-0 of 
mal'ket risk management Is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters. whlle opdmiz.ing !he tetum. 

The Cc:rnpany is subject to various ma1ket risks, inctudi.ng risks from changes In 
commodity prices, Interest rates and currency exchange rates. 

e.posure 10 Commodity Prices 
The risk from commodity price changes ndates to the Company's eblllty to recover 
higher protfu,ct cosls th(ough price increases to customart., ,,•hiw may be fimited due 
to the compfflitive pricing en\Jironmen1 that e)C!sts in the Phllippine beverage ma1ket 
and lhe wlllb)gness of c:ons1,mers to puf'<:hase the s.1mo voJume of bevei:agas at 
higher price& The Company is exposed kl changes in Phfflpplne sugar prices • 
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The Company minimizes 11$ exposure Ill nsks In changes ., commodity prices by 
e~tenng conuacts with suppliers 'Mth dutatlon r'Mging from sl:x months to one year; 
wit!1 fixed volume commitme.nl for tt,e oon1raet dlf'ation; and with stipulation tor price 
adJustments dependfng on market prfce,. The Company has outstandilg purchase 
commitment amountirg to P597.8 mUlion and P7.t bili on and as at 
Oecembef 31 , 2023 and 2022, respectively. Because of these purchase 
~~m.ltments, the Company oonsK!ers Cle exposure to commodi'ty price rts~ t<> be 
ms1gn1flcanL 

l:xposure to Interest Rale Risk 
The Ccmpanf s exposure to interest rates pertains to its casn In bankS, shon,term 
debt, 1ong-tenn debt and finance lease obligation. The Company has outs~ndi~ 
te<m-loans trorn banks totiiling to P7 .4 bil lon and P5.2 billion, wtiosa i.i tecest rates 
are repriced every qua.rte<, wtiich is the COmpanfs exposure ta inle1est rate risk: es 
at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

Sensitivity A/18/ysis 
An inc::rease in the interest rate b-y 50 basis po,iri:s would dwease net Income and 
equity by P27.a million and Pt9.3 mllfon as M Deoember 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respec6vely, A 50 basis point$ dec:ease in the tnterest rates would hava had the 
equal but opposite e!fecl on the net Income and equity, on the basis that a1 other 
vari-ables remain constant. 

Exposure to Fomlgn currency Risk 
The COmJNW'I)' is exposed to rorelg.n currency risk on purchas:e-s \Mt :;ite 

de-nominala:d in currencies olhet than the Phl.!pploe p850, mo$0y in United States 
dollai'. In respect of mone1ary assets and liabilities hold in Q1rrenci8s other thai, the 
Phlllpp!ne peso, the Cccnpaoy ensures th.at its oxposure is kt.pt to an acceptable 
kwel, by buying foieign curende$ at spot rates where nect~.ry lo address short· 
term irrbalances. The CompfflY consklered the expo.sure to foreJgn aJrrency risk to 
be insignificant Furthor, the Conl)~ny does not hold any Investment In foreign 
securities es at Ocoember 31, 2:023 and 2022. 

f sirValyOS 
As at Oeoemb~t 31, 2023 and 2022. the carrying amounts of the finaocial assets and 
liabl!li,e$, which includtt cash. recelvab!es. due from related parties, short.ierm debt 
artd accounts ~yable and aCQUed expenses, reasona~y approxxtiate fair values 
due to the $hort-lel'fn nature of these financial instnments. The Company's long 
term-debt approxima!es fts fair vafues as it$ mterest ra:es are repriced every c~n 
p,ricd. 

There were no transfers bet..veen le•,el 1. 2. 3 of the fair value h!erarchy. 

27. Commitments, Contingencies and Losses 

a. LeDB6S 
The Company le::ses ~rtaln warehouses, facilities and automobiles for a period 
of one to twonty-five years, renowable tor another one to twentv·m'G years. The 
Company h~s delermin&d th~t all significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
these properties remain with tl)e lessors a.nd the Jeaso do not pro,i,de fer an 
option to purchase or trans-fer ownership of the property at the end of the leaui. 
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TOO Company recognizes a nghl-01-use asset and a lease liabllfty at the il>ase 
commencement dafe. The right-of-use as.set is ln.ltially me.asured at cost and 
subsequenUy at cost less any aocumulaled depreciation and impa!rrrent los$eS 
and a~us!ed fer certain remeasurement, oi the lease Mbility, The ,vhk>f,usa 
assef is irutiaJly measured at cost. and subsequeoHy measured at fair ,,a!ue in 
accordance W:'th the Company's accounting poicies. • 

The lease l abiity Is initially measured al the present •1alue of the lease paymen!S 
that are not paid at the commencement dale. disoounted llSillg lhe lrterest rate 
Implicit in the lease er, H that rate cannot be reaclly deiermined, fhe Company's 
incremental booov.ing rate. Generally, the Company uses its lncremMtal 
borrowing rale as lhe discount rate. 

The lease rlablllty is -subsequentiy increase1 by the interest cost on the lease 
liability and decreased by lea$! paymMl made. It is 1~measu1ed wt)en tbere is a 
ctiarge in f\ture lease payments arising from D chanse in an Index or t at&, a 
charge in 1h-e estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual 
value gua1antee, Of as appropriate, Wnges :;, the assessment -0f Yo'he!her a 
purchase or oxtanslon option ~ ,easonably cem:n to be exercised or a 
term!natiol'I option is reasooabt)' certain not to b! exercised. 

The Compal'I'/ has a.pplied Judgement to determine the !Ease term fer some lease 
conlracts 31 which~ Is: il lessee that include renewal options. The assessment of 
whether the Company is reasonab'y oertaln to exerctse sucn options Impacts ttJe 
lease term, which sigSlifieantly atfects me amount of lease liabi!i!ies and ligttt-of­
lJ$e assets recognized. 

lnfonnadon K)Qut leases for \\tlidi the Company Is a lessee Is presented below 
In accordance with PFRS 16. 

i. Right-of•Use and Rel$ted Assets 

Right-of-use t1$$tl$ relaled to leased properties such as watehoos0$, 
fac~t3, and vehicles \\hose !888e terms aro moto thM two~o month,. 

Bal""<» at begimtng of year 
Addffions and other movements 
Amortizaticn 

8,atance at end of year 

AmortiltJlfon 

2023 2022 

P4&4,,77 
265,456 

!158,178) 

P592,255 

P488,585 
143,498 

(147, !04) 
P4S4,977 

Amortization of ri{t\1-tif-use asse!s was charged 10: 

Note 2023 2022 2021 

Cool of goods 
sold 17 P47,561 P72,573 P76,213 

Sellktg and 
distribution 18 107,072 72,877 40,787 

General aocl 
AdmiMtralion 3,S45 1,!!54 235 

P158,178 P147,104 P117,236 
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Tho Company has effectively also entered into an agreement for 111.e 
st.blea$8 of the delivery truck$ to its dis.tcib!Jtors. TIie tease term Is three to 
five years from lnccpti<Xl. The a,nount of nal Investment In the sublease 
amounts to P103.9 rnTUlon with undiscounted lease re-ce!val:lle amounts of 
P116,4 mlllion. 

ii. Lease Liabilitles 

Balenoe at beginning of year 
Add.tions and other movements to lease 

Uabititie5 
Interest expense 
Payments made 
Balance at end of yea, 

2023 
P562,836 

364,796 
'9,323 

(246,485) 
P730,4TO 

2022 
P488,585 

233,350 
17,662 

(176,761) 
P5S2.838 

Current portion Lease liabtlilfei ace presttnted under .. accoun1s pay.:ii:ie and 
accrued expense· acco1111 amounling to P178.0 ml:lfon a:'ld noncu.rrent portion of 
laase Hablll,les are presented are presented under "oth9r nonourrent llabiir.ies" 
account amounting to P5:52-.5 mlllfon as at Oecembet 31, 2023. respect.Vely. 

Expenses related to lease of 10\V value assett ;imounted to P322.6 million. 
P362,2 ml!liOn an<I P173, 121 in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respedlvely. 

Tile company had total cash outf.ows for the abOVe leases amounting to 
P569.1 million, PSS2.9 milllon and ?357.3 miJion in 2023. 2022 and 2021 , 

reOJM!C1llraly. 

Toe rotlovAng table 3Cts out tho maturity ~nalysls of le.a.Ml payments, Sl'IO\~ng tt\e 
undscounted lease payments to be paid aMr the reJl()rting date· 

2023 2022 2021 

Less tnan one y,!ar P1 n,988 P165.727 P201 .547 

Between one and five y~8($ 435,185 292,319 189,879 

More thaA five X!ars 117,297 104,790 40.237 

P730,470 P562,836 P431,663 

b. The Company Is currently invol\•ed in various tax.. legal and admlnistratl\·e 
proooedings. The estimate of the probable costs for lhe resolution of lhese 
Cla!ms has been developed In consu'llatiOn with outside legal counsels handting 
the Company's defense relaling to these matter$ and is based upon an anatySOS 
of p0tential results. The Company does not believe Lhal this prooeedlng wm b.'we 
matarlal adverse effect on its financlat staiernents based oo the assessment or 
the management's legal counsels, It ls pos.slble, howevei, that future ftnanciat 
performance could be affected bY changes In Iha eslma!M or in the 
effeciNe.ness of the strategJes relatin910 these procee.t:lirgs 
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RG Menobat & Co. 
The KPMG Center, 6/F 
6787 Ayala Avenue, Makatl City 
PhfliP!)ltles 1209 
Telephooe •63 (2) 6665 7000 
Fax +63 (2) 66941985 
lrteme< ww11.home.kpm~h 
Email ph-lnqul,y@kpng.com 

REPORT OF INOEPENOEITT AUDITORS 

1he Stocld'!olders and Board of Oi1e:tors 
Pepsi*Cola Products Phlllpplnes, Inc. 
26th Floor F~rm·esl AxJ.s rcw.•e, Two 8ullcling 
Nortngate Cyre12ooe, Fifim·est City, Alabang 
Mullliilupa City 

Vie lla\18 audited, 1., aoccirdance v1ith Phllippinc ~ndardson A.udiing, ~ financial statements 
of Pe-psi Cola Prodi.'Ct.$ Phiip:pinos, Inc. (the "Comp:;iny') as .)I December 31. 2023 and 2022 and 
(<)(~of the three ~rs in the periOd onded Oectmbet 31, 20'23. included in lhis Foon 17-A, 
and h;:we &Saued our ntpQrt theteon dated April 15, 2024, 

Our :lUditswere n,~de for tl'e po<pose of klm'klg an opinion Oil th.ie basic. finlW'\clal slaternenlS of 
the Company taken as awhoJe. The supplementary infomiatico included ii ttie k>!lowing 
axompan~lng additioBal components is the rasponsibil~y of tile Company's management. Suen 
tddtional cornponen1' lr¥:lude; Schedule oj Reconcffauon 01 Retained Earnings A11a11able for 
Dividend Oedarat!on; Map of tte Group of Comp.antes WltllinWhich the Compall:, Belongs: 
SUpplementary Schedules ct Annex 68-J; and Scnedule offin.:anci81 Soundnus Indicator&. Thi$ 
supplementary t!l forma~c:n Is ptcsented rot pu1poses of con,ptying with the Revised S-Ocurities 
Regulation Code Rule 68, ancl is n:>l a req\ired part of lhc basic Rnancial i;t;.tternents. Such 
sup13!ementary fntormstioo has been subjected to lt'le audl~"9 procedures aj)f)led In the auekls of 
lt.e l)&slc financial state~nts ond, In our cplnion. is f.1lrty tt3tid in all material resped:S in 
relatlon to the basic financial statements tak81\ as a whole 

R.G, MANA BAT & CO, 

Pa/Ille< 
CPA Uceo .. llo. 108798 
nx kiemifcation No. 225-454-652 
BIR Mc<cdit.-!ioo l'<O. 08-001987-035-2024 
ls5'Jed Marcil 26. 2074; ,afo unlit~- 26, 2027 

PTR No. MKT 1007521)9 
issued JMuary2, 2024 al Makatl City 

April 15, 2024 
Makati City, Metro M.at1ila 

Fim ~tgul,llOI) t<~um:in 61«/fAi.on 
,.JIC.OCM ll.:fi1MIOflH) too) Yllld~~' 20 8C.6 
ICI\WOdttr.llM HQ OQOl.lC. Gio~A. -«tWG' itt01 )"1 ~,cnn;iriet11ckd ;Q1'noX124 

lt~n:...I tt;IIO'fll'III (JOit kla!ttt ~ n, ~'~ w IC c..+..ubrl~lff fCLl No. zo•t.-111. f,l;f'IU1i111 Qll ...... 
8!if",V.C:1~#&1l<)llfl9 o:.Q3'1SP 00.,pA, ,;,H~b' M~1,~seow1,~t:e~cl lOl'102010W.4 

lnaM.11 '11)1.,m'!"i. O'(il ~ l"rull',:l,l ii;,:a,,oiu _. 1,11\ntl Of 8SP j,~lll) lk\lrd R>i»d\Ala! th 2'61 inu~u:n CiNMI 



RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS 
AVAJLABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION 

FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
26" Floor, Fainvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone. 

Fillnvest City, Muntlnlupa City 

Unappropriated Retained Earni ngs, beginning of 
Ille ree9rting,.,y2e,.ri,:;od,_ _ _____________ _,P_,6,,,S:,:.7.,4,i:;85::.,8:.. 

Add: Cat~gory A: Items that are directly credited to 
Unappropriated Retained Earnings 
Reversal of Retained Earnings Apptop,iatlon/s 
Effect of roo-tatemMts or (lrior-perlod 

adjustments 
Others (describe nature) 

Less: Cat&gOry B: Items that are directly debited to 
Unappropriated Retained Earnings 
Dividend deelarauon Cfurlng the repoJting period 
Reialned Earnings ~proixtated during the 

reporting period 
Effects of restatements or prb r-peri od 

adju:stmen,ts 
Others (describe nature) 

Unapproprlated Retained Earnings, as adjusted 

Add'Lu$: Net Income (loss) for the current year 

La$$: Catcgo,v C, 1: Unreallzed Income recognized 
tn the profit or loss d uring the rep<irting 
period (net o f ta.x} 
Eql.ity in net income of a,soc!atel}olnt vcnMe. 

net of dividend, dec!ored 
Unrcalizc:f forefgn exchsnge-gein, except tho$e 

attributable to cash o:1nd cash equivalents 
Urucalited fair value adjustmen!a (mork-to­

motket garle) of fir.anciel instrument& at fair 
value through profit or less (FVTPL} 

Unreaia.ed foreign exchange gain of lnvas1ment 
Propeny 

other unrealized gains or adjus,!men1$ to the 
relained earnings as a result of certain 
transactions accounted tor unde, the PFRS 
(descr1b8 nature) 

SuO·tOiSI 

p 

261 ,895 

t,259 

261,895 

6,712,563 

{1,231,509) 

15,54, 



Add: Category c.z: Unrealiz.ed Income recogn~ed 
In the profit or loss in prior reporting periods 
but realtzed In the current reporting period 
(net oft.ix) 
Re.ailed foretg.n ex.change gain. excapt those 

attributable to cash aod ca.sh equivalents 
Reafzecf fair value adjustme.nts (mark-lo-martet 

gafls) of financial Instruments at fair value 
thtough profit or loss (FVTPL} 

Reatz.ecJ fOreign exchange gain or rnvesiment 
PrOP<!l1Y 

Olhe.r reaKzed gains or adjustments to tne 
retalned eamlngs as a res-ult ct cenain 
tran&.actlons accounted ror under U'le PFRS 
(describe nature) 

Sub-total 

Add: C.ategory C.3 : Unre411%ed income recQgnized 
In profit or lo3s In prior reporting periods but 
reversed 1n the current reporting period (Mt 
of t,a;x) 
Reversal of previousty recorded foreign 

exchange gain, except those attnbulab!e io 
cash and cash equivalent'S 

Reversal of prcwiously rocordod falr valUG 
1'<1;ustment$ (m1rJc.-to.m.;rkel 9~ins) offin3ncial 
instnments a1: fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL) 

Reversal of previously recorded fat value gain of 
Investment Prope,ty 

Reversal of other unfea!lzed gains or 
11djustmen!s to the retained eamings as a 
,~ult of certa:..n transactions accounted for 
under the PFRS. prev!ously recorded 
!describe nature) 

Sub-to1al 

Adjusted Net Income/Loss 

Add: Category 0; Non.actual lossos recogniud i n 
profit or loss during the reporting period (net 
o f tax) 
Depreciation on revaluation inc,emenl (after tax) 

Sub-total 

Add/Less: Catogory E: Adjustment related to reUef 
granted by the SEC and BSP 
Aroottlzatlon of 11,,e ef.eoi of reporting rel~f 
Total amount of reporting relief granted clurK19 

the ye.ar 
Others (dcscriba nat\.l'e) 

Sub-total 

p • 

p . 

5,46S,905 



Add/Less: category f: other Items that should be 
excluded from the determination of the 
amount of avallablo for dividend dl:slribution 
Net MO'Jement of treasury shares (except fot 

ce.acqulsition of 1edeemable shares) 
Net mO'iement or deterre<t tax asset not 

cons&riered 1n the reeoncilfng ttems under the 
previous categortes 

Net mcwement ln deterred tax asset end deterred 
;ax llabi!ltles related to same transa~lon, e.g-, 
set-up or r1g·ht 01 U$8 of asset and lease 
tiab!Uty. se~up or asset and asset ,et:irement 
obUgauon, ana set-up of service concessiOn 
asset and concession payable 

Adjustment aue to devtauon rrom PfRSIGAAP • 
gain {loss) 

OU'lers {describe nature) 
Sul>-lotal 

Total Retaine-d Eaming.ei, end of the re-porting 
period available for d ividend 

p • 

379,198 

?379,198 

PS,845,103 



PEl'_SI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC_. 
Map of Group of Companies Within which the Company Belongs 

As at Decombar 31 , 2023 

Lotto Chllsung Beverage Co. Lid. Quaker Global lnvestments B.V. 
(tnvestor) (Investor) 

73.S3% 25.00% 

Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc. 
(Repo<tlng Enlily) 

! l 
Nadeco Realty Corporation N:tdcco Holdings Corporation 

(Associate) (AS$OC10t0) 

Individual Shjlrecholders 
(Investor) 

1.~7% 
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PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
SCHEDULE B. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, RELATED PARTIES AND 
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS (OTHER THAN AFFILIATES). 

N&m& &11d Oe,Q~n fJf 9.11.anr.o ., btOiflnlllQ ti AO:IIOOm1 AlllOUl!b «il*<:!00 00 All'l)ur.u; "'1Ul!fl off 01(1 Clll'n'"l N11t Cufl9fll 8,l81'1C$ M 8flCf ~I 
deb!~r (I) .icrloc ..... 
N:,<leco Really Ca~. P413.2$0.709 Pll, t4'1,tll1 P1UOG,042 p P 4 78,902, 19'l p P'-'18,002,199 
N.u!O(.Q Ho~!lt COtl>, ~.!17,<104 2.$31, 178 t2.348,18l 12.348,182 
E!!J:!twei. 1!;,932.~·12 117,2!21387 12:lj045 4 :29 . 12 O'r)"fOO i2.en 100 

T°""' f,'1)1 0~00'9,9.$5 P t» ,IIG9.!197 P1;)9,651,AT1 • P:I04, 1t1J1081 p P54M, 12a.oa1 



PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES INC. 
SCHEDULE C. AMOffNTS= R=Ec==e,"'v""A"'B""Le=-=F=R'=o~M~R~E~L~A~T~E~D~P~A~R~T~,e~s~ WHICH ARE ELIMINATED DURING THE 
CONSOLIDATION OF SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

H ... W 
Dab/DI 11o1 0.SIMl!lg ~ruffian, 01' A,ddll;c- A~·ur'(a ~lac:t~ {ii ,A.mou,!:11 wl'ban cft' (ll) C...-rert """"""" ··""' "'"°""" 

NO't APPLICABLE 

B;i1.ane. ;,f •rtd o1 -
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PgpSI.COLA PROOUCT!,_l>_l:i_ll,l(>_l'INl!~ !NC. 
SCHEDULE E. LONG TERM DEBT 

Amount.,tiown ...-.def 
Amo~ r./!t:M'n un~ 

flbmber o! ~a: Flna1M111~ 
Tele ol 1551/C • nd Outst;i;ndlng ~ hen "'Cum:ml capt:Qn 4 1.(lrg. Term I IWIAlllltA= lr1$1allneft$ LMIIW "ortion of llff'lg•terrn Oel:I':" '" reb':ed tialanee 
type ol obig.alion 

8alatlet dobl'' ln~(f thiMt (I!} (~ 
b3"1l!Jil &hietd.(iO 

LO!lg,tcrm CCl:t Mc!f'Cl)Olt./lfl 
Ba AA TN!lt &. Co. PS:i&.000,000 P:20!1,010, 117 PS23,710,C&7 770% ,. July2026 

Lori11,tmn del:t Mr.;ro110U;\n 
&MIi Ytv!U.Co. 650.000,000 19!1,62'9,ffl 3"19.~.7$ 7.70",. .. J111y1D'S 

IA~-4ienn d'~ht &,"k i:f U-.c 2,000.0C<>.o:» e63.005.599 1.330.11S0.373 6 75~ ,o ~~?025 Pbli;)pi .... 1111~"'11, 

LO~<lett 8$.'lt( ~,1n. 320,0CO,tm 169,627,751 16\1,813,399 8.75% 2<l Oeumber 2024 
P"'1.P,Fii,o lf.ltMr. 

LOl'l9-Wffl <181.11 E1Qeto:11tthe 
P ~ f)in. l,:laMt. 333.333,33,3 3JZ,87'1.0SS 6 .7 5,% 12 Oreeen*'er 202~ 
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PEPSI.COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPINES, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 

Years Ended 
December 31 

Ratio Fonnula I Amounts in Thousands\ 2023 2022 

Current ratio iotai current assets over total current llabi!ities 0.81:1 0.78:1 

Total QJrrent 8S$els P10,081,S12 
Otllded by: Totaf w rrent 
llabHltles 12394038 

Current ratio 0.8 1 

Solvency ratio Profit plus depreciation and aroortlzation over to!aJ 0.06:1 0.13:1 
iatilities 

Net loss (P1,231.509) 
Add: OE!!pc&eial.lon and 

amorti?a11on 2442180 

Total 1.210,671 
Divide: T o1ol l~biffties 19.222.687 

Solvency ratJo 0 .06 

Bank debt-to~ rolal bank deb! over tocal equil)' 1.26:1 0.81:l 
eql.ity rofio 

Sli0rt-tenn deb{ P2,217,500 
current portion of lono-tefffl 

debt 2 ,106.342 
Long-term debt • net of o.ment 

eomoo 5.3 14.260 

Bankdebl 9 .638,102 
Totalegui~ 7,638,795 

Bank to debt equity 1.26 

Oebt-to-equily Total f.ab;tily over total eqully 2.52:1 2.15:1 
ratio 

Total Debt P19,22.2,6&7 
TotatEg~ 7.638,795 

Oobt to equity ratio 2.$2 

Fotw""1 



Ratio Formulo /Amounts in Thousands\ 

Asset-to,equify Total assets 0\1er tolal equity 
ratio 

Total assets P26.~1,482 
Total equiti 7,538,795 

AHOI lo equity ratio 3.52 

Interest rate. Profit before ln:esest and taxes over Interest 
ooverage ra6o expense 

Profit before tax (Pl,503,584) 
Interest eXPense 627,334 

Profit before interest and tax (876.250) 
Ol\'idod t>t: Interest exe!nse 627,334 

Interest rate cover,ge raUo (1.40) 

Operating pfofit Operalii'lg proftl ov&t M t sa!es 
margin 

Operating loss (P673.S83) 
Divided bt;: Net sales 40.255,905 

Operating profit margin (1.67%) 

Net profit Profit <:Ner net sales 
margil 

Net ptOlit (Pl,231,500) 
DMded t,y; Net sales 40,255.905 

Net profit margin (3.06~,) 

Yeera Ended 
De ceml:er 31 

2023 2022 

3.S2:1 3.15:1 

(1.40):1 1.04;1 

(1.67%) 0.5% 

(3.06%} (0.12%} 
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
     

SEC FORM 17-Q 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES 
 REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2)(b) THEREUNDER 

 
 
1.  For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024 
   
2.  Commission identification number   0000160968   3.  BIR Tax Identification No 000-168-541 
 
4.  Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter: PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
  
5.  Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: Philippines 
   
6.  Industry Classification Code:                  (SEC Use Only)  
  
7.   Address of issuer's principal office and Postal Code:  

26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, 
Alabang, Muntinlupa City, 1781 

 
8.  Issuer's telephone number, including area code: 8888-73774   

  
9. Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report: Km. 29 

National Road, Tunasan, Muntinlupa City, 1773 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code, or Sections 4 and 8 of the 

RSA  
  

Title of Each Class 
 

Number of Shares of Common Stock 
Outstanding and Amount of Debt Outstanding 

Common Shares of Stock 3,693,772,279 
 
11.  Are any or all of the securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes   [   ]    No   [X] 
 
 Stock Exchange: Not applicable 
 Securities Listed: Not applicable 
 
12.  Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:  
 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule 17 
thereunder or Sections 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 
26 and 141 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding twelve 
(12) months (or for such shorter period the registrant was required to file such reports) 

 
 Yes  [X]     No   [   ] 
 
 (b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 
  
 Yes   [X]    No   [   ] 
 



 
 

 

Part 1 – Financial Information 
 
Item 1. Financial Statements.   
 

PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Amounts in Thousands) 
 

  
March 31 

2024  
December 31 

2023 
 Note  (Unaudited) (Audited) 

ASSETS    
Current Assets    
Cash  11 P670,712   P554,168 
Receivables - net  9, 11  2,441,759   2,873,434 
Inventories - net    4,704,956 5,494,340 
Due from related parties 8, 11   493,310   491,250 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     691,689 668,320 

Total Current Assets  9,002,426   10,081,512 

Noncurrent Assets    
Investments in associates     675,071 676,259 
Bottles and cases - net     4,394,058   4,330,590 
Property, plant and equipment - net  6   10,426,312 10,467,494 
Right-of-use asset and related assets    679,500    592,255 
Intangible assets    224,800 234,920 
Deferred tax assets - net  386,197 288,214 
Other noncurrent assets  160,868 190,238 

Total Noncurrent Assets  16,946,806 16,779,970 

  P25,949,232 P26,861,482 

    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    
Current Liabilities    
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 9, 11  P7,395,279    P8,070,196 
Short-term debt 11   2,667,500   2,217,500     
Current portion of long-term debt 11   1,992,908 2,106,342 

Total Current Liabilities         12,055,687         12,394,038 

Noncurrent Liabilities    
Long-term debt - net of current portion 11   4,878,258 5,314,260 
Other noncurrent liabilities      1,599,290   1,514,389 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities  6,477,548 6,828,649 

Total Liabilities  18,533,235    19,222,687 

Forward 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

  
March 31 

2024 
December 31 

2023 
 Note (Unaudited)  (Audited) 

Equity    
Share capital 7 P1,751,435  P1,751,435 
Remeasurement losses on net defined benefit 

liability  
 

(280,688) (280,688)  
Retained earnings   5,945,250 6,168,048 

Total Equity  7,415,997     7,638,795 

  P25,949,232    P26,861,482 

  
See Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Information. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 

CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(Amounts in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 
  

  
For The Three Months Ended           

March 31 
  2024 2023 
 Note (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 

NET SALES  P10,159,496  P9,132,511 
COST OF GOODS SOLD     8,238,630 7,561,997 
GROSS PROFIT     1,920,866   1,570,514 
OPERATING EXPENSES  1,988,808 1,705,652 
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS  (67,942) (135,138)   
NET FINANCE AND OTHER EXPENSE - Net     (217,966) (87,256) 
LOSS BEFORE TAX  (285,908) (222,394)   
INCOME TAX BENEFIT        (63,110) (56,463) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  (P222,798) (P165,931) 
Basic/Diluted Loss Per Share  5 (P0.06)  (P0.04)  
    
See Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Information.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(Amounts in Thousands) 
 
 

 
  For The Nine Months Ended March 31 

(Unaudited) 

  Share Capital    

 Note 
Capital Stock 
(see Note 7) 

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital Total 

Remeasurement 
Losses on Net 

Defined Benefit 
Liability  

Retained 
Earnings Total Equity 

As at January 1, 2024  P554,066 P1,197,369 P1,751,435 (P280,688) P6,168,048 P7,638,795 
Total comprehensive loss        

Net Loss  -     -     -     -  (222,798) (222,798) 
As at March 31, 2024  P554,066 P1,197,369 P1,751,435 (P280,688) P5,945,250 P7,415,997 

As at January 1, 2023  P554,066 P1,197,369 P1,751,435 (P203,451)  P7,661,452 P9,209,436 

Total comprehensive Loss         
    Net Loss  -     -     -     -     (165,931)  (165,931) 
As at March 31, 2023  P554,066 P1,197,369 P1,751,435 (P203,451)  P7,495,521 P9,043,505 
        
See Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Information  
 

 
 
 
 



 

 

PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
CONDENSED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Amounts in Thousands) 
 
 

 
For The Three Months  

Ended March 31 

  2024 2023 
 Note              (Unaudited) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING  
ACTIVITIES   

Loss before tax  (P285,908) (P222,394) 
Adjustments for:    

Depreciation and amortization  606,568 604,640 
   Interest expense   172,350 129,963 

Retirement cost   42,152 36,137 
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment  3,408 871 
Equity in net earnings of associates  1,189 (2,662) 
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses) 

on receivables, inventories, bottles and cases, 
machinery and equipment and others  (674) 51,628 

Interest income  (1,038) (1,016) 
Operating profit before working capital changes  538,047 597,167 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Decrease (increase) in:    
Receivables   403,792 286,164 
Inventories  851,883   (824,601) 
Due from related parties  (2,060) 1,294 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  (23,369) 16,461 

Decrease in accounts payable and accrued 
expenses  (673,087) (1,074,291) 

Cash generated from (absorbed by) operations  1,095,206 (997,806) 
Interest received  1,038 1,016 
Income taxes paid  (34,876) (11,404) 
Contribution to plan assets  - (3,900) 
Retirement benefits directly paid by the Company  (18,201) (6,939) 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,043,167 (1,019,033) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  -        (7,849) 
Additions to:    

Property, plant and equipment 6 (273,611) (66,389)  
Bottles and cases   (332,321) (341,062) 

Decrease (increase) in other noncurrent assets  29,370    (4,342) 
Net cash used in investing activities  (576,562) (419,642) 
Forward   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
For The Three Months  

Ended March 31 
  2024 2023 
 Note                (Unaudited) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES    

    
Proceeds from availments of short-term debt  P5,102,500 P14,075,000 
Payments of:    

Short-term debt  (4,652,500) (12,375,000) 
Long-term debt  (549,436) (279,583) 

Principal payments of lease liability  (100,918) (40,385) 
Interest paid  (149,707) (129,963) 
Net cash provided by financing activities  (350,061) 1,250,069 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH  116,544 (188,606) 
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD  554,168 680,967 
CASH AT END OF PERIOD 11 P670,712 P492,361 

  
See Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Information. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 (Amounts in Thousands, Except per Share Data, Number of Shares  
and When Otherwise Stated) 

 
 
1. Reporting Entity 
 

Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated as a stock 
corporation in the Philippines on March 8, 1989, primarily to engage in manufacturing, 
sales and distribution at wholesale and (to the extent allowed by law) retail of carbonated 
soft-drinks (CSD), non-carbonated beverages (NCB), food and food products, snacks 
and confectionery products to retail, wholesale, restaurants and bar trades. The 
registered office address and principal place of business of the Company is at 26th Floor, 
Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Muntinlupa City. 
 
On May 16, 2014 and May 30, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) and 
Stockholders approved (on the respective dates) the amendments to the Article of 
Incorporation, particularly on its primary purpose to engage in, operate, conduct and 
maintain the business of manufacturing, importing, buying, selling, handling, 
distributing, trading or otherwise dealing in, at wholesale and (to the extent allowed by 
law) retail, food and food products, snacks, confectionery drinks and other beverages 
in bottles, cans and other containers or dispensers and other related goods of whatever 
nature, and any and all materials, suppliers and other goods used or employed in or 
related to the manufacture of such finished products as well as the amendment of the 
Company’s principal office address.  The said amendments were approved by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on August 27, 2014. 
 
Pepsi-Cola Products Philippines, Inc.’s Parent Company is Lotte Chilsung Beverage., 
Ltd., who is incorporated under the laws of South Korea. The ultimate parent company 
is Lotte Corporation, that is incorporated under the laws of South Korea. The Company’s 
another major shareholder is, Quaker Global Investments B.V. have 25.00% 
shareholdings of the Company, which is organized under the laws of the Netherlands. 
 
 

2. Basis of Preparation 
 

Statement of Compliance 
This condensed interim financial information has been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 34, Interim Financial Reporting. This condensed 
interim financial information does not include all of the information required for a 
complete set of financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the annual 
financial statements of the Company as at December 31, 2023. 
 
Basis of Measurement 
This condensed interim financial information has been prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except for the net defined benefit liability (included as part of “Other noncurrent liabilities” 
account in the condensed interim statements of financial position) which is measured at 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation less fair value of plan assets. 
 
Functional and Presentation Currency 
This condensed interim financial information is presented in Philippine peso, which is 
the Company’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded-off to the nearest 
thousands, except per share data and when otherwise indicated. 
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Use of Judgments and Estimates 
The preparation of the condensed interim financial information requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and use assumptions that affect the application of the 
Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The significant judgments and estimates made by management in applying the 
Company’s accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were the 
same as those that were applied to the annual financial statements. 
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2024, management reassessed its estimates 
in respect of the following: 
  
Estimating Allowance for Impairment Losses on Receivables 
As at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, allowance for impairment losses on 
receivables amounted to P328.1 million and P345.5 million, respectively. 
 
Estimating Net Realizable Value of Inventories  
As at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, inventories amounted to  
P4.7 billion and P5.5 billion, respectively. 
 

 
3. Significant Accounting Policies 

 
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the condensed interim 
financial information are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the annual 
financial statements. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies 
The following amendments to standards are effective for the three-month period ended 
March 31, 2024, and have been applied in preparing this condensed interim financial 
information. Except as otherwise indicated, the adoption of these amendments to 
standards did not have any significant impact on the Company’s condensed interim 
financial information: 

 
 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent - 2020 amendments and Non-

Current Liabilities with Covenants - 2022 amendments (Amendments to PAS 1, 
Presentation of Financial Statements). To promote consistency in application and 
clarify the requirements on determining whether a liability is current or noncurrent, 
the amendments:  
 
 removed the requirement for a right to defer settlement of a liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting period to be unconditional and instead requires 
that the right must have substance and exist at the end of the reporting period;  

 clarified that only covenants with which a company must comply on or before 
the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or  
non-current and covenants with which the entity must comply after the reporting 
date do not affect a liability’s classification at that date;  

 provided additional disclosure requirements for non-current liabilities subject to 
conditions within twelve months after the reporting period to enable the 
assessment of the risk that the liability could become repayable within  
twelve months; and  

 clarified that settlement of a liability includes transferring an entity’s own equity 
instruments to the counterparty, but conversion options that are classified as 
equity do not affect classification of the liability as current or noncurrent.  
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4. Seasonality of Operations 
 
The Company’s sales are subject to seasonality. Sales are generally higher in the hot, 
dry months from March through June and lower during the wetter monsoon months of 
July through October. While these factors lead to a natural seasonality on the 
Company’s sales, unseasonable weather could also significantly affect sales and 
profitability compared to previous comparable periods. Higher sales are likewise 
experienced around the Christmas/New Year holiday period in late December through 
early January. Consequently, the Company’s operating results may fluctuate. In 
addition, the Company’s results may be affected by unforeseen circumstances, such as 
production interruptions. Due to these fluctuations, comparisons of sales and operating 
results between periods within a single year, or between different periods in different 
financial years, are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied on as indicators 
of the Company’s performance.  
 

 
5. Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) 

 
Basic EPS is computed as follows: 

 
 For The Three Months Ended March 31 
 2024 2023 
     (Unaudited) 
Loss (a) (P222,798) (P165,931)  
Issued shares at the beginning of 
the year/weighted average 
number of shares outstanding 
(b) 3,693,772,279 3,693,772,279 

Basic/Diluted EPS (a/b) (P0.06) (P0.04)  
 

As at March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has no dilutive equity instruments. 
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
The movements in this account are as follows: 
 

 
 
 

Machinery 
and Other 

Equipment 

Buildings and 
Leasehold 

Improvements 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures 
Construction 

in Progress 
 

Total 
Gross carrying amount      
December 31, 2023 

(Audited) P21,277,479 
 

P5,107,374 P66,804 P284,738 P26,736,395 
Additions 65,959 - - 207,652 273,611 
Disposals/write-offs (23,010) 1,585 (29) (109,890) (131,344) 
Transfers/reclassifications 

and others 81,265 - 32 (78,027) 3,270 

March 31, 2024 
(Unaudited) 21,401,693 5,108,959 66,807 304,473 26,881,932 

Accumulated depreciation 
and amortization      

December 31, 2023 
(Audited)  14,217,997 1,992,264 58,640  -     16,268,901 

Depreciation and 
amortization 210,661 48,603 801 -  

260,065 
Impairment loss 57,674 - - - 57,674 
Disposals/write-

offs/adjustments (126,107) (4,886) (27) - (131,020) 

March 31, 2024 
(Unaudited) 14,360,225 2,035,981 59,414 - 16,455,620 

Carrying Amount      

December 31, 2023 
(Audited) P7,059,482 P3,115,110 P8,164 P284,738 P10,467,494 

March 31, 2024 
(Unaudited) 

P 7,041,468 
  

P3,072,978 
  

P7,393 
 

P304,473 
 

P10,426,312 
  

 
 
7. Equity 
 

Share Capital 
This account consists of: 
 

 March 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 
 (Unaudited) (Audited) 
 Shares Amount Shares Amount 
Authorized - P0.15      
par value per share 5,000,000,000 P750,000 5,000,000,000 P750,000 

Issued, fully paid and 
outstanding balance at 
beginning/end of 
period 3,693,772,279 P554,066 3,693,772,279 P554,066 

 
On January 21, 2008, the Company obtained a certificate of permit to offer securities 
for sale issued by the SEC consisting of 3,693,772,279 common shares with a maximum 
offer price of P3.50 per share. 
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On February 1, 2008, the Company’s initial public offering of 1,142,348,680 shares at 
P3.50 per share culminated with the listing and trading of its shares of stock under the 
First Board of the PSE, Inc. Of the total shares offered, 380,782,893 shares pertain to 
the primary offering, which resulted in an increase in capital stock amounting to  
P57.0 million and additional paid-in capital of P1.2 billion, net of P138.0 million 
transaction cost that is accounted for as a reduction in equity.   
 
On December 11, 2019, the Company received a Tender Offer Report from Lotte 
Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd. to acquire up to 2,134,381,838 common shares of the 
Company through a tender offer to all shareholders other than Lotte Corporation and 
the /members of the BOD with respect to their qualifying common shares and the 
officers of the Company. 
 
On June 17, 2020, Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd has competed its tender offer which 
effectively increase its ownership to the Company by 30.7% 
 
On September 9, 2020, the Company’s BOD approved the voluntary delisting of the 
Common shares of the Company with the PSE. 
 
Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co. Ltd. (“Lotte Chilsung”) filed a Tender Offer Report and 
Amended Tender Offer Report with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
and the PSE on September 15, 2020 and October 13, 2020, respectively, for the 
remaining shares owned by the public. 
 
On December 1, 2020 the Company received information from Lotte Chilsung that it has 
completed its tender offer and has acquired additional .01% of the shares of the 
Company. 
 
On December 18, 2020, the Board of the PSE has approved the Company’s application 
of its delistment with the PSE. 
 
Capital Management 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to increase the value of 
shareholders’ investment and maintain reasonable growth by applying free cash flow to 
selective investments that would further the Company’s product and geographic 
diversification. The Company sets strategies with the objective of establishing a 
versatile and resourceful financial management and capital structure. 
The Chief Financial Officer has overall responsibility for the monitoring of capital in 
proportion to risk. Profiles for capital ratios are set in the light of changes in the 
Company’s external environment and the risks underlying the Company’s business 
operations and industry.  
 
The Company maintains its use of capital structure using a debt-to-equity ratio which is 
gross debt divided by equity. The Company includes within gross debt all interest-
bearing loans and borrowings, while the Company defines equity as total equity shown 
in the condensed interim statements of financial position. 

 
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the 
year. The Company is subject to debt covenants relating to its long-term debt (see Note 
11). 
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The Company’s bank debt to equity ratio as at reporting dates is as follows: 
 

 March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 
 (Unaudited) (Audited) 

(a) Debt* 
 

P9,538,666 P9,638,102 
(b) Total equity P7,415,997 P7,638,795 
Bank debt to equity ratio (a/b) 1.29:1 1.26:1 

*Pertains to bank debts 
 

 
8. Related Party Transactions 
 

Related party relationship exists when one party has ability to control, directly or 
indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making the financial and operating decisions. Such 
relationship also exists between and/or among entities which are under common control 
with the reporting enterprises, or between and/or among the reporting enterprises and 
their key management personnel, directors, or its shareholders.     
 
Related party transactions are shown under the appropriate accounts in the condensed 
interim financial information as at and for the period ended  
March 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 
 

 

Category 
Nature of 

Transaction Note Year 

Amount of 
Transactions  

for the 
Period 

Outstanding 
Balance of 

Due from  
Related Parties 

Receivables 
(Accounts 

Payable and 
Accrued 

 expenses) Terms Conditions 

Stockholder Purchases 8a 2024 P10,032 P   -     (P8,247)       
   2023 20,428  -     (11,560)      
Associates Advances 8b, 8c 2024  -     493,310  -     Collectible on 

demand 
Unsecured; 
no impairment 

   2023 -     491,250  Collectible on 
demand 

Unsecured; 
no impairment 

 Various  2024 5,711 -     -       
   2023 6,256 -     -       
Affiliates Purchases 9a 2024 1,280,809 -     (942,698) 42 days non 

interest bearing 
 

   2023 1,819,825  -     (1,338,770) 42 days non 
interest bearing 

 

 Coopable 
Marketing 

9b,  2024 213,645 -     195,668  Unsecured; 
no impairment 

   2023 139,922 -     400,081  Unsecured; 
no impairment 

 
The above outstanding balances of due from related parties are unsecured and 
expected to be settled in cash. 

The Company has significant related party transactions which are summarized as 
follows: 

 
a. The Company purchased finished goods from Lotte Chilsung Beverage Co., Ltd, a 

major stockholder. Total purchases for the three-month periods ended March 31, 
2024 and 2023 amounted to P10.0 million and P20.4 million, respectively.  
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b. The Company leases parcels of land where some of its bottling plants are located. 
Lease expenses recognized amounted to P4.8 million and P5.06 million for the 
three-month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company 
has advances to Nadeco Realty Corporation (NRC) amounting to P38 million, which 
bear interest at a fixed rate of 10% per annum and which are unsecured and payable 
on demand. The related interest income amounted to P0.95 million each for the 
three-month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company also has 
outstanding net receivables from NRC amounting to P479.6 million and P478.9 
million as at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, which are 
unsecured and payable on demand. The advances and receivables are included 
under “Due from related parties” account in the condensed interim statements of 
financial position.  

 
c. The Company has outstanding working capital advances to Nadeco Holdings 

Corporation, an associate, amounting to P13.7 million and P12.3 million as at March 
31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 and which are unsecured, noninterest-bearing 
and payable on demand. The advances are included under “Due from related 
parties” account in the condensed interim statements of financial position. 

 
 
9. Significant Agreements 

 
The Company has exclusive bottling agreement and other transactions which are 
summarized below: 
 
a. The Company has Exclusive Bottling Agreements with PepsiCo, Inc. (“PepsiCo”), 

the ultimate parent of Quaker Global Investments B.V, a shareholder, up to year 
2029 and Pepsi Lipton International Limited (“Pepsi Lipton”), a joint venture of 
PepsiCo and Unilever N.V., up to year 2029. Under the agreements, the Company 
is authorized to bottle, sell and distribute PepsiCo and Pepsi Lipton beverage 
products in the Philippines. In addition, PepsiCo and Pepsi Lipton shall supply the 
Company with the main raw materials (concentrates) in the production of these 
beverage products and share in the funding of certain marketing programs. The 
agreements may be renewed by mutual agreement between the parties. Under the 
agreements, PepsiCo and Pepsi Lipton have the right to terminate the contracts 
under certain conditions, including failure to comply with terms and conditions of the 
agreement subject to written notice and rectification period, change of ownership 
control of the Company, change of ownership control of an entity which controls the 
Company, discontinuance of bottling beverages for 30 consecutive days, 
occurrence of certain events leading to the Company’s insolvency or bankruptcy, 
change in management and control of the business, among others. Purchases 
made from PepsiCo is made mainly thru Concentrate Manufacturing (Singapore) 
PTE Ltd. (CMSPL). Total net purchases from CMSPL amounted to  
P1.3 billion and P1.8 billion for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. The Company’s outstanding payable to CMSPL (included under 
“Accounts payable and accrued expenses” account in the statements of financial 
position) amounted to P942.7 million and P1.3 billion as at March 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023, respectively. Total purchases from Pepsi Lipton amounted to 
P28.5 million and P112.2 million for each of the three-month periods ended March 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company’s outstanding payable to Pepsi 
Lipton (included under “Accounts payable and accrued expenses” account in the 
statements of financial position) amounted to P3.6 million and P32.1 million as at 
March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 
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b. The Company has cooperative advertising and marketing programs with PepsiCo 
and Pepsi Lipton thru CMSPL that sets forth the agreed advertising and marketing 
activities and participation arrangement during the years covered by the bottling 
agreements. In certain instances, the Company pays for the said expenses and 
claims reimbursements from PepsiCo thru CMSPL. The Company incurred 
marketing expenses amounting to P213.6 million and P139.9 million for the three-
month periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company’s 
outstanding receivable from CMSPL included under “Receivables” account in the 
condensed interim statements of financial position, which are unsecured and are 
payable on demand, amounted to P195.7 million and P400.1 million as at  
March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 
 

c. The Company entered into an agreement with PepsiCo to meet certain marketing 
and investment levels, as required by the bottling agreement with PepsiCo. The 
agreement requires the Company to, among others: (1) spend or invest a specified 
amount to maintain sufficient containers, bottles and shells of the beverage 
products; (2) maintain certain minimum annual manufacturing capacity and 
sufficient warehouse capacity to meet peak demand for beverage products; (3) 
invest in a minimum number of coolers and fountain equipment per year to support 
distribution expansion; and (4) expand the Company’s distribution capabilities in 
terms of the number of active routes, the number of new routes and the number of 
trucks used for distribution support. 

 
 

10. Revenue Disaggregation  
 
  

 For The Three Months Ended March 31 
 2024 2023 
     (Unaudited) 
Carbonated Soft Drink P6,257,813  P5,996,659  
Non-Carbonated Beverage 3,901,683  3,135,852  
 P10,159,496 P9,132,511 

 
 
11. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management 

 
Classifying Financial Instruments 
The Company exercises judgments in classifying a financial instrument, or its 
component parts, on initial recognition as either a financial asset, a financial liability or 
an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement 
and the definition of a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument. The 
substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its classification 
in the statements of financial position. 

 
Financial Risk Management 
 
Overview 
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 

 Credit Risk 
 Liquidity Risk 
 Market Risk 
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This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above 
risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing 
risks.  
 
The main purpose of the Company’s dealings in financial instruments is to fund its 
operations and capital expenditures.   

 
Risk Management Framework 
The BOD has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Company’s risk management framework. The Company’s BOD has established the 
Executive Committee (EXCOM), which is responsible for developing and monitoring the 
Company’s risk management policies. The EXCOM identifies all issues affecting the 
operations of the Company and reports regularly to the BOD on its activities. 
 
The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the 
risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor 
risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The 
Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to 
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations. 
 
The Company has an Audit Committee, which performs oversight over financial 
management and internal control, specifically in the areas of managing credit, liquidity, 
market and other risks of the Company. The Company’s Audit Committee is assisted in 
the oversight role by the Internal Audit (IA). The Company’s IA undertakes both regular 
and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to the Audit Committee. 

 
There were no changes in the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for 
managing the risk and the methods used to measure the risk from previous year. 

 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk represents the risk of loss the Company would incur if credit customers and 
counterparties fail to perform their contractual obligations. The Company’s credit risk 
arises principally from the Company’s cash in banks, receivables and due from related 
parties. 

 
Exposure to Credit Risk 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Company’s maximum credit 
exposure before effect of any collateral and any master netting agreements. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows: 
 

 March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 
 (Unaudited) (Audited) 
Cash in banks P299,559                       P216,507 
Receivables - net 2,441,759                      2,873,434  
Due from related parties 493,310                        491,250  
Total credit exposure P3,234,628 P3,581,191 
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The Company has Plant Credit Committee (PCC) for each of the plant. The PCC has 
established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually for 
creditworthiness before standard credit terms and conditions are granted. The PCC’s 
review includes the requirements of updated credit application documents, credit 
verifications through confirmation that there are no credit violations and that the account 
is not included in the negative list (list of blacklisted customers), and analyses of 
financial performance to ensure credit capacity. Credit limits are established for each 
customer, which serve as the maximum open amount at which they are allowed to 
purchase on credit, provided that credit terms and conditions are observed.  
 
The credit limit and status of each customer’s account are first checked before 
processing a credit transaction. Customers that fail to meet the Company’s conditions 
in the credit checking process may transact with the Company only on cash basis. 
 
Most of the Company’s customers have been transacting with the Company for several 
years, and losses have occurred from time to time. Customer credit risks are monitored 
through annual credit reviews conducted on a per plant basis. Results of credit reviews 
are grouped and summarized according to credit characteristics, such as geographic 
location, aging profile and credit violations. Historically, credit violations have been 
attributable to bounced checks, denied and absconded credit accounts. Receivables 
from these customers are considered by the Company to be impaired. 
 
It is the Company’s policy to enter into transactions with a diversity of creditworthy 
parties to mitigate any significant concentration of credit risk. 
 
To pursue timely realization of collateral in an orderly manner, the Company’s policy 
discourages the acceptance of chattel and real estate collateral. For chattel and real 
estate collaterals, the Company created rules governing the acceptance of such 
guarantees. On instances of customer default, the PCC, with the support of the 
corporate legal department, is responsible for the foreclosure of collaterals in the form 
of real and movable personal properties. Series of demand letters are sent to the 
defaulting customer to command for payment and to propose for debt repayment 
agreements. If the customer fails to cooperate, the case will be endorsed to the legal 
department to facilitate the foreclosure of the collateral. The Company generally does 
not use non-cash collateral for its own operations. 

 
The aging on analysis per class of financial assets is as follows: 
 
March 31, 2024 

 
Neither 

past due Past due but not impaired   

 
nor 

impaired 
1 to 30 

days 
31 to 60 

days 
More than 

60 days Impaired Total 
Cash in banks P299,559 P- P- P- P- P299,559  
Receivables:       

Trade 1,075,279 658,827 169,330 225,763 143,966 2,273,165 
Others 14,730 19,407 71,313 207,110 184,126 496,686 

Due from related 
parties 493,310 - - - - 493,310 
 1,882,878 678,234 240,643 432,873 328,092 3,562,720 
Less allowance for 

impairment losses - - - - 328,092 328,092 
 P1,882,878 P678,234 P240,643 P432,873 P- P3,234,628 
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December 31, 2023 
 Neither  Past Due but not Impaired   

 
Past Due nor 

Impaired 
1 to 30 

Days 
31 to 60 

Days 
More than 

60 Days Impaired Total 
Cash in banks P216,507 P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P216,507 
Receivables:       

Trade 1,156,236 755,612 133,781 272,694 178,461 2,496,784 
Others 122,886 93,548 71,244 267,433 166,990 722,101 

Due from related 
parties 491,250 -     -     -     -     491,250 

 1,986,879 849,160 205,025 540,127 345,451 3,926,642 
Less allowance for 

impairment losses -     -     -     -     345,451 345,451 
 P1,986,879 P849,160 P205,025 P540,127 P   -     P3,581,191 

 
As at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company has an allowance for 
impairment loss amounting to P328.1 million and P345.5 million, respectively, relating 
to its trade and other receivables. 

 
The Company believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due by more than 30 
days are still collectible, based on historic payment behavior and extensive analysis of 
customer credit risk. In addition, the Company believes that the amounts of financial 
assets that are neither past due nor impaired are collectible, based on historic payment 
behavior and extensive analysis of counterparties credit risk.  
 
The credit qualities of financial assets that were neither past due nor impaired are 
determined as follows: 
 
 Cash in banks are based on the credit standing or rating of the counterparty. 

 
 Total receivables and due from related parties are based on a combination of credit 

standing or rating of the counterparty, historical experience and specific and 
collective credit risk assessment. 

 
High grade cash in banks are deposited in local banks that are considered as top tier 
banks in the Philippines in terms of resources and profitability. Receivables and due 
from related parties are considered to be of high grade quality financial assets, where 
the counter parties have a very remote likelihood of default and have consistently 
exhibited good paying habits. High grade quality financial assets are those assessed as 
having minimal credit risk, otherwise they are of standard grade quality. Standard grade 
quality financial assets are those assessed as having minimal to regular instances of 
payment default due to ordinary/common collection issues. These accounts are typically 
not impaired as the counterparties generally respond to credit actions and update their 
payments accordingly. 
 
Expected credit loss assessment  
 
Trade and other receivables 
The Company allocates each exposure to a credit risk based on data that is determined 
to predictive of the risk of loss (including but not limited to external ratings, audited 
financial statements, management accounts and cash flow projections and available 
press information about customers) and applying expected credit judgment. Credit risk 
grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the 
risk of default. 
 
Exposures within each credit risk grade are segmented by market or customer type and 
an ECL rate is calculated for each segment based on delinquency status and actual 
credit loss experience. 
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Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over three years considering 
circumstances at the reporting date.  Any adjustment to the loss rates for forecasts of 
future economic conditions are not expected to be material. The Company applies the 
simplified approach in providing for expected credit losses prescribed by PFRS 9, which 
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision and applies a provision matrix.  
The application of the expected loss rates to the receivables of the Company does not 
have a material impact on the financial statements. 

 
The maturity of the Company’s trade and other receivables is less than one year, which 
implies that the lifetime expected credit losses and the 12-month expected credit losses 
are similar.  

 
Cash in banks 
The Company held cash in banks amounting to P299.6 million and P216.5 million as at 
March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The cash in banks is deposited 
in local banks, which is rated as high grade. 
 
Impairment on cash in banks has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis 
and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Company considers that its cash 
in banks have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties 
and any ECL is expected to be immaterial. 
 
Due from related parties  
The Company has due from related parties amounting to P493.3 million and             
P491.8 million as at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. Due from 
related parties consists of receivables from counterparties that have a very remote 
likelihood of default because there is no known significant financial difficulty of the 
counterparties and no probability that the counterparties will enter bankruptcy based 
from the available financial information.  

 
Impairment on due from related parties has been measured on a 12-month expected 
credit loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Company 
considers that its due from related parties has low credit risk based on the external credit 
ratings of the counterparties and any ECL is expected to be immaterial. 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations as they fall due. The Company manages liquidity risk by forecasting 
projected cash flows and maintaining a balance between continuity of funding and 
flexibility in operations. Treasury controls and procedures are in place to ensure that 
sufficient cash is maintained to cover daily operational and working capital 
requirements, as well as capital expenditures and debt service payments. Management 
closely monitors the Company’s future and contingent obligations and sets up required 
cash reserves as necessary in accordance with internal requirements. 

In addition, the Company has the following credit facilities:  

 The total commitment as at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 under the 
line of credit is P20.1 billion and P22.1 billion, of which the Company had drawn 
P9.7 billion, respectively, under letters of credit short-term loans and long term 
loans. All facilities under the omnibus line bear interest at floating rates consisting 
of a margin over current Philippine treasury rates except for the long term loan 
which have a floating interest rate; and 

 P1.0 billion and P1.1 billion domestic bills purchased line, which are available as at 
March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 
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Exposure to Liquidity Risk 
The table summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based 
on contractual undiscounted amount, including estimated interest payments and 
excluding the impact of any netting arrangements: 

 

 
As at March 31, 2024 

         (Unaudited)  

 
Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
Cash Flow 

One year or 
less 

More than 
one year  

Financial liabilities:     
Accounts payable and accrued 

expenses* P6,907,538 P6,907,538 P6,907,538 
 

P   -     
Short-term debt 2,667,500 2,667,500 2,667,500  -       
Long-term debt 6,871,166 6,906,190     2,005,238 4,900,952 
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,599,290    1,599,290    -        1,599,290 
 P18,045,494   P18,080,518 P11,580,276 P6,500,242 

*Excluding statutory payables and defined benefit liability amounting to P487.74 million 
 

 
 As at December 31, 2023 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
Cash Flow 

One Year 
or Less 

More than 
One Year  

Financial Liabilities     
Accounts payable and accrued 

expenses * P7,411,175 P7,411,175 P7,411,175 P   -     
Short-term debt 2,217,500 2,217,500 2,217,500 -     
Long-term debt 7,420,602 7,459,583 2,119,821 5,339,762 
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,514,389 1,514,389 -    1,514,389 
 P18,563,666 P18,602,647 P11,748,496 P6,854,151 

*Excluding statutory payables and defined benefit liability amounting to P659.02 million 
 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur 
significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts. 

 
Financial Assets Used for Managing Liquidity Risk 
The Company considers expected cash flows from financials assets in assessing and 
managing liquidity risk. To manage its liquidity risk, the Company forecasts cash flows 
from operations for the next six months which will result in additional available cash 
resources and enable the Company to meet its expected cash flows requirements. 

 
Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates and other market prices will affect the Company’s income 
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return. 
 
The Company is subject to various market risks, including risks from changes in 
commodity prices, interest rates and currency exchange rates. 
 
Exposure to Commodity Prices 
The risk from commodity price changes relates to the Company’s ability to recover 
higher product costs through price increases to customers, which may be limited due to 
the competitive pricing environment that exists in the Philippine beverage market and 
the willingness of consumers to purchase the same volume of beverages at higher 
prices. The Company is exposed to changes in Philippine sugar prices. 
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The Company minimizes its exposure to risks in changes in commodity prices by 
entering into contracts with suppliers with duration ranging from six months to one year; 
with fixed volume commitment for the contract duration; and with stipulation for price 
adjustments depending on market prices. The Company has outstanding purchase 
commitment amounting to P1.3 billion as at March 31, 2024. Because of these purchase 
commitments, the Company considers the exposure to commodity price risk to be 
insignificant.  
 
Exposure to Interest Rate Risk 
The Company’s exposure to interest rates pertains to its cash in banks, short-term debt, 
long-term debt and finance lease obligation. The Company has outstanding term-loans 
from banks totaling to P6.9 billion and P7.4 billion, whose interest rates are repriced 
every quarter, which is the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk as at March 31, 
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.  
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
An increase in the interest rate by 50 basis points would decrease net income and equity 
by P25.77 million and P27.83 million as at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. A 50 
basis points decrease in the interest rates would have had the equal but opposite effect 
on the net income and equity, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.  
 
Exposure to Foreign Currency Risk 
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on purchases that are denominated 
in currencies other than the Philippine peso, mostly in United States (U.S.) dollar. In 
respect of monetary assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the Philippine 
peso, the Company ensures that its exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying 
foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances. The 
Company considered the exposure to foreign currency risk to be insignificant. Further, 
the Company does not hold any investment in foreign securities as at 
March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.  

 
Fair Values 
The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities, which include cash, 
receivables, due from related parties, short-term debt and accounts payable and 
accrued expenses, reasonably approximate fair values due to the short-term nature of 
these financial instruments.  
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations. 
 
 
Results of Operations 
 
Net Sales in Q1 2024 was at P10.2 billion, an 11% increase driven by both volume growth and 
carry-over impact from last year’s pricing actions.  
   
Cost of Goods Sold increased 9% mainly coming from volume growth and commodity inflation 
while Operating Expenses increased 17% versus the same period mainly driven by inflation and 
investments in Marketing, Warehousing, Manpower in line with topline growth and compliance 
to the Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) Law.  
 
The company booked, as a result, Operating Loss of P68 million, a 50% improvement from last 
year’s loss.  
 
The Company is also pursuing rationalization of its manufacturing footprint requiring Other 
Expense adjustments in net asset value during the year (accelerated depreciation: P62 million 
in Q1’24). In combination with higher interest expense, the company booked Net Loss of P223 
million.  
 
Financial Condition 
 
The Company’s financial condition remained solid. Cash flows from operating activities were 
used to fund capital expenditures needs and payoff a portion of the Company’s bank debt. 
Consequently, our bank debt decreased by P99.4 million in comparison with 
December 31, 2023 balance. 
 
Causes for Material Changes (+/-5% or more)  
 
Decrease in total current assets by 11% due to decreases in inventories – net by P789 million, 
receivable – net by P432 million and an increases in cash and cash equivalents by P117 million, 
prepaid expenses and other current asset by P23 million and due from related parties by P2 
million. 
 
Decrease in total noncurrent liabilities by 5% due to decrease long-term debt – net of current 
portion by P436 million and an increase in other noncurrent liabilities by P85 million. 
 

 
Known Trends, Demands, or Uncertainties That May Affect Liquidity 
 
The Company is not aware of any trend that may affect its liquidity.  Refer to Note 11 to the 
Condensed Interim Financial Statements for a discussion of the Company’s liquidity risk and 
financial risk management. 
 
Events That May Trigger Direct or Contingent Obligations 
 
The Company is not aware of any events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation 
that is material to the Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Transactions 
 
To the Company’s knowledge, there are no material off-balance sheet transactions, 
arrangement, obligations (including contingent obligations), and other relationship of the 
Company with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period. 
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Material Commitments for Capital Expenditures 
 
The Company has ongoing definite corporate expansion projects approved by the BOD.  As a 
result of this expansion program, the Company spent for property, plant and equipment as well 
as bottles and cases amounting to P605.9 million and P407.5 million for the three ended March 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  To this date, the Company continues to invest in major capital 
expenditures in order to complete the remaining expansion projects lined up in line with prior 
calendar year spending. 
 
 
Trends or Uncertainties That May Impact Results of Operations 
 
The Company’s performance will continue to hinge on the overall performance of the Philippine 
economy, the natural seasonality of operations, and the competitive environment of the 
beverage market in the Philippines.  Refer to Note 11 to the Condensed Interim Financial 
Statements for a discussion of the Company’s Financial Risk Management. 
 
 
Significant Elements of Income or Loss that did not Arise from Continuing Operations 
 
There were no significant elements of income or loss that arise from continuing operations. 
 
 
Seasonality Aspects That May Affect Financial Conditions or Results of Operations 
 
Please refer to Note 4 to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements for a discussion of the 
seasonality of the Company’s operations.  
 
 
Key Performance Indicators 
 
The following are the Company’s key performance indicators.  Analyses are employed by 
comparisons and measurements based on the financial data of the current period against the 
same period of previous year. 
 

  March 31,  
2024 

December 31, 
2023 

Current ratio Current assets over current 
liabilities 

0.75:1 0.81:1 

Solvency ratio 
Net income plus depreciation 
and amortization over total 
liabilities 

0.02:1 0.06:1 

Bank debt-to-equity ratio Bank debt over total equity 1.29:1 1.26:1 
Asset-to-equity ratio Total assets over equity 3.50:1 3.52:1 
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 For the three months ended 
March 31 

2024 2023 

Net sales  P11.4 billion P10.3 billion 
Gross profit 
margin 

Gross profit over net 
sales 

18.91% 17.20% 

Operating 
margin 

Operating income over 
net sales 

-0.67% -1.48% 

Net profit margin Net profit over net sales -2.19% -1.82% 

Interest rate 
coverage ratio 
 
 

Earnings before interest 
and taxes over interest 
expense 

 
-0.65:1 

 
-0.67:1 
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

I, OSCARS. REYES, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of Unit 6 Kasiyahan Homes, 58 
McKinley Road, Forbes Park, Makati City, after having been duly sworn to in accordance with 
law do hereby declare that: 

1. I am a nominee identified as Independent Director of PEPSI COLA PRODUCTS 
PHILIPPINES INC. (PCPPI) and have been its Independent Director since 2007; 

, .. 

2. I am affiliated with the following companies or organizations: 

Company/Organization Position Period of Service 

Basic Energy Corp. Independent Director 2007-2019 
Member Advisory Board 2019-present 

PXP Enerav Corporation Director 2017-present 
DMWenceslao & Associates Inc. Independent Director 2019-present 
Link Edge Inc. Non-Executive Chairman 2002-present 
Alviera Country Club Independent Director 2015-preent 
Grepalife Dollar Bond Fund Corporation Independent Director 2011-present 
Grepalife Fixed Income Fund Corporation Independent Director 2011 -oresent 
Grepalife Balanced Fund Corporation Independent Director 2011-present 
Sun Life Financial Plans Inc. lndeoendent Director 2006-oresent 
Sun Life Prosperity Dollar Advantage Fund, Independent Director 2004-present 
Inc. 
Sun Life Prosperity Dollar Abundance Independent Director 2002-present 
Fund, Inc. 
Sun Life Prosperity GS Fund, Inc. Independent Director 2011-oresent 
Sun Life Prosperitv Dvnamic Fund, Inc. Independent Director 2018-oresent 
Sun Life Prosperity Achiever Fund 2028 Independent Director 2018-present 
Inc. 
Sun Life Prosperity Achiever Fund 2038 Independent Director 2018-present 
Inc. 
Sun Life Prosperity Achiever Fund 2048 Independent Director 2018-present 
Inc. 
Sun Life Prosperity World Equity Feeder Independent Director 2018-present 
Index Fund Inc. 
Sun Life of Canada Prosperity Balanced Independent Director 2018-present 
Fund 
Sun Life of Canada Prosperity Philippine Independent Director 2018-present 
Equity Fund 
Sun Life Prosperity Dollar Starter Fund Independent Director 2022-present 
Sun Life Prosperity Peso Voyager Feeder Independent Director 2022-present 
Fund 
Sun Life Prosperity World Income Fund Inc. Independent Director 2022-present 
Sun Life Prosperity Dollar Wellspring Fund Independent Director 2022-present 
Inc. 
Petrolift, Inc. lndeoendent Director 2007-oresent 

Eramen Minerals Inc. Independent Director 2004-oresent 
Pioneer Insurance & Surety Corp. Independent Director 2019-present 

Pioneer Life Inc. Member, Advisory Board 2019-oresent 
Pioneer Intercontinental Insurance Corp. Member, Advisory Board 2019-2020 

Independent Director 2020-Present 
Phil. Dealing System Holdings Corp. Independent Director 2019-oresent 
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Phil. Dealing Exchanoe Corp Independent Director 2019-present 
Phil. Depositorv & Trust Corp. Independent Director 2019-present 
Phil. Securities & Settlement Coro. Independent Director 2019-oresent 
Team Energy Corporation Independent Director 2019-oresent 
Navitas Holdinos Corp. Director 2022-oresent 
Navitas Enerov Services Inc. Director 2023-present 
Mit-Pacific Infrastructure Holdings Corp. Independent Director 2023-present 

3. I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an 
independent director of PCPPI , as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities 
Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations. 

4. I am not related to any director, officer or substantial shareholder of PCPPI , or any of 
its related companies or any of its substantial shareholders. 

5. To the best of my knowledge, I am not the subject of any pending criminal or 
administrative investigation or proceeding. 

6. I am not in government service or affiliated with a government agency or a government­
owned and controlled corporation as would require written permission or consent from 
the head of the agency or department for me to be an independent director of PCPPI. 

7. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as 
independent director under the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules 
and Regulations and other issuances of the Securities and Exchange Commission; 

and 

8. I shall inform the corporate secretary of PCPPI of any changes in the abovementioned 
information within five (5) days from its occurrence. 

1 0 MAY 2024 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my signature this in 

~ .. TI 
~-0 

~YES 
Affiant 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me, a notary public in and for the City of ~ A_K,m 
this IO.;.. day of MQ,\( 2024. The affiant, whom I identified through the following competent 
evidence of identity Passport No. P0615079C issued on 21 June 202 h DFA NCR East 

' and expiring on 20 June 2032. 

Doc. No. _J;L 
Page No . .]_; 
Book No . .JI_; 
Series of 2024. 

l CIDA . D OY 
N tary Public or Ma ati City 

h i)pointmE t No. M-607 until December 31, 202.4 
· Roll of Attorney No. 84089 

PTR No. 10077884; l/5)2024; Ma_kati City 
IBP No. 301585; 1/3/2024; M.akat1 Chapter 

3ot11 Floor 88 Corporate Center 
Sedeno corner Va lero Streets 

Salcedo Vil lage, Makati City 1227 
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

I, RAFAEL M. ALUNAN Ill, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of No. 9 Coventry, 
Hillsborough Village, Barangay Cupang, Muntinlupa City, after having been duly sworn to in 
accordance with law do hereby declare that: 

1. I am a nominee identified as Independent Director of PEPSI COLA PRODUCTS 
PHILIPPINES INC. (PCPPI) and have been its Independent Director since 2007; 

2. I am affiliated with the following companies or organizations: 

Company/Organization Position Period of Service 
APC Group Inc. Independent Director 2020-present 

Kaltimex Energy Phils. Senior Adviser to the 2018-present 
Board 

Philippine Taekwondo Foundation President 2023-present 
Rotary Club of Manila President RY2023-2024 
Philippine Council for Foreign Chairman 2017-2022 
Relations Trustee 2015-present 
Spirit of EDSA Foundation Trustee 2000-present 
Institute of Corporate Governance Fellow 2014-present 
Institute for Solidarity in Asia Fellow 2014-present 
Development Academy of the Eminent Fellow 2015-present 
Philippines 
Harvard Kennedy School of Mason Fellow 1997-present 
Government 
Harvard Kennedy School Alumni Chairman 2013-2022 
Association of the Philippines, Inc. Trustee 2013-Present 

Rafael Alunan Agri-Development Inc. Director 1981-present 

3. I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an 
Independent Director of PCPPI, as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities 
Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations. 

4. I am not related to any director, officer or substantial shareholder of PCPPI, or any of 
its related companies or any of its substantial shareholders. 

5. To the best of my knowledge, I am not the subject of any pending criminal or 
administrative investigation or proceeding. 

6. I am not in government service or affiliated with a government agency or a government­
owned and controlled corporation as would require written permission or consent from 
the head of the agency or department for me to be an independent director of PCPPI. 

7. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as 
Independent Director under the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing 

1 



Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate Governance and other issuances of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission; and 

8. I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of PCPPI of any changes in the abovementioned 
information within five (5) days from its occurrence. 

2 4 MAY 2Q24 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my signature this in 

MAKATI 

Affiant 

. SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me, a notary public in and for the City of MA!ATI 
this 1,~~day of __ffifilJ 2024. The affiant, whom I identified through the following competent 
evidence of identity Pctssport No. P7060946B issued on 29 June 2021 at the DFA Manila and 
expiring on 28 June 2031. 

Doc. No.1{_; 

Pag~ No. ]J)_; 
BooK No. -Jl...-; 
Series of 2024. 

OY 
tary Public f a ,ati City 

.!\opo intmen No. M-607 unt il ecember 31, 2024 
· all of Attorney No. 8~,089 

PTR No. 10077884; 1/5/2024; Makati City 
rn? No. 301585; 1/ 3/2024 ; Makati Chapter 

3ot11 Floor 88 Corporate Center 
sc,!eno corner Va lero Streets 

S:;lc,:2-;!o Vi! li:!ge, M::ikc:ti City 1227 
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REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES ) 
Makati City ) ss. 

CERTIFICATION ON NO GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS 

I, Kristine Ninotschka L. Evangelista, of legal age, Filipino, and with office address at 30/F 88 
Corporate Center, Sedefio corner Valero Streets, Salcedo Village, Makati City 1227, hereby certify that: 

1. I am the duly elected Corporate Secretary of PEPSI-COLA PRODUCTS PHILIPPINES, INC. 
(the "Corporation"), a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the 
Republic of the Philippines with office address at 26th Floor, Filinvest Axis Tower Two Building, Northgate 
Cyberzone, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City. 

2. Based on personal knowledge and authentic records available, none of the Corporation's 
regular directors, independent directors, and executive officers named in the Corporation's Information 
Statement, are appointed or employed with the Philippine Government, or any of its agencies or 
instrumentalities. 

3. This certification is executed for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the 
Markets and Securities Regulation Department of the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect 
to the Corporation's Information Statement. 

JUN O 6 2024 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this _ day of __ 2024 at 

MAKATJ 

JUN O 6 2024 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this _ day of _ 2024. Affiant exhibited to me her 

Pll32602C issued on 30 July 2022 at DFA NCR Central and expiring on 29 July 2032. 

Doc.No.~ 
Page No . .1j_; 
Book No. JL; 
Series of 2024. 

K . ENDOZO 
N a ublic f r Makati City 

Appointment No. M-606 until December 31, 2024 
Rell of Attcrney Mo. 85581 . 

PTR. No . 10C7788G; 1/Sj:?.024; Mak~ti Cit y ' 
IBP Ne . 301591 : J./3/2024 i Batangas Chapter 

3C'.I\ F!~~' 83 Cc:-~~rate Center 
s~~:'..::1:·) :orner Valero Streets 

S::!::·::do \/: ll" gc, Makati City 1227 




